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Smurfit Kappa ('SKG'), a
FTSE 100 company, is one
of the leading providers of

paper-based packaging

solutions in the world.

We operate across 36 countries with approximately
48,000 employees in over 350 production sites
with revenue of €10.1 billionin 2021.
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Overview

Revenue
(million)

€10,107

+18%

€10,107
€8,530

2021 2020

Operating Profit before
Exceptional Items* (million)

€1,073

+16%

€1,073

2021 2020

Net Debt*
(million)

€2,885

+22%

€2,885

€2,375

2021 2020

Strategic Report

Financial Statements

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS OF 2021

EBITDA*
(million)

€1,702

+13%

€1,702
€1,510

2021 2020

Profit Before Income Tax
(million)

€913

+22%

2021 2020

Net Debt to EBITDA*
(times)

1.7x

2021 2020

EBITDA Margin*
(%)

16.8

2021 2020

Basic Earnings per Share
(cent)

263.9

+16%

2021 2020

Return on Capital
Employed* (%)

16.0

2021 2020

Supplementary Information

Free Cash Flow*
(million)

€455

-33%

2021 2020

Pre-exceptional Basic
Earnings per Share* (cent)

274.5

+16%

2021 2020

These financial Key
Performance Indicators are
not defined under International
Financial Reporting Standards.
Furtherinformationin
relation to these Alternative
Performance Measuresis
included in the Supplementary
Information sectionon

pages 191 to0 197.
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WHAT WE DO

We are a packaging leader
in a growth industry

We create innovative and sustainable paper-based packaging
solutions for our customers, we protect products in transit and
precious resources for future generations while caring for

Paper
We manufacture a wide range
of papers mainly used for
packaging purposes. Our
total global paper and board
capacity is approximately
8.3 million tonnes per annum.

\_\

Packaging
We design, manufacture
and supply paper-based
packaging to package,
promote and protect our
customers' products. We
manufacture corrugated

packaging and also produce
solidboard, folding carton

and certified, bag-in-box
and tubes.

What Differentiates Us

each other, the environment and the planet.

W
L

Recycling
We provide recycling
solutions to ensure our
customers' corrugated
packaging and paper is

recycled responsibly,
efficiently and reliably.
We handle 7.4 million tonnes
of primarily post consumer
recovered paper each year
across the globe.

Forestry
We own approximately 68k
hectares of forest globally,
whichare FSC or PEFC
certified, promoting

economic growth, protection
of biodiversity and
ecosystems and fostering
social equity.

Integrated Model Global Data

Our verticalintegration drives efficiency As one of the world's largest integrated Innovation andimpact at SKG is data driven,
across the entire value chain, including manufacturers of paper-based packaging with a proven scientific approach informing good
the sourcing and collecting of our natural solutions, our global reach enables us to business decisions. Data collected from our
primary raw materials, production of paper, synergise global competencies with local operations is combined with market and sectoral
conversion of paper into corrugated boxes processes. Our scale and unique global research and a deep knowledge of over 80,000
and their delivery to customers whichmeans  footprint makes us well placed to reliably supply chains, providing a unique insight and

we can offer optimal paper design, quality deliver on customer requirements. fit-for-purpose solutions for our customers.

and logistics management. We have lower

exposure to volatility in containerboard prices

and our integrated structure ensures that we

provide a stable outlet for material through

the uncertainty of market falls and rises.
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Our Innovative Solutions

We have an unrivalled portfolio of sustainable paper-based packaging
solutions which are constantly updated with our market leading innovations.

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Sustainability

Sustainability is integrated into everythingwe

do and forms a significant part of how we engage
with stakeholders. We focus on long-term
ambition with action today. Our reporting on
sustainability has beenindependently assured

by a third party since 2009. Sustainability is
embedded across our business and includedin
our senior management incentives and our cost
of funding. As a key contributor to the circular
economy, we handle 7.4 million tonnes of primarily
post-consumer recovered paper each year across
the globe. SKGis well positioned to continue to
lead as the world moves to alow-carbon, circular
approachto business. We reuse or recycle side
streams, power our business with renewable
energy where possible and are finding smarter
ways of saving energy.

Innovation

Creativity and innovation is part of our every-day.
We innovate across all aspects of our business
toincrease the value and benefits of what we do
for our customers. We offer an unrivalled portfolio
of sustainable paper-based packaging solutions
whichis constantly updated with our market
leadinginnovations. Our range of unique tools
feedinformation to our value-added services,
SupplySmart, ShelfSmartand eSmart work to
improve all aspects of our customers packaging,
from packing line to supply chain to customer
experience. With over 1,000 packaging designers
across our business network and a supporting
network of laboratories, facilities and applications,
we create sustainable fit-for-purpose packaging
for our customers.

People

We aim to ensure a working culture in which
every member of our 48,000-strong team
feels engaged, appreciated as they are and
has a sense of belonging. We are committed
tobeinga great place to work and an
employer of choice for top talent. We are
also committed to driving Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality and strive to create a diverse
workforce. By delivering top-level training and
development, and rewards and recognition
programmes, we empower our people to
reach their full potential, for the benefit of our
customers and stakeholders.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 3



WHERE WE OPERATE

We are a world leader with
operations in 36 countries

We are one of the largest integrated manufacturers of paper-based packaging solutions
in the world. We are located in 23 countries in Europe and 13 in the Americas. In Europe,
we are the leader by production volume in corrugated packaging and containerboard
and in Latin America, we are the only large-scale pan-regional player.

Europe

Revenue

€7.8 billion

We are the European leader in the production of corrugated
packaging, containerboard and bag-in-box. The Europe segment
includes mills and plants that primarily produce containerboard
thatis converted into corrugated containers. In addition, we
produce other types of paper, such as solidboard, sack kraft
paper and graphic paper; and other paper-based packaging,

such as hexacomb and solidboard packaging, folding cartons;
and bag-in-box packaging.

[ Read more on page 23

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021

2021 Gross Sales Volume (million tonnes)

Kraftliner—1.7
. Recycled containerboard—3.7
Other paperand board—0.9

Corrugated-5.1

. Solidboard packaging—0.1
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The Americas

Revenue

€2.3
billion

The Group's operationsin
the Americas comprise a
system of mills and plants
that primarily produce
containerboard that is
convertedinto corrugated
containers. Our operations
inthe Americas alsoinclude
forestry; other types of
paper, such as boxboard,
sack paper and graphic
paper; and paper-based
packaging, such as folding
cartons, hexacomb and
paper sacks.

[ Read moreon page 23

2021 Gross Sales Volume
(million tonnes)

|2

Containerboard—-1.4

. Other paperandboard-0.2
Corrugated—1.6

Other paper-based
packaging—0.1

What Sets Us Apart
Our Scale and Geographic Diversity

Our large manufacturing footprint provides us with a clear point of differentiation because the
corrugated packaging market is a localised market and therefore converting plants need to be close
to customers (within 300kms). Our unique global footprint makes us well placed to reliably deliver
on customer requirements.

Forestry Plantations Mills Fibre Sourcing Converting Plants Other Production
(hectares) Facilities

68k 35 47 241 32

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 5



OUR PURPOSE AND STRATEGY

Our Strategic Objective

Our objective is to develop long-term
customer relationships by providing
customers with differentiated
sustainable packaging solutions that
enhance the customers' prospects
of success in their end markets.

Our Purpose

At Smurfit Kappa we
are proud to create,
protect and care.

[ Read more about this on page 28

N

Our Vision

To be a globally admired business,
dynamically and sustainably delivering
secure and superior returns for

all stakeholders.

Our Values

We have a strong and positive culture These values foster the guiding
thatis aligned with our strategy and principles by which we operate:
based on our values of: SR T

e Safety .

Entrepreneurship

e Loyalty * Inclusion, Diversity
* Integrity and Equality
* Respect * Rewards and Recognition

Performance Driven
Accountability

6 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021




Overview

Strategic
Priorities

A

Market
Position

Partner
of Choice

Operational
Excellence

%

Investment
in People

all

Capital
Allocation

Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information
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OUR INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS

We create innovative
and sustainable solutions
for our customers

The demand for sustainable packaging continues to grow, with consumers
now a driving force. Packaging provides a clear opportunity for brands and
retailers to demonstrate their commitment to sustainability, and as a result,
build trust and strengthen the brand — consumer relationship.

Consumer awareness of the packaging, while 73% stated that packaging that meets the

environmentalimpact of their the use of paper or cardboard expectations of consumers.

choicesis growing and consumers packagingisimportant to them Our culture ofinnovationis based

increasingly want to be more when consideringabrand's level onour experience, science, creativity 730/
sustainable. Thishas nowtranslated  of sustainability. and data, with state-of-the-art o

into their purchasing decisions, and facilities that ensure we are ready say paperorcardboard
packaging plays a significant role in With ourinnovative, sustainable forthe challenges of tomorrow. packaging isimportant
this decisionto buy. Arecent study packaging solutions designed for We can help our entire value chain, . .
conducted by Drapers states that our customers, led by our Better our customers and their customers, when consideringa
64% of consumers aremorelikelyto  Planet Packaginginitiative, we toreduce their carbon footprint brand's sustainability
buy from retailers with sustainable provide sustainable, fit-for-purpose and avoid packaging waste.

We have outlinedinthis sectiona
number of examples of our recent
innovations from across the world.

64%

more likely to buy from
abrand or retailer with
sustainable packaging

Jardim Botanico

Premium e-commerce packaging

As a 100% handcrafted premium product, Jardim Botéanico gin
provides its customers with a differentiated tasting experience.
Previously, the product was delivered to the consumerina

package that did not provide safety or value to the primary product.
The packaging developed by us is compact, easy to assemble,

and has an internal accessory that, while protecting the product,
also leaves the bottle visible as if it were a jewel, leading to a special
unboxing experience.

8 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021
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Waitrose

Waitrose flowers

Waitrose was looking for a long-term
packaging partner for their online
specialist shops that deliver flowers,
wine and pet products. The key
priorities for the tender were to
improve print colour consistency
across alllines, to promote
sustainability and to meet deadlines.
The main challenge was the tight
time frame required to set up and
on-board 23 new packing linesin
just two months during our busiest
time of year when e-commerce
demand rocketed due to the
pandemic. Remote working also
meant Smurfit Kappa had to quickly
adapt to a new way of working

in order to supply all four

of Waitrose's third party co-packers.
As a premium brand, Waitrose
customers have high expectations
and the quality of their packaging
needs to reflect their brand values.
We delivered on this and were
delighted to receive excellent
feedback on our responsive service
and our solution based attitude

to solving problems. We met the
tight deadlines to supply the busy
seasons Valentine's Day and
Mothers' Day.

mymuesli

When packaging
design helps to keep
up with demand

Three ambitious German
entrepreneurs had an idea for
a startup: mymuesli, an online
shop for organic, individual
muesli mixes. The demand
rocketed and the company
needed help with a packaging
solution—as everythingwas
packed by hand. Smurfit
Kappa's expertise in
packaging using a packaging
machine that scans each
parcel individually and creates
packaging without void fillers,
helps mymueslito save up to
50% in packaging materials
and 30% in transport. The
beautifully designed and
branded e-commerce solution
is fully recyclable, and
demonstrates mymuesli's
commitment to sustainability.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 9
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OUR INNOVATIVE SOLUTIONS CONTINUED

Villeroy & Boch

Recyclable packaging
solution for toilet seats

Villeroy & Boch approached Smurfit
Kappa Mexico with a challenge to
update their packaging solution

to reflect their premium product
vision and concept. We designed

a single-universal packaging for all
four types of toilets, that reflected
the brand’s premium feel and made
distribution logistics more efficient
through smart space use and quick
and easy assembly. This packaging
was new to their market and a
breakthrough in terms of how this
was managed before: replacing
expanded polystyrene (‘EPS') for
corrugated to create anew integral
design, resulting in a 100% recyclable
and functional solution.

Flattler

A Bag-in-Box® solution that protects

UK cider maker Healeys Cyder wanted their new flat cider to be as
accessible as possible, which included catering for a variety of pack
formats and usage scenarios. In addition, the packaging would
need to complement their unique branding with full colour print, no
requirement for glue or tape to erect, could withstand vigorous supply
chain conditions and would provide protection to the cider. The end
solution was an ‘envelope’ style Bag-in-Box® made from double
wall corrugated board, printed full colour litho and quick to erect
saving time on the production line. By introducing Bag-in-Box®

to their packaging options, Healeys Cyder can now offer Rattler
Cyder in more settings and in a still format, complimenting their
existing carbonated range. The solution is fully recyclable, and the
unique vacuum functionality of the Bag-in-Box® means that there
is along shelf life even after opening, so there is no product waste.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

Harry's
E-commerce box

Harry's is a rapidly growing shaving brand in the EU. They were looking
for consumer-oriented packaging with minimal void fill and optimised
sizes. The design had to be stand-out to maximise visibility as Harry's
launched their brand into multi-national companies. They turned

to Smurfit Kappa to supply the perfect solution. Using our unique
eSmart process we worked closely with Harry's to develop a simple
yet effective packaging solution with clean and clear print to maximise
it's brand equity. The consumer-friendly design with clear branding
stands out at the point of sale and delivers a memorable unboxing
experience for the consumer.

100%

of expanded
polystyrene replaced
with recyclable
packaging




Hoogstraten

Innovates with paper-
based punnets

500,000

kilograms of plastic
Codperatie Hoogstraten 9 P

set the goal to find amore packaging eliminated
sustainable packaging peryear
solution. Smurfit Kappa
developed a complete
packaging solution consisting
of solidboard punnets, trays
and customised punnet and
tray erector lines. The new
packaging solutionincreases
brand awareness of
Hoogstraten and reduces
logistic and labour costs.

The new punnet is also fully
recyclable and has very high
recycling rates compared to
the previous plastic solution.
Furthermore, the sustainable
solution reduces the carbon
footprint of Hoogstraten, and
has eliminated 500,000kg of
plastic packaging per year.

Strategic Report Governance

Financial Statements

adidas

adidas want to lead from
the frontin the race for
sustainability

With their ‘'Own the Game' strategy,
adidas have increased their focus
on sustainability throughout their
business. They have made huge
strides in recent years, from new
initiatives to using ocean plastics

in their shoes. A key part of this
strategy is their packaging. To
improve the sustainability of their
packaging, adidas needed a supplier
who could address the lack of
transparency and traceability for
recycling, provide assurance that
waste fibres were being fully recycled
and help them deal with a huge
increase in handling e-commerce
returns. In order to address these
challenges, adidas partnered with
Smurfit Kappa. At Smurfit Kappa
we have full chain of custody and
the ability to provide end-to-end
recycling. There's no wastage of
materials or time and we have the
capability to deliver boxes within
48 hours of an order being placed.
Plus, Smurfit Kappa provide full
transparency by using unique tools
and delivering information on
tonnage delivered and collected.
Now, adidas don't just provide their
customers with a cutting edge
product, they also give them the
ability to return packaging easily.
Packaging is returned to Smurfit
Kappa, recycled and reborn

as new. All of which allows adidas
to close the loop when it comes

to their packaging. The race for
sustainability is a marathon, not a
sprint. But together, we can win.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021
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SUSTAINABILITY COMMITMENTS

Long-term ambition,

delivering today

Globally, citizens are asking tougher questions and becoming a strong force
in the drive for climate and societal change in recent years. The focus on how we
treat our planet, how we create a more inclusive world for everyone and support
equality across all communities has never been so high on people’s agendas.

Category Targets

cpmate @  Netzero
Change Our ambition is to have at least net zero emissions by 2050 with a 55% reduction in fossil fuel
emissions intensity by 2030
st AN 595%
packaging solutions sold as Chain of Custody certified to customers by 2025
wier 3 | 60%
““‘ reduction in Chemical Oxygen Demand intensity by 2025
waer Oy 1%
““‘ reduction of our water usage intensity annually
wete . 30%
reduction in waste to landfill intensity by 2025

gk atleast 5%

a nd Safety reduction in Total Recordable Injury Rate annually

<1<

People 'R IH\ 2 5%

of management positions held by women by 2024

Communities |m €24 mi"ion

willbe donated between 2020-2025 to support social, environmental and community initiatives

12 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021
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Mmoom @

Planet People Impactful Business

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Link to Sustainability Strategy Link to Sustainable Development Goals (‘SDGs')

CRCRCRCORCECORCORC

Read more on our sustainability strategy and SDGs on pages 48 to 63

Better Planet 2050 quantifies our
commitment to protect what we care
about—our planet, our people, our
business —through a set of ambitious
goals and sustainability targets that
will deliver for agreener bluer planet,
empower our people and communities
and support animpactful business.
Through handling 7.4 million tonnes of
recovered fibre eachyear SKGis firmly
positionedin the move towards amore
circular economy.

Inreducing our own emissions and
providing optimised paper-based
packaging solutions, we can help our
entire value chain and beyond to cut
their carbon emissions and avoid
waste. We will continue toinnovate
across allaspects of our business:
reducingwaste and CO, emissions,
increasing the value and benefits of
what we do, and further securing
precious natural resources sustainably
for future generations. By being
renewable andrecyclable, usingless
resources, less energy and creating
less waste, we can make a positive
contribution to the world.

Inhaving a workplace culture that
embeds the core values of Safety,
Loyalty, Integrity, and Respect, and
strives for adiverse andinclusive
workforce, we are empowering our
people to reach their full potential.
We strive to enable peopleinthe
communities in which we operate to
improve their lives. Where the cycle
of poverty, hardship and dependence
isanissue we aimto help end this to
support afairerand more equal world.

We will be publishing our 15%
Sustainable Development Reportin
April 2022 with detailed information on
our targets and performance for 2021.
In addition, please see pages 48to 63
and page 58 of this Report.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021 13



EMBEDDING OUR PURPOSE

We are proud to create,
protect and care

Smurfit Kappa is a business with an essential and enduring purpose —
to create solutions that protect what we all care about. Thisis arole
thatis lived in the culture and behaviours at all levels and across
all areas of our business. It is a purpose that informs our strategic
business decisions and actions, now and into the future.

Discovering Our Purpose

Our Purpose statement was articulated following an inclusive
discovery process that involved participants across the breadth of
Smurfit Kappa. Led by our Group CEO and involving diverse groups

of people, the process uncovered stories of purpose in action across
different areas of the business. By discovering, sharing and discussing
what was essential to different people, we identified the collective
motivation that gives all of our work meaning and drives us to sustain
and enhance our essential role in the world.

Nurturing and Supporting
Our Purpose

We recognise that nurturing our essential Purpose is an ongoing
process. For our Purpose to endure we must ensure that the new
generation of talent within Smurfit Kappa connect with and
understand our essential and enduring role. We have engaged a
selection of our workforce to build on our Purpose and explore what
it means for them. We have asked them to consider what our Purpose
will require from each of us in the future as we continue to provide

innovative, sustainable products for our customers, support the
communities in which we work, and protect the planet that we and
future generations depend on.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021

Engaging with Our Purpose

We commenced a communications campaign in June 2021 that used
video in multiple language formats across our internal communications
platform to engage the entire business with our Purpose. In this initial
phase of the campaign, our Group CEO and other members of the
senior management team shared what purpose means to them and
identified how our experience of purpose contributes to our unique
culture and the positive motivations experienced by employees,
partners and customers alike.

The campaign encourages employees across the business to reflect
on the essential role they play in delivering our shared Purpose.
Employees were asked to share the stories of creating, protecting and
caring that they experience within our teams and through interactions
with our customers, communities and other stakeholders.

The campaign has prompted many employees to share the stories
that make them feel proud to be part of Smurfit Kappa. These diverse
stories allillustrate how Smurfit Kappa's purpose is grounded in what
we do day-to-day and highlights the importance of sustaining an
authentic sense of purpose in our working lives.
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Employees were asked to share the
stories of creating, protecting and
caring that they experience within
our teams and through interactions
with our clients, communities and

other stakeholders.
144
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DYNAMICALLY & SUSTAINABLY DELIVERING

Investing in North Wales

Transformational Investment Plans

We are investing €40 million in our Mold plant in North Wales, which will

further expand its capacity to make it the largest corrugated facility in the

The investment in state-of-the-art equipment
will reduce CO, per tonne emissions by 15% at
the plant.

“This investment in North Wales willincrease

our capability, flexibility and speed of response to
deliver unrivalled, innovative packaging solutions
to customers across the UK and Ireland. We are
determined to meet the future needs of our
customers in a sustainable way. It is vital that our
investment has benefits for the local community
and the environment,"” said Smurfit Kappa UK
and Ireland CEOQ, Eddie Fellows.

The design of the factory extension fits seamlessly
into the local landscape. A three-acre nature trail
has been constructed. It incorporates a local

UK and allow us to meet the growing demand for sustainable packaging.

stream and a new footpath which can be used

by both site staff and the local community.
Working in partnership with Park in the Past,
alocal heritage and conservation project, an extra
10,000 trees, shrubs and bushes will be planted.
Excess soil which has been removed as part of
the factory extension will be used by the nearby
heritage project.

The on-site Experience Centre offers customers the
chance to come into the facility to see the science,
creativity and data used to innovate, customise
and implement sustainable packaging solutions.

The plant, which employs 194 staff and has beenin
operation since 1994 is a major regional employer.

Investment

€40
million
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CHAIR'S STATEMENT

Delivering an excellent
performance for 2021

Irial Finan
Chair

The Group's performance demonstrates the strength of the integrated model, the
quality of our business, our operational efficiency, and increasing geographic and
product diversity. In delivering this performance, it was our people that again proved
to be our most valuable asset through their agility, adaptability and resilience.

2021 Performance

Smurfit Kappa has delivered

an excellent performance for
2021 which was particularly
pleasingin ayear characterised

by unprecedented cost inflation.
The EBITDA outcome of

€1,702 million was ahead of the
Group's guidance for the year. In
delivering this performance, it was
our people that again proved to be
our most valuable asset through
their agility, adaptability and
resilience. On behalf of the Board
and management team, | would like

18 Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021

torecord our sincere appreciation
toeachandevery one of our
48,000 employees.

Capital Strength

Sustainability has always been at
the core of the Group's operations
andis now embedded withinthe
capital structure. Building on our
objective to dynamically and
sustainably deliverin 2021, we
launched our Green Finance
Framework withan ISSESG Second
Party Opinion. Under this, we issued
our dualtrancheinaugural green
bonds, comprising€500 million

8 year bonds with a coupon of 0.5%
and €500 million 12 year bonds with
acoupon of 1%. Setting up this
framework andissuing green
finance instruments was a further
stepin embedding sustainability
into our capital structure alongside
our sustainability linked revolving
credit facility and our sustainability
linked securitisation facilities.

This further enhances the Group's
financial flexibility to capitalise on
the significant opportunities that
we continue to see across our
geographic footprint.

Sustainability

We continued to make strong
progress across our sustainability
agendain 2021. The progress
made during the year built upon
the achievements of earlier
years and highlights the Group's
long-standing objective to drive
change and nurture a greener
andbluer planet through the three
key pillars of Planet, People and
Impactful Business.



Overview

Inearly 2021, we announced
ambitious new sustainability
targets as part of '‘Better Planet
2050, focusingonafurther
reduction of our environmental
footprint, increasing support
for the communities in which
we operate, further enhancing
the lives of our employees and
those communities.

We were the firstin ourindustry

to announce targeting atleast net
zero emissions by 2050 and we

are well on our way to reaching our
intermediate 2030 target of a 55%
reduction, in line with the EU Green
Deal objectives. The Group has also
received approval from Science
Based Target initiative (‘'SBTi') for its
emissions targets. These targets
arenotonlyinline with the Paris
Agreementbut are alsoindustry
leading and a further sign of Smurfit
Kappa'sleadership in sustainability.
There was continued actionon

CO, reductionduring the year with
many significant investments which
reduce the Group's CO, emissions.

The Group's 2020 Annual Report
was the first to reportinline with
recommendations of the Taskforce
for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures ('TCFD') and this
year's report continues to build on
that standard with a detailed and
comprehensive disclosure outlined
onpage 54 to 61. In addition, we
are also reporting for the first time
onthe EU taxonomy on page 50,
adisclosure whichis expected to
evolveinfutureyearsasthe EU
taxonomy develops. For anumber
of years Smurfit Kappa has
continued toinclude climate change
as an emerging risk for the Group
and during 2021 we elevated this
toalong-term principalrisk of the
Group. Details are included within
the riskreport onpage 38.

'y

Strategic Report

In addition to the progressinrelation
to CO, emissions, over the course
of 2021, the Group also continued
progress onall of our other key
sustainability targets; water
discharge, waste tolandfill, chain

of custody certification, safety
performance and social projects.
Details of this progressis outlined
onpages 56to 57.

Smurfit Kappa has also been
contributing towards making the

UN 2030 Sustainable Development
Goals ('SDGs') areality since 2015.
This contribution was recognised

by the Support the Goals movement
inMarch 2021 when the Group
became the first FTSE 100 company
toreceive afive-starrating. The
Group was also recently recognised
as atop ESG performer by
Sustainalytics which builds on our
well established sustainability
credentials andis another positive
development for the Group andall
our stakeholders.

Itis our ambition to continue

to deliver sustainable growth for
the benefit of all our stakeholders,
customers, investors, employees,
suppliers and the communitiesin
which we operate while being, and
being recognised as, a global leader
in sustainability.

We continue to provide innovative,
circular and fit-for-purpose packaging
solutions for our customers andled
by our Better Planet Packaging
initiative. Our culture ofinnovationis
based on our experience, science,
creativity and data, with state-of-
the-art facilities that allows us to
help our entire value chain, our
customers and their consumers,

to reduce their carbon footprint
and avoid packaging waste. Some
examples of our recent innovative
solutions are outlined on pages 8
to11.

Governance

Purpose
At Smurfit Kappa we are proud to
create, protectand care.

Smurfit Kappais a business with an
enduring and essential purpose —
to create solutions that protect
what we all care about —our planet,
our people and our business. Inthe
2020 Annual Report, our Purpose
was introduced following a
comprehensive project to develop
it whichinvolved a diverse group of
employees across the organisation.
Itis a purpose thatinforms our
strategic business decisions and
actions, now andinto the future.

During 2021, the process to
embed the Purpose throughout
the Group commenced. Aninternal
communications campaign took
place usingvideo in multiple
language formats to engage the
entire business with our Purpose.
Further details on this campaign
and our Purpose are included on
pages6to7.

Board Structure
Werecognise theimportance

of continued Board refreshment
andrenewal and the benefit of
bringing fresh perspectives to
complement our longer-tenured
Directors. We also recognise the
importance of inclusion, diversity
and equality throughout the
organisationand up to Board level
—diversity whichincludes varying
perspectives and experience as
wellas diversity of age, gender,
ethnicity and education.

There have beenanumber of
appointments to the Boardinrecent
yearsincluding those of Lourdes
Melgar and Kaisa Hietalain 2020.

In 2021, there were no further
appointments or retirements from
the Board, which remains comprised
of 12 Directors.

Building on our objective to dynamically and sustainably

deliverin 2021 we launched our Green Finance
Framework withan ISS ESG Second Party Opinion.

Financial Statements
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This includes four female Directors
whichis in line with our commitment
to ensure greater Board diversity.
We are also pleased to have a Board
whichincludes Directors from eight
different countriesincluding Directors
from Europe, North America and
Latin America—adiversity of
geographic backgrounds which
matches our diverse business.

As part of the ongoing development of
the Board, andtheintegration of recent
appointees, acomprehensive training
programme was delivered during 2021
which covered topics including
business operations, industry,
sustainability and governance.

Governance and Oversight
The 2018 UK Corporate
Governance Code ('the Code')
places anemphasis onacompany's
relationship withits shareholders
and other stakeholders and
highlights the importance of
establishing a corporate culture
aligned with business strategy;
and one which promotes integrity
anddiversity.

As we reflect on 2021, through our
engagement with our people and
our continued commitment to the
environment and the communities
we serve, we truly believe that
Smurfit Kappa has a culture and an
approach to business which aligns
with the spirit of the Code and
promotes aninclusive and positive
working environment which
recognises the perspectives of all

10%

increase infinal
dividend for 2021

Final Dividend
(recommended) 2021

96.1

cent per share
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our stakeholders. Details of this are
included throughout this Annual
Report,including the stakeholder
and employee engagement
overviews below, andinthe
Corporate Governance Statement.

Employee Engagement

and Development

Employee engagementis akey
consideration of the executives
and Board, and one which has
continuously developed over time.
The Sustainability Committee
continues to hold responsibility
for workforce engagement on
behalf of the Board. The Committee
assists the Board in understanding
the views of the wider workforce,
toensure thatthe voice of the
workforceis heardin the boardroom
andthe views andinterests of
employees are takeninto account
when making decisions. A detailed
update on our employee
engagement during the year
including commentary from

the Chair of the Sustainability
Committee, Jgrgen Buhl
Rasmussen, isincluded on

pages 113to 114.

Therestrictions ontravelas aresult
of the pandemic limited the number
of visits that myself and the Board
could make to our operations across
Europe and the Americas during the
year.|did have the opportunity to
visit our newly acquired recycled mill
in Verzuolo, Italy,in October 2021.

| also visited our Forney milland
Forth Worth operations in Texas,
the United States during the year.
Inaddition, anumber of our Board
members were delighted to have
the opportunity tomeet with the
workforce in Europe and the

Americas through virtual plant tours.

Ido hope that during this year my
fellow Board members and | will be
able toreturn to visiting more
operations again.

In addition to plant visits, the Board
andlengaged virtually with the
workforce through various events.
Inearly 2021, lhad the opportunity
as part of avirtual global event to
hold a Q&A sessionwith the
management team across the
Group which was very positive and
open. Inaddition, members of the
Sustainability Committee were
involvedin many engagement
sessions, examples of which are —
attendance at an International
Women's Day celebrationin
Mexico, attendance atamodule
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of our Advanced Management
Development programme including
collaboration with the cohort, and
ameeting and discussionwith a
selection of the Group's high
potential female employees across
awide range of levels and countries
inwhich we operate.

Since 2014, the Group has
conducted frequent MyVoice
employee engagement surveys
which give all of our 48,000
employees the opportunity to

give their views on the Company,
leadership, business, inclusion,
employee development, vision and
values. As a Board, we are looking
for continuous improvementin our
employee engagement scores, to
ensure we understand employees
perspectives and sentiment and
take themintoaccountwhen
making decisions. During 2021,
another global engagement survey
of allemployees was conducted.
The survey attracted the highest
participationrate of any of our
surveys to date. The Board received
adetailed report and presentation
onthe survey andare pleasedto
report that there was a global
engagementrate increase of

13 percentage points whichis
apositive endorsement of the
values and people centric culture
in Smurfit Kappa.

In 2021, we have continued to focus
on the development of our people
as we recognise that supportingand
developingthe culture and practice
of talent managementinthe
organisationis core to our success.
Our approach to talent has delivered
many leaders for the organisation,
who have built successful careers
over many years, with an average
tenure of 18 years among this
cohort. Additionally, by focusing on
talent through comprehensive and
considered succession plans we can
ensure that we continue tofillkey
operational and strategic positions
across the Group.

The Smurfit Kappa Academy
supportsthe development and
succession planning for the Group
andisimportant for our people.

[t was crucial that the programmes
continue during the pandemic and
we therefore pivoted these to online
offerings. This ensured that we
could continue to upskilland invest
inour people across the Group. For
further details on our development
programmes see page 70.

The Boardis very supportive of
the EveryOneinclusion, diversity
and equality initiative which was
further evolvedin 2021 with the
introduction of the five EveryOne
Communities to drive the Group's
ambitioninthis area. The diverse
communities focus on: Disability,
Family & Age, Gender, LGBTQ+ &
Allies, and Origin, Race & Ethnicity,
details of which are included within
the People section on page 68.

Stakeholder Engagement

The Group andthe Boardhave a
continued focus on stakeholder
engagementwhichisanarea
where we continue to have strong
foundations onwhichtobuild. In
addition to the further enhanced
engagementwith the workforce as
setout above, we continue to work
collaboratively with our customers,
suppliers, shareholders and the
communities in which we operate.

Ourengagement with those
communities continues to be a core
management priority during 2021,
despite facinginto a second year of
the pandemic, our workforce across
the world continued to donate their
time, effort, and expertise to making
apositive andlastingimpact on their
communities with almost 5,000 of
our colleaguesinvolvedin 150
initiatives across 23 countries. In
addition, the Group has committed
throughits Better Planet 2050
targets to donate €24 million
between 2020and 2025.

Ourleadership team andinvestor
relations team maintain active
engagement and dialogue with the
investment community and our
shareholders, to discuss key issues
including strategy, sustainability,
capital allocation, remuneration
and governance. During 2021, lwas
delighted to have the opportunity
tomeetvirtually and engage with
many of our shareholders and also
with proxy body representatives, to
understand their views and insights
onthe Company.

Further details on stakeholder
engagementin 2021 is outlined on

pages 44to 47.Inthe period ahead, my

continued focus as Chair willbe onthe
further development of engagement
with our key stakeholders.

Dividends

Dividends remain a central
component of the Group's
commitment to deliver value for
our shareholders. Our progressive
dividend policy recognises the
importance of dividends to our
shareholders. The Boardis
recommendinga 10%increasein
the final dividend to 96.1 cent per
share, subject to the approval of
shareholders at the Annual General
Meeting (AGM') in April 2022. This
incombinationwith the interim
dividend of 29.3 cent per share paid
in October 2021 will deliver a total
dividend of 125.4 cent per share.
This furtherincrease in the dividend
reflects the confidence andthe
everincreasing strength of and
prospects for the business.

Outlook

Notwithstanding the current global
geopolitical uncertainties and
disruptionto supply chains, current
trading for the Groupis strong, and
ourintegrated paper and packaging
system remains effectively sold out.
We continue to see significant
opportunities across our geographic
footprintandare investingto build a
platform for durable growthto meet
customer demand.

oA

Irial Finan
Chair
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Reductionin CO, emissions
5 5 0 O This investment underlines Smurfit Kappa's continued
’ commitment to developments in leading edge
tonnes technology and our operations in Germany.

perannum

Investment

€35
million
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A key differentiating factor for
SKG has always been our people

Tony Smurfit
Group Chief Executive Officer

In a world of significant supply constraints, | am incredibly proud of how
our 48,000 employees have responded to ensure our customers’ needs
were met and indeed, continue to be met as we begin 2022.

2021 Overview

lam happy to report that Smurfit
Kappa has delivered another
excellent performance in 2021
with an EBITDA of €1,702 million,
representinganincrease of 13%
on 2020 (2020:€1,510 million) and
an EBITDA margin of 16.8%, down
from 17.7%in 2020.

This performance demonstrates
the strength of our integrated
model, the quality of our business,
our operational efficiency and our
increasing geographic and product
diversity. Theresult alsoreflects the
Group's ability to recover significant
input cost pressure by way of
progressive box price increases,

strong box volumes, the resilience
and security of supply we deliver
for our customers alongside the
benefits of our customer-focused
innovation and capital spend
programme and the dedication

of our 48,000 employees.

Over the last number of years,

the Group has made significant
investments enabling us to meet
our customers' needfor resilience,
ensuring they have security of supply
and access to the mostinnovative,
sustainable packaging solutions.

With corrugated demand growth
of 8% during the year, thisis a
clearindication that paper-based

packaging, whichis renewable,
recyclable andbiodegradable, isthe
choice of our customers and the end
consumer versus the less sustainable
alternatives. Governments are also
following suit by legislating against
non-recyclable, non-renewable
andless sustainable packaging.
E-commerceis now away oflife

and the protection that corrugated
packaging provides as a transport
mediumiis the preferred choice for
amobile and sustainable world.

2021 was characterised by
significant and unprecedented cost
inflation. These costs, particularly
in energy, recovered fibre and other
categories of raw materials, remain

at elevated levels at the beginning
of 2022; however, we expect to
continue to recover these costs,
with marginimprovement, as we
progress through the year.

Both our European and Americas
businesses delivered excellent
performancesin the year. Our
European business recorded an
EBITDA of €1,302 million withan
EBITDA margin of 16.6% while our
Americas business recorded an
EBITDA of €441 million with an
EBITDA margin of 19.5%.

Akey to the performance of Smurfit
Kappa over recent years has beento
invest both organically and through

Furtherinformationin relation to Alternative Performance Measures referenced in this Statement is includedin the Supplementary Information section on pages 191 to 197.
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Overview

acquisitions to meet growing
customer demand forinnovative

and environmentally sustainable
packaging solutions. During 2021, 82
new convertingmachines and seven
new corrugators were approved
across our operationsin Europe and
the Americas. Materialinvestmentsin
our paper system were also approved
in order toincrease efficiency and
capacity and to meet our ambitious
sustainability objectives.

During 2021, we completed

the acquisition of a state-of-the-art
recycled containerboard millin
[taly with a capacity of 600,000
tonnes. This acquisition provides
additional security of supply to our
customers. Inthe Americas region,
we continued our geographic
expansion through acquisitionsin
Mexico and Peru. Our continuing,
customer-ledinvestmentin
converting assets, the most
significant within the industry,
together with our Verzuolo millin
Italy, will sustain a clear competitive
advantage for Smurfit Kappa.

2021 saw the launch of our Green
Finance Framework, under which
we issued our dualtranche
inaugural green bonds, comprising
€500 million 8 year bonds with a
coupon of 0.5% and €500 million
12 year bonds with a coupon

of 1%. Sustainability has always
been at the core of our operations
andis now embedded within our
capital structure.

Europe

The Europe segmentis the larger
ofthe Group's two segments,
accounting for 78% of its revenue
and 76% of its EBITDAin 2021.

Our Europe segment is highly
integrated. Itincludes a system

of mills and plants that primarily
produce a fullline of containerboard
thatis convertedinto corrugated
containers. In addition, the Europe
segment also produces other types

'y

Strategic Report

of paper, such as solidboard, sack
kraft paper and graphic paper; and
other paper-based packaging,
such as hexacomb and solidboard
packaging, folding cartons; and
bag-in-box packaging.

The Group currently has facilities
in 23 countriesin Europe. These
comprise 23 mills (of which 18
produce containerboard), 186
converting plants (the majority
of which produce corrugated
packaging products) and 27 other
production facilities carrying out
related activities. The mills are
supported by 20 recovered fibre
collection facilities and two wood
procurement operations.

The Group's European
containerboard mill system
consists of three kraftliner mills;
in Sweden, France and Austria,
which between them produced
approximately 1.7 million tonnes of
brown and white kraftlinerin 2021
and 15 recycled containerboard
mills including the newly acquired
millin Verzuolo, Italy. In 2021, our
15 recycled containerboard mills
produced over 3.7 million tonnes
of paper.

We also have two virgin fibre-
based millsin Spain, whichin

2021 produced approximately
164,000 tonnes of sack kraft paper
and approximately 89,000 tonnes
of machine glazed (MG') paper.

In 2021, our three recycled mills

in Germany together produced
approximately 346,000 tonnes

of solidboard and boxboard and
approximately 81,000 tonnes

of graphicboard. In addition, the
Parenco containerboard millinthe
Netherlands produced 182,000
tonnes of graphic paperinthe year.

Onthe conversionside, the
operations comprise 43 sheet
plants and 109 corrugated plants
which produced approximately

Governance

5.1 milliontonnesin 2021.In addition,
we have 34 plants which produce
high-end differentiated packaging
products suchas litho-laminated
corrugated products, display units
and solidboard-based packaging,
allof which extend the range of
packaging solutions in our portfolio.
Our converting operations are
supported by anumber of other
smallplants producing pre-print
packaging, fulfilment activities and
other packaging related products.
Our European-managed bag-in-box
operations comprise eight plants
locatedin Europe, Argentina, Canada,
Mexico andthe United States.

Our European business delivered
astrong performance with a 10%
increasein EBITDAto €1,302 million
forthe year. The EBITDA margin
was 16.6%, down from 17.8%in 2020.
Box demand was up approximately
8% for the year with strong
performancesinall countries,
illustrating the robust demand
backdrop for ourinnovative and
sustainable product offering.
Corrugated pricing has continued to
improve inline with our expectations.

Our European business continued to
build onits strong operating platform
through 2021 with significant
corrugated and containerboard
projects announced for France,
Germany, the Czech Republic, Slovakia,
Poland and the UK, as wellasin our
bag-in-box operationin Spain.
Theseinvestmentsinthe latest
high-tech and energy efficient
machinery, including new
corrugators and converting
machines alongside facility
expansion projects, will allow us
toincrease production output

and expand the range of high

value products that we offer to

our growing customer base, while
also contributing towards the
sustainability goals of the Group
and our customers.

Investing to increase efficiency and capacity

and to meet our ambitious sustainability targets.

Financial Statements
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The Americas

Our Americas segmentis also
highly integrated. Like our Europe
segment, itincludes a system of
mills and plants that primarily
produce afullline of containerboard
thatis convertedinto corrugated
containers. The Americas segment,
whichincludes a number of Latin
American countries and the

United States, also comprises
forestry; other types of paper

such as boxboard, sack paper, and
graphic paper; and paper-based
packaging, such as folding cartons,
hexacomb, paper sacks and
bag-in-box packaging.

The Group's operationsinthe
Americas consist of 12 paper mills
in five countries (Argentina, Brazil,
Colombia, Mexico and the United
States) producing containerboard,
boxboard, sack paper and printing
and writing paper with acombined
production of 1.6 million tonnesin
2021. Themills are supported by

25 recovered fibre facilities in seven
countries and forestry operationsin
Colombia. We have 41 corrugated
plantsintencountries, including the
Cartones del Pacifico plant acquired
inPeruduring the year, witha 2021
production of approximately

1.6 milliontonnes.

We also have 14 other converting
plantsin six countries, including the
Cartonbox folding carton plantin
Mexico acquired during the year,
producing mainly paper sacks, folding
cartons or hexacomb packaging.

EBITDA Europe
(million)

€1,302

2020:€1,180

EBITDA Margin Europe
(%)

16.6

2020:17.8
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EBITDA the Americas
(million)

€441

2020:€372

EBITDA Margin the
Americas
(%)

19.5

2020:19.7

Other production facilities include

a preprint facility, three foam
packaging plants in Mexico and
apackaging solutions facility in the
United States. The Group's Americas
business continues to be aregion

of geographic diversification, high
growth, and significant opportunity.

EBITDA increased by 19% on 2020
to €441 millioninthe Americas. The
EBITDA margin was slightly lower at
19.5%in 2021, comparedto 19.7%
in 2020. Colombia, Mexico and the
United States accounted for over
77% oftheregion's earnings with
strong performancesinall three
countries. Volumes for the full
yearinthe Americas were up 9%
year-on-year and as in Europe, the
Group continued to build oniits
operating platform with significant
capacity and sustainability related
investmentin the corrugated,
containerboard and speciality
businesses across the region.

Duringthe year, we announced the
expansion of our Latin America
business with acquisitions in Peru
and Mexico respectively, adding

to our geographic diversity and
enhancing our customer offering
in these high growth regions.

Pricing for containerboardin both
Europe and the Americas continued
the upward trend through 2021.
Initially this was driven by strong
demand andrising recovered fibre
prices and subsequently, in the latter
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part of the yearin Europe, by rising
energy prices. Increasing recovered
fibre prices have cost the Group

an additional €440 millionin 2021
versus the prior year whilerising
energy prices have cost the Group
approximately €235 million versus
the prioryear.

Capital Structure

Net debtwas €2,885 millionat the
endof December, resultingina
netdebt to EBITDAratio of 1.7 times
comparedto 1.6times atthe end
of December 2020. With net debt
to EBITDA at 1.7 times the strength
ofthe Group's balance sheet
continues to secure long-term
strategic flexibility. Giventhe strong
business profile and ability to
consistently deliver substantial free
cash flow, the Groupis comfortably
operatingwithinits target leverage
range of 1.5times to 2.0 times.

Duringthe year, Smurfit Kappa
announced the launch of its Green
Finance Framework withanISS

ESG Second Party Opinion. The
Group subsequently announced
the launch and successful pricing

of itsinaugural green bond offering,
comprising €500 million of senior
notes due 2029 and €500 million

of senior notes due 2033 with coupons
of 0.5% and 1.0%respectively. The
coupons achieved for these tenors
were not only thelowestinthe Group's
history but also the lowest for a
corporateissuerinour rating category.

At 31 December 2021, the Group's
averageinterestrate was 2.63%
comparedto 3.13% at 31 December
2020. Thereductionin our average
interest rate was primarily due to
the refinancing activity undertaken
during the year which comprised
the repayment of our €500 million
2.375% senior notes maturingin
2024 and the issuance of our

€1 billion dual tranche inaugural
greenbonds mentioned above.

The Group's diversified funding
base andlong-dated maturity profile
of 5.8 years (31 December 2020:

4.9 years) provide a stable funding
outlook. At 31 December 2021,

we had a strong liquidity position

of approximately €2.52 billion
comprising cash balances of

€869 million, undrawn available
committed facilities of €1,343 million
on our sustainability linked Revolving
Credit Facility (‘(RCF') and

€312 million on our sustainability
linked securitisation facilities.

Sustainability

The Group's end-to-end approach
to sustainability is evidentinits
innovative products and processes
that support customers and
positivelyimpact the entire value
chain. The progress we have made
during 2021 was built upon the
achievements outlinedin our 14"
annual Sustainable Development
Report ('SDR') publishedin April
2021 which highlighted the Group's
long-standing objective to drive
change and nurture a greener and
bluer planet through the three

key pillars of Planet, People and
Impactful Business.

Inearly 2021 we set new targets and
revised existing targets through our
Better Planet 2050 initiative, the aim
of whichis to combine long-term
ambition with action today, details
of which are outlined on page 58.

2021 also saw the worldincrease its
focus on climate with the publication
of the Inter-governmental Panel on
Climate Change ('IPCC')reportin
Augustand the 26th Conference of
the Parties, or COP26,in Glasgow.
SKG, as aleader in sustainability,

is playingits partinmakingthe
necessary changes to ensure we
stay aligned with the goals of the
Paris Agreement. In late 2021,

we were delighted to have our

2030 emissions reductions targets
approvedby the SBTias beinginline
with the Paris Agreement.

Recent years have seenan
accelerationin changing consumer
patterns, particularly around
increased e-commerce penetration
and heightened awareness of
unsustainable packaging solutions.
By producing a product thatis
renewable, recyclable and
biodegradable, and, madeinan
increasingly sustainable manner,
ourinnovative solutions have
continued to deliver for our
customers and their sustainability
goals. Solutions such as TopClip and
Click-to-Lock have demonstrable
CO, reduction delivery for our
customers. We deliver for our
customers notjustinterms ofthe
sustainable nature of our packaging
products, butalsoinour approach,
and how by harnessing applications
such as SupplySmart we can design
further CO, reductions through
optimising design by analysing the
end-to-end use of the product.

Since we started reporting on our
corporate sustainability journey
almost fifteen years ago, we have
been focusing our efforts on
delivering a positive impact for our
customers, our other stakeholders
and playing our partin having
apositiveimpact onthe planet.
Our stated ambitions and specific
and measurable goals continue

to underpin our leadership

in sustainability.

During 2021 the Group appointed
anew Chief Sustainability Officer,
reportinginto the Group CFO, who
forms animportantlink between
the executive, the Board and our
broader stakeholder base.

Further details on the progress,
developments andinvestments

in sustainability in 2021 are outlined
throughout this Annual Report
andin particularin the Group

Chief Financial Officer's review

on page 42 and the Sustainability
sectionon pages 48to 63.

Commercial Offering

and Innovation

The Group continued to deliver
innovation for our customersin
2021. This wasillustrated by our
firstvirtual Better Planet Packaging
event heldin March which hosted
over 2,700 attendees.

The Group launched the world's
first pre-certified Frustration Free
Packaging ('FFP') compliant solution
for Amazon supply-chains during
the year. This means customers can
access one of the world'sleading
trading platforms quicker and
confident of meeting Amazon's
strict packagingrequirements,
asignificant advantage as global
e-commerce sales continue to grow.

Also during the year, the Group's
Brazilian business won a prestigious
Red Dot Awardin the area of product
design. The packaging challenge
came from Wine &Bite Box to secure
and protect bottles of wine and food
foragrowing trend of tasting boxes
beingdelivered to customers foran
athome gourmet experience. The
award recognises this packaging as
one of the mostinnovative design
projectsinthe world.
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The Group also announced the
development of its first paper-based
childlock box for laundry pods.
The Click-to-Lock Boxis a 100%
paper-based solution which
provides a sustainable and safe
alternative to the traditional plastic
box for laundry pods. The new
packaging solution reduces

CO, emissions by 32% during
productionandis 100% recyclable
andbiodegradable.

Additionally, the Group launched a
unique range of circular packaging
solutions for the rapidly growing
online health and beauty market.
The customisable eHealth & Beauty
portfolioincludes sustainable,
paper-based packaging solutions
ideal for shipping vulnerable
products, such as fragrances,
cosmetics, and skin and hair care
products, as well as tamper proof
packaging designed for vitamins,
supplements and sports nutrition.

The Group received 13 awards for
its creative andinnovative packaging
solutions at this year's Flexographic
Industry Association ('FIA") UK
awards. Since 2013, Smurfit Kappa
has received 113 FIA awards,
illustratingits leadershipinthe
packagingindustry.

The Group was recognised for
its work oninclusion and diversity
and as well as for its packaging
innovation, sustainability, design
and printwith 69 awardsin 2021.

The Group continues to experience
intense levels of pipeline
development across our business
as customers strive for more
sustainable packaging solutions.
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Our People

Akey competitive advantage and
point of differentiation for Smurfit
Kappa Group has always been our
people. They have proved again and
again to be our most valuable asset
inourresponse to COVID-19, and as
acritical partnerin supporting and
delivering for all our stakeholders.

| could not be prouder of their
continued efforts, contribution

and commitment.

During the year, we have welcomed
just over 1,000 new colleagues to
the Smurfit Kappa family through
our acquisitions. We continued our
support of all our employees during
2021 andinto 2022 with astrong
focus on health and wellbeing,
employee engagement and
communications, reward and
recognition, and learning and
developmentinitiatives.

| wouldlike to acknowledge the
tremendous effort and commitment
of allour approximately 48,000
employeesin the 36 countriesin
which we operate for their significant
contribution to the results achieved
in2021. We look forwardto the
challenges and opportunities of
2022 andto continuing our efforts
tomake the Group the safestand
most customer-focused company
inwhich toworkin ourindustry.

| would like to take this opportunity
to acknowledge the tremendous
support of the Board for the
continuing development of the
Company. Equally, lwould also like to
recognise our shareholders support
over the last number of years.

\

Tony Smurfit
Group Chief Executive Officer

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 25



OUR BUSINESS MODEL

We are a packaging leader
in a growth industry

Our Our Integrated Process:
Integrated
Model £

. Fibres sustainably sourced
We have anintegrated e ey

system of containerboard containers and forests
mills and corrugated box

(7

L1/,
«y
MWW

plants. Ourrecycling, Recov/er_ed_
wood procurement and paper/virgin
paper fibres

forestry operations
provide raw material to
our containerboard mills,
who produce afullline

of containerboard
whichis convertedinto
corrugated containers.

Innovation

We are a highly innovative, design-led
company. Our approach to innovationis
data-driven and focused on solving our

customers’ challenges, whether through
product promotion, process improvement, carbon

Our vertical integrationis 2 Al i i
reduction or optimising supply chain efficiency.

key to guaranteeing security
of supply for our customers
and enabling us to drive
efficiencies across the
whole supply chain with

We employ a range of ‘Innotools’, unique &% Recovered
to Smurfit Kappa, enabling us to create " paper facilities
the optimal fit-for-purpose packaging
solutions for our customers.

technological advances,
paper machine optimisation
and logistics management,
which in turn means we can

Our unique approach to innovation for
business success is based on combining
science, experience, geographic diversity,
big data and creativity on a scale and with

i . adepth not seen elsewhere in the industry.
offer optimal paper design,

quality andlogistics. We
have lower exposure to
volatility in containerboard Rlsuiibationand
prices and our integrated E 1T consumption
structure ensures that we e e e
provide a stable outlet for g‘
our product through the

uncertainty of market falls

andrises.

Underpinned by Our Values:
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Overview

We design, manufacture and supply sustainable
and innovative packaging solutions to promote
and protect our customers' products.

\)@

Production of

containerboard
End-to-end
Sustainability

From procurement and working with our
suppliers, to production and product delivery
to our customers, our economic goals are
aligned with our social, community and
environmental responsibilities.

Conversion s
into corrugated — Working within a circular economy, our embedded
= Chain of Custody ensures that close to 100% of our raw

board sheets . . )
material comes from sustainable and/or certified sources
regardless of whether it is virgin or recycled.

As aleader in sustainable packaging,
we have a responsibility to respond to
the challenge the world faces with litter
and inefficient use of materials. We are
addressing this with our Better Planet

Packaging initiative.

[ Read more in our Sustainability

Conversion Section on page 48

into packaging ..’

solutions

Customers

— — €

Safety Loyalty Integrity Respect
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OUR STRATEGY

We deliver a strong
return on capital

Our vision is to be a globally admired business, dynamically and sustainably
delivering secure and superior returns for all stakeholders.

The Group's objective StrategicPriorities Description
istodeveloplong-term [N RLCL G pesitonaim Earapeand
customer relationships position elective focused growth.
by providing customers

with differentiated

sustainable packaging

solutions that enhance ri Partner Become the supplier/

the customers'
prospects of success
in their end markets.

of choice

Enhance our operational

gl 0 peratio na I excellence through the

continuous upgrade of

exce“ence our customer offering.

Recruit, retain, develop

I I'IveStm ent and motivate the
i n p e Opl e best people.

g

Maintain a disciplined

Ca pita I approach to capital

allocation and maintain

a"ocation the focus on cash

generation.

E\
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Overview

Strategic Report

Objectives and Progressinthe Year

Governance

Organic growth fromincreased market share through developing
innovative solutions in areas such as Better Planet Packaging and
e-commerce; and

Pursuit of accretive acquisitions in higher growth markets such
as Eastern Europe and Latin America.

Read more inthe Group Chief Executive Officer's Statement on
pages 22 to 25

Deepening our understanding of our customers' world and developin
proactive initiatives to improve their offering;

Constantly innovating our products, service, quality and deliveryin
order to develop and/or maintain preferred supplier status; and
Pursuing superior performance measured against clearly defined

metrics in allaspects of our business and at alllevels in our organisation.

Read more in Our Innovative Solutions on pages 8 to 11

g

Improving the output from our high quality asset base through judiciof

capitalinvestment, continuous improvement programmes, transfer of

best practice, industrial engineering and other progressive initiatives;
Increasing the proportion of differentiated ideas, sustainability
initiatives, products and services on offer to our customers through
the use of the Group's development and technology centres,

our sustainability credentials and our innovation tools; and

Ensuring that the driving force behind all our operations is one

of customer satisfaction and excellence inthe marketplace.

Read more in the Group Chief Executive Officer's Statement on
pages 22 to 25

us

High quality graduate and other recruitment initiatives, progressive
goal setting, and performance appraisal programmes;

Focusedjob training and coaching;

Cross-divisional in-house development programmes; and
Selective executive development programmes.

Read more inthe People section on pages 64 to 75

Maintaininginvestment grade credit ratings following the recent upgrades;
Capital spending to facilitate organic growth, optimise our asset base
and enhance operating efficiency;

Acquiring strategically attractive and accretive assets; and
Progressive dividend supported by strong free cash flow.

[ Read moreinthe Finance Review on pages 39 to 43

Financial Statements

Outlook

Driven by strong secular trends such as e-commerce
and sustainability, the outlook for our industry is
increasingly positive. SKG has positioned itself as
the leading company within the industry, with great
people, providing our customers with unique
packaging solutions centred around innovation,
efficiency and sustainability. The inherent strength
of our business provides us with an unrivalled
platform to accelerate our vision and the Group's
next phase of growth and development. Going
forward, we will continue to implement our strategy,
creating a sustainable business that builds on our
strengths and will generate value for all stakeholders
over the long-term.

We will continue to lead in innovative, sustainable
packaging solutions for our customers, led by our
‘Better Planet Packaging' initiative which provides
our customers with sustainable solutions today,
ready for the challenges of tomorrow. We are
investing to build a platform for durable growth

to meet customer demand. The recent launch of
our Green Finance Framework and the successful
issuance of our inaugural Green Bond in September
2021 will finance or refinance a portfolio of

eligible green projects and further integrates the
sustainability ambitions at the core of our business
model into our funding strategy.

We remain relentlessly focused on attracting,
training and developing employees to ensure
delivery of all our strategic ambitions and to help

our people reach their full potential within the
organisation. Our capital allocation strategy remains
flexible and agile and we maintain a disciplined,
returns focused approach to capital allocation.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021
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KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

Measuring
our progress

The Group has a range of Key Performance Indicators ('KPIs’) which
we use to monitor our performance and measure progress.

Financial KPIs

EBITDA" (million) Performance

EBITDA for 2021 was €1,702 million,

€192 millionup on 2020. The
€ 1 7 O 2 resultreflects the strength of the
4 integrated model, the quality of our
2020:€1,510 business, our operational efficiency
and increasing geographic and

product diversity.

€1,702

€1,510 (A

EBITDA Margin’ (%) Performance

EBITDA marginwas 16.8%in 2021

comparedto 17.7% in 2020. In Europe,
1 6 8 our overall margin decreased from
= 17.8%in 2020t0 16.6%in 2021. In the
2020:17.7 Americas, our margin decreased from

19.7%in 2020t0 19.5%in 2021.

2021 I 16.8
2020 17.7

Net Debt’ (million) Performance

Net debt amounted to €2,885 million
at December 2021 compared to
€2 885 €2,375 million at December 2020.

’ The year-on-yearincrease of
2020:€2,375 €510 million reflected free cash flow
of €455 million for the year, more
than offset by outflows inrespect
of dividend payments, the purchase
of businesses and non-controlling
interests, the payment of the Italian
Competition Authority fine and
negative currency translation

2021 S 2,385 ° coative cu
adjustments.
2020 €2,375 LA | |

* Informationinrelation to the definition and calculation of these Alternative Performance Measures is included in the Supplementary Information section on pages 191 to 197.
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Key to Strategic Priorities

(% K. Y,

Market Partner Operational
Position of Choice Excellence

Net Debt
to EBITDA® (times)

1.7x

2020:1.6x

Free Cash Flow" (‘'FCF’)
(million)

€455

2020:€675

2021 I €455
2020

Return on Capital
Employed’ ('ROCE’) (%)

16.0

2020:14.6

Governance

¢
%
Investment
in People

Capital
Allocation

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Performance

With net debt of €2,885 million

and EBITDA of €1,702 million,
ourleverage ratiowas 1.7 times

at December 2021 compared to
1.6 times at December 2020. The
Group is operating withinits target
leveragerange of 1.5x to 2.0x.

Performance

FCF of €455 millionin 2021 was
€220 million lower than the

€675 millionreportedin 2020.

An EBITDA growth of €192 million,
combined with lower outflows for
cashinterestand the absence of an
exceptional outflowin 2021 were
more than offset by higher outflows
for capital expenditure, higher tax
payments, a higher outflow for the
change in employee benefits and
other provisions and a negative swing
in working capital from an inflow in
2020 to an outflowin 2021.

Link to Remuneration

D See Remuneration Report
for Annual Bonus metrics,
pages 92 to 109.

Performance

ROCE at December 2021 was
16.0%. With a higher level of
operating profit partially offset
by a higher level of average capital
employed, our ROCE increased
from 14.6% at December 2020.

Link to Remuneration

[ See Remuneration Report for
PSP metrics, pages 92 to 109.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 31



KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS CONTINUED

Key to Strategic Priorities
L]
G MiM® g
Q I %
Market Partner Operational Investment Capital
Position of Choice Excellence in People Allocation

Financial KPIs continued

Earnings per Share o oibac
ur pre-exceptional basic EPS
(‘EPS’) (cent) in 2021 increased by 16% from
236.9 centin2020to 274.5 cent,
Pre-exceptional Basic EPS* reflecting a higher pre-exceptional

profit attributable to owners of
2 74 5 the parent of €706 millionin 2021
]

compared to €567 millionin 2020.

2020:236.9

Basic EPSincreased to 263.9 cent
in2021 comparedto 227.9 centin
2020. This was mainly due to a higher
2020 operating profit for 2021 resulting
ina profit for the financial year
Basic EPS attributable to owners of the

parent of €679 million, compared

2 63 9 to €545 millionin 2020.
|}

2020: 227.9 Link to Remuneration
[ See Remuneration Report for
PSP metrics, pages 92 to 109.

2021

2021
2020

Non-Financial KPIs

Performance
Health and Safety We have committed to a 5%
(TRI R) reductionin our Total Recordable
Injury Rate (‘TRIR’). Our result for
the year 2021 was 0.59, areduction
0 o 5 9 of 1.7% on 2020 (0.60). Whilst our

year-on-yearimprovement did not
meet our 5% target, we were pleased
that we were able to improve on
what was a significant step change

in performancein 2020.

2020:0.60

Link to Remuneration

[ See Remuneration Report for
Annual Bonus metrics, pages 92
to 109.

2021 I 0.59

2020 0.60 (A

* Informationinrelation to the definition and calculation of these Alternative Performance Measures is included in the Supplementary Information section on pages 191 to 197.
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CO, Emissions
Reduction (%)

41.5

2020:37.3

2021 I 41.3
2020 37.3

Chain of Custody (%)

93.45

2020:93.8

2021 I 03.45 "
2020 93.80 (

Governance

Financial Statements Supplementary Information

Performance

We have committed toa 55%
reductionin scope 1 and 2 fossil fuel
based CO, emissions in our mill
system compared to 2005 levels by
2030 (goal updatedin 2020) and we
aretargetingtoreachatleast net
zero CO, emissions by 2050. In 2021,
we reached areduction of 41.3%
comparedto 37.3% in 2020.

Performance

We have committed to selling over
95% of our products as Chain of
Custody certified to our customers
(goal updatedin 2020). We reached
aninitial target level of 90% in 2016
and increased our ambition to 95%
in 2020. Our result for the full year
2021 was 93.45%. This was down
slightly on 2020 and was driven
predominantly by low paper
availability in what were extremely
tight global markets.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021
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RISK REPORT

Risk identification,
assessment and management

The Board determines the nature and extent of the principal risks it is willing
to accept to achieve its strategic objectives. Risks are identified and evaluated
and appropriate risk management strategies are implemented at each level
in the organisation.

Risk Management

and Internal Control

The Boardhas overallresponsibility
forthe Group's system of risk
management andinternal control
and for monitoringand reviewingits
effectiveness, in order to safeguard
shareholders'investments and the
Group's assets. Such a systemis
designedto manage rather than
eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives and can
therefore only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against
material misstatementorloss. The
Board carries out areview of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and internal control
systems atleast annually.

Group executive managementis
responsible forimplementing
strategy andfor the continued
development ofthe Group's
operations within parameters set
down by the Board. Day-to-day
management of the Group's
operationsis devolved to operational
management within clearly defined
authority limits and subject to timely
reporting of financial performance.
Managementatalllevelsis
responsible forinternal control over
the respective operations that have
been delegatedtothem. As such, the
system of internal control throughout
the Group's operations ensures
thatthe organisationis capable

of responding quickly to evolving
operational and business risks and
that significantinternal control
issues, should they arise, are
reported promptly to appropriate
levels of management.

The Boardis responsible for
determining the nature and extent of
the principal risks it is willing to accept
toachieveits strategic objectives.
Risk assessment and evaluationis an
integral part of the management
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process throughout the Group.
Risks areidentified and evaluated,
and appropriate risk management
strategies areimplemented at
eachlevel. The key businessrisks
areidentified by the Executive
Risk Committee.

The Audit Committee andthe
Boardin conjunction with senior
management review the key
business risks faced by the Group and
determine the appropriate course

of actiontomanage theserisks. The
Audit Committeeis responsible for
reviewing the effectiveness of the
Group's system of internal control
including risk management on behalf
ofthe Board and reports to the Board
onallsignificant matters.

The review of the Group risk process
completed by PwCin 2020 noted the
comprehensive processin place and
the strong awareness of risk across
the Group. They noted some
recommendations which were
considered as part of the overall
further evolution of therisk
framework which continued during
2021. The work completed duringthe
year included the updating of formal
risk policy and strategy documents
inline with best practice with the
assistance of PwC. In addition,
formalised risk appetite statements
for each of the principal risks of the
Group were developed and
subsequently approved by the Board.
These willbe furtherembedded

into the overallrisk management
framework during 2022.

Risk Register Process

The Group'srisk register processis
based upon a Group standardised
approachto riskidentification,
assessment and review with a clear
focus on mitigating factors and
assignment of responsibility to

risk owners.

Theriskregistersincorporate risk
profiling against Group defined risk
categories whichinclude; strategic,
operational, environmental, legal,
economic/political/market,
technologicaland financial risks.
Eachindividualriskidentifiedis
assessed based upon potential
impact and likelihood of occurrence
criteria. New or emergingrisks are
addedtotheriskregisters as they
areidentified andassessed accordingly.

Divisionalmanagementis responsible
for reviewing the Country/Cluster
risk registers and updating the
Divisional risk registers accordingly,
which are reviewed and approved by
the Divisional risk committees.

The Group Risk Registeris updated
toreflectany significant changes
inthe Divisionalregisters or Group
levelrisks following consultation with
the Group's subject matter experts.
The Executive Risk Committee
reviews and assesses the Group
Risk Register and identifies the
principal risks. The Group Risk
Registeris thenreviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board.
Formalriskreporting timetables
and structures arein place across
the Group and are adhered to by
Country/Cluster, Divisional and
Group senior management.

COVID-19

As part of the Group's risk
assessment processes throughout
2021, the Board considered the
continuingimpact of the COVID-19
pandemic on each of the principal
risks and uncertainties of the Group.
There was no significant disruption
to the Group's business during 2021
as aresult of the pandemic.

Viability Statement

The Directors have assessed the
prospects of the Group overa
three-year period. The Directors
consider this period to be
appropriate as the Group's strategic
business planis devised and
assessed over a three-year period
inline with the cyclical nature of

the businessinwhich the Group
operates. Athree-year consolidated
financial model was built using a
bottom-up approach reflecting

the Group's current position
andincluding annual budgeting,
medium-term planning, and
management's estimates of future
profitability, taking into account
anumber of factorsincluding the
budget, external economic factors
and assumptions as appropriate
(including the OECD expectations
on GDP growth and the Fastmarkets
RISI paper packaging forecast,
inaddition to consideration of any
impact arising fromthe COVID-19
pandemic). The modelincorporates
and considers the important
indicators of performance of the
operations of the Group; EBITDA,
EBITDA margin, free cash flow, net
debt, netdebt to EBITDA, return

on capital employed and earnings
pershare.

The Directors have undertakena
robust assessment of the principal
risks facing the Group, as detailedin
this section, which would threaten
the Group's business model, future
performance, solvency or liquidity
and whichincluded consideration of
any potential deterioration of the
current economic climate due to the
ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. Using
the principal risks identified, stress
test scenario analysis has been
appliedto the Group's consolidated
financial modelto assess the

effect on the Group's key indicators
of underlying performance.



Overview

Inthe scenarios reviewed including
reverse stress testing, the Group
continues to have significant
headroominrelationtoits
financial covenants.

Based ontheresults of this analysis,
the Directors confirmthey have a
reasonable expectationthat the
Group willbe able to continuein
operationand meet itsliabilities as
they falldue over the three-year
period of their assessment.

Going Concern

After making enquiries the Directors
have areasonable expectation that
the Company and the Group as

Strategic Report

awhole, have adequate resources
to continue in operational existence
for the foreseeable future. For this
reason, they continue to adopt the
going concernbasis in preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements.
See Note 2 Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies on page 134 for
further detail on Going Concern.

Emerging Risks

Emergingrisks are considered as part
ofthe Grouprisk process. Over the
last number of years climate change
has been disclosed as anemerging
risk for the Group. It was considered
anemergingrisk due to changesin
weather patterns resultingin more

Risk Management Framework

Governance

regular flooding, water shortages,
or catastrophic events such as
earthquakes which could have the
potentialto give rise to business
interruptionin our operations and
our supply chains. In addition, climate
change could alsoimpact on the
cost of raw materials where access
toforestsishampered or forests
are made more vulnerable to pests
anddisease due to unseasonable
weather. In considering this risk
during 2021, the Audit Committee
andthe Boardin conjunctionwith
senior management concluded
that climate change should be
elevated toa principal risk for the
Group. Details of the riskand the

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

associated mitigations are included
onpages 36 to 38. Inaddition,

more detailed disclosure inrelation
to specific physicaland transition
climate risks for the Group are
outlined withinthe TCFD disclosure
onpages 54to61.

Following consideration of emerging
risks as part of the risk process for
2021, there were no other significant
emerging risks identified that
require disclosure.

The Group's risk management
framework is embedded within
our organisational structure.

Risk managementis owned by
management at each reporting
levelandis evaluated and reviewed
on acontinuous basis.

Group Senior

Management

<

Group EXCOMM

Ourriskmanagement framework
comprises: operationalmanagement,
who have responsibility foridentifying,
managing and mitigating risk within
theirlocal operations ona day-to-day
basis; Country/Cluster and Divisional
managementwho are responsible

Operational
and Divisional
Management

for oversight and monitoring; and
the Executive Risk Committee who
areresponsible for oversight
together with the identification,
management and mitigation of
Group levelrisks. Group Internal
Audit acts as anindependent

Subject Matter
Experts

Executive Risk

External
Advisors

assurance provider over certain
principal risks.

Group

<

Committee

Group Risk
Register

Audit Committee

SKG plc Board of Directors

Internal Audit

Group Internal
Audit Report
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RISK REPORT CONTINUED

Key to Strategic Priorities Key to Risk Trend

(A Market r. Partner u Operational a; Investment /‘ Capital =

Positi ) )
osition ' of Choice gl Excellence N inPeople Allocation Increased Reduced NoChange

Risk Description Mitigation Trend
Ifthe current economic » Asahighlyintegrated player, we are better able to cope with the effects of an economic downturnthan
climate were todeteriorate, apure paper or corrugated producer.

forexampleasaresult of »  The Group supplies approximately 70% of its packaging to FMCG customers whose consumption
geopoliticaleventsor volumes remain relatively stable through market downturns.

uncertainty, trade tensions +  TheGroup's customer base is spread across Europe and the Americas spanning 36 countries across
and/or the current COVID-19 multiple industries.

pandemic, it could resultin » The Group could significantly curtail capital expenditure and take additional cost cutting measures within
an economic slowdown arelatively short period as we have donein the past.

which, if sustained over any » Stresstestingfor the viability statement indicates we will continue to have significant headroom on our
significantlength oftime, covenants evenina sustained downturn.

couldadversely affect the »  The Grouphas beendeemed an essential business during the COVID-19 pandemic as our packaging serves
Group's financial position many vital supply chains including medical equipment, pharmaceutical, food and sanitation products.

andresults of operations.

Pricing Strategic Priorities (4

The cyclical nature of the » Asahighlyintegrated player, we are better able to cope with the effects of cyclicality and capacity
packaging industry could additions than a pure paper or corrugated producer.

result in overcapacity and « Ourdifferentiation programmes ensure we are at the forefront of the industry in developing cost-

consequently threaten the efficient solutions for our customers through performance packaging, quality management, supply chain

Group's pricing structure. optimisation and strong sustainability credentials. This service offering distinguishes the Group from

pure commodity suppliers, providing a support for more stable pricing.

»  Ourcontinuous investment programmes in our operations ensure we remain competitive and have low
cost mill systems. In an environment of overcapacity, our wellinvested, low cost mill system will enable the
Group to continue economic production through a period of lower prices while higher cost mills willbe
forced to shut.

Business Interruption StrategicPriorities | g Ml &
If operations at any of the « TheGroup ensures that all facilities have adequate insurance to mitigate the impact of significant interruption. =
Group's facilities (in »  Operational contingency plans are in place for all mills and plants in the event of a shutdown, including

particular its key mills) damages caused by climate change related to extreme weather patterns, which have been

were interrupted for any demonstrated to work during shorter interruptions in the past.

significant length of time, » InEurope, the Group has a network of operations which can facilitate the transfer of significant volume

it could adversely affect the to other millsin the event of a shutdown. Furthermore, our European Paper Sourcing operation centrally

Group's financial position coordinates all external paper purchases for the European operations. This was strengthened by the

andresults of operations. recent acquisition of the Verzuolo millin Italy.

» Thereis continuous investmentin a rigorous programme of preventative maintenance for all key mills and
other plants.

»  The Group hasintroduced several measures during the COVID-19 pandemic to protect our employees
and supported them with frequent communications to help them respond safely to the challenges posed
by the pandemic.
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Risk Description Mitigation Trend
Raw Materials and Other Input Costs Strategic Priorities (“

Price fluctuations in energy » The Group maintains a dedicated purchasing function which has responsibility for allinput costs and

and raw materials costs ongoing cost reduction programmes.

could adversely affect the «  The Group maintains a strong supply arrangement for approximately 75% of its recovered fibre

Group's manufacturing requirements which provides it with security of supply for its primary raw material while maintaining

costs. an optimum level of flexibility with respect to pricing.

» Inline with the usual time lag, the Group would expect implemented containerboard price increases
to support corrugated price recovery ofincreased input cost.

« Aproactive policy of forward pricing is in place which is designed to minimise, where possible, material
short-term volatility in energy price risk within approved parameters.

» The Group continually investsin a range of cost reduction projects, primarily in the areas of energy
and raw material efficiency that can deliver demonstrable economic returns.

Currency Strategic Priorities all
The Group is exposed to «  The Group ensures that short-termtrading exposures are hedged and, where practical, local operations =
currency exchange rate are financed as much as possible inlocal currency.

fluctuations. » The Group continually monitors and manages its foreign currency exposures for all countries and

constantly seeks opportunities to reduce these exposures. The Group Treasury Policy sets out rules
and guidance for managing this area.

Talent Management and the Workplace Strategic Priorities (A $ [ X
The Group may not be able » Continuous development by our HR department of a People Strategy to attract, engage, train, motivate

to attract, develop and and retain our people, including the transition to an agile hybrid workplace where possible, to meet

retain suitably qualified emerging talent expectations and to ensure talent competitiveness.

employees as required for » Periodic MyVoice surveys are undertaken to measure employee engagement and set future priorities as

its business. wellas programmes to increase engagement and recognition.

« Processesareinplace toidentify and develop our high potential people, together with a continuous focus
onleadership training and succession planning.

« Development of our existing competitive remuneration and recognition packages and review processes.

« Reinforcement of our talent recruitment strategy (universities, graduate programmes, etc.), to attract
highly talented people with the potential to become the future leaders of the Group.

« The Group hasimplemented a number of measures during the COVID-19 pandemic including; a robust
and supportive communications strategy; and use of online tools for development.

Health and Safety Strategic Priorities i [ A ] &
Failure to maintain good + Healthand safetyis a core consideration in allmanagement reviews. The protection of the health and =
health and safety and safety of the workforce is a continual focus in anindustry with a broad profile of hazards.

employee wellbeing » Increasedfocusis given to the strict adoption of good management, employee practices and a mind-set
practices may have an that complements existing risk mitigation measures. Divisional Health and Safety managers are in place

adverse effect on the with responsibility for enforcing good health and safety standards across their respective regions.

Group's business. » The Group has an established formal practice of investigating accidents and preparing safety bulletins

which are shared across divisions.

«  Group-wide auditing process based on current high risk activities.

» Annual safety improvement planning.

+ The Group hasintroduced several measures during the COVID-19 pandemic to protect our employees
and supported these with frequent commmunications to help them respond safely to the challenges
posed by the pandemic.
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RISK REPORT CONTINUED

Key to Strategic Priorities Key to Risk Trend

(A Market r. Partner u Operational a‘ Investment /‘ Capital =

Position ' of Choice gl Excellence N inPeople Allocation

Increased Reduced No Change

Risk Description Mitigation Trend
Legislation and Regulation —Environmental Strategic Priorities (“

The Group is subject to » The Group's environmental and climate change policies ensure each site has a manager who is responsible =
agrowing number of for environmentalissues including monitoring air, noise and water emissions and ensuring that the site is
environmental and climate running withinits permits.

change laws andregulations, < TheGroup'senvironmentalmanagementisincontactwithappropriate localauthorities and environmental

and the cost of compliance upgrades are made in consultation with them.

or the failure to comply with « Allour paperandboard mills are operated under an EMS (Environmental Management System) (ISO 14001).

current and future laws and «  We continuously investin our operations, to ensure compliance with environmental legislation.

regulations may negatively +  TheGrouphasanIT reporting systemin over 300 sites ensuring environmental data is reported on a

affect the Group's business. regular basis.

« The Group has a centralised co-ordination of allenvironmental activity providing akey interface tothe EU,
supported by acommittee of senior executives who meet regularly to review suchissues, and report directly
tothe Group CEO.

» Fornewlyacquired entities robust environmental due diligence is performed.

Legislation and Regulation - Anti-trust Strategic Priorities (“

The Group is subject to »  Comprehensive Group Competition Law Compliance Policy is in place and communicated to all =
anti-trust and similar employees. Allmanagers and market-facing employees are required to formally confirm adherence
legislationinthe to the policy for the preceding calendar year by signing a Competition Law Compliance Certificate on
jurisdictions in which an annual basis.

itoperates. »  Group General Counsel advises and supports employees and management in this area.

« 21 competitionlaw ambassadors appointed at cluster level to assist with competition law compliance
initiatives including regular communication and promotion to staff and local management.

+ Continuous process to ensure understanding ofissues and implications of regulatory practice and
legislative amendments.

+ Contracts with competitors are recordedin an online register.

+ Reduced trade association participation.

Cyber and Information Security Strategic Priorities (4

The Group, similar to other » Formally documented policies inrelation to information security including cyber security are in place.
large global companies, is »  The Group maintains a framework to ensure awareness at each level of the organisation with regard
susceptible to cyber-attacks to the implementation of cyber security. This framework is regularly audited.

with the threat to the » Specific controls are in place to prevent and detect security issues relating to business critical systems.
confidentiality, integrity « External Penetration testingis completed on an annual basis by specialist third parties with any issues
and availability of data remediated in accordance with formal procedures.

inits systems. » Defined business continuity and T disaster recovery plans are in place and are frequently tested.

+  The Groupis committed to ongoing capital expenditure as appropriate to continually enhance the
ITinfrastructure.

«  The Groupincreased employee communications relating to cyber security since the start of the
COVID-19 pandemic to ensure vigilance is maintained.

« Mandatory cyber security training for allemployees.

Climate Change StrategicPrioriies A "¢ B, &> g1

The global impact of climate « Continuous reduction of scope 1 and 2 emissions through specific investments in energy generation,

changein thelong-term energy reduction and non-fossil fuel based energy sources (including renewables).
could adversely affect the » Climate scenario analysis conducted currently indicates that the proportion of asset value at risk is low.
Group'sbusinessandresults < Continuous development of innovative packaging solutions for the Group's customers that can
of operations. demonstrably reduce their carbon footprint.
- Validation of the Group's emission reduction targets as being science-based andinline with the
Paris Agreement.
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Investing for durable growth
to meet customer demand

Ken Bowles
Group Chief Financial Officer

Delivering sustainable packaging solutions, made in an increasingly sustainable way,
means we play an integral role in the delivery of both our customers’ sustainability
goals and those of the end consumer.

Results

Revenue for 2021 was€10,107 million,

18% up on 2020 onboth areported
and an underlying basis. Revenue
in Europe was up 18%, driven by
volume growth and input cost
recovery through progressive box
price increases. On an underlying
basis, revenue in Europe was up
17%. Inthe Americas, revenue

was up 20% on the fullyear 2020,
or 21% on an underlying basis.

European revenue rose by

£€1,202 millionto €7,847 millionin
2021, with an underlying increase of
€1,140 million and positive currency
movements and hyperinflationary

adjustments of €30 million, along
with a net contribution of €32 million
from acquisitions and disposals.
Theincrease inunderlying revenue
of 17% reflected corrugated volume
growth of approximately 8% and
continuedinput costrecoveryin
corrugated pricing.

Revenue inthe Americas
increased by €375 millionin 2021

to €2,260 million, with underlying
growth of €394 million, equating to
21%, and a netimpact of €26 million
from acquisitions and disposals,
partly offset by net negative
currency and hyperinflationary
movements of €45 million.

The underlyingincrease was driven
by a 9% increase in corrugated
demand year-on-year along with
higher box prices.

Gross revenue, comprising both
intra-group and third party
revenue, for the Groupin 2021
was €18,721 million compared
t0€13,994 millionin 2020,
representing a 34% increase.

EBITDA for 2021 was €1,702 million,
anincrease of 13%0n 2020. The
result reflects the Group's ability
torecover significantinput cost
pressure by way of progressive box
priceincreases, strong box volumes,

theresilience and security of supply
delivered by the Group'sintegrated
model, alongside the benefits of our
customer-focusedinnovationand
capital spend programme and the
dedication of our 48,000 employees.
Onanunderlying basis, Group
EBITDA was up 13% on 2020, with
Europe up 10% and the Americas
up 20%.

At €1,302 million, EBITDAIn Europe
was €122 million higher thanin

2020 onboth areportedandan
underlying basis. Theincrease was
driven by higher paper prices and the
subsequent effect on average box
prices along with higher volumes

Furtherinformationin relation to Alternative Performance Measures referenced in this Statement is includedin the Supplementary Information section on pages 191 to 197.
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partly offset by higher recovered
fibre and energy costs. There were
strong performancesin all countries,
illustrating the robust demand
backdrop for our innovative and
sustainable product offering.

Our European business continued
tobuild onits strong operating
platform through 2021 with
significant corrugated and
containerboard projects announced
for France, Germany, the Czech
Republic, Slovakia, Poland and the
UK, as wellasin our bag-in-box
operationin Spain. These
investmentsin the latest high-tech
and energy efficient machinery,
including new corrugators and
converting machines alongside
facility expansion projects, will allow
us toincrease production output
and expandtherange of high

value products that we offer to

our growing customer base, while
also contributing towards the
sustainability goals of the Group
and our customers.

The acquisitionin October 2021
of arecycled containerboard mill
inltaly brings 600,000 tonnes of
containerboardinto ourintegrated
system ensuring we continue to
meet our customers' needs and
capture future growth.

At €441 million, reported EBITDA
inthe Americas was €69 million
higher thanin 2020. With net
negative currency and
hyperinflationary movements

of €9 million partly offset by anet
contribution of €2 million from
acquisitions and disposals, the
underlying year-on-year move

in earnings was anincrease of
€76 million. The underlyingincrease
was driven by anincrease in
corrugated demand and higher
box prices along with cost
containmentin the region.

Asin Europe, the Group continued
tobuild onits operating platform
with significant capacity and
sustainability related investment
inthe corrugated, containerboard
and speciality businesses across
the region. In June and July, the
Group announced the expansion
of our Latin America business

with acquisitions in Peru and
Mexico respectively, adding to our
geographic diversity and enhancing
our customer offeringin these high
growthregions.

40 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

FINANCE REVIEW CONTINUED

Allowing for a negative impact
fromdisposals of €6 millionand a
negative hyperinflation adjustment
of €1 million, the underlying
year-on-yearincrease in EBITDA
forthe Group was €199 million,
equatingto 13%. Pricing for
containerboardinboth Europe
and the Americas continued

the upward trend through 2021,
driveninitially by strong demand
and rising recovered fibre prices
and subsequently, inthe latter
part of the yearin Europe, by rising
energy costs. Increasing recovered
fibre prices have cost the Group
an additional €440 millionin 2021
versus the prior year while rising
energy prices have cost the Group
approximately €235 million versus
the prioryear.

The Group's operating profit before
exceptionalitems increased by

€151 million from €922 millionin
2020t0€1,073 millionin 2021 mainly
due to corrugated growth of 8%
andthe progress onbox price
increases, partly offset by significant
raw material headwinds, primarily
recovered fibre and energy costs.

Pre-exceptional net finance costs
at €131 million were €13 million
lowerin 2021 primarily as aresult
of adecreaseincashinterest of

€9 million predominantly due to
alower average level of borrowing,
areductioninbondinterest payable
following the issuance of our dual
trancheinaugural green bond and
the repayment of our higher coupon
2024 bondin September 2021.
Non-cash costs were €4 million
lower, which was mainly due to
a€5milliondecreaseininterest
costonnetpension liabilities and
a€4 milliondecrease in the foreign
currency translation netloss on
debt, partly offset by a negative
swing of €4 million from a
hyperinflationrelated net monetary
gainin2020toalossin 2021.

With the €151 millionincreasein
operating profit before exceptional
items, combined with the €13 million
decreaseinnet finance costs,

the pre-exceptional profit before
income tax was €944 million,

€165 million higher thanin 2020.

After exceptionalitems of €31 million,
the profit before tax for the full year of
2021 was €913 millioncomparedto
€748 millionin 2020. The income tax
expense was €234 million compared
to€201 millionin 2020, resultingin

aprofit of €679 million for 2021
compared to €547 millionin 2020.

Exceptional ltems

There were no exceptionalitems
within operating profitin 2021.

Net exceptionalitems charged
within operating profitin 2020
amounted to €31 million. €35 million
related to reorganisation and
restructuring costs in Europe and
the Americas and €11 millionrelated
to the unique COVID-19 recognition
reward givento all permanent
employees. These were partly
offset by a€15 million exceptional
gainonthe UK pension scheme.

Exceptional finance costs charged
in 2021 amounted to €31 million
represented a redemption premium
of €28 milliontogether with the
related accelerated write-off of
unamortised debtissue costs

of €3 million due to the early
redemption of bonds.

There were no exceptional finance
itemsin 2020.

Profit Before Income Tax
After exceptionalitems, the
Group's profit before income tax
amounted to €913 millionin 2021,
comprising the pre-exceptional
profit of €944 millionand an
exceptional charge of €31 million.
In 2020, the profit before income
taxwas €748 million, comprising
the pre-exceptional profit of
€779 millionand a net exceptional
charge of €31 million.

Income Tax Expense
Theincome tax expensein 2021 was
€234 million (comprising a current
tax charge of €265 millionand a
deferred tax credit of €31 million)
compared to €201 million
(comprisinga current tax charge

of €176 million and a deferred tax
charge of €25 million) in 2020.

There was anet €89 million
increasein current tax. Thenet
increase is mainly due to higher
profitability and its geographical mix,
increasing taxrates and the impact
of non-recurringitems.

The movementin deferred tax from
an expense of €25 millionin 2020

to acredit of €31 millionin 2021
includes the effects of the reversal
of timing differences on which
deferred tax was previously
recorded, the recognition of tax
benefits onlosses and other

investment tax credits partly offset
by the negative impact of increases
intaxratesinanumber of countries.
There was alower tax credit of

€4 million on exceptionalitemsin
2021 comparedto a €9 million tax
creditin 2020.

Earnings per Share

Basic EPS amountedto 263.9 cent
in2021 comparedto 227.9 centin
2020. On adiluted basis, our EPS
in2021 amountedto 261.1 cent
comparedto 225.7 centin 2020.

Theyear-on-yearincreaseinthe
Group's basic EPSreflected the
higher pre-exceptional operating
profit, lower net finance costs partly
offset by theimpact of the higher
weighted average number of
ordinary shares and a higherincome
tax expense net of exceptional
items. On a pre-exceptional basis,
our EPSin 2021 increased by

16% from 236.9 centin 2020
to274.5 cent.

The EPS figures are calculated on
the basis of the weighted average
number of sharesinissue during the
year, whichwas 257,086,000in 2021
comparedto 238,758,000in 2020.
Theincreaseis primarily due to the
issue of shares as part of the equity
capital raise in November 2020.

Cash Flow

Free cash flowin 2021 was

€455 million compared to

€675 millionin 2020, a decrease of
€220 million. EBITDA growth of
€192 million, combined with lower
outflows for cashinterestand the
absence of an exceptional outflow
of €18 millionin 2021 were more
than offset by higher outflows for
capital expenditure, higher tax
payments, a higher outflow for the
changeinemployee benefits and
other provisions and a negative
swing from a working capital inflow
in2020to an outflowin 2021.

Cashinterest was €109 millionin
2021 comparedto €118 millionin
2020. The year-on-year decrease
mainly reflects the lower average
level of borrowing and the reduction
inbondinterest payable following
theissuance of our dual tranche
inaugural greenbond and the
repayment of our higher coupon
2024 bondin September 2021.

The working capital outflow was
€114 million compared to aninflow
of €94 millionin 2020. The outflow
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in 2021 was primarily driven by an
increase in debtors and stock, partly
offsetby anincreasein creditors.
Theseincreases reflect the
combination of volume growth,
higher box prices, higher paper
prices and considerably higher
recoveredfibre and energy costs.

Working capital amounted to
€646 millionat December 2021,
representing 5.7% of annualised
quarterly revenue compared to
5.6% at December 2020.

Capital expenditurein 2021
amounted to €693 million (equating
to 124% of depreciation) compared
to €575 million (equating to 104%)
in 2020.

Taxpaymentsin 2021 of €239 million
were €45 million higher thanin 2020
with higher payments in both Europe
and the Americas.

The change inemployee benefits
and other provisions was an outflow
of €81 millionin 2021 compared to
€20 millionin 2020. Theincreaseis
primarily due to a negative swing

in current provisions from an inflow
in 2020to anoutflowin 2021 anda
higher outflowfor retirement benefits.

The 'other’ netinflow of €3 million

in 2021 compared to €14 millionin
2020. Theinflowin 2021 primarily
represented a hyperinflationary
adjustmentinflow and the sale of
property, plantand equipment partly
offset by lease modifications. The
inflowin 2020 mainly represented a
hyperinflationary adjustmentinflow
and capital grants received.

Driven mainly by the purchase

of businesses, investments and
non-controllinginterests ('NCI') of
€449 million, dividend payments
of €302 million and the payment of
the Italian Competition Authority
fine of €124 million, investment
and financing cash flows for the
year amounted to an outflow of

'y
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€879 million compared to aninflow of
€356 millionin 2020. Other outflows
comprised €22 millionfor the
purchase of shares under the
Deferred Bonus Plan (‘'DBP') and

€28 million of aredemption premium
forthe early repayment of bonds.
Investment and financing inflows of
€46 millionrelated to the sale of
businesses andinvestments of

€37 million along with net derivative
terminationreceipts of €9 million.

The outflow of €449 millionin 2021
for the purchase of businesses,
investments and NCl related mainly
to the acquisitionsin Italy, Mexico
and Peru along with the payment of
the deferred consideration onthe
exercise of the call optionin relation
tothe Serbian acquisition.

Theinvestment and financing
cashinflows of €356 million

in 2020 mainly comprised the net
contribution of the equity capital
raise of €648 million partly offset by
€260 million for dividend payments,
€25 million for the purchase of
NCland an associate in Colombia,
alongwith shares purchased under
the DBP.

With our free cash flow of

€455 millionin 2021 more than
offset by the netinvestmentand
financing outflows of €879 million,
the result was anet cash outflow of
€424 million compared to aninflow
of €1,031 millionin 2020. After the
amortisation of deferred debt issue
costs of €10 million, net negative
currency translation adjustments
of €50 million, net debt acquired of
€25 millionand net cash disposed
of €1 million, net debt increased by
€510 millionto €2,885 million at
December 2021 from€2,375 million
at December 2020.

The net negative currency
translation adjustment of €50 million
in 2021 mainly related to the US
dollar and Sterling. The US dollar
strengthened from US$1.23/euro

Governance

at December 2020to US$1.13

at December 2021, resultingin
anegative currency translation
adjustment of €42 million. Sterling
strengthened from £0.90/euro

at December 2020 to £0.84 at
December 2021, resultingina
negative currency translation
adjustment of €9 million.

The net positive currency translation
adjustments of €85 millionin 2020
mainly related to the US dollar,
Sterlingandthe Swedish Krona.

The US dollar weakened from
US$1.12/euro at December 2019

to US$1.23 at December 2020,
resultingin a positive currency
translation adjustment of €51 million.
Sterling weakened from £0.85/euro
at December 2019 to £0.90at
December 2020, resultingina
positive currency translation
adjustment of €11 million. The
Swedish Krona strengthened from
SEK10.45/euro at December 2019

to SEK10.03 at December 2020,
resultingin a positive currency
translation adjustment of €12 million.

With net debt of €2,885 million
and EBITDA of €1,702 million,
ourleverage ratiowas 1.7 times
at December 2021 compared
to 1.6 times at December 2020.
Theincreaseinour leverage was
driven primarily by theincrease
innet debt partly offset by the
increasein EBITDA.

Capital Resources and Liquidity
Committed facilities (excluding
short-term sundry bank loans

and overdrafts) amounted to
€5,006 million (2020:€4,584 million)
of which€3,351 million (2020:
€2,922 million) was utilised at

31 December 2021. The weighted
average period until maturity

of undrawn committed facilities

is 4.2 years (2020: 4.3 years).

In February 2021, Moody's and
Standard & Poor's upgraded the
Group'slong-termissuer rating

The Group's enhanced financial flexibility has facilitated
the completion of over €400 million in acquisitions during

2021 without any materialimpact on the Group's overall
leverage position year-on-year.
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to Baa3 and BBB- respectively with
stable outlook. As aresult of these
upgrades, along with the Fitch
Ratings upgradein 2020 to BBB-, the
Group now has aninvestment-grade
status with allthree rating agencies,
with stable outlook.

Inline withthe Group's ongoing
credit strategy of further extending
maturity profiles, diversifying
funding sources andincreasing
liquidity, the Group undertook
anumber of actionsin 2021.

In April 2021, the Group amended
and extendedits €200 million 2022
trade receivables securitisation
programme, which utilises the
Group'sreceivablesin Austria,
Belgium, Italy and the Netherlands.
The programme was extended to
January 2026 at areduced facility
size of €100 million and with a margin
reductionfrom 1.375%to 1.1%.

InNovember 2021, the Group
amended and extended its

€230 million 2023 trade receivables
securitisation programme, which
utilises the Group's receivables
inFrance, Germany and the UK.

The programme was extended to
November 2026, with the facility size
remaining at €230 millionand with a
margin reductionfrom 1.2%to 1.1%.

As part of the amendment process
for each of these programmes,

the Group further alignedits
sustainability ambitions and targets
intoits financing by embeddingits

Inaugural Green Bonds
(million)

€50

8 year bonds

Inaugural Green Bonds
(million)

€50

12 year bonds
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sustainability targets via KPIs into
the amendedand extended trade
receivables programme. These
programmes now incorporate

five KPIs spanningthe Group's
sustainability objectives regarding
climate change, forests, water,
waste and people, with the level of
KPlachievementlinked to the pricing
onthe programme.

InSeptember 2021, the Group
announced the launch ofits Green
Finance Framework withanISSESG
Second Party Opinion. The Group
subsequently announced the launch
and successful pricing of its inaugural
greenbond offering, comprising
€500 million of senior notes due 2029
and €500 million of senior notes due
2033 with coupons of 0.5% and 1%
respectively. The coupons achieved
forthese tenorswere notonly the
lowestinthe Group's history but also
thelowest for a corporateissuerin
our rating category.

Additionally, in September 2021,
the Group redeemed €500 million
2.375% senior notes due 2024.

The Group hasa€1,350 million
RCF with a maturity date of January
2026, whichincorporates five KPIs
spanning the Group's sustainability
objectives regarding climate
change, forests, water, waste

and people, with the level of KPI
achievement linked to the pricing
on the facility. Borrowings under
the RCF are available to fund

the Group's working capital
requirements, capital expenditure
and other general corporate
purposes. As aresult of the rating
upgradesin February 2021, the
margin onthe RCF reduced from
0.817%100.65%. At 31 December
2021, the Group's drawings on this
facility were US$8 million, atan
interestrate of 0.754%.

At 31 December 2021, the Group
had outstanding €13 million variable
funding notes ('VFN's) issued under
the €230 million trade receivables
securitisation programme maturing
in November 2026 and €5 million
VFN'sissued under the €100 million
trade receivables securitisation
programme maturingin

January 2026.

Net debt was €2,885 millionatthe
endof December 2021, resultingina
netdebt to EBITDA ratio of 1.7 times
comparedto 1.6 times at the end

of December 2020. With net debt to
EBITDAat 1.7 times, the strength of
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the Group's balance sheet continues
to secure long-termfinancial and
strategic flexibility. Given the strong
business profile and ability to
consistently deliver substantial free
cash flow, the Group is comfortably
operatingwithinits targetleverage
range of 1.5xto 2.0x.

At 31 December 2021, the Group's
averageinterestrate was 2.63%
comparedto 3.13% at 31 December
2020. Thereductioninour average
interest rate was primarily due to
the refinancing activity undertaken
duringthe year. At 31 December
2021, the Group's diversified funding
base andlong dated maturity profile
of 5.8 years (2020: 4.9 years) provide
a stable funding outlook. At

31 December 2021, the Group

had a strong liquidity position of
approximately €2.52 billion
comprising cash balances of

€869 million, undrawn available
committed facilities of €1,343 million
onour sustainability linked RCF and
€312 million on our sustainability
linked securitisation facilities.

The Group's primary sources

of liquidity are cash flow from
operations and borrowings

under the RCF. The Group's primary
uses of cash are for funding
day-to-day operations, capital
expenditure, debt service, dividends
and otherinvestment activity
including acquisitions.

Market Risk and Risk
Management Policies

The Board of Directors sets the
Group's treasury policies and
objectives, whichinclude controls
over the procedures used to
manage financial market risks.
These are set outin detailin

Note 29 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

The Groupis exposed to theimpact
of interest rate changes and foreign
currency fluctuations due toits
investing and funding activities and
its operations in different foreign
currencies. Interest rate risk
exposure ismanaged by achieving
an appropriate balance of fixed

and variable rate funding. As at

31 December 2021, the Group

had fixed an average of 97% of its
interest cost on borrowings over
the following 12 months.

The Group's fixed rate debt
comprised €250 million 2.75% senior
notes due 2025, US$292.3 million
7.50% senior debentures due 2025,

€1,000 million 2.875% senior notes
due 2026, €750 million 1.5% senior
notes due 2027, €500 million 0.5%
senior greennotes due 2029 and
€500 million 1.0% senior green
notes due 2033.€100 millionin
interest rate swaps converting
variable rate borrowings to fixed
rate maturedin January 2021.

The Group's earnings are affected
by changesinshort-terminterest
rates onits floating rate borrowings
and cash balances. Ifinterest rates
forthese borrowingsincreased by
one percent, the Group's interest
expense wouldincrease, andincome
before taxes would decrease,

by approximately €2 million over
the following 12 months. Interest
income onthe Group's cash
balances wouldincrease by
approximately €9 million assuming
aonepercentincreaseininterest
rates earned on such balances over
the following 12 months.

The Group uses foreign currency
borrowings, currency swaps and
forward contractsinthe management
ofits foreign currency exposures.

Sustainability

The Group has continued to

make significant progress across
its sustainability targetsin 2021.
Focusing on delivering sustainable
packaging solutions madeinan
increasingly sustainable way means
thatwe also play anintegralrole
inthe delivery of not only our
customer's sustainability goals but
also those of the end consumer.

The progress made during 2021
was built upon the achievements
outlinedinour 14" annual
Sustainable Development Report
('SDR). It highlights the Group's
long-standing objective to drive
change and nurture agreener
andbluer planet through the three
key pillars of Planet, People and
Impactful Business. Furthermore,
the Groups end-to-end approach
to sustainability is evidentinits
innovative products and processes
that support customers and
positivelyimpact the entire

value chain.

Inour 2020 SDR, Smurfit Kappa
reported significant progressin
reducing our fossil CO, emission
intensity. The Group is the first
initsindustry to have announced
targeting atleast net zero emissions
by 2050 and comparedtoits
baseline year 2005, it reducedits

emissionsintensity by 37.3% by the
end of 2020. The Groupis well onits
way to reach our intermediate 2030
target of a 55% reduction, inline with
the EU Green Deal objectives.

Anillustration of our continued
actionon CO, reduction was the
announcement during the year
of significantinvestmentsinthe
Group's Zulpich millin Germany
saving 55,000 tonnes of CO,
annually and the Hoya paper mill
andboard manufacturing plantin
Germany which willreduce CO,
emissions by 5,500 tonnes
perannum.

The Group also made continued
progress onanumber of its other
key sustainability targets; water
discharge, waste to landfill, chain
of custody certification, safety
performance and social projects.

While our entire SDR has been
independently third-party assured
inaccordance with Global Reporting
Initiative (‘GRI') Standards since
2009, in 2020 the Group started

to report consistent with
recommendations of the TCFD

and the Sustainable Accounting
Standards Board ('SASB’) criteria.

The Group has also been contributing
towards makingthe UN 2030
Sustainable Development Goals
('SDGs') areality since 2015. This
contribution was recognised by the
Supportthe Goals movementin
March 2021 whenthe Group became
thefirst FTSE 100 company to receive
afive-starrating. By committing

to these sustainability targets, the
Group's Better Planet Packaging
portfolio of sustainable products
willcontinue to help our customers
to deliver ontheir own short and
long-term sustainability goals.

Our circular business model which
drives positive change from the
responsible sourcing of renewable
raw materials to the sustainable
production of recyclable,
biodegradable and fit-for-purpose
packaging solutions was the basis
of our Green Finance Framework
published during the year and
supportedby a positive ISSESG
Second Party Opinion.

Smurfit Kappa handles 7.4 million
tonnes of predominantly post-
consumer materials each year
makingitan essential component
ofthe circular economy where
legislationis continuing to be
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introduced to transition businesses
to lower carbon and more circular
business practices. The Group's
sustainable land use has been
validated by non-governmental
organisations and third party
assessments which, along with our
industry leading chain of custody
certification, is a key differentiator
for our customers.

During the year, Smurfit Kappa
announced a new project at

its Nettingsdorf Paper Millin
Austria that will utilise waste heat
generated at the mill to help power
asustainable district heating
solution for the local community
of Ansfelden. Up to 25 megawatts
of heat generatedin the production
process willnow be captured and
converted through the new heat
extractionplant. This heat willbe
suppliedto the district heating
network that connects to

10,000 households, providing

a sustainable and secure energy
source and demonstrates the
positive environmentalimpact
ofthe collaboration with the

local community.

Also during the year, the Group's
emissions reduction targets were
approved by Science Based Target
initiative ('SBTI") as consistent with
levels required to meet the goals

of the Paris Agreement and well
below 2°C. This third party validation
adds to our existingendorsements
fromrating providers such as
MSCI, Sustainalytics and ISS ESG.
The Group has beenrecognised

as atop sustainability performer
by Sustainalytics, andis includedin
the Sustainalytics' Top Rated ESG
Companies for 2022. The Group
was named a Regional Top Rated
company andis ranked in the top 5
ofthe Paper Packaging category
globally. The ESG Regional Top
Rated badge received by the Group
coversthe EMEAregionand
categorises the Group's ESG risk
rating as 'low-risk’.

Smurfit Kappa continues to be listed
onvarious environmental, socialand
governance indices and disclosure
programmes, such as FTSE4Good,
the Green Economy Mark fromthe
London Stock Exchange, Euronext
Vigeo Europe 120, STOXX Global
ESG Leaders, ISS Solactive and
Ethibel's sustainable investment
register. The Group also performs
strongly across a number of third
party certification bodies, including
MSCI, ISS ESG and Sustainalytics.
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Summary Cash Flow
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2021 2020

€m €m

EBITDA 1,702 1,510
Exceptionalitems - (18)
Cashinterest expense (109) (118)
Working capital change (114) 94
Capitalexpenditure (693) (575)
Change in capital creditors (14) (18)
Tax paid (239) (194)
Change inemployee benefits and other provisions (81) (20)
Other 3 14
Free cash flow 455 675
[talian Competition Authority fine (124) -
Shareissues (net) - 648
Purchase of own shares (net) (22) (16)
Sale of businesses and investments 37 -
Purchase of businesses, investments and NClI (449) (25)
Dividends (302) (260)
Derivative termination receipts 9 9
Premium on early repayment of bonds (28) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow (424) 1,031
Acquired net debt (25) (1
Disposed net cash (1) -
Deferred debt issue costs amortised (10) (7)
Currency translation adjustments (50) 85
(Increase)/decrease in net debt (510) 1,108

Areconciliation of the Summary Cash Flow to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows, a reconciliation of Other Non-cash Movements
toNote 21 to the Consolidated Financial Statements and a reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to Cash Generated from Operations are included
insections Kand L in Alternative Performance Measures in the Supplementary Information section onpages 195 to 197.

Conclusion

The strongresults deliveredin

2021 illustrate the benefits of
everythingwe do frombothan
investment and cultural perspective
—aperformance-led culture working
on the foundations of a quality asset
base and afocus oninnovation

and sustainability. Itisimportant to
note that these results have been
delivered against a backdrop of

a continued global pandemic,
asignificant operational challenge
that the Group worked hard to
overcome. Thelessons learned and
the practicesimplemented have
beenademonstration of the best
inour people, who adapted and
delivered for one another and most
importantly our customers.

We are very proud that the Group
remained fully operational, albeit
under difficult circumstances at
times, to ensure our products got
towhere they were needed for our
over 65,000 customers. 2021 was
characterised by significantand
unprecedented costinflation,
primarily in recovered fibre and
energy. The growthin the demand
for our sustainable products
resultedin unprecedented tightness
inthe containerboard market.

Our unigue integrated model, with
the strength that bringsinterms of
security of supply has provento be
adistinct competitive advantage.

Capital allocation supports the
Groups ambition around growth,
returns and value creation. Our
balance sheet remains strong
andwithanetdebtto EBITDAat
1.7 times gives the Group alot

of financial flexibility. The Group
accelerateditsinvestment plans
to meet customer's needs for
innovative and sustainable
packaging and our acquisitions
in 2021 strengthen our geographic
network and enhance our
product portfolio.

Finally, the dividendis a key pillar of
our capital allocation, itis aninput
rather thanan output. Theincrease
inthe final dividendin 2021 is an
illustration of our continued belief
inthe future prospects and cash
generation ability of SKG.

Ken Bowles
Group Chief Financial Officer
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Understanding

our stakeholders

Customers Investors
How we Engaged Customer Surveys How we Engaged Shareholders were encouraged

. In 2021, SKG conducted a . tojointhe AGM viaanonline
Ongoing Customer comprehensive digital survey with Ongoing Investor Engagement . icast and to submita Form
Engagement ourtop 30strategic customers. This Our executive Directors together of Proxy to ensure they could vote

Our sales teams maintain active
engagement with our customers
across Europe and the Americas,
tounderstand their challenges and
meet their business needs. In 2021,
global supply chain shortages
caused a slowdowninthe operations
of many businesses. Over that
period, Smurfit Kappa's vertical
integration was key to guaranteeing
security of supply for our customers
and enabling business continuity.
Returning businesses to operational
strength continues to be the main
priority in the near-term, balancing
that, and theirlonger-term focus on
sustainability. We actively engage
with customers on using our
integrated circular modeland data
toimprove processes, products,
supply chains and logistics.

Virtual Events

During 2021, when remote working
was the primary operating mode,
virtual platforms enabled us to
openup new conversations and
engage witha much wider audience.
Anexample of that was the 'Better
Planet Packaging Event 2021
avirtual event which took place
on25May 2021. Over 2,700
people attended the event to
discover our latestinnovations

and share knowledge.
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survey forms part of our ongoing
effort to better understand and
meet customer needsin key areas
such as supply chains, innovation
and sustainability. We were pleased
to have maintained a positive net
promoter score, despite disruption
asaresult of the pandemic, and the
results will feedinto our 2022 plans.

E-commerce

With more people shopping online
in greater numbers, many of our
customers were forced to move
partorall of their business online.
Throughthe course of 2021, we
supported hundreds of customers
tointegrate their packaginginto the
omni-channel supply chain. We also
extended our 'off-the shelf" online
packaging portfoliosinto new
sectorstoinclude eFashion, eBottle
and eFlowers to meet growing
sectoral online needs.

Number of customer
webinarsin 2021

150+

on new products
and effective
implementation

with the investor relations team
maintain active engagement/
dialogue withthe investment
community. During 2021, the team
met with over 400 analysts and
portfolio managers from over

200 differentinvestment funds.
Conversations took place at various
virtualinvestor conferences and
roadshows as well as multiple
adhoc video and telephone calls.
The Chairmet withinvestors as part
of avirtual roadshowin April 2021
and also engaged with proxy advisory
representatives during the year.

Earlyin 2021 both Moody's and
Standard & Poor's upgradedthe
Group's long-termissuer rating
toBaa3 and BBB- respectively,
joining Fitch's BBB- rating at
investment grade.

2021 saw anotableincreasein
engagement with ESG focused
investors from both the equity
and debt capital markets, given
the strength of the Group's ESG
credentials and the issuance of
ourinaugural green bondsin
September 2021.

Annual General Meeting
('AGM’)

The Company heldits AGM on

30 April 2021. Inline with COVID-19
restrictions, the AGMwas a closed
meeting with the minimum quorum
inaccordance with the Articles of
Association of the Company.

FTSE4Good

MSCI
ESG RATINGS

[ 124 L] LIS |
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andbe represented at the AGM.
Shareholders could also emailany
questions relating to theitems
onthe agendainadvance of the
meeting. Alternatively shareholders
who chose to attend via the online
broadcast could submit questions
during the meeting.

Annual Report

The Investors section onthe Group's
website, smurfitkappa.com, provides
the fulltext of the Annual Report and
copies of presentations to analysts
andinvestors. Press releases are also
made available in this section of the
website immediately after release to
the stock exchanges.

ESG Ratings by Rating Agencies
The Group continues to belisted on
various sustainability indices, such

as FTSE4Good, the Green Economy
Mark fromthe London Stock
Exchange, Euronext Vigeo Europe
120, STOXX Global ESG Leaders,

ISS Solactive and Ethibel's
sustainable investmentregister.

SKG also performs strongly across
avariety of third party certification
bodies, including MSCI, Sustainalytics
and ISSESG. During 2021, the
Group's emission reduction targets
were approved by the Science Based
Targetsinitiative ('SBTi') as beingin
line with the Paris Agreement.
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engagement and enables us to build and maintain
successful relationships with our stakeholders.

How we Engaged

Compliance with Policies
and Audits

We are committed to working with
our suppliersinaccordance with
our sustainability principles and
objectives, which highlight our
requirementsinthe areas of
compliance, performance risk
management, social responsibility
and governance. Maintaining
transparentandlong-term
relationships with suppliersis
essential for our business. This
partnership approach ensures

we can audit suppliers ontheir
compliance with our sustainable
supply chain standards, and where
they fall short, work with them
toimprove sustainability in
theirbusiness.

Training

We offer our suppliers arange

of training, covering many topics
including print technology and
processimprovement.

Standardisation

We continue to standardise our
capital equipment purchases for
our corrugated plants. This allows
our suppliers the potential to
achieve process and manufacturing
economies of scale andto reduce
their energy consumption and
carbon footprint.

Supplier Collaboration

We work with our suppliers to
promote better health and safety
and continuous improvement

in the work environment.

By agreeing with suppliers that
shipments canbe bundled, they can
optimise volume to choose more
sustainable transport options with
lower emissions, better service levels
andlower costs.

How we Engaged

Smurfit Kappa Foundation
The Smurfit Kappa Foundation
supports projectsin countries
where we operate, focusing on
disadvantaged children’s health

and nutrition, basic care, and early
education. The Foundation approved
such projectsin 2021 in Argentina,
Brazil, Colombia, the Czech Republic,
ElSalvador, France, Ireland, Italy,
Poland, Spain, Slovakia, the
Netherlands, the United Kingdom
andthe United States.

In 2021, recipients of donations
from the Smurfit Kappa Foundation
included, the provision of shelter for
homeless children and their families,
children's health and education, as
well as projects to ensure inclusion
of as many children as possible.

Our Open Community

As part of our mission to be a globally
admired business, we believeitis
important that we give back when
and where we can. Despite facing

Empowering
communities

Encouraging

25%

wellbeing

Protecting 0,

our planet z 1 A’
Inspiring o) 12 Projects
our future 8 / (o] )

into asecond year of the COVID-19
pandemic, our teams across the
world continued to donate their time,
effort, and expertise to making a
positive andlastingimpact on their
communities during the year.

Allof these activities are gathered
together under our ongoing Open
Community initiative, whichis a

key demonstration of not only our
organisational culture, but also

our essential and enduring purpose:
We create, protectand care.

Our Open Community initiatives
cover all aspects of our involvement
with our communities around the
world, which are captured under
four categories which are outlined
inthe chart below.

In2021, almost 5,000 of our
colleagues gotinvolvedin 150
initiatives across 23 countries, and
we have committed to continuing
this work with €24 million to be
donated between 2020 and 2025.

69 Projects

46%

38 Projects

31 Projects
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT CONTINUED

Inline with the requirements of the
UK Corporate Governance Code,
the Sustainability Committee

('the Committee')is responsible for
engagement with the workforce on
behalf of the Board. The Committee
also has responsibility for the overall
strategic guidance of the Group's
Sustainability strategy whichis
based onthe three key strategic
sustainability and corporate
responsibility pillars: Planet,

People and Impactful Business.

Therole of the Committee is to
report to the Board on matters such
as employee sentiment, views and

A year of great
employee engagement

During 2021, we continued to create opportunities to engage directly with our workforce
despite the virtual nature of working in many cases due to the ongoing pandemic. Itis
important to our Board of Directors that they are actively engaged with our diverse workforce
right across the Group. We all value a two-way dialogue, which is open, honest and covers
a breadth of topics that matter to our employees. Open channels of communication and
a good pulse on employee sentiment allows us to understand the engagement levels,
motivation, trust, and values that our employees feel in Smurfit Kappa.

overallareas of interest for
employees across the year.

The Committee operates under
formalised terms of reference
which are reviewed each year.

In 2021 the Committee further
evolved its engagement to include

direct engagement with employees.

This focused on ensuring positive
supportand engagement with
the workforce on a number of
topics whichincluded health &
wellbeing, safety, MyVoice, female
engagement, management of
COVID-19, workplace satisfaction
and career development.

InMay 2021, our entire workforce

of approximately 48,000 colleagues
were invited to participate in a Global
online confidential employee
engagement survey. Our 'MyVoice'
initiative, which was deployedin
21languages across 35 countries
provided us with real time feedback
from employees across anumber

of core dimensions of; safety,
leadership, business strategy,
inclusion &diversity, learning &
development, innovation,
workplace, rewards, and employee
engagement. Inaddition, employees
had the opportunity to openly share
feedback on strengths and focus

areas for the years ahead. The Board
appreciated the very highlevels

of participation with this 100%
digital survey, which attracted the
highest participation rate of any of
our surveys to date. Areportand
presentation of the feedback
received was reviewed by the Board,
the Group CEO and the Group Vice
President of HR during the year,
andwe are pleasedtoreporta
globalengagementrateincrease
of 13 percentage points which
demonstrates a positive
endorsement of the people centric
culturein Smurfit Kappa, our lived
values, and our overall people focus.

Update from the Chair of the Sustainability Committee,
Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen, on the second year of activitiesand
insights on the Committee's role in Workforce Engagement.

"As a Board, we have always understood the importance of
maintaining a strong people centric culture, and recognise the value
of engaging and listening to the diverse views of colleagues across
the global organisation. This is my third year in the role as Chair

of the Committee, and | am very pleased to report a high level of
employee interaction across the year, with opportunities to meet
with colleagues virtually in a meaningful and open way.

My role as Chair is essentially to ensure the Committee acts as a
communications champion for all colleagues across the business,
to understand the employee voice and to ensure that voice is heard
in the boardroom, and represented in a manner that is inclusive and
fair. With the support and partnership of the Group Vice President
of Human Resources, | have been able to keep the Board informed
and take into consideration the interests of the workforce on a very
broad range of topics that matter to our people.

In 2021, we regularly reviewed employee sentiment indirectly via
people data on employee engagement surveys such as MyVoice,
ethics, health and safety, employee turnover and diversity progress.
In terms of direct engagement, as a Committee, we also met with
employees (virtually in light of the ongoing pandemic restrictions
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and safety protocols) on many occasions during the year. | have
included some examples of our positive direct engagement during
the year with the workforce. In February, our Board Chair held an
open questions and answers session with 500 managers at a global
virtual management conference. In March, one of the Committee
members attended an International Women's Day celebration in
Mexico and had the opportunity to discuss gender representation
and diversity. In June, the Committee members attended a module
and collaborated with our 2021 AMD (Advanced Management
Development programme in our Smurfit Kappa Academy) cohort.
In July, we joined our colleagues on virtual plant tours in Colombia
and the Netherlands which provided us with the opportunity to
reach deep into our organisation to discuss employee matters.
Most recently in November, the Committee met with a selection
of the Group's high potential females across all levels and countries,
inaworkshop to discuss culture at Smurfit Kappa, Diversity &
Inclusion, Female Careers and Development, and employee
engagement of females via a MyVoice focus group.

The Group Vice President of Human Resources presented on four
occasions to the Committee during the year, reviewing trends and
evolving our workforce engagement methods between colleagues
and the Committee. Overallit's been a year of strong workforce
engagement, and | am looking forward to a calendar of activities

in the year ahead with further opportunities to meet our colleagues
and ensure the employee voice is heard and valued.”
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2021 Key Themes:

The key themes emerging

from the workforce

engagementinitiatives during

2021 were:

» The positiverole of
managementinensuring
employees safety/support
during the COVID-19
pandemic;

Theimportance of
Inclusion, Diversity &
Equality in our organisation;
The positive consequence
ofinvestmentin our people
—employee assistance
programmes, mental
health, wellbeing and
learning and development;
The significance of talent
development and career
planning for succession
management;

The value of rewards and
recognition programmes;
The appreciation of
employee vaccination
programmes and support;
The standing of our Code
of Conduct’'s compliance
with the law and ethical
behaviour ensuringan open
and safe place to work;

The employee alignment
with our Purpose—to create,
protectand care;

The enhanced focus on our
communities during these
unprecedented times;

The enhancedfocus on
employee communications,
and overallengagement; and
Recognition of the unique
culture at Smurfit Kappa,
and our lived values of
Safety, Loyalty, Integrity
and Respect.

MyVoice
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SUSTAINABILITY

Delivering a

better tomorrow

Sustainability is a key part of SKG's strategy. As a customer-oriented,
market-led company, the satisfaction of customers, personal development
of employees and respect for local communities and the environment
are all inseparable from our goal of creating value for all our stakeholders,

Intheir daily lives, people need food,
clothing and household goods.
Robust, paper-based packaging
will protect these from damage
and waste, while delivering them
inan efficient and sustainable way.
Inresponse to longer termrising
globaleconomic and social
development, e-commerce will
change and worldwide demand for
packaging goods and services will
continue to grow. Sustainability is
important to all our stakeholders
as wellas their stakeholders.

Climate change, limited natural
resources, littering, deforestation,

a growing population andincreased
socialinequality, are pressing global
challenges that require forward
thinkingand a constructive response
fromthe business community. At SKG,
we respond to these challenges
through our end-to-end approach
to sustainability: from sustainable
sourcing of our renewable and
recyclable rawmaterials, to responsible
production of sustainable and
circular packaging products that
help our customers and eventually
consumers to lower their
environmental footprint. At every
important step in our value chain
—including our governance, our
people, our communities and

the environment—we are always
consideringwhere we have a
positiveimpactandwe are
constantly aligning our economic
goals with our social, community
and environmental responsibilities.

This dedication to sustainability
inevery fibre positions SKG to play
its partin making the UN Sustainable
Development Goals (‘SDGs') a
reality. In our materiality assessment
we compared the SDGs against

our business strategy and policies,
as wellas against stakeholder
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guaranteeing them end-to-end sustainability.

expectations. This allows us to
strategically build on opportunities
and minimise risks withinthe
sustainability context and
transparently report our progress
towards these goals. SKG's
approachto positively impacting
the SDGsis covered bothin

this Annual Report andinour
Sustainable Development
Report ('SDR').

Our Code of Conductis the
fundamental guideline for
everybody at Smurfit Kappa from
the Board of Directors, officers and
employees, as wellas allindividuals,
entities, agents or anyone acting
onthe Group's behalf - and we also
require the same from our suppliers.
In environmental matters our
starting pointis that all our sites
operate atleast within their permits.

We guarantee compliance by
employingmodern, low environmental
impact equipment and smart use

of environmental data, including
information on permits, incidents
andfines. We continuously invest
inour sites to keep them state-
of-the-art, and proactively

follow environmental legislative
developments to ensure
compliance. For details onthe
Non-Financial Key Performance
Indicators reporting statement,
SKG publishesiits sustainability
progressinthe annual SDR, available
at our website: smurfitkappa.com.
Allprevious SDR's are also available,
andour 2021 Report willbe published
in April 2022.

SKGis committedto the principles
ofthe UN Global Compactand
reportsin line with the Global
ReportingInitiative (GRI') Standards
Comprehensive criteria, and our
sustainability data and reporting have

beenindependently assured since
2009. This third-party assurance
guarantees our transparency and
credibility to stakeholders, especially
customers, investors, and the
communities in which we operate.

We are proud of the transparency
we offer our stakeholders, and the
credibility that third-party assured
datadelivers. This approachis
integralto our Group's strategy and
during 2021 the Group appointed
anew Group Chief Sustainability
Officer (Group CSO'), arole which will
focus ondelivering the sustainability
strategy for the Group, maintaining
our strong governance framework,
butalsoto embrace new strategic
opportunities from a capital markets
perspective, and, across all
stakeholders.

Strategic Sustainability
Priorities

As aresponsible company, operating
globally, Smurfit Kappa has a product
thatis naturally sustainable and
aprocess thatisincreasingly
sustainable, driven by a culture

with strong values of safety, loyalty,
integrity and respect. SKG understands
the challenges facing both our
businessandthe planetandis
committed to doingits partin
resolving these critical issues.
Therefore our ambitioniis to deliver
sustainable growth to the benefit of
allour stakeholders based on three
pillars: Planet, People and Impactful
Business. Within these pillars our
People and our Communities,
Climate Change, Forest, Water

and Waste are the main strategic
environmentaland corporate social
responsibility priorities.

Ourapproachtothe threepillars are
explainedin the following sections
and the diagram on the next page.

Full Chain of Custody

93%

of our packaging
sold as CoC certified

CO, emissionreductions

41.39

since 2005

Planet

A Greener, Bluer Planet

We are committed to sustainability
throughout our value chain. Our
strategic environmental priorities
are climate change, forest, water
and waste. The circular economy s
at the core of our business. We use
renewable, recyclable, recycled and
biodegradable materials to create
sustainable packaging solutions and
play apartinensuring that at their
end of life, our products are recycled.

Forests where our virgin fibres come
from are a closed loop, fromwhich
we can positively benefit when they
are managed and used sustainably.
Within our industry, SKG has
pioneered full Chain of Custody,
enabling us to sell over 93% of

our packaging productsas FSC,
PEFC or SFl certified, driving

a sustainable loop for our raw
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As aleading company in sustainability, we base our ambition of sustainable
growth on three pillars: Planet, People and Impactful Business.

A greener, bluer planet
Climate Change/Forest/Water/Waste

The circular economy is at the core of our business.
We use renewable, recyclable, recycled and
biodegradable materials to create new products.

Impactful
Business

Delivering to all stakeholders

People
Empowering people
and communities

People Values/People Strategy/
Communities/Health and Wellbeing

Innovation/Governance and
Human Rights/Sustainable Sourcing

Having engaged employeesiis critical

for our business. We work safely with

talented peopleina global, culturally
diverse organisation.

As a global group, our activities create
sustainable value for our shareholders,
customers, employees, suppliers and the

communities where we operate.
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materials. In 2020, we increased our
target to sell 95% of our packaging
solutions as Chain of Custody
certified by 2025.

Havingintegrated paper recycling
operations into our business we can
efficiently manage the sustainable
sourcing of our raw materials,
ensuring good quality in each region.
We take our producer responsibility
seriously, having 100% renewable
andrecyclable fibre, and of our final
packaging products, over 90% are
recovered and brought backinto the
recyclingloop. Sustainably sourcing
our fibres benefits us and our
stakeholders: with Chain of Custody
certified raw material sourcing and
production, we have traceability
systems that comply with
regulations, and with customer

and investor requirements.

Sustainable forests and fibrous raw
material are primary considerations
of our stakeholders. We enhance
our customers'brand value by
guaranteeing risk management
through Forest Certification, and
related Chain of Custody Certification.
This leads to operational continuity
and business growth for SKG.

We seek circular synergies where
we can both utilise our side streams
and seek collaboration with partners.
As part of our commitment, we have
rigorously collected sustainability
data on our operations for almost
15 years. We use thisinformation to
continually improve the efficiency
of our processes and use of
resources, which helps us meet

our sustainability targets, such as
reducing CO, emissions.

Inearly 2021 we set new targets
andrevised existing targets through
our Better Planet 2050 initiative,

the aim of whichiis to combine
long-term ambition with action
today, evidence of which you will
seeinthisreport and throughout
our 2021 SDR which willbe published
in April 2022.

50 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED

2021 also saw the worldincrease its
focus on climate with the publication
ofthe Intergovernmental Panel

on Climate Change ('IPCC') report
inAugust 2021 and the 26"
Conference of the Parties, or
COP26,in Glasgowin November
2021. We saw deforestationand the
need to create a circular economy
also becomingkeyissues as part

of COP26 and the EU's work on
defining a path forward to deliver
the Green Deal. SKG, as aleaderin
sustainability, is playingits partin
making the necessary changes to
ensure we stay aligned with the goals
of the Paris Agreement. Inlate 2021
our 2030 emission reduction targets
were approved by the Science Based
Targetinitiative ('SBTi') as beingin
line with the Paris Agreement.

We are pleased to be the first FTSE
100 company to receive afive star
rating from Support the Goals, the
globalinitiative that was established
torate and recognise those
businesses that support the UN
2030 SDGs to work towards a more
sustainable future. The SDGs are
auniversal call for actionto end
poverty, protect the planet and
ensure that all people enjoy peace
and prosperity by 2030. These goals,
agreedin 2015 by world leaders, can
only be achieved with the support of
businesses. Afive starratingis only
awarded to companies who are
actively involving their suppliers
intheir efforts towards reaching
these goals. For most businesses,

a significant amount of their
environmental and socialimpact
comes from the supply chain,
thereforeitis vitallyimportant to
help suppliers understand and
supportthe SDGs.

We have set targets that focus on
our strategic areas andthat are
designedto alignthe Group with
the UN 2030 SDGs. More onour
commitments canbe read on
pages 12to 13 ofthisreport.

Our products are also designed

to prevent wastage of our customers'

productintheir supply chains, we are
committed to continually reducing
waste and finding circular uses for
our side-streams.

Inour paper mills we are resource
efficient, using raw materials and
their by-productsto their fullest.
Forexample, our Nettingsdorf millin
Austria, our Pited millin Sweden, our
Parenco millin the Netherlands and
our three Brazilian paper mills Bento,
Pirapetinga and Uberaba run almost
entirely on biofuels derived from

the wood-pulping process. Inmany
mills, biogases fromwaste water
treatment are fuel for heat and power
production, and our Roermond mill
inthe Netherlands has been
internationally recognised for finding
circular economy synergies by
collaborating withlocal partners.

Product development andinnovation
at SKGis data driven, witha proven
scientific approachinforming good
business decisions. Data collected
from our operationsis combined
with ongoing research and analysis

of customer challenges and specific
markets. We employ arange of tools,
'InnoTools', uniquely exclusive to SKG,
enabling us to create the optimal
fit-for-purpose paper-based packaging
solutions for our customers, thereby
adding value to their businesses.
Furthermore, 'InnoTools' feeds
information to our customer
value-added services: SupplySmart;
ShelfSmart; and eSmartin the areas
of supply chain optimisation, brand
growth and e-commerce.

EU Taxonomy

The European Commission
presented a growth strategy based
on environmental and sustainable
development, the Green Deal, in
2019. Todirectinvestments towards
sustainable projects and activities,
the EUintroduced the Taxonomy
Regulation ((EU) 2020/852) in 2020.

Handling

7.4

u u
million
tonnes of recovered
fibre per annum

The first set of sustainable activity
classification criteria, The Delegated
Act on Sustainable Activities for
Climate Change Adaptationand
Mitigation, was published and
adoptedin 2021, with an ambition

to achieve carbon neutrality

by 2050. The European Commission
presented the Complementary
Delegated Acton Climate in February
2022 andis currently workingon the
Second Delegated Act.

At present the EU Taxonomy does
not cover all sustainable activities
andasaresult, sustainable
classification criteria are not yet
available for the majority of our
business activities. Consequently,
alow proportion of our activities are
considered taxonomy eligible under
the current taxonomy classification
criteria for climate change mitigation
and adaptation. As the legislation
develops furtherinto areas relevant
and applicable to SKG we will evolve
our taxonomy reporting accordingly.

Inproducing paper-based packaging
solutions and having 75% of its raw
material fromrecycled sources,

SKG has a strong positioninthe
circular economy. We expect to

be well positioned as the scope of
the taxonomyis widened and the
technical screening criteria for
activities contributingto the
transition to a circular economy are
finalised. Under existing publications
by the commission such as the

'EC categorisation system for the
circular economy’ SKG contributes
across the models described by the
European Commission.

Our emissions targets have
been approved by

SBTi
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Taxonomy Eligible Activities
Theregulation states that
non-financial undertakings shall
reportontheir EU Taxonomy eligible
and non-eligible activities for their
reporting period 2021. SKG has
assessedits Taxonomy eligible
activities to the first Delegated Act
on Climate Change Adaptation and
Mitigation. The eligible activities are:

1.3 ForestManagement.

4.2 Electricity generationusing
concentrated solar power
(CSP) technology.

4.13 Manufacture of biogas and
biofuels for usein transport
and of bioliquids.

4.15 District heating/cooling
distribution.

4.20 Cogeneration of heat/cool
and power from bioenergy.

5.3 Construction extensionand
operation of wastewater
collectionand treatment.

5.5 Collectionandtransport
of non-hazardous waste in
source segregated fractions.

7.3 Installation, maintenance and
repair of energy efficiency
equipment.

7.4 |Installation, maintenance and
repair of charging stations for
electric vehicles.

Taxonomy Eligible Turnover,
Capital Expenditure and
Operating Expenditure

Based onananalysis of economic
activities, the Group has to report
the proportion of Taxonomy-eligible
economic activities across turnover,
capital expenditure (Capex) and
operating expenditure (Opex) key
performanceindicators ('KPIs').

As a paper-based packaging
company, only asmallamount of
our current activity is covered by
the current EU Taxonomy.

As mentioned above, the Group
expects tobe well positionedinthe
transition to a circular economy.

Theinformation disclosedis based
ontheinformation available in
relation to the Taxonomy to date.
Theinformationis subject to
refinement as the Taxonomy
develops further, as practice
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Proportion of Taxonomy Eligible Activities

Proportion of taxonomy

eligible activities
(%)

Proportion of taxonomy
non-eligible activities
(%)

Turnover 2.0% 98.0%
CAPEX 3.0% 97.0%
OPEX 2.0% 98.0%
emerges, asitis embedded within including, additions to tangible Operating Expenditure

the Group and as we work through
the other environmental objectives
and the alignment process
throughout 2022.

Turnover
Turnoverincludes the external

sales of Taxonomy eligible activities.

The denominatoris SKG revenue.
Taxonomy eligible turnover (the
numerator) includes the sale of
roundwood from forests owned
by Smurfit Kappa Colombia to
third-parties and the sale of
recovered fibre to third parties.

Capital Expenditure

Capital expenditure includes the
capital expenditure of Taxonomy
eligible activities having assessed all

the additions to fixed assetsin 2021.

The denominatoris SKG's total
additions to fixed assetsin 2021

andintangible assets before
depreciation, amortisationand any
re-measurements, including those
resulting from revaluations and
impairments and excluding fair
value changes. The denominator
also covers additions to tangible
andintangible assets resulting from
business combinations. Taxonomy
eligible capital expenditure
(numerator) includes investments
insolar panels and the upgrade

of waste water treatment plants,
forestry equipment and bio-mass
boilers. For the allocation of capital
expenditure, we have identified the
relevant purchases andidentified
the primary related economic
activity inthe Climate Delegated Act.
In this way, we ensure no capital
expenditure is considered more
thanonce.

Eligible operating expenditure
includes the operating expenditure
of Taxonomy eligible activities.
Taxonomy eligible operating
expenditure consists of direct
non-capitalised costs that relate to
the repair, maintenance and upkeep
relating to the day-to-day servicing
of assets, property, plantand
equipment. This does notinclude
the expenditure relating to the
day-to-day operation of property,
plantand equipment such as:

raw materials, cost of employees
operating the machine andthe
costofenergy.
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People

Empowering People

and Communities

SKG aims to keep attractingand
retaining the bestemployees.

We have found that within our global
organisation, people of different
backgrounds and experiences will
have different skills, perspectives
and solutions, whichin turnincreases
our sustainability and efficiency
options. SKGis committed to
managingits businessinaccordance
withits declared values which
recognise that good social
citizenship, reflectedin the manner
inwhichitinteractswithits
employees, business partners
andlocalcommunities, is an
essentialingredientin creating

and maintaining a sustainable
future. SKGinvestsinemployee
empowerment ensuringhuman
rights and dignity at work, through
freedom of association, fair
compensation and promotion of
diversityinage, gender, sexual
orientation, ethnic origin, disability
or nationality. We take care that
capable people from allthese groups
are attracted and retained, and

we recruit and promote on merit.
SKG values open, constructive,
regular and timely dialogue with

its employees and their

SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED

representatives, particularly inall
matters affecting the business
including safety, working conditions,
profitability, business outlook,
investment decisions or the terms
and conditions of employment. The
European Works Council (EWC'),
which was createdto assistinthe
development of an open two way
communication process for all
employees and unions on all such
matters, had one meeting during
the year, with additional meetings
with the Select Committee of the
EWC. Matters typically discussed
atthe EWCinclude employment
opportunities, financial status,
projected developments, business
conditions, relocation, curtailment
orbusiness closures and health
and safety.

Implementing SKG's Social Citizenship
Policy is the responsibility of line
management who are supported

by the Human Resource Managers
at country, segmentand Group level.
In 2021 we introduced targetsin

the areas of Gender Balance,
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality,
People Engagement and People
Development next to existing
targetsin Health and Safety and
Communities. More onour People
canbereadonpages 64to 75.

Health and Safety

SKG has made the health and safety
ofits workforce an overriding
value. We adopt a structured and
systematic approachtothe
management of health and safety
considerationsinthe workplace.
We promote a health and safety
culture founded onunderstanding,
responsibility and accountability.
We operate with health and safety
asacorevalue, notjusta priority.

We aim to continually improve

our performance by adopting

a structured systematic approach
to the management of health

and safety aspects supported by
continualimprovement of our
systems. The commitments within
the Group's health and safety
policies are consistent with those
ofthe internationally recognised
OHSAS 18001 occupational health
and safety system specification.
Every facility in SKG adopts a suite of
good health and safety management
systems designed to protect
employees, visitors toits sites,
contractors and the public at large
frominjury andill-health.

Allperformancereviews at plant,
country, division andregional level
include areview of recent healthand
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Overview

safety performance. Onaquarterly
basis, the Boardreceives aprogress
report outlining key health and safety
developments. The progressin
health and safety performance has
been positive and the trend remained
soin 2021 withafurther reduction

in TRIR comparedto previous years
duetoanumberofhealthand

safety measures andinitiatives
implemented across the Group.

For details of this KPI, see page 32.

SKGis committed to making
continualadvancesin our health and
safety management processes. We
regularly perform comprehensive
health and safety verificationand
audit processes tailored specifically
to our global operations. Based
onourinternal health and safety
standards, this audit process
verifies the presence of the
appropriate protective measures.

Communities

Beyond our employees, our
responsibilities extend to helping
the local communities where we
are located by behavingas a good
corporate citizen. Alongside
operatinginaccordance with the
UN Declaration of Human Rights
and the Fundamental Principles and
Rights at Work, by supportinglocal
education, income generation,
collaboration and participation,
we can strengthen communities.
Thisis especially true inremote
areas with limited opportunities
forwork.

SKGisfocused onbreakingthe cycle
of poverty in the communitiesin
whichwe are located, beginning with
the younger generations. Aligned
to our Smurfit Kappa Foundation,
we want to break down the barriers,
whichlead to young people and
childreninthese areas being
disadvantaged and remainingin
poverty. We work toimprove their
situation throughthelens of healthand
nutrition, basic care and education.

We believe, by working with key
organisationsinthese areas, we
can break the cycle of disadvantage,
because what happens tousin
childhood shapes our future
success and the adults we become.

Strategic Report

Our goalisto help end the poverty
and dependence where it exists
inthese communities, by supporting
projects that provide a better start
for their young people.

Impactful Business

Delivering to all Stakeholders
SKG has specific policies on key
areas of sustainability which
areintegralinimproving future
performance. These cover
Environment, Sustainable Forestry,
Sustainable and Responsible
Sourcing, Social Citizenship, and
Health and Safety. These policies
complement other policiesin

place, covering: Code of Conduct
incorporating the Speak Up Policy,
Code of Ethics for Senior Financial
Officers, Group Financial Reporting
Guide, Group Treasury Policy, Financial
Monitoring Policy, Treasury
Compliance Programme, and
Competition Compliance Programme.

Areport on Corporate Governance
is detailed on pages 82 to 87 of this
Annual Report.

Anti-Bribery and
Anti-Corruption

SKG maintains a zero-tolerance
policy regarding acts of bribery

and corruption. We comply with
allanti-bribery and anti-corruption
laws in the countries where we
conductbusiness, not only because
itis ourlegal duty to do so, butalso
becauseit supports the commitment
we make to conducting business
ethically and honestly.

Human Rights

SKGis subject to the provisions

of the UK Modern Slavery Act.
Inkeeping with the United Nations
Guiding Principles on Business and
Human Rights and the Fundamental
Principles and Rights at Work
developed by the International
Labour Organisation, we are
committed to the principles of
respect, diversity, working fairly,

fair pay, compensation and benefits
which are also applied to our
acquisition practices. They are
maintainedin every countryin
whichwe have a presence and are
setoutinour Code of Conduct,

our Social Citizenship Policy
Statementand our SDR.

Governance

SKG has thousands of suppliers
globally and we consider that our
suppliers are anintegral part of
the value chain of our business.
We are committed to working with
our suppliersin accordance with
our sustainability principles and
objectives whereby we distinguish
the areas of compliance,
performancerisk, management,
social responsibility and governance.
Maintaining transparent and
long-term relationships with
suppliersis essential for our
business. This partnership approach
ensures we canaudit suppliers on
their compliance and our
sustainable supply chain standards
and, where they fall short, work
with them toimprove sustainability
intheir business.

Inrecognition of the nature and
concernabout modern slavery
we expect our suppliers to ensure
compliance with the Modern
Slaveryregulations.

Financial Statements
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14

years of SDR

publications
independently assured
for over 10 years

1st

FTSE 100 company
to be awarded afive star
rating from Support
The Goals
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SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED

SKG announced its support of the
recommendations of the Task Force
for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures ('TCFD')inMay 2020
and we included our first disclosure
inthe 2020 Annual Report.In 2021
we have significantly developed
our disclosure as outlined below
whichis consistent with the TCFD
recommendations. Incompleting
this disclosure we have provided
the recommended disclosures
interms of:

«  Governance

Task Force on Climate Related
Financial Disclosures (‘“TCFD’)

Climate change is one of the greatest
challenges facing society. We
understand the challenges and the
changes that need to be made and we

are strongly committed to making a

2021. Further information can be
found on our website at
smurfitkappa.com/sustainability/.
Inaddition, the SDR for 2021 willbe
publishedin April 2022.

Our progress and evolution of
reportinginline with the TCFD
recommendations included but was
notlimited to:a comprehensive
top-downidentification and process
review of climate related risks and
opportunities; scenario analysis

in conjunction with an expert third

positive contribution, building on our + Strategy party: and an evaluation of the
. . . » RiskManagement potentialimpact on assets from
We||-eStab|IShed Cl|mate I’e|ated aCtIOﬂS +  Metricsand Targets physicaland transition risks under

and disclosures.

Governance

different climate scenarios. We
expect that certain aspects of our
disclosure will further develop and
evolve over time.

Our disclosures below should be
read in conjunction with the SDR
2020 and our Carbon Disclosure
Project ('CDP') Climate Change

Response made by the Groupin

Board Oversight on Climate Change

Board Level

The Boardis primarily
responsible for thelong-term
success of the Group, for
setting the Group's strategic
aims, for the leadership and
control of the Group and for
reviewing the Group's system
ofinternal controland risk
management. The
consideration of sustainability,
including climate change, is
continuously developing as the
focus on climate change
increases. Given the nature of
our business and our strong
sustainability credentials,
this has been a consideration
of the Board for many years.
More recently this has evolved
further with specific
consideration given to climate
change. Inrecognition of the
importance of sustainability
in generaland climate change
in particular, the Board formed
adedicated Sustainability
Committee, the
responsibilities of which are
outlinedinthe adjacent table.
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Sustainability Committee

Established in 2019 following a Board review of the Group's sustainability and corporate social responsibility objectives,
the Committee has responsibility for the direction and oversight of the sustainability strategy for the Group whichis
based onthree key strategic sustainability and corporate responsibility pillars; Planet; People and Impactful Business.
The Board Sustainability Committee is responsible for climate change at the Board level and updates the Board at each
meeting on the matters considered on their agenda, including climate change. In 2021, the Committee met six times
and covered abroad range of ESG topics at those meetings. The key topics included: a comprehensive review of climate
changerisk and opportunities; the ambitious sustainability targets communicated in February 2021; further reduction
of our environmental footprint; increased support for the communities in which we operate and further enhancement
tothelives of our employees. The Sustainability Committee receives regular updates from management on various
matters relating to sustainability and climate change. The recently appointed Group CSO is also tasked with ensuring
relevant sustainability related matters are communicated and discussed at the Board committee level as appropriate.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee and the Board in conjunction with senior management review the key business risks faced by
the Group. Inreviewing and considering the principal risks of the Group, emergingrisk s also considered. For anumber
of years climate change has been considered an emerging risk of the Group as aresult of changes in weather patterns
which couldresultin catastrophic events which could give rise to business interruption and increases in the cost of raw
materials. As outlined in the Risk Report on pages 34 to 38, climate change in the long-term has now been elevated
to a principal risk for the Group. In addition, the growing number of environmental and climate change laws and
regulations is an existing principal risk of the Group whichis also disclosed in the Risk Report. Theserisks are subject
to the Group's formal risk management process.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has responsibility for continually reviewing the ongoing appropriateness and relevance
ofthe Remuneration Policy. Aremuneration policy review was conducted by the Committee in 2020. As part of this
review, sustainability was considered for inclusion in the short-term andlong-termincentives. Thelong-termincentive
plan, the Performance Share Plan, now has a number of climate related performance measures with ESG metrics now
cumulatively constituting 15% of the targets for this award. As outlined in the Remuneration Report on page 94 these
measures include CO, reduction, water reduction and waste reduction targets.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee is responsible for the succession planning of the Board, experience and knowledge
of sustainability is a consideration in new appointments. This has been clearly evident in the recent appointments
of Kaisa Hietala and Lourdes Melgar to the Board.
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Area Recommended Disclosures Source

Governance

Page (s)

Disclose the organisation’s a) Describe the board's oversight of climate-related AR 2021 AR: 34-35,54,56
governancearound risks and opportunities. SDR 2020 SDR 2020:68-69
climate-relatedrisks CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.1 Governance
and opportunities. response 2021

b) Describe management's role in assessingand AR 2021 AR:34-35,56-57

managing climate-related risks and opportunities. SDR 2020
CDP Climate Change
response 2021

SDR 2020: 68-69
CDP: Section C.1 Governance

Disclose the actual and a) Describe the climate-related risks and opportunities AR 2021 AR:57-58,60-61
potential impacts of the organisation has identified over the short, CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Risk and
climate-relatedrisks medium, and long-term. response 2021 Opportunities
and opportunities on the
organisation’s businesses, b) Describe the impact of climate-related risks and AR 2021 AR: 57-58,60-61
strategy, and financial opportunities onthe organisation’s businesses, SDR 2020 SDR 2020: 28-33
planning where such strategy, and financial planning. CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Riskand
information is material. response 2021 Opportunities and C.3 Business
Strategy
c) Describe theresilience of the organisation's strategy, AR 2021 AR: 58-59

takinginto consideration different climate-related CDP Climate Change
scenarios, including a 2°C or lower scenario. response 2021

Risk Management

CDP: Section C.3 Business
Strategy

Disclose how the a) Describe the organisation’s processes foridentifying AR 2021 AR:34-35,59
organisation identifies, and assessing climate-related risks CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.2 Riskand
assesses, and manages response 2021 Opportunities
climate-relatedrisks.

b) Describe the organisation’s processes formanaging AR 2021 AR: 34-35,59

climate-related risks. SDR 2020
CDP Climate Change
response 2021

SDR 2020:28-33
CDP: Section C.2 Riskand
Opportunities

c) Describe how processes foridentifying, assessing, AR 2021
and managing climate-related risks are integrated
into the organisation's overall risk management.

AR: 59

Metrics and Targets

Disclose the metrics and a) Disclose the metrics used by the organisation to AR 2021
targetsused toassessand assess climate-related risks and opportunitiesinline  SDR 2020

manage relevant climate- with its strategy and risk management process. CDP Climate Change
relatedrisks and response 2021

opportunities where such

AR:33,58-59,62-63

SDR 2020:25-27,30-33,74-82
CDP: Section C.4 Targets and
Performance and

Sections C.6 Emissions Data

information is material.

b) Disclose Scope 1, Scope 2, and, if appropriate, AR 2021 AR:33,58-59,62-63
Scope 3 greenhouse gas ((GHG') emissions, and SDR 2020 SDR 2020: 30-33, 74-82
therelatedrisks. CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.4 Targets and

response 2021 Performance and
Sections C.6 Emissions Data

c) Describe the targets used by the organisation to AR 2021 AR:33,58-59,62-63
manage climate-related risks and opportunities SDR 2020 SDR 2020: 26-27,30-33
and performance against targets. CDP Climate Change CDP: Section C.4 Targets and

response 2021

AR-AnnualReport SDR-Sustainable DevelopmentReport CDP~-Carbon Disclosure Project

Performance
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Board Level Knowledge

and Training

During 2021, the Sustainability
Committee conducted a detailed
review of the World Economic
Forum's "How to Set Up Effective
Climate Governance on Corporate
Boards"whichresultedin the
identification of key focus areas
and anaccompanying action plan.
Itis the intention to continue to
update the skills of the Boardin

the area of climate change on a
continuous basis. The Sustainability
Committee also has regular
updates and presentations from
the Group CSO onvarious matters
including climate change and
associated regulation.

Asnotedabove, in 2020 the
Group welcomed two new
Non-executive Directors to the
Board with strong sustainability
and climate-related expertise.
Lourdes Melgar, is recognised

for her expertise in the areas of
energy, sustainability and public
policy.Inher career she hashelda
number of roles in government,
inacademiaandin the private
sector. Kaisa Hietala, brings a
wealth of strategic and operational

experience to the Board. In particular,

Kaisa has a strong commitment to,

Key Milestones

SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED
TCFD CONTINUED

and experiencein, sustainability,
helping companies to transform the
challenges of environmental
megatrends into business
opportunities and growth. Lourdes's
and Kaisa's specific expertise inthe
area of sustainability bring additional
strength to and compliments the
knowledge and international
experience of Jgrgen Buhl
Rasmussenand Anne Anderson.

Management Oversight

on Climate Change
Executive Level

The Executive Sustainability
Committee consists of relevant
members of the Executive
Committee who have
responsibilities directly connected
to sustainability matters. This
Committee ensures the delivery
of the sustainability strategy

of the Group throughout the
business. The Executive
Sustainability Committeeis

led by the Group CSO. Certain
climate change relatedissues
are governed by some of

the members of this Committee
as part of their direct operational
responsibilities. Commencing

in 2022, the Committee will also
report onaregular basis to the
Group Executive Committee.

The Executive Risk Committee
reviews and assesses the Group Risk
Register andidentifies the principal
risks and emerging risks. The Group
Risk Registeris thenreviewed by the
Audit Committee and the Board.

As mentioned climate change has
been elevated to a principal risk of
the Group froman emergingrisk.
Inaddition, the growing number of
environmental and climate change
laws and regulations continues to
be a principal risk of the Group.
Details of these risks are included
inthe Risk Report on pages 34 to 38.
and are subject to the Group's
formal risk management process.

The Group CSOisamember of

the Group Executive Committee
andis focused on delivering the
sustainability strategy for the Group,
maintaining our strong governance
framework, and embracing new
strategic opportunities fromboth

a capital markets perspective and
across all stakeholders. Climate
changeis akey element ofall
aspects of his role. The Group CSO
isamember of the 'Corporate
Responsibility & Sustainability
Council'whichis part of the
non-profit'Conference Board' and
includes heads of sustainability from
acrossindustries andregions and

where best practiceis shared
inthe broader sustainability area.
The Executive Directors also
engage with the Sustainability
Committee. Since the formation
of the Committee, the Chair of
the Board, the Group CEO and

the Group CFO have beenregular
attendees at meetings of the
Committee. Inaddition, the Group
VP of Human Resources has also
beenaregular attendee at meetings
of the Committee. The Group CEO
through his overallresponsibility
for the day-to-day oversight of
the Group's business and the
implementation of the Group
strategy and policiesis directly
responsible for actions governing
climate change. The Group CFO
isamember of Accounting for
Sustainability (‘A4S'), whose 'aim

is to transform finance to make
sustainable business, business
asusual.

Management Level

The Sustainability Working Group
consists of relevant representatives
from operations and the Group's
head office, with different areas

of expertise and stakeholder
interaction relating to sustainability
and climate change. This group
monitors the progress and

2005

Baseline of our CO,
emissions target.

2007

First sustainability report.
New biomass boilerin Sweden.

2008

Investments in CHP facilities and
bio-fuelinvestments.

New Black liquor recovery boiler
installedin Cali Colombia.
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2009

External assurance of our annual
SDR commenced.

2010

Set 2020 target of 20% reduction
inrelative CO, emissions target
(2005 baseline).

Commissioned biomass boiler
inFrance.

Globally our mill system cut
relative CO, emissions by 5.4%
year-on-year.

2011

Globally our mill system cut relative
CO, emissions by more than 12%
since 2005. This delivered against
abackdrop of the EU publishingits
roadmap towards a low-carbon
economy by 2050.

2012

Globally our mill system cut relative
CO, emissions by 3.1% year-on-year.

Supported by investments such

as anew shoe pressin Cerro Gordo
(Mexico) and a rebuild of the biomass
boilerin Sanguesa (Spain).

2013

2020 target of 20% reduction
achieved with a 21% reduction
by the end of 2013.

2014

New relative emissions reduction
target of 25% reduction set for 2020.

28% reduction of COD discharge
(water) compared to 2005.



Overview

achievements of targets across
allkey areas, supports the Group
operationsinassessing and
managing sustainability/climate
change strategies and collects
and analyses data. This working
group whichis led by the Group
CSO promotes our sustainability
targets amongour customers and
suppliers. Inaddition, this working
group coordinate the sustainability
roles with responsibility for
localimplementation of the
sustainability strategy within

our business operations.

Our stakeholders expect us

to approach climate change
responsibly and provide detailed
progress reports. Our management
and workforce are aware of the
areas that areimportant through
our continual multi-level
engagement with our customers,
investors, employees, communities
and other relevant stakeholders.

This engagementincludes:
«  Organising meetings and
round-table discussions on

sustainability with our stakeholders;

« Participatingindiscussions
within and outside ourindustry
through our membership of
Cepi, FEFCO, 4evergreen

Strategic Report

initiative and World Business
Council for Sustainable
Development (WBCSD);

» Participating across external
benchmarking bodies, such
as CDP, EcoVadis, FTSE4Good
and SEDEX surveys, and
benchmarking against UN 2030
Sustainable Development
Goals; and

« Participatinginthe development
of Forest Certificationas a
member of FSC and PEFC.

Our Investor Relations team are

in continuous dialogue with our
investorsinrelation to climate
change and we are aware of
investors' priorities in this area.
Inlate 2020 investor relations
contacted top shareholders to
understand how they view SKG's
ESGdisclosureincluding climate
change and whether there were
any areas of focus orimprovement
required, the outcome of which
was that there were no significant
recommendations. Onanongoing
basis discussions with investors
provides guidance on areas
requiring focus across the broader
sustainability agenda. This has
increasingly highlighted the need
foremissions targets to be approved
as science-basedandhasalso

Governance

highlighted the need for enhanced
disclosure of our climate risks and
opportunities. Inaddition, we also
performregular desktop research
to evaluate investors' climate
agenda (e.qg. letters frominvestors
andinvestment managers about
their expectations from companies
on climate-relatedissues).

Our customer facingteams regularly
engage with our customersinrelation
to climate change. For many of our
customers their carbon footprint

is primarily scope 3 emissions.
Asaresult, our customersare
increasingly looking for supply-chain
partners to engage withthemon
delivering sustainable products with
lower carbon footprints.

Strategy - Climate Change
Overview and Background
SKGis committed to sustainability
throughout our value chain. Our
circular business model drives
positive change from the responsible
sourcing of renewable raw materials
to the sustainable production of
recyclable, biodegradable and
fit-for-purpose packaging solutions.
The strategic environmental
priorities under our Planet pillar are
climate change, forest, water and
waste. Our strategy is focused on
minimising energy use and moving

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

from fossil fuels to renewable
sources, including biomass. These
core elements are aimed at reducing
our fossil emissionsinline with the
Paris Agreement, reaching at least
net zero by 2050.

Smurfit Kappa continues to build
onits many years of achievements.
Set out below are examples, dating
backtothe first SDRin 2007,

of key milestones of the Group's
long-standing objective to drive
change and nurture a greener and
bluer planet.

2015

New CHP plantin Hoya (Germany)
running for its first full year.

Finalised certification of our
production sites according to
FSC/ PEFC or SFl chain of custody
standards.

2016

New CHP investments in Ania (Italy)
and Barbosa (Colombia).

Globally our mill system cut relative
CO, emissions by 22.9% against
a 2005 baseline.

2017

2020 target of 25% reduction
achieved with a 26.1% reduction
by the end of 2017.

2018

More ambitious relative emissions
reduction target of 40% by 2030 set,
reflecting the need forindustry to
act on the Paris Agreement.

2019

Approval of €134 millionnew recovery
boilerin Nettingsdorf (Austria).

Globally our mill system cut relative
CO, emissions by 32.9% against a
2005 baseline.

2020

Long-termtarget of at least
net-zero emissions by 2050 and
increased the 2030 emissions
reductiontarget to 55%.

On deforestation and biodiversity,
we announced a new alliance with
the World Wildlife Fund Colombia
to work together to promote
sustainable practices within the
forestryindustry.

We started reporting onthe
recommendations of the TCFD
and the relevant SASB criteria.

2021

Globally our mill system cut relative
CO, emissions by 41.3% against
a 2005 baseline.

SBTiapproval received for our
emissions targets as beinginline
with the Paris Agreement and a well
below 2°C trajectory.

Launched Better Planet 2050
programme which enhanced
existing targets orintroduced new
ones across water use, diversity
andinclusion and communities.

Successfullaunch of our Green

Finance Framework and subsequent
€1 billion of Green Bonds issuance.
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Climate Risks and
Opportunities

We have developed an enhanced
risk identification methodology
toassess climateriskand
opportunities, the output of which
is the Group's first Climate Risk and
Opportunity register.

Thetables onpages 58 to 61 outline
some of the key transition and
physicalrisks as well as opportunities
which have beenidentified and
assessed and which enable SKG to
prioritise appropriately. Ahigh level
impact assessment has been used
to measureinherent and residual
risks based onidentified mitigation,
their timeframes, and their potential
financialimpact on our business.
These timeframes usedinthe
categorisation of risks are
definedas:

»  Short-term (0-3 years): Typical
capital expenditure pay-back
time and short-term time
frame for climate change
risks and opportunities.

+  Medium-term (3-10years):
Pay-back time for a strategic
capital expenditure investment
in Smurfit Kappa, and medium-
term for climate change risks
and opportunities.

« Long-term(10-30years): Thisis
linked to long-term time horizon,
forexample investmentin paper
manufacturing machinery is
expectedto be valid for some
30years;itis thelong-termtime
frame for climate changerisks
and opportunities.

Theriskidentification processis
designedto consider the risks and
opportunities through the specific

SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED
TCFD CONTINUED

lens of climate change. This means
that the climate risk registeris
consideringrisks across alonger
time frame than the traditional risk
assessment of principal risks.

Understanding Climate

Risks and Opportunities

for Smurfit Kappa

Climate change riskis expectedto
presentitself either through physical
risks or transition risks. Physical risks
are those arising from the increasing
severity and frequency of climate
and weather-related events such as
flooding. Transitionrisks are those
which could result from the process
of adjustment towards alower carbon
economy such as the development
of policy and regulation and shifting
societal preferences. Transition and
physicalrisks along with opportunities
have beenidentified and assessed

by the Group in conjunction with
externaladvisors and climate
scenario modelling partners.

SKG has identified many opportunities
arising out of climate change to
leverageits full cycle value chain
and global operatingmodel. Inline
with the identified key risks, the
opportunities represent areas of
strategic, operational and financial
focus for SKG inthe medium to
long-term. In several areas, the
identification of the opportunity

is linked to capitalinvestment
programmes and medium to
long-term strategic planning.

Some of the key climate risks and
opportunities for Smurfit Kappa are
outlined onpages 60to 61, these are
expected to evolve over time with
the benefit of deeperinsights and

Smurfit Kappa's Better Planet 2050 Targets

the ongoing changes and
developmentsin this area.

Disclosure of Impacts

on and by the Business

There are certain climate related

risks that could have animpact

onour business including:

»  Extreme weather patterns may
affect our operations and supply
chain, potentially impacting
forests, water, carbonregulation
and taxation, and energy
availability and affordability.

»  Drought, floodingandlocal
restrictions on water usage
may limit our access to water
and therefore water risk
assessments are conducted on
aperiodic basis at our paper mills.

Forests play animportantrole
inenvironmentalresilience. We
therefore need to promote healthy
forests and manage these
resources sustainably. We source
virgin fibres from certifiably

well- managed forests, or atleast of
non-controversial origin, or certified
recycled fibres. Allmaterials must
be delivered through a third-party
verified Chain of Custody certified
supply chain.

Smurfit Kappa defines substantive
impact as significant financial,
strategic or reputational damage
that forces usto change our
business strategy significantly either
locally or as a Group. This definition
applies to both our direct operations
and our supply chain. The Group's
risk processis based upona
standardised approach to risk
identification, assessment and
review with a clear focus on

mitigating factors and assignment
of responsibility to risk owners. Each
individual risk identified is assessed
based upon potentialimpactand
likelihood of occurrence criteria.
The likelihood of occurrenceis
based upon the probability of the
risk occurring using percentage
thresholds fromremote up to
probable. Theimpact of risk on cost
is measured based upon applicable
percentage thresholds of the
Group's pre-exceptional EBITDA
which for 2021 was €1,702 million.
Reputationalimpactis also considered.

Business Resilience to
Climate-related Risks

and Opportunities

As aleading paper-based packaging
business, the Group understands
the needtoleadinthe area of
climate. Smurfit Kappa was the first
inthe broader paper and packaging
sector to announce atarget of at
least net zero emissions by 2050
and was pleased to seeits emissions
reduction target approved as
Science-basedby SBTiin 2021.

In addition to assessing our own
emission reduction targets and
havingthemindependently
approved we have also carried
outan extensive climate riskand
opportunity assessment as outlined
above. The project was supported
by anexpert third party, reviewing
climate risk and opportunity for
Smurfit Kappa and utilising a climate
scenario modelling tool.

The analysis was conductedona
data set of key assets identified for
consideration by the Group. The
scenario analysis and modelling was

Achievementin

Key Area Commitment 2021 2020 2019

Climate Change A55% relative reductionin Scope 1 and 2 fossil fuel 41.3% reductionin fossil fuel emissions 37.30% 32.90%
based CO, emissionsin our mill system compared with intensity since 2005
2005 levels by 2030. Reach at least net zero by 2050

Forest Atleast 95% of our packagingis certified as Chain of 93.45% packaging solutions sold as 93.80% 92.10%
Custody certified under FSC, PEFC or SFI Chain of Custody certified in 2021

Healthand Safety Reduce Total Recordable Injury Rate by at least 1.7% reductionin Total Recordable 29% 17%

5% annually

Injury Ratein 2021
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completed under different
Representative Concentration
Pathways (‘RCP') scenarios 2.6
(0.9-2.3°C),4.5(1.7-3.2°C), 6.2
(2.0-3.7°C)and 8.5 (3.2-5.4°C).
These modelthe potentialimpact
onassets from physical and
transitionalrisks in 10-year
increments throughto 2100. The
analysis focused onthe critical
assetsimpacted across the RCP
scenarios within the period
2030-2040 and 2040-2050, this
periodis most critical for decision
makinginthe near to medium-term.

The output of this assessment was
positive, with the results indicating
that the proportion of asset value at
risk was low. The main physical risks
highlighted within the portfolio are
temperature extremes and wildfires.
Thisis consistent with the location
andtype of assets analysed.

Risk Management

The output of the risk management
carried outin 2021 as outlined
previously was acomprehensive
climate risk and opportunity register
which reflected a combination of
existing risk controls and
approaches andresultedinaregister
including the physical and
transitional climate risks in addition
tothe opportunities. The process to
develop theregister involvedinput
from Smurfit Kappa participants
fromacross the business, with
geographic and professional
diversity. Interactive risk workshops
andinterviews were used to
facilitate the identification of climate
risks and opportunities, producing a
climate risk register for the Group. In
addition, sophisticated scenario
analysis, modellingthe Group's
globalassets across avariety of RCP
scenarios and identifying key assets
orimpacts and high-level
mitigations when appropriate was
also completed. The physical and
transition risk modelling considered;
extreme temperature, drought,
wildfire, flooding, tropical cyclone,
water stress, reputational damage,
new technology, markets and
carbon pricing.
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Asummary of some of the key
outputs fromthis processis
includedin the climate risk and
opportunities table inthe section
onthe next page.

The Group has aformal and well
established framework to determine
the nature and extent of the
principalrisks itis willing to accept to
achieveits strategic objectives. The
Board carries out areview of the
effectiveness of the Group's risk
management andinternal control
systems at leastannually. The
process involves the consideration
of the existing risks to the Group and
also emergingrisks. Inrecent years
climate change has been considered
anemerging risk of the Group as
aresult of changesinweather
patterns which could resultin
catastrophic events which could
giverisk to businessinterruption
andincreases in the cost of raw
materials. As outlined in the Risk
Reportonpages 34 to 38, climate
change has now been elevated

to aprincipal risk for the Group. In
addition, the growing environmental
climate change laws and regulations
has been a principal risk of the Group
forsome time.

As part of areview process
undertakenin 2019, climate change
was identified as amaterial priority and
it was disclosed within the SDR 2020.

Metrics and Targets

Smurfit Kappa has ambitious
sustainability targets which focus
onafurtherreduction of our
environmental footprint, increased
support for the communities
inwhich we operate and further
enhancementto thelives ofits
employees. These targets, which
were announcedin February 2021,
build upon the company's well-
established sustainability record,
onwhichithasbeenreporting
since 2007, and are contained
inthe Better Planet 2050 targets.

The Group also hadits emissions
reduction targets approved by the
SBTias consistent with levels
required to meet the goals of the
Paris Agreementin December 2021.

Governance

Thetargets covering greenhouse
gas emissions from Smurfit Kappa's
operations (scopes 1and 2) are
consistent with reductions required
to keep global warming to well below
2°C. The aim of SBTiis to mobilise
companies to set science-based
targetsinthe transitiontoa
low-carbon economy.

The Group's Better Planet 2050
targets quantify our commitment
to protect what we care about—
our planet, our people, our business
—through a set of ambitious goals,
new sustainability targets that will
sustain thriving communities,
support goodbusiness, and create
abetterplanet. The Group's
long-term commitment and action
across climate and sustainability
ingeneralis evidenced onthe table
onpage 58, andfurther details will
be presentedin the next SDR for
2021 to be publishedin April 2022.

The progress against our publicly
statedtargetsand otherkey
non-financial targets and metrics
of the Group are disclosedinthe
SDR, including the standards
reference, scope, boundary, and
measurement methods applied.
Certain key non-financial metrics
are disclosed on pages 32to 33
and page 58 of this Annual Report.

Allour metrics and data are
disclosedinour SDRincluding,
scope 1 and 2 emissions, electricity
usage, grid supply and cogeneration,
fossil fueland biofuels consumption,
water, waste, raw material, and social
data. For scope 3 emissions, we
currently cover transportin Europe
and Colombia only. We have started
work to address all our scope 3
emissionsinour SBTivalidation
project. Part of this work was an
extensive assessment of all of our

CO, emission sources. This work has

given us more insights to our scope
3 emissions. We currently collect
dataandreport onour emissions
from transport where the complete
European operations have been
coveredand we will gradually cover
allcountriesinthe Americas
operations. Other scope 3
emissions willbeincludedinthe
calculationsinthe near future and
we will also set targets for them.

Financial Statements
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Further information can be found
inthe SDR 2020 on pages 24 to 85,
aswellas the SDR 2021 which will
be published in April 2022.

Ourentire SDR has been
independently third-party assuredin
accordance with the GRI Standards.
This covers all material metrics, data
and other reporting. For more
information see our Assurance
Report of the Independent Auditor
onpage 104 inthe SDR 2020.

As noted within the governance
section, the Remuneration
Committee reviewed the
Remuneration Policy for the Group
in2020. As aresult thelong-term
incentive plan for the Group, the
Performance Share Plan now has
anumber of climate related
performance measures with

ESG metrics now cumulatively
constituting 15% of the targets
for this award. As outlinedin the
Remuneration Report on page 94
these measuresinclude CO,
reduction, water reduction and
waste reduction targets.

We haveincluded disclosuresinthe
financial statements prepared under
IFRS toindicate where we have
considered the financialimpacts

of climate change.
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SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED

Risk/ Opportunity Type and Description

Physical Risks

TCFD CONTINUED

Our Response

Chronic

Climate related chronic shortagesin
availability or supply of key materials
forits production process

Link to Strategic Priority:

(¥

Horizon: Long-term

SKG business operations rely on raw materials that are key for the production of corrugated paper
packaging, such as wood and starch. Climate change and abnormal weather patterns may create
chronic shortages in availability or supply of such materials that could cause loss of yield, interruptions
to business and constraints on the supply of these critical materials.

Mitigation:

» Amulti-source strategy isin place that balances the local and global provision of materials to ensure
constant availability of raw materials and increases supply resilience.

«  SKG'sintegrated modelinsulates the Company from certain key raw material supply constraints
as the raw material supply is under direct control of the Company.

« Continuous process optimisation whichinturn results in alower material need.

« Continuous researchinto alternative and/or new materials to use as substitutes for its key materials
to ensure resilience of supply chain and business operations.

« Investmentinresearch and development toincrease drought resistance of the Group's forestry assets.

Chronic
Changes in climatereduce the product
lifecycle and durability of key products

Link to Strategic Priority:

"

Horizon: Long-term

Transition Risks

Changing climate patterns such as changes in mean temperature, precipitation, humidity or increased
incidence of drought may affect product lifecycle and durability of the Company's key products. This
could ultimately lead to loss of customer revenue, require changes to production, lead to increased
transportation or storage costs, further product development and research and development costs.

Mitigation:

+ SKGhasanactive research and development strategy that reviews the performance requirements
of its packaging to meet the demands of its customers' supply-chains and how different
environmental conditions could impact this performance.

» Proprietary tools such as SupplySmart are used to ensure SKG's products meet or exceed the supply
chainrequirements of its customers.

» Product characteristics are consideredin SKG's design process, matching this to customer
requirements and their respective supply chain challenges.

«  SKGemploys acustomer-led approach to understand the needs and requirements necessary
to provide a sustainable, fit-for-purpose packaging solution.

» Through continuous research and developmentinits products, the Group aims to continuously
improve the durability and lifecycle of its products with innovation and research programmes.

Market

Reduced energy grid stability/power
outages creating outages impacting
product delivery

Link to Strategic Priority:

L

Horizon: Mediumto Long-term

Governmental regulatory decisions on alternative energy sources, prioritisation of energy security
and/or lack of governmentinvestment in critical infrastructure could impact SKG operations. As aresult,
power-outages could cause issues with the effective running of its operations. These events could
create business interruption or losses, supply continuity issues, risk of contract breaches, impact on
plant maintenance costs and increased manufacturing costs.

Mitigation:

«  SKGisfocused oninvestingin new energy sources, energy reduction, and on the efficient generation
of energy on site to avoid the potentialimpact of future interruption of the energy grid and resulting
power outages.

«  SKGhasincreasedits energy independence through on site generation and a broadening of its green
energy sourcing.

» Continuousinvestmentinlower emissions technologies.

» Reviewandtrial of alternative low carbon energy sources.

» Processesinplace to evaluate individual plants' grid risks and identify back up options for locations at
higher risks of energy interruptions.

Policy and Legal

External infrastructure and energy
transition planning resultinginincreased
costs and requiring strategic capital
investment

Link to Strategic Priority:

al

Horizon: Long-term
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The availability of low carbon and reliable energy sources for energy intensive assets such as paper mills,
along with National Governments' policies and investmentin clean energy, or lack thereof, couldimpact
the continuity of production, increase costs of energy sources and require extensive investment to
ensure key assets have reliable, clean energy sources.

Mitigation:

» SKG has strategic planningin place to assist the Group in ensuring that its energy needs are met
withoutinterruption toits services and at optimal cost.

» The SKG operational excellence team focuses oninnovations that reduce energy consumption and
materials while also seeking solutions such as 'in plant' energy generation.

»  SKGregularly monitors the regulatory and policy trends in the countries where it operates to identify
changesin the regulatory environment that could adversely affect SKG's energy requirements.

+ The Group applies hedging of energy as appropriate to avoid energy price fluctuations.

»  SKG continually reviews, investigates and trials alternative, lower carbon energy sources.
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Our Response

Opportunities

Resilience/ Resource Efficiency
Using the Group's strong sustainability
credentials to promote SKG as an
innovative, sustainable, future focused
organisation to attract new talent and
retain existing talent

Link to Strategic Priority:

Therole of SKG as a sector leader in the packaging industry and in sustainability practices could be
further promoted to attract new andretain existing talent.

Action to Maximise:

« Further promotion of SKG's positive action in moving towards a low carbon, circular economy.

« Further development of the communication strategy of the Group's sustainability credentials
and story.

» Increased collaboration with research institutions such as universities and think tanks can
furtherincrease the visibility of SKG as aleader ininnovation and high-tech practices andin turn,

[ X0 i
an attractive place to work to attract the best talent.
Z
Markets SKG has the potential to use its position as a global leader in sustainable packaging solutions to identify

Identify and target new global markets
based on sustainability focus and scale

Link to Strategic Priority:

¥

new markets that are transitioning to more demanding sustainable packaging requirements driven by
the consumer and/or regulation. Thisis grounded in SKG's strategic objective of expandingits market
presence in Europe and the Americas through selective and focused growth and could provide both
revenue and margin opportunities.

Action to Maximise:

« Continuedisciplined approach to consideration of possible acquisitions, investments and other
opportunities.

«  SKGhasthe potential to use its global scale and ability to leverage best practice across its value chain.

« Throughits selective and focused growth the Group has the opportunity to develop and enhance
its profile in new markets which can further attract new talent to SKG.

Resource Efficiency

Use SKG's integrated model to generate
further control and efficiencies in the
sourcing and consumption of energy,
raw materials, operating costs

Link to Strategic Priority:

Y,

SKG'sintegrated model could be used to further increase efficiencies in energy consumption, use of raw
materials, logistics and overall operating costs.

Action to Maximise:

»  Through furtherintegration of existing technologies and SKG intellectual property, the Group could
develop new techniques and practices that would further enhance its operational performance.

«  SKGcouldfurtherreduceits costs while increasing its position as an industry leader and innovator
by increasing resource efficiency throughoutits operations.

» Maintaininvestmentin research and development, process optimisation and productinnovation.

Energy Source

Making decisions on future acquisitions
or capital investments dependent upon
reliable sustainable energy supply

Link to Strategic Priority:

al

Climate change transition towards cleaner and renewable energy presents SKG with the opportunity
to focus the development and acquisition of Paper Mills and other energy intensive assets on the
availability of reliable, sustainable energy. By accessing alternative low-cost sources of sustainable
energy, SKG couldincrease its energy and asset resilience while ensuring continuity and reducing costs
forits main assets. This would de-risk climate transition risks linked to energy but would also contribute
to the Group's sustainability goals.

Action to Maximise:

» Continue to consider local government policy on renewable energy and low carbon technology
when considering acquisitions and internal investment.

» Explore retro-fitting opportunities on existing assets.

» Continued focus on clean and reliable energy supply to support the wider sustainability strategy
of SKG.
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Our Sustainability
Priorities

PRIORITIES

RISKS AND
OPPORTUNITIES

OUR COMMITMENT
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SUSTAINABILITY CONTINUED

M

Forest

Promoting sustainable forest
managementinvolves managing
supplies of sustainable, renewable
fibre, while protecting ecosystems
and creatingemploymentinrural
areas. Virginwood fibres will always
be needed for paper production
tomaintain quality. Fibre canbe
recycled around eight times when
producing our paper-based
packaging products. Itis why using
renewable woodfibre, paper
recovery andfibre recyclingis

at the core of our circular economy
approach. Furthermore, as our
stakeholders, customers and
investors expect, we communicate
ourimpactinatransparent way.

As growing consumptionincreases
pressure onresources, society
placesincreased value on
sustainable consumptionand
production, integrity of origin,
recyclingand avoidinglitterand
packaging waste. Fit-for-purpose
packaging has never beenmore
important. We areimplementing
forest certification and Chain of
Custody certificationto guarantee
origin traceability. Using both
recycledandvirginfibresin
production, weintend to use

this opportunity to deliver
fit-for-purpose packaging with

the best overall environmental
footprint for each product.

At Smurfit Kappa we have
committed to promoting
sustainable forest management
at our sites and throughout our
value chain. This means producing
and sourcing our fibres, virgin or
recycled, as Chain of Custody
Certified. We have committed

to delivering over 95% of our
packaging solutions sold as Chain
of Custody certified to customers
by 2025.1n2021, we reached alevel
0f93.45%.

Climate Change

Climate changeisthe most pressing
issue of our time. To counter rising
global temperatures, carbon
neutrality by mid-centuryis vital.
Paper making with current available
technology s stillenergyintensive.

We are achieving CO, emission
reductions by improving our energy
efficiency, as wellas by changing
from fossil fuels to bio-based energy
wherever economically viable.

Climate change poses different
risks and opportunities within

the value chain. Risks vary from
extreme weather affectingour
sites, toincreasing costs for the
emission of CO, and pressure
onavailability of raw materials.

The circular economy is alsoan
opportunity for our business aswe
seektouseresources efficiently.
We are alsoinvesting intechnology
toreduce our energy demands.
Finally, we are improving resource
and energy efficiency when
producing paper products and
optimising the use of raw material
residual streams, such as black
liquor, inbioenergy production.

Ourapproachtothe challenges

of climate change and energy
efficiency sets outto achieve

more energy efficient production
atour sites, lower energy usein
manufacturingand a switch from
fossilfuels to biofuels wherever
feasible. Our successis measured
by ourreductionin CO, emissions
—we have targetedtoreachnet zero
carbon emissions by 2050 and we
have committedtoa 55% reduction
inscope 1and 2 fossilfuels based
on CO, emissionsin our mill system
comparedto 2005 levels by 2030.
In2021, wereacheda 41.3%
reductionin the specific CO,
emissions per tonne of paper
produced compared to 2005.

Cleanfreshwateris anincreasingly
scarce commodity, and often cited
by our stakeholders as animportant
sustainability issue.

We needlarge volumes of fresh
water to produce our products,
andeventhoughwearenotalarge
consumer of water—werelease
over 90% of the water we take
inback to the environment—
availability of fresh wateris still
essentialtous.

Our globalassessment shows that
only 12% of our paper production
takes placein areas of fresh water
scarcity, representing 3% of our
waterintake.

The discharge of our water
before or after treatment can
be avaluable input for some
of our neighbours' processes.

Tohelpensure that our water use

is correctly understood, we became
asignatoryto the CEO Water
Mandate, and strive to understand
localwater relatedrisks and needs
sowe canaddressthemasandif
they arise.

Ourfocusisonthelong-term
improvement of the quality of water
we discharge, and understanding
therisks associated with water
availability andits use inthe areas
where we operate. Toincrease

our globalandlocalimpact, we

will continue toinvest inwater
treatment facilities and require the
same standards fromall our paper
mills, regardless of their location.

In 2020, next to our existing target
toreduce our COD discharge
intensity by 60% by 2025 compared
t0 2005, we alsointroducedan
annual water intake reduction
target of 1% annually.
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Increasing scarcity of resources
demands responsible production
and consumption. Avoidance

of waste s a key issue for our
stakeholders and customers.

Qur products are specifically
designedto preventlossand
damage to the goods they protect.

Our processitselfis circular by
nature. Thefibres our products
aremade fromare renewable,
recyclable, recycledand
biodegradable. 75% of our raw
materialis derived fromrecycled
fibre andthe remainderis from
sustainable sources. Our production
processitself generates almost
nowaste.

Avoiding packaging waste by simply
focusing on packaging weight might
be seenasaquickwayto decrease
landfill. This, however, canlead to
more waste resulting from greater
damage to goods or poor material
choices. We see an opportunity to
create fit-for-purpose, sustainable
packaging with mono-material
solutions designed for optimal
performance andrecyclability. We
are also working with the recycling
and paper producingindustries

to keep our raw materialsin the
recyclingloop.

We have a strong focus on
innovation. Our Better Planet
Packaginginitiative drives new
efficiency solutions for our raw
materials while keeping themin
therecyclingloop.

We also work towards the increased
recovery of any waste delivered to
uswhenrecyclingrecycledfibre,
ultimately to avoid landfillwith a
targettohave 30% less waste to
landfillby 2025, compared tothe
reference year 2013.

Strategic Report

Employee Strategy

Smurfit Kappa unites some 48,000
people around the globe, our
people are at the heart of all our
operations. This includes those for
whomwe directly andindirectly
createjobs, as wellas those whose
lives weimpact. We can only achieve
sustainable long-term success
byrelyingon ourpeople's talent,
expertise andinnovation.

Akey challengeis attractingthe
right talent to ensure succession
planning andleadership continuity,
particularly for sitesinrural
locations, where the education
neededmay not be provided.
Obstaclesinclude low awareness of
our business-to-business brand.
This makesitevenmoreimportant
to gainrecognition for our effortsin
allaspects of sustainability:
environmental responsibility,
humanrights, equal opportunities
andfair pay—allimportant elements
inthe opportunity of beingseenasa
responsible, attractive employer
forthe besttalent.

We want to empower allemployees
toreachour business objectives.
We therefore:

» Offeremployeesatalllevelsthe
chance to broadentheir skillsets
andknowledge, fulfil their
potentialandimprove their
career prospects;

« Stimulate and encourage
employee engagement through
regular, company-wide surveys
and follow-up;

« Compensate fairly, review
performance regularly and
offer gender neutral career
opportunities and pay; and

« Maintainagoodfaith
'Whistleblower Code' for
reportingany unethical or
illegal conduct.

Governance
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People

Health and Safety

Our stakeholders expectusto
provide a safe and healthy working
environmentand promote a
healthy and safe lifestyle. We are
committed to maintaining a safe
and productive workplace inevery
part of our Company by minimising
therisk of accidents, injury and
exposure to health hazards for
everyone onour sites.

As anindustrial business operating
in 36 countries, we are responsible
forthe healthand safety of alarge
number of people. Our size creates
achallenge to maintainthe same
standards for all. At Smurfit Kappa
we believe that health and safety
extends fromworktohome,
creatingan opportunity tobe
acknowledged as aresponsible
employer. We engage our
employees with policies and
procedures to deliver,innovate and
produce in a safe environment.

We are committed to maintaining
aproductive and safe workplace
by minimising the risk of accidents,
injury and exposure to health
hazards for every employee and
all sub-contractors. Tomeasure
our success, we committed to
reducingour TRIR by 5% annually.
In2021 we reachedalevel of 0.59,
a 1.7%improvement compared
t0 2020. Whilst our year-on-year
improvement did not meet our
5% target, we were pleasedthat
we were able toimprove onwhat
was a significant step change
inperformancein 2020.

Financial Statements
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Communities

Ourimpactis notonly onthe people
we work with. Our responsibilities
extend beyond, to supporting
localeconomies andlivelihoods,
especiallyinareas withlimited
opportunities forworkand where
we are significantemployers.

We see ourselves as a'corporate
citizen'in the communitiesin
whichwe're privilegedto operate.
Allaroundthe world we actively
support positive and lasting
changes. If we were not concerned
about ourlocations, we would risk
damaging our license to operate.
By supportinglocal education,
income generation, collaboration
and participation, we canstrengthen
communities and keep them
attractive to our future workforce.
The opportunityis to participate in
communities, making it attractive
forthe best talenttojoinus.

Across Smurfit Kappa we are
committed to the communities
inwhich we operate, and our
Foundationempowers people to
improve their lives. Where the cycle
of poverty and dependenceis
anissue, we aimto help endthis,
strengthening communities around
the world. Between 2020 and 2025
we will donate over €24 millionto
support social environmentaland
community initiatives.

As aresponsible business, we
supportglobalhumanrights and
labour standards, and check that
our suppliers do too. We are
committed to ethical business
standards; we work against
corruptioninallits forms, including
extortionand bribery (see Code of
Conductonthe Group's website,
smurfitkappa.com).
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PEOPLE

A year of growth,
and incredible stories

If 2020 was about adapting to the extraordinary, 2021 was about managing, mitigating and
normalising the disruption that COVID-19 has caused our people and our business.

As we continued to navigate
asecond year of this pandemic
together, it was the agility,
adaptability and resilience of our
people that stood out. They have
proved againand again to be our
most valuable assetin our response
to COVID-19, and as a critical
partnerin supporting and delivering
forallour stakeholders. Our leaders
across the business could not be
prouder of their continued efforts,
contribution and commitment.

Across the year, through our
acquisitions we have on-boarded
justover 1,000 new colleagues, that
we welcome to the Smurfit Kappa
family. We continued our support
of allour employees during 2021
andinto 2022 with a strong focus
on health and wellbeing, employee
engagement and communications,
reward and recognition, andlearning
and developmentinitiatives.

Our Employee Assistance
Programme was rolled-out globally,
supported by mental health and
wellness programmes, and we also
focused on engaging and motivating
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our people, by actively listeningand

seeking out their opinions. We know
that by taking care of our people, our
people will take care of our business.

In May, we conducted our MyVoice
group-wide employee engagement
survey. It was 100% digital for the
first time, and attracted the highest
participation rate of any of our
surveys to date.lamalso very
pleasedtoreportaglobal
engagement rate increase of

13 percentage points, providinga
positive endorsement of the people
centric culture in Smurfit Kappa and
our overall people focus.

Going above and beyond —our
communities and our customers
relied onus as a critical partner to
ensure food, beverages, medical
devices and key raw material supply
chains were maintained, making it
essential for us to keep all of our
factories and centres operating.
We are grateful to the 48,000 people
within the company who made

this happen, and who did so with
purpose, resilience and a safety-
always mindset.

Tohelp support our business growth
during 2021, we continued to focus
our HR strategy and initiatives

under our four key pillars: Employee
Experience for Performance;
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality;
People Development and Talent
Management; and Rewards and
Recognition. These pillars are
underpinned by our HR Foundations,
allcoming together to ensure our
people feel safe, fully supported

and connected to each other and

to the business. This allowed us to
protectand embed our unique
Smurfit Kappa culture and our
values of Safety, Loyalty, Integrity
and Respect.

During 2021, we also set a number of
new sustainability targets under our
Better Planet 2050 commitments.
As part of our commitment to
driving Inclusion, Diversity and
Equality within Smurfit Kappa we
are strivingto create a diverse
workplace and ensure that female
gender representation across the
Groupis above 30%. We are also
committed to 25% of our female
workforce holdingmanagement
positions by 2024.

Across the world many
organisations are beginning to
imagine the future of work through
adifferentlens. Being more agile
inour approachis just one example
of how we are working in new and
better ways to become more flexible
andrelevant for the future.

'y
It was the agility, adaptability
and resilience of our people that

Our Smurfit Kappa Academy has
embraced this approach andis now
providing global online learning
programmes, not only to enable
our people to upskill for the future,
but also helping them prepare for
the changinglandscape of work.

The COVID-19 pandemic has
changedthe world and its effects
willlast. The most painful aspect to
reflect on, is that the pandemic has
resultedin the loss of anumber of
Smurfit Kappa colleagues across the
world. Our thoughts go out to their
families, colleagues and friends, and
indeed to allthose whose lives have
beenimpacted so tragically by this
terrible disease.

Throughout the sadness and the
many challenges, our teams have
achieved so much this year, and

the stories and case studiesinthe
people section of this 2021 Annual
Reportwilldemonstrate the growth
and achievement of all.

Sharon Whitehead
Group Vice President

Human Resources
Smurfit Kappa Group

stood out. They have proved
again and again to be our most

valuable asset.
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Our Ambition: To create a continuous
two-way dialogue, to ensure our people
understand our strategy and the role
they play in its delivery and to inspire
them to perform at their best every day.

&

People Development and
Talent Management

Our Ambition: To help our people
grow their careers and deliver on their
potential, so we can realise our
ambition for them and the
organisation, as we move forward.

See page 70 for more details

0
C

Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality

Our Ambition: To create aninclusive
workplace where each one of us feels
included, supported and respected
in our daily work.

See page 68 for more details

0,
N

Rewards and Recognition

Our Ambition: We aim to attract, retain
and recognise our employees, through
competitive work practices. Making sure
that people are not just appropriately
rewarded from a monetary perspective,
but also see their achievements
recognised and valued in the workplace.

See page 72 for more details

Five Foundations
of our HR Strategy

Safety and
Wellbeing

Legal
Framework

Employee
Relations

HR Information

Internal

Systems Communications

See pages 74 to 75 for more details
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PEOPLE CONTINUED

As the pandemic enteredits second
year, we continued our work around
employee engagement and
communications. Our emphasis was
on ensuring our people continued

to feel supported, recognised and
valued for the role they played during
2021 inour organisation's overall
performance and success.

Our COVID-19 communications
continued, led from the top by
our Group and Regional Executive
Committees. Colleagues were
encouraged to use the available
tools and safety protocols to
re-double their efforts to suppress
and stop the spread of COVID-19,
while being encouraged and
supported to be vaccinated as
soon as the opportunity arose.

We alsoinstilled a sense of pride,
andhelped employeesto get great
satisfactionfromthe crucial role
theywere playinginkeepingthe
world's supply chains moving. The
work they were doing every day was
ensuring that vital food, sanitation
and medical supplies, soimportant
inthe fight against COVID-19,
arrived safely and on timein

the many communities where

we operate.

To continue to measure employee
sentiment and engage with our
teams, we also hosted our third
globalengagement survey. MyVoice
2021 took place fromthe 6th-25th
May and was our first 100% digital
survey, attracting our biggest
number of participants ever.

It provided a direct feedback
opportunity for allemployees, with
almost 42,000 comments captured
andreviewed. (See case study on
page 67 for further details).

February 2021 also saw us host

our first global virtual leadership
conference. It brought together
over 500 of our leadership team
members fromacross the
organisation, providing us with

the opportunity to build deep
connections andissue a compelling
callaround our key theme of
Creating Our Future, Together.

Ourhybrid and agile ways of working
also continued to evolve, with our
SKG MyWorkinitiative. This has
allowed us to take forward the
efficient ways of working we
discovered during COVID-19, while
we continued throughout the year
toinvestin collaborationtools and
technology to help our people be
successful, connected and deliver.

Across the year we have also
evolved our EveryOne, Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality programme,
and through the communications
channels available to us, we have
now launchedit across the
organisation. Further details on
this evolution canbe seenonthe
following pages.

During 2021, we worked hard to
build onthe engagement levels
we reported during 2020. We have
interacted with our people onan
ongoingbasis to gaininsightinto
whatisimportant to themand

to ensure we are continuing on our
journey together to be a globally
admired employer of choice.
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Inclusion, Diversity
and Equality

Our focus: To further evolve our
Inclusion, Diversity and Equality
programme ‘EveryOne’ across
Smurfit Kappa and to also deliver the
gender commitments we pledged
as part of our Better Planet 2050
sustainability targets.

Smurfit Kappais atruly diverse
organisation. Our SKG family includes
48,000 colleagues, across more than
350 sitesin 36 countries, speaking
over 21 differentlanguages and
within arange of sixgenerations.

[tis ourintentiontofocus onthese
differences through our Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality programme
andbringour activities together
under our newly evolved EveryOne
programme. This willensure we
notonly celebrate but elevate

the differenceswe allbringto
Smurfit Kappa.

With our lived values of Safety,
Loyalty, Integrity and Respect—

we are striving to create aninclusive
work environment where all
individuals can simply be themselves
and contribute, free from
discrimination or harassment, and
where all decisions are based on
merit. Itis our commitment not

to discriminate against colleagues
or candidates onthe basis of age,
disability, faith, gender, sexual
orientation or gender identity,
marital or civil partnership, parental
responsibilities or race (colour,
ethnic or national origin, nationality).

Embracing and celebrating these
differencesis a core component of
our EveryOne Inclusion, Diversity &
Equality programme. EveryOne asks
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that we offer equal respect, support
and opportunities to each other,

ina safe environment, where we
can challenge our assumptions,
celebrate our differences and keep
our minds open every day.

Over the past year we have evolved
our Group EveryOne programme.
We have created five diverse
communities to drive our ambitions:
Disability, Family & Age, Gender,
LGBTQ+ &Allies and Origin,

Race & Ethnicity.

Our sixinclusive behaviours

(Be Open, Ask, Respect, Appreciate,

Learnand Listen) to promote
inclusionin our daily interactions
with colleagues have remained the
same, as they are as relevant today
as when they were first developed
backin 2018.

EveryCUne

for Inclusion, Diversity and Equality

Council
Chair

Group
Executive Sponsor

Group
EveryOne Lead

A\
22RR

Family
& Age

Executive
Sponsor

Americas Europe Americas Europe
Champion Champion Champion Champion

Ally Ally Ally Ally
Network Network Network

To support the delivery of this
evolved programme, earlier this
year, we created an EveryOne
Council, whichis led by Tony Smurfit,
our Group CEO, whois our Group
Executive Sponsor. The Council
comprises a number of executive
sponsors, at Group Executive
Committee level and regional

community champions, at senior INTERNATIONAL
management level. The Council will MENSDAY
be further supported by the Group

VP of HR as the Chair, and the Group November 19

EveryOne Lead.

CASE STUDY

International Men’s Day

In afirst for Smurfit Kappa, during November 2021 we celebrated
International Men's Day, as part of our EveryOne programme of events
led by our ‘Gender’ community. We encouraged our sites across the
world to mark the contribution made by our male colleagues to the
organisation, their families, communities and friends. In addition to
recognising the positive male role models in our lives.

We also asked them to highlight the key issues affecting men such as
higher rates of suicide, lower life expectancy, higher work accident rates
and higher rates of cancer and heart disease.

Activities included many events around the world. Centrally we issued
amessage from our CEO and Group VP of HR, while we also hosted

a global event involving men from across the company. The virtual event
was a conversation where our panel spoke about times and experiences
which had left them feeling vulnerable or uncomfortable. Each participant
outlined and discussed how he had dealt with his situation, in the hope
that it would help someone else.
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Together, we are determined to
deliver on our EveryOne Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality ambitions for
each of our five communities, while
continuingto create aninclusive,
supportive and respectful work
environment at Smurfit Kappa.

Duringthe year, across Smurfit
Kappa, we worked together to
celebrate a series of Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality events
including International Women's
Day (March), Pride (June), World
Mental Health Day (October),
International Men's Day (November)
and International Day of Disabled
Persons (December). Celebrating
these eventsinternally helps us
raise awareness of our equality
programmes, while educatingand

CASE STUDY

Strategic Report

inspiring everyone to focus and
participate in our wider Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality agenda.

As part of our Pride activity and
toleave alastinglegacy of our
commitment to our LGBTQ+ &
Allies community, we signed the
'Declaration of Amsterdam’. The
declaration states; ‘Allhuman beings
are born free and equal in dignity
andrights’ And these values
should apply equally to LGBTQ+
peopleintheir private lives and
inworking environments.

We also continued to make progress
inthe area of gender diversity within
our organisation. Earlier this year,

as part of our '‘Better Planet 2050
commitments, we stated our

Governance

ambitions to ensure female gender
representationis above 30% across
the organisation over time, with
female colleagues holding 25% of
management positions across the
Groupby 2024.

Currently female employees
represent 20% of our total
workforce, while our manager
population and Executive
Committee female representation
isincreasing. At Board level, female
representationis now at 33%, with
our Group Executive Committee at
31%, demonstrating progress on
ourjourney to abetter gender
balance and delivering on our
commitments as part of the

'30% Club'.

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

During the year, we continued our
work with our strategic Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality partners, such
as The Valuable 500, a global CEO
community revolutionising disability
inclusion, through business
leadership and opportunity; the
Trinity Centre for People with
Intellectual Disability: the Employers
Network for Equality and Inclusion,
whichis aleading global employer
network promoting equality and
inclusioninthe workplace; and the
30% Club, a global campaign led

by company Chairs and CEOs who
are committed to takingaction to
increase gender diversity at board
and senior management levels.

International Women's Day

On International Women's Day ('IWD') and as part of our EveryOne
programme of events, we asked our sites and colleagues to celebrate
the contribution that our female colleagues made to our organisation,
to our families, have made and continue to make, to the world as a whole.

IWD asit is defined above is a global day celebrating the social, economic,
cultural and political achievements of women. This year's IWD official
campaign theme was ‘Choose To Challenge’, highlighting that from
challenge comes change. We canall choose to challenge and call out
gender bias and inequality, and we can also choose to seek out and
celebrate women'’s achievements to help create a more inclusive world.

Activities included many events around the world. Centrally we issued
amessage from our CEO and Group VP of HR, we developed a full
suite of collateral for use at our events across the organisation and
we undertook a social media campaign supporting IWD.

We also hosted a Zoom event for our 2,000 leaders across Smurfit Kappa,
whichincluded internationally renowned speaker Caroline Casey. The
event highlighted our Better Planet 2050 gender balance ambitions and
discussed how as an organisation we can ‘Choose to Challenge’ gender
bias to ensure we can all look forward to more balance in the world.

International
Women’s Day

= ) Smurfit Kappa
Freetobe me
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CASE STUDY

Free to be Me-Pride Celebrations

During the month of June we hosted a number of activities for
Pride month, under our LGBTQ+ theme of ‘Free to be Me'. Activities
included the development of a complete suite of collateral at local
and global level to educate, support and encourage participation

of allemployees in our various Pride activities.

At global level we hosted a Virtual Coffee Talk, with LGBTQ+ employees
from the Americas and Europe sharing their story to inspire others,
while we also partnered with Accenture to host a global call to raise
awareness about LGBTQ+ communities and the role we could all play
as Allies.

Inaddition to these activities and in order to provide a lasting commitment
to our LGBTQ+ community, we also signed the ‘Declaration of
Amsterdam’. The declaration states; ‘All human beings are born free
and equalin dignity and rights’. And these values should apply equally
to LGBTQ+ peoplein their private lives and in working environments'.
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People Development
and Talent Management

Our focus: Investin all our people
across Smurfit Kappa, and embed
our talent planning to help create
our next generation of talent for the

Group. Pivot our people development
programmes to an online approach
to continue to offer virtual and

hybrid learning opportunities across
the organisation.

324

Participantsin our 2021
training programmes

Development and Training

18.6hrs

average per permanent
employeein 2021

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

Overthe past year, we have
continued to focus onour talent
agenda, to ensure we have the right
people, intheright places and at
the right stages of development
tofillkey positions as they arise.
During the year, we progressed
our strategic talent management
initiatives to focus on open career
conversations, ensuring that we
help employees to planforand
understand their career ambitions.
This approachto talent
management has delivered many
leaders for the organisation, who
have built and grown successful
careers over many years, withan
average tenure of 18 yearsamong
this cohort. They added to their
experience through a mix of internal
and externallearningand
development programmes, as well
as real-life and on-the-job training.

The Smurfit Kappa Academyis an
important source of development
for our people and therefore, it was
crucially important for us to pivot our
people development programmes
in 2021 to an online offering. This
ensured that we could continue

to upskilland investin our people.
Our suite of Global Academy
programmes including our Senior
Leadership Development offering,
our flagship Open Leadership
Development programmein
partnership with INSEAD,

our Global Manager Programme
fornew plant, milland functional
managers, our Advanced
Management Development
programme, which develops our
leaders of the future and our
Graduate Workshop, which brings
together graduates fromacross
the Group, all pivoted to an online
experience in 2021. In Europe, we
alsolaunched a newly designed
Graduate Development programme
to build the capability of these
high potential talents in the region,
mirroring a similar programme
inthe Americas region.

Intotal 324 employees participated
inone of six group programmes
runin 2021, including 10% of our
senior globalmanagement
community. Thisadded up tothe
delivery of 5,623 training hours or an
average of 17.35 hours per person.

Theworkdoneata Group levelis
justasnapshot of the activity that
has beendoneto supportthe
development of all of our people
over the past year, as many other
training and development
programmes take place at regional,
country andsitelevel. These
programmes delivered an average
of 18.6 hours of career development
for each of our permanent members
of our workforce.
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CASE STUDY
General Managers Programme (‘GMP') -
Aninnovative Approach to Learning

GMP 2021 was our first SKG Academy programme to run 100%
virtually, and created the template for all other programmes in 2021.
Our innovative approach to designing this programme unlocked the
opportunity to make it an unforgettable experience. We designed and
rolled out a ground-breaking social learning journey around scheduled
live events featuring MS Teams content releases and contributions
from participants. Our social media-style interaction gave learners
ways to participate every day and connected with the live sessions

to form a single narrative thread.

While nothing can replace the connections built during in-person
experiences, we learnt that with a little effort and ingenuity we could
create an impactful learning experience online.

CASE STUDY
MyVoice Female Focus Group

Listening to the voice of our employees is crucial to ensure we
continue to evolve our employee experience. In particular it's
important to hear perspectives from different groups about their
experience as an SK employee. In November 2021, we hosted a focus
group with 25 women from across the group to hear about what it's
like to work in Smurfit Kappa. They were joined by Non-executive
Directors from our Board's Sustainability Committee, Group CEO,
and Group Vice President of HR.

Inan open and honest discussion we were pleased to hear that the
participants have seen significant improvement in their employee
experience over the years. They shared the difference that supportive
and progressive managers have had on their ability to do their work,
while fulfilling their life commitments and on how they impacted
their personal beliefin their ability to take on more senior roles. They
also shared with us some recommendations to further improve the
female experience in Smurfit Kappa, including a female mentoring
programme and leveraging the learning from the pandemic to fully
embrace hybrid working with choice and trust. A full report from the
session, including the full list of recommendations, has been shared
with the Group Executive Committee, the Gender Community
Leadership Team and the Smurfit Kappa Board and will be used to
influence further action to support our gender balance goals and the
improvement of our employee experience for our entire workforce.
We will also continue to create forums for all levels of female
employees to give us feedback on their SKG experience.

Financial Statements Supplementary Information
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Iwould recommend this programme
toanyone whois trying to grow both
professionally and personally. You really
find value in seeing live the core values
of the company, the management styles
and how everything s linked together

(strategy, execution and result). "
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In 2021 we continued to review

our approach to Rewards and
Recognition, with this work
continuinginto 2022. Our aim

is to ensure we have afairand
competitive package of compensation
benefitsin place, which compares
favourably with the market, and a
rewards philosophy that attracts
andretains key talent.

We recognise how criticalitis for
employees to be appreciated at
work, because it confirms that both
they and their work are valued. Itis
also critical that our Reward and
Recognition programmes are clearly
aligned with pay for performance,
soour people canseeaclearlinkto
their compensation package when
they perform above and beyond
what is expected.

In setting our reward packages,
Smurfit Kappa takesinto
consideration the employee's
performance, external benchmark
data for their rolein companies

of similar size and scope, while
also ensuringinternal equity
within the Group.
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As anorganisation, we are
committed to gender pay equality
and we continue to proactively
monitor the pay of male and female
colleagues, in similar roles to ensure
itis comparable. For example, under
UK legislation employers with more
than 250 employees are required
to publish key metrics on their
gender pay gap. Our UK business
has published their figures which
shows animprovement over the
last few years.

Inaddition, the Gender Pay Gap
Information Act was signed into
lawinlrelandin July 2021 andin
advance of mandatory gender pay
gapreportinginlireland whichis
expectedtobeintroducedin 2022
for companies with more than
250 employees. We are working
with advisors to calculate and
understand our Irish Pay Gap.

The Groupisalso very focused
onensuring that positive employee
and trade/labour union relations
are maintained to the highest

of standards, so we canensure

fair and sustainable Collective
Labour Agreements.
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Diversity of the Executive Team
We take partinthe FTSE Women
Leaders Review (formerly the
Hampton-Alexander Review) which
sets out recommendations for
FTSE 350 companies toimprove
the representation of women both
on their executive committee and
the directreports to this committee.
The Hampton-Alexander Review
setatarget of 33 percent female
representation on FTSE 350 boards
by 2020.

The 2021 report was published
inFebruary 2022 and represents
women on Boards as of 10 January
2022, and senior management as
at 31 October 2021. Our position at
that dateis outlined on the diagram
to theright:

Gender Diversity
Our gender splitis also outlined on
the chartstotheright:
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The Foundations of our

HR Strategy

Underpinning our four HR
strategic pillars are the five
fundamentals of our HR

strategy:

Our Safety and Wellbeing Focus
Our vision: To operate with Health,
Safety and Wellbeing as core values,
while creating a secure and

open work environment for our
employees, so that everyone feels
supported and goes home safe
every day.

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing
of our teams across the worldis and
will always be at the core of how
Smurfit Kappa operates. Itis part

of our culture and cementedinto
our organisational values of; Safety,
Loyalty, Integrity and Respect. We
strive to ensure that every day, each
of our Smurfit Kappa employees
return home safely to their family.

Our health and safety culture

is founded on authenticity,
empowerment and accountability,
with our attention focused around
our six high-risk areas, as depicted
inthe above graphic.

Atthe heart of our health and safety
approachis our 'Safety for Life’
programme. This was extended in
2021 toinclude 'Wellbeing for Life’,
which aimed to bring a more holistic
approachto our H&S focus and
methods, which was and stillis
crucialin order to support our
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people through these difficult times.
This programmeis allabout helping
our colleagues to build resilience and
ensure they look after their mental
health, as well as their physical, social
and financial wellbeing. Please see
our case study to the right.

In addition to our 'Wellbeing for Life’

programme, across all our sites and

plants we continued to reinforce our
robust COVID-19 controlmeasures,
ensuring all colleagues remained

as safe as possible and that our

operations were able to deliver
essential supplies to our customers.

We continually strive toimprove
our approach to Health and Safety,
andare firmly of the belief that
‘what gets measured gets done’.
Therefore, for the first time in

May 2021, we took the opportunity
to have our annual H&S survey
included andintegratedinto
MyVoice, our globalemployee
engagementsurvey.

Overall feedback from our
employees to our H&S questions,
ranked between 70-90%, while we
alsoreceived over 10,000 ideas
and suggestions from across

the organisation with further
opportunities to focus on.

One of the mostimportant
achievements of our Health &
Safety programme this yearis the
continued positive performance
of our TRIR trends. At the end of
2021 we have improved by over
50% versus our baselinein 2017.

However, sadly we had one
subcontractor fatality in 2021, but
we will not rest until we deliver zero
incidents onan ongoing basis.

Equally, we recognise thatitis not
justabout countingincidents,
andincreasingly our focusis on

the actions we know will reduce the
numbers of injuries; for example,
having safety conversations,
recognising strong safety
performance and further controlling
potentialrisks within our operations.
We continued with our strong audit
programme in 2021, and also
continued to build on our good
governance model.
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CASE STUDY
Safety for Life Extends to ‘Wellbeing for Life’

The Health, Safety and Wellbeing of our people is of the utmost
importance to us and is one of our core values; Safety, Loyalty,
Integrity and Respect. Over the past year with COVID-19 still
constantly on our minds, our commitment to Health, Safety and
Wellbeing has never been more in focus.

As part of World Day for Safety and Health at Work on 28 April, we
launched Wellbeing for Life, a new initiative that sits within our Safety
for Life programme. Wellbeing for Life specifically focuses on the
mental, physical, social, and financial wellbeing of our people. It
focuses on understanding, supporting and improving wellbeing while
calling on employees to: be active; be connected; be supported; be
fulfilled; and be together. Thereby touching all four of our pillars of
wellbeing; social, mental, physical and financial wellbeing.

&

It was supported by a booklet, which was sent to allemployees,

to explain more about ‘Wellbeing for Life’, while offering some simple
steps that could help improve physical, social, financial and mental
wellbeing. It also served as a reminder to employees about our
Employee Assistance Programme, which offers free and confidential
support to help them and their families cope with any concerns

or challenges they might have.

Governance

Inaddition to our focus on Health
and Safety, as part of our global HR
strategy and priorities, we have
been preparing tolaunchanew
Group wide HR information system,
whichwillbring many benefits to the
organisation, as you can see inour
case study below.

We have also continued to challenge
andimprove the effectiveness

of ourinternal communications,
ensuring we communicate directly
with our colleagues at site level,
particularly with business critical,
H&S and COVID-19 initiatives.

Finally, we have also been continuing
to educate colleagues about our
Speak Up service. It was launched
inDecember 2019 in order to
guarantee a confidentialemployee
process forissues or matters that
align with the three underlying
principles of Smurfit Kappa's Code
of Conduct; Compliance with
thelaw, ethicalbehaviour and a
commitment to quality and service.

It allows all stakeholders to easily
and confidentially report any issue
orinstance of wrongdoing, with
the service available 24/7/365,
guaranteeing user confidentiality
and/or anonymity, as wellas
assurance of non-retaliation.

CASE STUDY
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Inthe two years since its inception,
we are pleased to seeincreasing
awareness of our Speak Up system
inthe countries where we operate.
Our people understand thatitis
'ok’to speak up and thatis what

we encourage.

Our objective for the systemis to
ensure thatin every site, each of our
employeesis aware of our Code of
Conductand Speak Up servicesin
order to promote a transparent and
trustworthy workplace.

Every case reported to Speak Up
servicesis carefully processed and
analysed, against a set of basic
criteria that help us decide if
corrective actionis required to
mitigate further risks.

speak (I3

MyHub - Embracing a Digital HR Future

As part of our global HR strategy and priorities, during 2021 we have
been preparing to design and launch a new Group wide HR information

system for Smurfit Kappa.

We are designing a process to enhance our overall employee
experience that will empower our managers to manage and plan
for performance, talent, compensation, engagement and learning.
It will also give our employees autonomy over their working
experience, enabling them to shape their employment experience
no matter where they are in their career journey.

Superior data reporting will now be available, while standardised
dashboards and KPIs will enable us to make data driven decisions
for the benefit of all our stakeholders.

Our ultimate goal is to deliver excellent HR services that drive the
right behaviours in our business and deliver an excellent employee
experience. This new platform will continue to allow the HR team
to pursue its enablement of the business.
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Acquisition of Cartonbox, Monterrey

We have completed the acquisition of Cartonbox, a folding carton
company located in Monterrey, in the north-east of Mexico.

The acquisition represents an important
milestone for the us as it strengthens our
participation in the paper packaging solutions
business in Mexico, expands our footprint to
four folding carton locations in the country,
and reaffirms our commitment to paper-based
packaging as the core strategic business for
Smurfit Kappa.

“As a global company, our objective has always
been to strengthen our leadership across the
globe. Our top priority is to generate value for
our stakeholders, and Mexico has shown to be
akey country for us to invest in.|am very proud
to announce that we successfully acquired
Cartonbox. Not only does this increase our
footprint in the country, but it also allows us to

answer our customers' needs and expectations.

| am certain this will help us move a step forward

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

in becoming the leading paper-based packaging
company in Mexico," said Juan G. Castaneda.

Jorge Alberto Angel, Smurfit Kappa Mexico
CEOQ, said: “Smurfit Kappa Mexico welcomes 240
employees from Cartonbox to our family, and |
could not be more pleased. Prior to the acquisition,
we had three folding carton operations in Mexico,
located in the Metropolitan Area of Mexico City
and in Tijuana. This acquisition gives us the
opportunity to directly supply our customersin
the northern region of the country. | am certain
that using our best-in-class operating systems,
procurement arrangements, global mindset,

and our design and innovation focus, we are

well positioned to partner with new and current
customers in the FMCG, food and beverage,
bakery and office supplies sectors."”
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Irial Finan
Non-executive Chair

Anthony Smurfit
Group Chief Executive Officer

Ken Bowles
Group Chief Financial Officer

Nationality: Irish

Nationality: Irish

Nationality: Irish

Term of office

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012.
He was appointed Chairin May 2019.

Anthony Smurfit has served as a Director of the
Group since 1989* and was appointed Group
Chief Executive Officer in September 2015.

Ken Bowles was appointed Group Chief
Financial Officer in April 2016 and was
appointed a Director in December 2016.

Independent
Yes**

Committee membership

Biography

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012.

He was appointed Chairin May 2019. He was
Executive Vice President of The Coca-Cola
Company and President of the Bottling
Investments Group from 2004 until he stepped
down from the role in December 2017 and
retired in March 2018. Prior to this Irial served as
Chief Executive Officer of Coca-Cola Hellenic
Bottling Company SA. He joined the Coca-Cola
Systemin 1981. He also serves on the Boards
of Coca-Cola Bottlers Japan Holdings Inc. and
Fortune Brands Home & Security, Inc.

Anthony Smurfit has worked in various parts

of the Smurfit Kappa Group both in Europe and
the United States since he joined the Group.

He was appointed Group Chief Executive
Officerin September 2015, prior to which he
was the Group Chief Operations Officer from
November 2002. He was also Chief Executive
of Smurfit Europe from October 1999 to 2002
prior to which he was Deputy Chief Executive of
Smurfit Europe and previously Chief Executive
Officer of Smurfit France. He is a board member
of CEPI (Confederation of European Paper
Industries), andis also a member of the
European Round Table of Industrialists.

For Smurfit Kappa Group plc orits predecessor companies, SKG returned to Euronext Dublin and LSE onits IPO in March 2007.

** Onhisappointmentas Chairin May 2019 Irian Finan was independent.
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Ken Bowles joined the Groupin 1994 and has
occupied a number of finance roles in various
parts of the Group. He was appointed Group
Chief Financial Officer in April 2016, prior to
which he was the Group Financial Controller
from 2010. He was the Group's Head of

Tax from 2007 to 2010 prior to which he

was appointed as the Group's first Head

of Compliance in 2004. He is an associate
member of the Institute of Chartered
Management Accountants and holds a first
class MBA from the UCD Graduate School
of Business.
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Non-executive Director
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Carol Fairweather
Non-executive Director

Nationality: Irish

Nationality: Dutch

Nationality: British

Term of office

Anne Anderson joined the Board in January
2019.

Frits Beurskens has served as a Director of the
Group since December 2005."

Carol Fairweather joined the Board in January
2018.

Independent
Yes No Yes
Committee membership

| | Chair l |
Biography

Anne Andersonis an experienced international
diplomat who most recently served as the
Ambassador of Ireland to the United States
from 2013 to 2017. She joined the Department
of Foreign Affairs in 1972 and was appointed
Assistant Secretary Generalin 1991 servingin
this post until 1995. She was then appointed
Ireland’s Permanent Representative to the
United Nations in Geneva after which she
became Permanent Representative of Ireland
to the European Unionin 2001. Following this
she was appointed Ambassador of Ireland to
France in 2005, where she served until 2009. In
2009 she became Permanent Representative
of Ireland to the United Nations in New York.
Anne chairs the Advisory Group for the
Peacebuilding Fund at the United Nations.
Sheis also a Board member of the Druid
Theatre Galway.

Frits Beurskens joined the Kappa Group in 1990
and held various Managing Director positions
until his appointment as its President and
CEQin 1996 which he held until the merger
with Smurfit. He is a former Chair of both the
Confederation of European Paper Industries
and the International Corrugated Cases
Association and a former member of the Board
of Sappi Limited. In December 2007 he was
knighted and appointed by the Dutch Queen
as Officer in the Order of Oranje Nassau.

Carol Fairweather was Chief Financial Officer
and an executive Director of Burberry Group plc
from July 2013 to January 2017. She joined
Burberry in June 2006 and prior to her
appointment as CFO, she held the position
of Senior Vice President, Group Finance.
Prior to joining Burberry, she was Director of
Finance at News International Limited from
1997 to 2005 and UK Regional Controller

at Shandwick plc from 1991 to 1997. She
currently serves as a Non-executive Director
of Segro plc. Carolis a Fellow of the Institute
of Chartered Accountants.
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Kaisa Hietala
Non-executive Director

James Lawrence
Non-executive Director

CONTINUED

Lourdes Melgar
Non-executive Director

Nationality: Finnish

Nationality: American

Nationality: Mexican

Term of office

Kaisa Hietala joined the Board in October 2020. James Lawrence joined the Boardin Lourdes Melgar joined the Board in
October 2015. January 2020.

Independent

Yes Yes Yes

Committee membership

I . | I .

Biography

Kaisa Hietala spent over 20 years at Neste
Corporation, where she was a key architectin
the strategic transformation of the company
to become the world's largest producer of
renewable diesel and renewable jet fuel. She
served as Executive Vice President, Renewable
Products at Neste Corporation and as a
member of the Neste Executive Board from
2014 to 2019. Prior to this she held a number
of senior positions including VP, Renewable
Fuels and Neste Oil Corporation. Kaisa was
previously a Non-executive Director of Kemira
Oyj andis currently a non-employee Director
at Exxon Mobil Corporation.
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James Lawrence is currently Chair of Lake
Harriet Capital, LLC, an investment and advisory
firm. He served as Chair of Rothschild North
America from 2012 to 2015 and previously
served as Chief Executive Officer of Rothschild
North America from 2010 to 2012. Prior to this,
he served as Chief Financial Officer and an
executive Director of Unilever plc. He joined
Unilever from General Mills where he was
Vice-Chair and Chief Financial Officer. He
previously also held senior positions with
Northwest Airlines and Pepsico Inc. Heis a
Non-executive Director of Avnet, Inc. and
Aercap Holdings N.V.

Lourdes Melgar is a consultant and scholar
recognised for her expertise in the areas of
energy, sustainability and public policy. During
her career, she held various positions in
Mexico's foreign service and in the Ministry of
Energy. During the design and implementation
of Mexico's energy reform, she served as
Vice-Minister for Electricity from 2012 to
2014 and was appointed Vice-Minister for
Hydrocarbons, a position she held until 2016.
Sheis currently a Research Affiliate at the
Center for Collective Intelligence at MIT and a
non-resident Fellow at the Center for Energy
Studies at the Baker Institute. She currently
serves on the Board of Grupo Financiero
Santander Mexico.



Overview

Board Committees
I Audit EEE Remuneration

John Moloney
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Jorgen BuhlRasmussen
Non-executive Director
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Supplementary Information

Gonzalo Restrepo
Senior Independent Non-executive Director

Nationality: Irish

Nationality: Danish

Nationality: Colombian

Term of office

John Moloney joined the Boardin Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen joined the Boardin Gonzalo Restrepo joined the Board in
December 2013. March 2017. June 2015.

Independent

Yes Yes Yes

Committee membership

| Chair | ___J Chair | ]

Biography

John Moloney is the former Group Managing
Director of Glanbia plc, a global performance
nutrition and ingredients company. He served
as Group Managing Director of Glanbia plc
from 2001 until he retired from this positionin
November 2013. He joined Glanbia plcin 1987
and held a number of senior management
positions before he was appointed Deputy
Group Managing Director in 2000. He currently
serves on the board of Shorla Pharma.

Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen is the former Chief
Executive Officer of Carlsberg A/S. He served
as the Chief Executive Officer of Carlsberg A/S
from 2007 until he retired from this positionin
2015 havingjoined the company in 2006. He
previously held senior positions in several global
FMCG companies, including Gillette Group,
Duracell, Mars and Unilever over the previous
28 years. He is Chair of Novozymes A/S, Chair
of Uhrenholt A/S and Chair of the Executive
Advisory Board in Blazar Capital.

Gonzalo Restrepo is the former Chief Executive
Officer of Aimacenes Exito SA, a leading retail
company in Latin America and a subsidiary of
the French company, Casino Group. He served
as the Chief Executive Officer of Aimacenes
Exito from 1990 until he retired from this
positionin 2013. He is a Non-executive Director
of Cardif Colombia Seguros Generales SA.

He is a member of the Entrepreneurs Council
of Proantioquia in Colombia.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT

The Directors continue to be committed to maintaining the highest standards of
corporate governance. This Corporate Governance Statement describes how
throughout the financial year ended 31 December 2021 Smurfit Kappa Group plc
applied the principles of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code (‘the Code’)
published by the Financial Reporting Council (‘FRC’).

The Directors believe that the Group has complied with the provisions of the

Code throughout the year under review apart from provision 19 for which
an explanation has been providedin line with the Code. The Directors have
continued to evolve the Group's governance framework. The valuein

developing corporate and Board culture is fully recognisedin the knowledge

Audit
Committee

The Committeeis responsible for:

Providing oversight and

assurance to the Boardregarding;

Theintegrity of the published
financial statements and the
significant financial reporting
judgements;

Internal financial controls and

risk management andinternal
control systems;

The Internal Audit function;
The External Audit arrangements;

and

Whether the Annual Report

taken asawhole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides
the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the
Group's positionand performance,

business modeland strategy.

[ Further details of the
activities of the Audit
Committee are set outinits
reporton pages 88 to 91
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that culture plays a fundamentalrole in the delivery of our strategy,
stakeholder engagement and sustainability, which as this report highlights
are critical for SKGif we are to continue to build a sustainable business,
ensure compliance with the Code and meet best practice requirements.
Acopy of the Code can be obtained fromthe FRC's website: www.frc.org.uk.

Board of Directors

The Boardis primarily responsible for the long-term success of the Group, for setting the Group's strategic aims, for the
leadership and control of the Group and for reviewing the Group's system of internal control and risk management.
Thereis aclear division of responsibilities within the Group between the Board and executive management.

Remuneration
Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

Determining the remuneration
framework or broad policy for the
Company's Chair, Chief Executive
Officer, Executive Directors

and Group Secretary and other
senior executives;

Continually reviewing the ongoing
appropriateness, competitiveness
andrelevance of the Remuneration
Policy;

Approving the designand
determine targets forany
performance related pay schemes;

Determining the policy forand
scope of pension arrangements
for Executive Directors and other
senior executives;

Reviewing the workforce
remuneration trends andrelated
policies across the Group and the
alignment of incentives and reward
with the Company's culture;

Overseeing any major changesin
employee benefits throughout
the Group; and

Ensuring effective engagement
with relevant stakeholdersin
relation toremunerationand
related policies and practices.

[ Further details of
the activities of the
Remuneration Committee
aresetoutinitsreporton
pages 92to 109

Nomination
Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

Leading the process for
appointments to the Board
and making recommendations
tothe Board;

Evaluating the balance of skills,

knowledge, experience and
diversity, including geographical,
gender, age and ethnic diversity,
onthe Boardandits Committees
toensure they operate
effectively;

Preparing descriptions of the
role and requirements for new
appointees; and

Giving full consideration to
succession planning for Directors
and senior management.

[ Further details of the
activities of the Nomination
Committee are setoutinits
reportonpages 110to 112

Group Chief Executive Officer

The responsibilities of the Group Chief Executive Officer are set out on page 85

Sustainability
Committee

The Committeeisresponsible for:

Overall strategic guidance of the
Smurfit Kappa Sustainability
strategy;

Reviewing and approving the
annual Sustainable Development
Report and the Sustainability
section of the Annual Report;
Reviewing of the TCFD (Task
Force for Climate-related
Financial Disclosures)
compliance, reporting of climate
related financial information

and the climate risks and
opportunities of the Group; and
Engagement with the workforce
on behalf of the Board as required
by the Code.

[ Further details of
the activities of the
Sustainability Committee
aresetoutinitsreporton
pages 113to 114
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Ensuring Long-Term Success

The Boardis primarily responsible for the long-term success of the Group,

for setting the Group's strategic aims, for the leadership and control of the

Group and for reviewing the Group's system of internal control and risk

management. Thereis a clear division of responsibilities within the Group

between the Board and executive management. The Board retains control

of strategic and other major decisions under a formal schedule of matters

reserved toit whichincludes:

« Approvalofthe Group's strategy whichis set out on pages 28 to 29;

» Boardappointmentsincluding those of the Chair, Group Chief Executive
Officer and other Executive Directors;

« Appointment andremoval of the Group Secretary;

« Agreement of terms of appointment of the Chair, Group Chief Executive
Officer and other Executive Directors;

« Agreement of any fundamental changes to the Group's management
and control structure;

« Approval of the annual financial budgets;

«  Approval of capital expenditure above fixed limits;

- Approval of material acquisitions and disposals of businesses;

« Approval of the Trading Statements, the Interim Report, the Preliminary
Results Release and the Annual Report;

« Establishment and review of corporate governance policy and practices;

«  Monitoring of the Group's risk management andinternal control systems; and

«  Confirming thatthe AnnualReport, taken as awhole, is fair, balanced
and understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the position and performance of the Group,
its business modeland strategy.

As recommended by the Code, the roles of Chair and Group Chief Executive
Officer are held by separate individuals and the division of responsibilities
between themis clearly established and has been set outin writing and
approved by the Board. The Board has delegated responsibility for the
day-to-day management of the Group through the Group Chief Executive
Officer to executive management. The Board has also delegated some of its
responsibilities to Committees of the Board. The powers of Directors are
determined by Irish legislation and the Articles of Association of the
Company. The Directors have access to independent professional advice
atthe Group's expense, if and when required. No such advice was sought

by any Director during the year. The Board Committees are provided with
sufficient resources to undertake their duties.

The Board with the support of the Group Secretary is satisfied that it has
the policies, processes, time and information to function effectively.

Membership, Board Size and Independence

There are 12 Directors on the Board, comprising: a Non-executive Chair,
two Executive Directors and nine Non-executive Directors. The Board
recognises the value of gender diversity to the Group and has 33% female
representation andis therefore inline with the target of the FTSE Women
Leaders Review. The Board is mindful of the recommendation of the
Parker Review to have at least one Board member from an ethnic minority
backgroundby 2021 and the Board currently meets this recommendation.
The Board of Directors and their biographical details are set out on pages
78to 81. The Board considers that a Board comprising 12 Directorsis not
so large as to be unwieldy and that the Directors, having a broad spread

of nationalities, backgrounds and expertise, bring the breadth and depth
of skills, knowledge and experience that are required to effectively lead
the Group.

The Group has in place an effective Board which provides the highest
standards of governance to aninternationally diverse business with interests
spanning three continents and 36 individual countries and whose roleis to
promote the long-term sustainable success of the Company, generating
value for shareholders and contributing to wider society. Each of the Group's
Non-executive Directors has broad-based international business expertise
and many have gained significant and relevantindustry specific expertise
overanumber of years. The composition of the Board reflects the need,

as outlined by the Code, for an effective Board to maintain a balance of 'skills,
knowledge and experience'. The experience of each Director is also set

Governance

Financial Statements Supplementary Information

outintheir biographies which are detailed on pages 78 to 81. The Board
continues toinclude an appropriate balance of longer serving and more
recently appointed Directors.

Inparticular, a centralaspect of maintaining Board effectivenessis an
ongoing programme of Board refreshment to ensure robust debate, where
challenge, support and teamwork are essential features and where the
sharing of diverse perspectivesin the boardroom and the generation of
new strategies and businessideas is fostered.

The Board, through the Nomination Committee, reviews the composition
of the Board onan annual basis. This includes areview and refreshment

of Board policies, Board diversity, including gender diversity and the skills,
knowledge and experience of the Directors. There were no new
appointments to the Boardin 2021.

There was a comprehensive internal evaluation completedin 2021. This
process concluded that overall the Board and its Committees continue to
operate effectively. The Board implemented a number of the actions arising
from the 2020 internal evaluation during 2021 and willimplement the actions
arising fromthe 2021 review in the coming year. Following this review, the
Boardis satisfied that the Board andits Committees have the appropriate
balance of skill, experience, diversity, independence and knowledge of the
Group to enable the Directors to discharge their respective duties and
responsibilities effectively and believe the Board has a sufficient balance of
diversity. The culture of the Boardis open, transparent and collegiate and the
Chair demonstrates leadership and encourages an open and transparent
style around the Board table. Anindependent external evaluation of the
Board andits Committees willbe conducted during 2022 inline with the
Code'srecommendation.

The Code recommends that, apart from the Chair, at least half of the Board
of Directors of alisted company should comprise Non-executive Directors
determined by the Board to be independent. During the year under review,
the Company complied with the Code recommendation on composition
andindependence.

The Board reviewed the composition of the Board and determined that
Anne Anderson, Carol Fairweather, Kaisa Hietala, James Lawrence,
Lourdes Melgar, John Moloney, Jgrgen Buhl Rasmussen and Gonzalo
Restrepo are independent. Inreaching that conclusion, the Board took

into account the principles relating to independence containedinthe

Code and specifically whether any Non-executive Director:

« Isorhasbeenanemployee of the Group within the last five years;

+ Hasorhashadwithinthelast three years, a material business relationship
withthe Group;

» Hasreceived or receives remuneration from the Group apart from
aDirector's fee, participatesin the Group's share plans, oris amember
of the Group's pension scheme;

« Hasclose family ties with any of the Group's advisers, Directors or senior
employees;

« Holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other Directors
throughinvolvementin other companies or bodies;

» Represents asignificant shareholder; or

« Hasservedonthe Board for more than nine years from the date of their
firstappointment.

The Boardis satisfied that the independence of the relevant Directorsis not
compromised by these or any other factors.

While Frits Beurskens was previously an employee of the Group and receives
fees froma Group subsidiary, the Board does not believe these facts
compromise his independence of judgement, his contribution to the Board
or the quality of his oversight.

The Chair was independent on appointment.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE STATEMENT CONTINUED

Executive and Non-executive Directors — Experience and Skills
Each of the Executive Directors has extensive experience of the paper-based
packagingindustry. Their knowledge is supported by the general business skills
oftheindividuals involved and previous relevant experience. The Non-executive
Directors use their broad based skills, their diverse range of business and
financial experiences and their international backgrounds in reviewing and
assessing any opportunities or challenges facing the Group. These
characteristics play animportantrole, enabling the Executive Directors to
develop the Group's strategy and scrutinise the performance of management
inmeetingthe Group's goals and objectives. Frits Beurskens has the additional
benefit of many years exposure to paper-based packaging companies either as
employee, director or stakeholder which complements the experiences of the
Executive Directors. The diversity of skills and experiences are set outinthe
biographies of the Directors onpages 78 to 81.

Appointments, Retirement and Re-election to the Board

Any Director co-opted to the Board by the Directorsis subject to election

by the shareholders at the first Annual General Meeting (AGM') after their
appointmentand, pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company,
allDirectors are subjecttore-election atintervals of nomore than three years.
However,inaccordance with the Code, the Directorsindividually retire at each
AGM and submit themselves for re-electionif appropriate.

The procedures governing the appointment and replacement of Directors
are containedin the Company's Articles of Association. Changes to the
Articles of Association must be approved by the shareholdersin accordance
with Irish company law.

The standardletter of appointment of Non-executive Directors will be available
forinspectionat the AGMandis available on request from the Group Secretary.

Each ofthe Directors are offering themselves for re-election at the 2022 AGM.

External Directorships and Time Commitments

For executive directors, the Board believe that there is benefit to the Group if
they hold non-executive directorships with other companies as it enhances
their overall business experiences. Consequently, the Executive Directors
are encouraged to accept a small number of external appointments as
non-executive directors onindustry associations. Directors are permitted
toretain payments received in respect of such appointments.

Inrelationto Non-executive Directors, the Chair is satisfied that
each has demonstrated that they have sufficient time to meet their
Boardresponsibilities.

Remuneration

Details of remuneration paid to Directors, (Executive and Non-executive)
are set outinthe Remuneration Report on pages 92 to 109. Non-executive
Directors are paid fees for their services and none of their remuneration

is performance related. They are not eligible to participate in the Group's
annual bonus scheme or long-termincentive plan ('LTIP'). Non-executive
Directors'fees are not pensionable. The Remuneration Report willbe
presented to shareholders for the purposes of a non-binding advisory
vote atthe AGM on 29 April 2022.

Roles and Responsibilities

Chair

Overview

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012 and was appointed Chair in May
2019. He wasindependent at the time of appointment, as recommended
by the Code. Irial's appointment as Chair followed a comprehensive chair
succession process completed by the Board in 2018. He was appointed as
Chair designate in October 2018 and became Chair at the conclusion of the
AGMinMay 2019. Including his time as a Non-executive Director, he had
completed nine years onthe Boardin 2021.

The Chairis responsible for the leadership of the Board and the efficient and
effective working of the Board. He sets and manages the Board agenda so
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that the agenda (at appropriate times) addresses all mattersreserved to the
Board and ensures that adequate time is available for discussion on strategy
and the strategicissues facing the Group. He ensures that the Directors
receive accurate, timely and clear information, and that the Directors are
updated periodically on the views or concerns of the major investors. He also
ensures that a culture of openness and debate is fostered to facilitate
constructive Board relations and the effective contribution of the Non-
executive Directors to the Board.

Succession Review

During 2021, the Board completed a detailed review to consider the tenure
ofthe Chair and Chair succession, which was led by Gonzalo Restrepo, the
Senior Independent Director and Chair of the Nomination Committee.
The Company engaged with shareholders to seek their views and support
as part of the process in which approximately 50% of the shareholder base
were consultedin addition toinstitutional proxy advisers.

Inthe detail below, the Board has provided a transparent disclosure of
their considerations and recommendations in relation to the tenure of the
Chair (including the recommendation to shareholders that the re-election
of Irialat the AGMin April 2022 is in the best interests of the Company and
of shareholders).

Considerations

The Board in completing their Chair succession review, was cognisant of
Provision 19 of the Code which states that 'the Chair should not remain

in post beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment to the
Board'. However, the Board also notes the flexibility within the Code to
extend the Chair tenure for alimited time to facilitate effective succession
planning and the development of a diverse board, particularly inthose cases
where the Chair was an existing Non-executive Director on appointment.
The Code states thata 'clear explanation should be provided' where this
isthe case. As noted while Irial's tenure on the Board exceeded nine years
in 2021, he has only beenin the critical position of Chair since May 2019.

A clear explanation has been provided below outlining the rationale for
extendingthe tenure of the Chair and this has also been detailed in the
Nomination Committee Reportonpage 111.

Inthe year of his appointment, an external evaluation of the Board was
conducted. Over the last two years there have beeninternal evaluations
conducted by the Senior Independent Director including an evaluation
of the Chair. The performance of Irial has been exceptional and the Board
are very satisfied with his support, leadership and independence as Chair.

The executive Directors of the Group, the Group CEO and the Group CFO,

were appointed to their positions in 2015 and 2016 respectively. As aresult,
the Board believe that there is no governance concern arisingin relation to

concurrency of theroles.

The Board noted in their consideration the exceptional performance of

the Group inrecent years which has seen a significant increase in market
capitalisation. Throughout his tenure to date, the Chair has supportedthe
Executive management teamin their delivery of many key achievements
and milestones for the Group, which have included the completion of

a successful share placingin November 2020 raising gross proceeds of
€660 million to allow for accelerated capitalinvestment; the issuance of

€1 billion of Green Bonds at recordlow coupons for the Group in September
2021; and a number of successful acquisitions in Europe and the Americas.
As aresult, the Board believe thatin this time of growth and transformation
for the Group that continuity in the position of Chairisimportant not only for
the Group but also for shareholders and other stakeholders.

The Board has had significant refreshment in recent years with over 50% of
Non-executive Directors onthe Board in their position for less than five years.
The Board believes that the leadership, governance and direction from the
Chairis essential to the effective integration of new members and are very
satisfied that Irialis providing the necessary support to the Directors.
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Board Meetings Attendance at Board Meetings during the

The Board meets at least five times each year with additional Year to 31 December 2021

meetings as required. The Board met seven timesin 2021, in person Number of meetings held during the
twice and held five meetings by way of video conference calls due to period the Director was amember of the
the restrictions imposed by COVID-19. Details of the meetings held Boardandwas eligible to attend*
during the period are contained in the adjacent table, which also
includes information onindividual attendance. The Board usually
holds at least one of its meetings each year at a Group operation A. Smurfit
site to give the Directors an opportunity to meet with a wider range

of management and to see and remain familiar with the Group's K.Bowles
operating activities. This was not possible during 2021 due to the
restrictionsimposed by COVID-19. The Board s supplied on a timely
basis in advance of Board meetings with a Board Report comprising
strategic updates, operational, financial, health and safety, and
investor relations information together with Board papers on key C. Fairweather
issues inaformand of a quality to enable it to discharge its duties
effectively. In addition, during 2021 the Board received regular
updates from management inrelation to COVID-19. At each Board
meeting the Chair of each Committee gives a report on major
agendaitems discussed at Committee meetings held since the last L. Melgar
Board meeting. In addition, all Board members have access to all
Board Committee papers and minutes.

I.Finan

A.Anderson

F.Beurskens

K. Hietala

J.Lawrence

J.Moloney

. : . J.BuhlRasmussen
When Directors are unable to attend a meeting, having been advised

inthe Board papers circulated prior to the meeting of the matters G.Restrepo
to be discussed, they are given an opportunity to make their views
known to the Chair or the Group Chief Executive Officer prior to * The total people icons represent the number of meetings held during the period

the meeting. the Director was amember of the Board and was eligible to attend. The lighter blue
peopleicons indicate the number of meetings attended.

Since his appointment, the Chair has been pro-active in his engagement Recommendation for 2022 AGM

with stakeholders including shareholders, proxy bodies and the Group's As noted, the Board has carefully considered the tenure of the Chair and
workforce. Most recently, during 2021 Irial met virtually and engaged is recommending to shareholders that the re-election of Irial at the

with many shareholders and proxy body representatives. Shareholder forthcoming AGMinin April 2022 is in the best interests of the Company
support for his reappointment has been very strong at every AGM since andits shareholders.

appointment, including the 2021 AGM.
Group Chief Executive Officer

The Board want to ensure an orderly succession and transition of the Chair. Tony Smurfit as the Group Chief Executive Officer has overall responsibility

The Boardwillensure that a process to identify a suitable candidate willbe for the day-to-day oversight of the Group's business and the implementation

completed so that the successor isin place in sufficient time for the end of of the Group strategy and policies as approved by the Board. Heis also

the proposed extension as outlinedin the conclusion. responsible for ensuring that the Group's purpose, values and culture are
instilled throughout the Group.

Conclusion

Following consideration of the Code, the rationale identified and the views Senior Independent Director

of shareholders, the Board concluded that it was in the best interests of Gonzalo Restrepo's duties as the Group's Senior Independent Director

the Group and of all stakeholders that the tenure of Irial be extended by a include being available to shareholders if they have concerns which cannot

period of up to three years. In their decision to define a time period for the be resolved through the Chair or Group Chief Executive Officer or where

extension, the Board believe that this provides clarity and certainty for all contact with either of themis inappropriate. He is available to serve as an

stakeholders of the Group. intermediary for other Directors where necessary. The Senior Independent
Director also conducts an evaluation of corporate governance compliance,

The Board concluded that given theimportance of therole, it would not be the operation and performance of the Board, the Directors, its Committees

intheinterests of the Company or stakeholders to have a change in Chair and the Chair's performance in conjunction with the other Non-executive

so soon after appointment, particularly given the exceptional leadership, Directors on an annual basis except in the year when an external evaluation

governance and direction from the Chair and the level of Board refreshment  takes place. During the year as described above, Gonzalo led the shareholder

inrecent years. The Board believe that as the Group continues in this time consultation process in relation to the tenure of the Chair.

of growth and transformation that continuity in the position of Chairis

important to the effective operation of the Board and continued success Group Secretary

ofthe Group. The Directors have access to the advice and services of the Group Secretary
whois responsible to the Board for ensuring that Board procedures are

The Boardalso note that Irial's re-appointment will be subject to shareholder followed, applicable rules and regulations are complied with and that the

approvalat the 2022 AGM and subsequent future AGMs as applicable. Boardis advised onits corporate governance obligations and developments

Inadvance of subsequent AGMs, the Board is committed to providing inbest practice. The Group Secretary is responsible for formal minuting of

transparent disclosure on the status of the Chair succession process inthe any unresolved concerns that any Director may have with the operation of

Annual Report. the Company. During the year, there were no such unresolvedissues. The

Group Secretary also acts as secretary to all of the Board Committees.
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Induction and Development

Onappointment, allNon-executive Directors receive comprehensive
briefing documents on the Group, its operations and their duties as
aDirector. They are also given presentations by the senior management
teamand are given the opportunity to visit sites and meet with the local
management. In addition, the training and development programme which
was introduced during 2020 for Non-executive Directors continuedin 2021
with sessions covering arange of business, industry, legal and regulatory
updates. Due to therestrictionsimposed by COVID-19, visits to Group
operations by the Board were not possible during 2021, The Chair did get the
opportunity to visit operations in Italy and the United States during 2021.
Directors also receive regular briefings and presentations on a wide range of
the Group's activities together with all significant analyst and rating reports.
All Directors are encouraged to undergo training to ensure they are kept up
to date onrelevantlegal developments or changesin best practice.

Succession Planning and Diversity

The Board believes that appointing the best people to the Group's Board

is critical to the success of the Group and as aresult allappointments are
made purely on merit regardless of ethnicity, gender, religion, age or
disability. The Board recognises that diversity is an essential cornerstone for
buildinglong-term business success and ensures different perspectives are
introducedinto Board discussion. The Board's policy on diversity considers
gender, ethnicity, tenure and a wide geographical experience base to be
essential aspects of diversity for acompany with businesses in 36 countries
worldwide, with eight nationalities represented on the Board. This policy
plays akey role inthe Group's succession planning when considering new
appointments to the Board. Suitable candidates are selected on the basis of
their relevant experience, employment background, skills, knowledge and
insight, having due regard to the benefits of diversity to the Board. The Board
recognises the need for orderly succession and has a comprehensive
succession planinplace.

During the year, the Nomination Committee evaluated the composition of
the Board with respect to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and
diversity, including geographical, gender and ethnic diversity on the Board
as part of the annual evaluation process.

Internal Board Evaluation

The Senior Independent Director co-ordinated a rigorous annual internal
evaluation of the operation and performance of the Board, the Directors,

its Committees and the performance of the Chairin 2021. The evaluation
process involved the completion of a detailed questionnaire by each
Director and separate discussions with each Director. In addition, the Chair
conducted an annual evaluation of the performance of the Directors. The
Committees also undertook an annual evaluation of their performance
which was reported back to the Board. At least once a year, the Chair meets
with the Non-executive Directors without the Executive Directors to review
the Board's performance. The Board discussed the results of its evaluations
in order toidentify and address areas in which the effectiveness of the Board
might be improved and the resulting recommendations willbe putin place
during 2022. Anindependent external evaluation of the Board and
Committees willbe conducted during 2022.

Share Ownership and Dealing

Details of Directors' shareholdings are set out on pages 106 to 109. The
Group has a policy ondealing in shares that applies to restricted persons
comprising all Directors, senior management and certain other employees.
Under the policy, restricted persons are required to obtain clearance from
prescribed persons before dealing. Restricted persons are prohibited from
dealingin SKG securities during designated closed periods and at any other
time when the individualis in possession of Inside Information (as defined by
the Market Abuse Regulation (EU 596/2014).

Board Committees

Asrecommendedby the Code, the Board has established three Committees
toassistinthe execution of specific matters withinits responsibility. These are
the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination
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Committee. Inaddition, since 2019, thereis a Sustainability Committee
with responsibility to provide direction and oversight of the sustainability
strategy of the Group. The Sustainability Committee is also responsible for
engagement with the workforce on behalf of the Board as required by the
Code. Theresponsibilities of each of these Committees are set out clearly
inwritten terms of reference, which are reviewed annually and are available
onthe Group's website. The Chair of each Committee reports to the Board
on the major agendaitems discussed since the last Board meeting and the
minutes of all Committee meetings are available to all of the Directors.

The current membership of each Committee, details of attendance and
eachmember's tenure are set out in the individual Committee reports on
pages 88to 113.

Stock Exchange Listings

Smurfit Kappa Group plc, whichisincorporatedin Ireland and subject to
Irish company law, has a premium listing on the London Stock Exchange
and a secondary listing on Euronext Dublin.

For this reason, Smurfit Kappa Group plcis not subject to the same ongoing
listing requirements as those which would apply to an Irish company with
aprimary listing on Euronext Dublin.

Communication with Shareholders

The Board gives a high priority to effective communications with
shareholders and recognises the benefits of shareholder engagementin
order to foster mutual understanding of the Company's strategy and the
views of major investors. On a day-to-day basis, contact with institutional
shareholders s the responsibility of the Group Chief Executive Officer,

the Group Chief Financial Officer and the Head of Investor Relations.
Thereis regular dialogue with individual shareholders and the investment
community. During the year, despite the restrictions imposed by COVID-19,
there continued to be ongoing engagement with shareholders, various
virtualinvestor conferences and roadshows, and numerous conference calls
and presentations. This engagement takes place as applicable, and at the
time of the release of the Annual Report, preliminary and interim reports and
trading statements. During the year the Chair met virtually and engaged with
many shareholders and proxy body representatives. The Chair, the Senior
Independent Director and any other member of the Board are available to
meet or virtually engage with investors if required.

The papers for each Board meeting include a comprehensive report
summarising investor relations activity during the preceding period including
contacts between executive management and current and prospective
institutional shareholders.

The Groupissuesits Annual Report, preliminary and interim reports and
trading statements promptly to shareholders and also publishes them on
the Group's website: smurfitkappa.com. The Group operates aninvestor
relations section onthe website, which in addition to the above reports and
statements, contains investor presentations and all press releases
immediately after their release to the relevant Stock Exchanges.

The Group's AGM affords each shareholder the opportunity to engage with
and questionthe Chair of the Board, the Chairs of all Committees and all other
Board members. The 2021 AGMwas a closed meetinginline with the
restrictionsimposed by COVID-19, however, shareholders were encouraged
tojoin the AGM via online broadcast and to submit a Form of Proxy to ensure
theirvotes couldbe represented at the AGM. In addition, shareholders
attending the AGM electronically could ask questions during the meeting by
submitting their questions in writing online. Shareholders were alsoinvited to
email any questions relating to the items on the agendain advance of the
meeting. The Notice of the AGM and related papers together with the Annual
Reportare sentto shareholders atleast 20 working days before the meeting.
Inaddition, the Group responds throughout the year to numerous queries
from shareholders onabroadrange of issues.
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Shareholder Meetings and Shareholder Rights
Shareholders' meetings are governed by the Articles of Association of the
Company and the Companies Act 2014 (as amended) (the 'Companies Act').

The Company must hold an AGM each year in addition to any other
shareholder meetingin that year and must specify whether the meeting
isan AGM or an Extraordinary General Meetingin the notice callingit. The
Directors may convene general meetings. Extraordinary General Meetings
may also be convened as provided by the Companies Act. Notice of a general
meeting must be provided as required by the Companies Act.

Atits generalmeetings, the Company proposes a separate resolution on
each substantially separate issue and does not bundle resolutions together
inappropriately. Resolutions on consideration of the Annual Report, the
Directors'Remuneration Report and the Remuneration Policy (on adoption
orrenewal) are put to shareholders at the AGM.

The Chair of the Board of Directors or, in his absence, another Director
nominated by the Directors will preside as Chair of a general meeting.
Ordinary Shares carry voting rights. Two members entitled to vote at the
meeting present either in person or by proxy constitute a guorum. Votes
may be cast either personally or by proxy. Under the Articles of Association,
voting can take place either by a show of hands, where each shareholder
has one vote, or by way of a poll, where each shareholder has one vote for
each Ordinary Share held.

The Companies Act provides for anumber of key powers of general
meetings, including the right to elect or re-elect a Director, the right to give
authority to the Company to disapply pre-emptionrights, the right to give
authority to the Company to buy back shares and the right to amend the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

The Companies Act also provides for a number of shareholder rightsin
respect of the general meeting and the methods of exercising those rights,
which are set outin the notes to the Notice of the AGM, including the right
a) to table agendaitems and resolutions for inclusion onthe agenda of an
AGM, b) to table adraft resolutioninrespect of anitem already onthe
agenda of the general meeting, c) to ask questionsinrelation to anitem on
the agenda of a general meeting and d) to appoint a proxy electronically.

New arrangements regarding the exercise of shareholder rights and voting
rights apply to all dematerialised shares as a result of the migration to the
Euroclear Bank central securities depository which took place in March 2021.
To the extent that such shareholder rights are not facilitated under the
Company's Articles of Association, the rules of the Euroclear Bank system
dictate how these shareholder rights can be exercised. Details of how
shareholders holding dematerialised shares can exercise their voting rights
willbe containedin the notes to the Notice for the Annual General Meeting.

Code of Conduct

The Smurfit Kappa Code of Conductincludes principles of best practice

in this area which apply to the Group's Board of Directors, officers and
employees worldwide. We also require individuals, entities, agents or anyone
actingonthe Group's behalf to comply with its Code of Conduct. The Code
of Conduct alsoincorporates the Speak Up Policy and is available onthe
Group's website: smurfitkappa.comandis translated into 21 languages.

Sustainability

Inorder to createlong-term value, our Company has built its business on
three pillars of sustainability — Planet, People and Impactful Business. This
means respecting the social environment we arein, and ensuring that the
impacts on nature and natural resources do not exceed the needs of future
generations. SKG manages its business ina way which recognises its key
responsibilities in all material aspects of sustainability especially in the areas
of Environment, Sustainable Forestry, Social Citizenship and Health and
Safety. The Group's principles are summarised on pages 62 to 63 and are
described in detailin the Sustainable Development Report for 2020 whichis
available onthe Group's website. The Sustainable Development Report for
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2021 willbe publishedin April 2022. The Board Sustainability Committee
is responsible for providing direction and overall strategic guidance of the
Group's sustainability strategy.

Risk Management and Internal Control

The Board has overallresponsibility for the Group's system of risk
management andinternal controland for monitoring and reviewing its
effectiveness, in order to safeguard shareholders'investments and the
Group's assets. Details inrelation to Risk Management and Internal Control
areincludedin the Risk Report on pages 34 to 38.

The Directors confirm there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating
and managing the emerging and principal risks faced by the Group whichisin
accordance with the FRC's Guidance on Risk Management, Internal Control
and Related Financial and Business Reporting. This process has beenin place
throughout the accounting period and up to the date of approval of the
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements and s subject to
regular review by the Board.

The Directors confirm that they have carried out a robust assessment of
the emerging and principal risks facing the Group's business model, future
performance, solvency and liquidity. The Directors also confirm they have
conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the Group's risk
management and system of internal control up to andincluding the date of
approval of the Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements. This
hadregardto the emerging and principal risks that could affect the Group's
business (as outlined on pages 34 to 38), the methods of managing those
risks, the controls that are in place to contain them and the procedures to
monitor them. In addition, the potentialimpact of COVID-19 onthe principal
risks of the Group was reviewed for each emerging and principal risk.

Financial Reporting

As part of its overall system of internal control, the Group has in place control
andrisk management systems to govern the Group's financial reporting
process and the process for the preparation of the Group's Consolidated
Financial Statements. The requirements for producing financialinformation
are governed by the Group's Financial Reporting Guide and Financial
Monitoring Policy which gives guidance on the maintenance of records
thataccurately and fairly reflect transactions, provide reasonable assurance
thattransactions are recorded correctly to permit the preparation of
Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards and that require reported data to be reviewed
andreconciled. These systems include the following financial reporting
controls: access controls, reconciliations, verification controls, asset security
controls and segregation of duties. Segment management and the Group's
executive management teamreview the results of the operationson a
monthly basis. The Group's executive management team receive detailed
monthly reports from all operations and meet with segment management
atleast onaquarterly basis to review the year-to-date results against budget
androlling forecasts enabling them to monitor and challenge any variance
against the expected financial outcome for the period. Internal Audit review
financial controls in different locations on a test basis each year and report
quarterly to the Audit Committee. Each operationthroughto segment
levelis required to self-assess on the effectiveness of its financial control
environment. This includes the completion of anInternal Control
Questionnaire whichis reviewed by the Group Financial Controller

and audited on a test basis by Internal Audit. Senior management
representations with respect to the Group Consolidated Financial
Statements showing a true and fair view are also required and supplied
atyear-end.

Directors’ Report

The Change of Control, Capital Structure and Purchase of Own Shares
information are set out on page 116 of the Directors' Report and form part
of this Corporate Governance Statement.
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“Dear Shareholders, | am pleased to present the Audit Committee report
for the 2021 financial year. "

Carol Fairweather
Chair of Audit Committee, 16 March 2022

Committee Members

C. Fairweather (Chair)
K. Hietala
J.Lawrence

L. Melgar

J.Moloney

The Role of the Audit Committee

The Committeeis responsible for providing oversight and assurance to the
Boardregarding:
- Theintegrity of the published financial statements and the significant
financial reportingjudgements;
Internal financial controls and risk management and internal control
systems;
The Internal Audit function;
The External Audit arrangements; and
Whether the Annual Report taken as awhole, is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for
shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance,
business modeland strategy.

The Terms of Reference of the Committee were reviewed and updated
in December 2021 and are available on smurfitkappa.com.
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The number of meetings held during the
period the Director was amember of the

Attendance Record Committee and was eligible to attend*

C. Fairweather (Chair)
K. Hietala
J.Lawrence

L. Melgar

J.Moloney

*  Thetotal peopleicons represent the number of meetings held during the period the
Director was amember of the Committee and was eligible to attend. Thelighter blue
peopleiconsindicate the number of meetings attended.

Length of Tenure
C. Fairweather (Chair)
K.Hietala
J.Lawrence

Appointment Date
2018
2021
2015
2020
2014

L. Melgar
J.Moloney
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This report provides an overview and detail on how the Committee has
dischargedits responsibilities together with the other areas we have focused
onduring the year, as wellas the Committee's priorities for the year ahead.

Membership of the Committee
The Committeeis currently comprised of five independent Non-executive
Directors with Kaisa Hietala joining the Committee in January 2021.

Each Committee member has considerable commercial experience
and Jim Lawrence and | bring recent and relevant financial experience.
The biographical details of eachmember are set out on pages 78 to 81.

Meetings

The Committee met five times during the year under review. Details of the
Committee members and meetings attended are providedin the table on
the previous page.

The Group Chief Financial Officer, the Group Internal Auditor, the Group VP
Human Resources and senior members of the Group finance team normally
attend meetings of the Committee. The Group Chief Executive Officer
periodically attends meetings of the Committee. The External Auditor also
attends allmeetings and together with the Group Internal Auditor have direct
accessto the Committee Chair atall times. Inadvance of every meeting, the
Committee Chair meets individually with the Group Chief Financial Officer,
the Group Company Secretary, the Group finance team, the Group Internal
Auditor, the External Auditor and the VP Human Resources.

Committee papers and minutes are available to allmembers of the Board.

Areas of Focus in 2021

The key focus of the Committee during the year continued to be the review
and monitoring of the integrity of the financial statements and the significant
reportingjudgements; reviewing internal controls and risk management
systems; the Internal and External Audit arrangements; and advising the
Board onwhether the Annual Report taken as awhole is fair, balanced and
understandable. More details on the work carried out in these areas are set
outon the following pages.

Inaddition, we spent time on the following:

» Reviewingthe ongoing evolution of the Group Risk Framework including
therisk strategy, risk policy, risk KPI's, risk appetite and the decision
toinclude long-term climate relatedrisk as a principal risk, see pages 34
to 38;

» Reviewingthe proposeddisclosures in the Annual Report against the
recommendation of the Task Force on Climate Related Financial
Disclosures ('TCFD') and EU Taxonomy see pages 54 to 61 and pages 50
to 51;

« Consideringthe quarterly reports on Cyber Security and the continued
investmentsinthis areato respondto current trends andincreasing cyber
security threats;

« Consideringthe preparation for and compliance with the requirements
of the European Single Format and Regulatory Standard (‘ESEF");

« Receivingabriefing fromthe Auditor onthe recommendations of the
BEIS Consultation 'Restoring Trustin Audit and Corporate Governance';

« Theannualtaxupdate covering tax strategy, developmentsintheinternal
and external tax landscape and compliance;

« Anupdate onthe Group'sinsurance coverinrelationto property, business
interruption and cyber and the continued capitalinvestment in risk
protection; and

« Anupdate from the Group's Legal Counsel on Competition Law
Compliance, Sanctions, Screening and Data Protection compliance.
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Committee Evaluation

Aninternal evaluation of the Committee was undertakenin 2021.
The conclusion from that process was that the performance of the
Committee and of the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

Priorities for the Year Ahead

This year, we will continue to focus on the development of the Internal
Audit function mandate. We will also continue to follow developments
on audit reform and evolving best practice, including climate change
reporting and spend time as required reviewing any new regulations,
guidance or recommendations.

The evolution of the Group Risk Framework will continue as the work
undertakenin 2021 is further embedded into the processes during 2022.

The Committee will also engage with KPMG during the year in selecting
and planning for the transition of the lead audit partner, a change which
willbe required for the audit in respect of the financial year ending

31 December 2023.

Carol Fairweather
Chair of Audit Committee

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 89



AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Financial Reporting and Significant Matters Related

to the Consolidated Financial Statements

The Group's Consolidated Financial Statements are prepared by finance
personnel with the appropriate level of qualifications and expertise. The
Committee reviewed all published financial and narrative statements of
the Company, including the annual andinterim reports, preliminary results'
announcement and trading statements released during the year and
reportedits views to the Board to assistinthe Board's approval of the
results announcements.

The Committee assessed whether suitable accounting policies had been
adopted and whether management has made appropriate estimates
andjudgements. The Committee considered management's positionin
relation to the main significant matters and financial reportingjudgements,
as detailed below.

The Committee also reviewed reports by the External Auditor onthe
hard-close and year-end audit procedures which highlighted any matters
identified fromthe work undertaken on the external audit.

Fair, Balanced and Understandable

The Code requires that a fair, balanced and understandable assessment of
the Company's position and prospects be presented by the Board and that
they consider that the Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as
awhole, is fair, balanced and understandable and provides the information
necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance,
business modeland strategy.

The Committee, on behalf of the Board, considered and discussed with
management the key processes that they have in place for the preparation
ofthe Annual Reportincluding their comprehensive review procedures.
This allowed the Committee to confirm to the Board that the Annual
Report, taken as awhole, is fair, balanced and understandable and that it
provides the necessary information for shareholders to assess the Group's
position and performance, business model and strategy. In addition, the
Committee noted the formal processes performed by KPMG in relation to
the Annual Report.

Viability Statement and Going Concern

The Committeeis responsible for ensuring that the processin place to
allow the Board to make the viability statement is robust. The Committee
reviewed the process that had been followed, the stress testing scenarios
that had been applied based on the Group's principal risks and the additional
scenarios and reverse stress testing presented to take account of the
pandemic. The Committee confirmed to the Board that it was comfortable
with the process that had been followed to make the Viability Statement
onpage 34.

The Committee reviewed and was comfortable with the recommendation
setting out the support for adopting the going concern basisin preparing
the financial statements, including extended scenarios inrelation to the
pandemic. The Board's statement on going concernis set out on page 35.

Significant Matters Related to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant Matter Action Taken/Conclusions

Assessment of the
Carrying Value of Goodwill .
The Group has goodwill of

€2,511 millionat 31 December

2021. The Group performs .
animpairment review at least
annually and atany time an
impairmentis considered

Through discussions with management and KPMG:

The Committee considered management's assessment of the carrying value of goodwill relating to groups

of cash-generating units (CGUs'). The Committee considered the methodology applied and the key assumptions
(including future profitability and terminal growth and discount rates) usedin the assessment; and

The Committee considered anumber of different scenarios to test the sensitivity of the modelto changesin

its key drivers and to understandthe level of headroom available ata CGU level.

The Committee was satisfied that the judgements made by management are reasonable and that goodwillis

to exist. notimpaired, and the disclosuresin Note 13 to the Consolidated Financial Statements are appropriate.
Valuation of Defined The Committee considered the key assumptions management used in determining the defined benefit liabilities
Benefit Obligations (whichincluded a full actuarial valuation of the unfunded liabilities undertaken by independent experts) and was

The Group has defined benefit
obligations totalling €630 million
at 31 December 2021.

satisfied that they were reasonable, appropriate and consistent with market practice.

Internal Audit

The Group operates aninternally resourced Internal Audit function which
reports directly to the Committee. The Committee reviewed and approved
the annual Internal Audit plan having considered the impact of remote
working, the evolution of data analytics and related resourcing requirements
todeliver the plan.

The Committee received and reviewed the quarterly reports from

the Internal Auditor summarising audit findings, agreed actions and
recommendations and reviewed progress on addressing the actions and
recommendations. The Committee noted that the remote auditing which
had commencedin 2020 as a result of the pandemic continued throughout
2021 and did notimpact significantly on the delivery of the plan.

Incompliance with the Chartered Institute of Internal Auditors ('CIIA)

requirements, anindependent review of the Internal Audit function must
be conducted at least once every five years by a qualified assessor.
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Thelastindependent review of Group Internal Audit took place in 2020 and
was performedby EY. The assessment concluded that the Internal Audit
function was performing wellin accordance withits current mandate but that
there were opportunities to develop the mandate of Internal Audit. During
2021 the Internal Audit mandate was evolved to consider the principal risks
inthe scope of the annualinternal audit plan.

The Committee reviewed the effectiveness of the Group's Internal Audit
function and was satisfied it was operating effectively withinthe current
remit. The Committee met privately with the Internal Auditor during the year.

The current Internal Auditor is retiring in 2022, and to ensure effective
planning and a coordinated handover, a comprehensive process was
undertaken during 2021 to identify and recruit a successor. The new
Internal Auditor joined the Groupin early 2022.
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Whistleblowing
The Committee is responsible for ensuring that the Group maintains suitable
whistleblowing arrangements.

The Group has a Code of Conduct in place whichincorporates the Speak
Up Policy (Whistleblower Code). There is a Speak Up service which allows
employees to raise concerns across all key commmunication channels which
isavailablein 21 different languages and provides confidentiality and/or
anonymity and assurance of non-retaliation (see page 75 for further details).

The Committee received regular updates on cases raised via the Speak Up
process from the Group VP of Human Resources. No material cases were
reportedtothe Committee during 2021.

Risk Management and Internal Control
The Group'sinternal control and risk management systems are embedded
within the organisation structure.

The Committee is responsible for reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness
of the internal control system and risk management on behalf of the Board.

The Committee has reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's

internal control systems regularly through various activities including reviewing:

«  Theeffectiveness of its risk management processes;

« Challengingmanagement's self-assessment of the internal control
framework;

+  Theworkundertaken by internal and externalauditorsinrelation to
internal controls; and

« Theregularreportingonany control, fraud related or whistleblowingissues.

As aresult of the pandemic remote and hybrid working continued throughout
2021. The Committee received regular updates from management that the
internal controlenvironment continued to operate effectively.

The review of the Group risk process completed by PwCin 2020 noted the
comprehensive process in place and the strong awareness of risk across the
Group. They noted some recommendations which were considered as part
of the further evolution of the risk framework which continued during 2021.
The work completed during the year included the updating of formal risk
policy and strategy documents inline with best practice with the assistance
of PwC. Inaddition formalised risk appetite statements were approved by the
Board. These willbe further embedded into the overall risk management
framework during 2022.

Emergingriskis considered as part of the risk process and over the last
number of years climate risk has beenincluded as an emergingrisk for the
Group. Following due consideration during 2021, climate change was elevated
toaprincipalrisk of the Group in the long-term.

For further details on the Group's Risk Management and Internal Control,
please see the Risk Report on pages 34 to 38.

External Auditor

The Committee is responsible for overseeing the relationship with,
and the performance of, the External Auditor. This includes making a
recommendation on the appointment, reappointment and removal
of the External Auditor, assessing theirindependence, involvement
infee negotiations and assessing their performance. KPMG has been
the Group's auditor since 2018, following a formal tender process.

The External Auditor is required to rotate the audit partner responsible for
the Group audit every five years. Roger Gillespie acted as lead audit partner
for the year ended 31 December 2021, his fourth year as lead audit partner.
Therefore, the audit for the financial year ending 31 December 2022 will

be the final audit with Roger Gillespie as lead audit partner. As notedin

the Committee's areas of focus for 2022, the Committee willengage with
KPMG during the year in selecting and planning for the transition of the
lead audit partner.
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Prior to the commencement of the 2021 year-end audit and takinginto
consideration continued remote and hybrid working, the Committee
reviewed, challenged and approved the External Auditor's strategy and plan
and agreed the scope of the audit, the key risks, the proposed audit fee and
the terms of engagement. While remote working was required for much of
the audit, there were noissues reported by KPMG in being able to complete
their procedures effectively.

During the year, the Committee considered the effectiveness and
independence of the External Auditor and confirmedits satisfaction onboth.
This review involved discussions with both Group managementand Internal
Audit; feedback provided by divisional management; consideration of the
robustness of the audit process and the level of scepticism and challenge by
the External Auditor particularly in relation to key judgments; review of the
ratio of audit to non-audit fees; and the most recent publicly available results
of IAASA's quality assurance review of KPMG. Following these considerations,
the Committee has recommended to the Board that KPMG be proposed for
reappointment at the forthcoming AGM.

KPMG attended all the Audit Committee meetings during the year and had
anumber of private meetings with the Committee during the year where
no significant matters of concernwere raised.

External Auditor Non-audit Services

The Committee recognises that the independence of the External Auditor
is an essential part of the audit framework and the assurance that it provides.
The Committee has adopted a policy which sets out the types of permitted
and non-permitted non-audit services and those which require explicit

prior approval.

Non-audit services provided by the External Auditor must be considered by
the Committee to be necessary inthe interests of the business and by their
nature, these services could not easily be provided by another professional
auditing firm.

The provision of tax advisory services and due diligence/transaction services
may be permitted with the Committee's prior approval. The provision of
internal audit services, valuation work and any other activity that may give rise
to any possibility of self-review are not permitted under any circumstance.

Allcontracts for non-audit services in excess of €50,000 must be notified

to and pre-approved by the Chair of the Committee. Details of the amounts
paidto the External Auditor during the year for audit and other services are
set outin Note 5 onpage 146. Fees paid to KPMG for non-audit workin 2021
amounted to€0.4 million and total 4% of the fees paid for the statutory audit
(2020: 4.8%).

During the year, there were no circumstances where KPMG was engaged

to provide services which might have led to a conflict of interests or
compromised theirindependence.
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“Dear Shareholders, | present the Remuneration Report
for the financial year ended 31 December 2021."

John Moloney
Chair of Remuneration Committee, 16 March 2022

Committee Members

J.Moloney (Chair)
J.BuhlRasmussen
C. Fairweather

G. Restrepo

The Role of the Remuneration Committee

The Terms of Reference of the Committee were reviewed and updated
in December 2021 and are available on smurfitkappa.com.
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Determine the remuneration framework or broad policy for the
Company's Chair, Chief Executive Officer, Executive Directors,
Company Secretary and other senior executives;

Continually review the ongoing appropriateness, competitiveness
and relevance of the Remuneration Policy;

Approve the design and determine targets for any performance
related pay schemes;

Determine the policy for and scope of pension arrangements

for Executive Directors and other senior executives;

Review the workforce remuneration trends and related policies
across the Group and the alignment of incentives and reward

with the Company's culture;

Oversee any major changes in employee benefits throughout

the Group; and

Ensure effective engagement with relevant stakeholders in relation
to remuneration and related policies and practices.
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The number of meetings held during the
period the Director was amember of the
Attendance Record Committee and was eligible to attend*

J.Moloney (Chair)
J.BuhlRasmussen
C. Fairweather

. Finan™

G. Restrepo
*  Thetotal people icons represent the number of meetings held during the period the
Director was amember of the Committee and was eligible to attend. All Committee
members attended allmeetings during the year.

**rial Finan retired from the Committee in October 2021.

Length of Tenure Appointment Date
J.Moloney (Chair) 2015
J.BuhlRasmussen 2017
C. Fairweather 2018

G. Restrepo 2015
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lam pleasedto report that the Group has delivered an excellent
performance over the past year and continues to deliver across all
performance measures. In particular, our talented people have responded
to ensure our customers' needs were metin a world of significant supply
constraints andincreasing demand.

Remuneration Policy Implementation

The Remuneration Policy (‘the Policy') was reviewedin 2020 and the revised
policy was put to shareholders at the AGMin 2021.1am pleased to report
that the updated Policy was supported by 94% of shareholders at the AGM.
Forthe current year, no changes are proposed to the implementation
ofthe Policy.

2021 Performance and Incentive Out-turns

Smurfit Kappa reported excellent results for 2021, with EBITDA of
€1,702 million, ahead of our stated guidance, EBITDA margin of 16.8%,
free cash flow of €455 million and ROCE of 16.0%. In this context, the
Committee reviewed performance against the metrics under the annual
bonus plan for 2021 and approved a bonus of 99.8% for the Group CEO
and Group CFO, with 50% of the annual bonus being deferred into shares
for three years, inline with the Policy.

The Committee reviewed the outcome of the Performance Share Plan
('PSP") for the performance period 2019-2021 which resulted ina cumulative
three-year EPS of 818 cent; three-year average ROCE of 16%; and
out-performing the TSR of all the global paper and packaging peersin the
TSR benchmark which resultedina 100% outcome for that measure.
Overallthe 2019 PSP award vested at 62.02% of maximum demonstrating
the consistency of performance over the last three years.

In determining the outcomes of the 2021 annualbonus and 2019 PSP cycle,
the Committee was satisfied that the outcomes reflected the underlying
performance of the Company and the experience of stakeholders, and
therefore deemed it unnecessary to apply any discretionary overrides.

Further details on performance against the targets are set out on pages 101
to 103.

Executive Director Salaries

Duringthe year, the Committee reviewed the salary of the Group CFO as
aresult of new, additional responsibilities coming under the remit of his role.
The Group, aleader in sustainability, appointed a dedicated Group Chief
Sustainability Officer for the Group in mid-2021, with this role and the
Group's sustainability function now reportinginto the Group CFO. The
Committee, having completed a thorough review of the expanded role and
following careful consideration, approved anincrease to the Group CFO's
salary from€655,638 to€700,000, a 7% increase. The increase took effect
from 1 July 2021 and brings the Group CFO's salary to alevel that the
Committee believes is fair and equitable based on the scope of the role.
The Group CEO's salary was not increased in 2021.

Following a review of the salary for both executive Directors at the year-end,
the Committee did not recommend any further increase to the salary of the
Group CFO for 2022. The Group CEO's salary for 2022 has beenincreased
by 2.5% whichis in line with the approach taken for the wider workforce.

Executive Director Pensions

Inline with the requirements of the UK Corporate Governance Code, and
reflecting onthe external sentiment on executive Director pensions, the
Committee agreed with the executive Directorsin 2020 that their pension
contributions would be reduced on a phased basis to be inline with the wider
workforce by the end of 2022 (i.e. effective 1 January 2023). Effective as of

1 January 2022 (and announced in 2021), the Group CEO and Group CFO's
pensionrates reducedto 15.5% and 13.5% of salary, respectively. The final
reductionin their pension rates to 10% will be effective from 1 January 2023
and will bring themin line with the workforce.

Performance Share Plan Targets 2022-2024
Eachyear, the Committee reviews targets for long-term performance share
awards to ensure that they continue to incentivise executives to achieve
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clearly defined stretchinglong-termtargets. Performance targets for the
2022 award have takeninto account the Group's annual budgeting,
medium-term planning and viability statement processes, which consider
anumber of factorsincluding externaleconomic factors such as the OECD
expectations on GDP growth.

The Committee believe the proposed targets, which are a significant
increase on the prior year targets and which are detailed on page 94, are
suitably stretching to reward out-performance whilst also being incentivising
forthe managementteam. The EPS targets are set on a cumulative basis
and ROCE targets are set on athree-year average basis. In addition, the

ESG metrics (CO, emission reduction, waste reduction and water reduction),
cumulatively constitute 15% of the targets for this award.

There are over 350 managers within the Group participatinginthe PSP plan
with the same targets as the executive Directors. As noted below, anincrease
inthe participationinthe PSP was approved by the Committee in 2021.

As ever, the Committee will use its judgement to review the formulaic
outcomes across all the metrics, to ensure that vestinglevels accurately
reflect the underlying performance of the business and the experience

of wider stakeholders. Any adjustment to the formulaic outcome willbe
communicated toinvestors at the end of the relevant performance period.

Employee Engagement

The Remuneration Committee continues to supportthe Group's goal of
creating greater social, economic and environmental value, andin 2021

we introduced new metrics linked to these aims into our incentive plans.
The past year also saw the establishment of the Group's Green Finance
Framework and ‘Better Planet 2050' sustainability agenda, which introduced
ambitious new targets focused on further reducing our environmental
footprint, increasing support for the communities in which we operate and
enhancing the lives of our employees.

As the Remuneration Committee is responsible for overseeing pay
arrangements for allemployees, the Committee recognise the need to
engage with the wider workforce as part of our efforts to align with the
Group's sustainability strategy and make the right decisions on pay. We have
already made good progress in this area, voluntarily adopting a number of
the requirements of UK remuneration reporting regulations, in recognition
of theimportance of transparency around matters of pay.

IN 2021, the Committee received wider workforce feedback on remuneration
via the Sustainability Committee. As market practice evolves, the Committee
will continue to explore new ways of bringing the voice of the workforce into
the boardroom, affirming our mission of being a sustainable company that
builds excellent relationships with employees and other stakeholders.

Remuneration Policy Review

Smurfit Kappa's significant and successful growth over recent years

means that our senior managers and executives are highly desirable from
arecruitment perspective, in what has become an extremely competitive
market for talented executives in the paper and packaging sector. As noted
above, the Committee has recently approved anincrease in the participation
of the Company's PSP to a broader selection of our management population
to help reinforce their alignment to our longer-term goals, and their
retention. During 2022, the Committee also intends to look in detail at the
competitiveness of our pay arrangements, particularly the incentives, for
our most senior executives. We will be reaching out to our shareholders

over the coming year with regard to this and welcome your views.

Conclusion

Onbehalf of the Committee, | thank you for your continued support and
hope that you willfeel able to support the remuneration related resolution
atthe upcoming AGM. As ever, | welcome any comments you have.

John Moloney
Chair of Remuneration Committee
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Remuneration Policy (abridged) including 2022 Implementation

Executive Directors

Component of pay Implementation in 2022
Group Chief Executive Officer Group Chief Financial Officer

Basic Salary The Group CEO's salary is beingincreased by 2.5% for 2022 whichis in line with the approach taken for the wider
workforce. Having received a salary increase effective from 1 July 2021, thereis no further increase to the salary
ofthe Group CFO for 2022.
A.Smurfit=€1,139,936p.a. K.Bowles =€700,000p.a.

Benefits Market competitive benefits providedinline with Remuneration Policy.

Pension A. Smurfit = 15.5% of salary (cash allowance) K.Bowles = 13.5% of salary (cash allowance)
Reducedfrom 2021 rate of 20.5%. Will reduce further to Reducedfrom 2021 rate of 17%. Willreduce further to align
align with workforce rate by 1 January 2023. withworkforce rate by 1 January 2023.

Annual Bonus Performance willbe measured over one year against the following key financial, operational/strategic and individual
performance metrics:
Measure Weighting
EBIT 35%
Free CashFlow 35%
Health and Safety 10%
People &ESG 10%
Personal/Strategic Goals 10%
Inline with previous years, the actual targets have not been disclosed prospectively. The target setting process
willbeinline with the prior year and the targets willbe published retrospectively in the Annual Report.
50% willbe deliveredin cash and 50% will be deferred into Company shares for three years.
A. Smurfit (maximum) = 150% of salary K. Bowles (maximum) = 150% of salary

Performance Share Plan Performance measured over three years against four quadrants. Awards are subject to a post-vesting holding

period such that they are released following the fifth anniversary of the grant date.

Threshold Vesting Maximum Vesting
Measure Weighting (25% of maximum) (100% of maximum)
EPS (pre-exceptionalitems —cumulative over
three years) 28% 935¢ 1,140c
ROCE (three-year average) 28% 15.0% 18.5%
Relative TSR* 29% Median Performance Upper Quartile
ESG-Planet
CO, Emissions Reduction® 5% 43.5% 48.0%
Water Discharge Reduction? 5% 49.5% 58.0%
Waste to Landfill Reduction® 5% 30.0% 33.0%

Straight line vesting between points

*  Measured against the following peers: Billerud Korsnas, Cascades, DS Smith, Empresas CMPC, Graphic Packaging, International
Paper, Klabin, Mayr-Melnhof, Metsa Board, Mondi, Packaging Corporation of America, Stora Enso, UPM Kymmene and WestRock.

1 Intensity reductioninfossil CO, emissions in our global paper and board mill system compared with our baseline year 2005.

2 Intensity reduction of COD content of water returned to the environment from our global paper and board mill system compared
with our baseline year 2005.

3 Intensity reductioninwaste sent to landfill by our global paper and board mill system compared with our baseline year 2013.

A. Smurfit (maximum) = 250% of salary K. Bowles (maximum) = 205% of salary

Share Ownership Requirements

A. Smurfitis required to build a shareholding equivalent K. Bowles is required to build a shareholding equivalent
to 300% of basic salary. to 200% of basic salary.

Post-employment Share
Ownership Requirements

The share ownership requirement will apply for the first year post-departure and 50% of the requirement will apply
for the second year post departure.
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Remuneration Policy (abridged) including 2022 Implementation continued
Non-executive Directors
The table below sets out a summary of Non-executive Director fees. A review of Non-executive Director fees willbe completed in 2022.

Annual Fee
Chair €350,000
Non-executive Director base fee €70,000
Additional Fees:
Senior Independent Director fee €60,000
Committee Chair fee £€60,000
Committee membership fee €20,000

Alignment with the Workforce

Smurfit Kappa unites some 48,000 people around the globe. The Group's reward policies are designed to attract and retain the best employees, providing

fairand competitive reward packages and motivating employees at every level of the organisation to achieve the Group's strategic objectives. Whilst exact
structures differ by leveland geography, our reward programmes are strongly aligned with the Group's pay for performance culture, enabling people to see
aclear link to their remuneration packages when they perform above and beyond what is expected.

Remuneration Policy (abridged)

Introduction

The current Remuneration Policy is designed to attract, retain and motivate Directors and senior management of the highest calibre who are expected to
deliver superior performance and to provide strong leadership to the Group. The Policy has been effective from 30 April 2021 following the strong approval
of 94% of shareholders at the 2021 AGM. No changes have been made to the Policy since this time. Full details of the Remuneration Policy can be found on
pages 76 to 97 of the 2020 Annual Report.

The following table summarises how the Remuneration Policy fulfils the factors set out in Provision 40 of the 2018 UK Corporate Governance Code:

Code SKG Remuneration

Clarity

Remuneration arrangements should be transparent and The annual bonus and PSP have been designed to incentivise executives to achieve clearly
promote effective engagement with shareholders and defined stretchingtargets. Performance measures and targets are reviewed each year by the
the workforce. Committee to ensure that they continue to be clear and appropriate.

Simplicity

Remuneration structures should avoid complexity and In 2018, the Committee replaced the deferred bonus matching plan with a new performance

their rationale and operation should be easy to understand. share planaligned with market practice. This move supported our aim of operating a simple
remuneration structure with a single long-termincentive plan operating separately from the
annual bonus.

Risk

Remuneration arrangements should ensure reputational ~ The policy has been designed to support the Group's business strategy and the objective
and other risks from excessive rewards, and behavioural of developing superior, sustainable returns and value at acceptable levels of risk but with
risks that can arise from target-basedincentive plans,are  aclear andintelligible link to performance and the financial prosperity of the Group.
identified and mitigated.

Predictability
Therange of possible values of rewards to individual The Committee believesitisimportant for executive Directors and senior management
Directors and any other limits or discretions should be that a significant portion of the package is performance related. The potential value and

identified and explained at the time of approving the policy. composition of the executive Directors' remuneration packages at below threshold, target
and maximum (including share price performance) scenarios under our Remuneration Policy
are setout onpages 98 to 99.

Proportionality

Thelink betweenindividual awards, the delivery of strategy  Payments fromthe annual bonus and PSP require delivery against stretching performance
and the long-term performance of the Company should conditions. The performance conditions are directly linked to the Group's strategy and KPIs.

be clear. Outcomes should notreward poor performance.  The Committee has discretion to override formulaic out-turns to ensure that they are

appropriate and reflective of overall performance.

Alignment to Culture

Incentive schemes should drive behaviours consistent Smurfit Kappais a multinational Group and itis important that remuneration packages in each
with company purpose, values and strategy. geographicallocation are fairand competitive for that location and at a most senior level, onan
international basis.

Details of how our remuneration arrangements support delivery of the Group's strategy (including
changestoincrease the emphasis on sustainability metrics) are set out on pages 94 to 98.
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Executive Director Policy Table

Purpose and Link to
Strategy, Long-term
Interests and

Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
(i) Basic Competitive salaries Reviewed annually; changes are generally Whilst there is no maximum Not applicable.
Salary are setto attract, effective on 1 January. salarylevel, basic salary
retainand motivate increases willnormally beinline
executives to deliver Set by takinginto consideration the individual's with the range of increases for
superior performance  skills, experience, performance and position the wider workforce.
inlinewiththe Group's  against peers.
business strategy. The Committee may atits
When determiningincreases, considerationis discretionaward largerincreases
given to: (i) scope of role and responsibility; (ii) in certain circumstances, such
personal performance; (i) Group performance; as achangeinresponsibilities
(iv) step changes in responsibility; (v) remuneration  or developmentinthe role.
trends across the Group; and (vi) competitive
market practice.
(ii) Benefits Competitive benefits Benefits relate principally to the use of Thelevel of benefit provisionis Not applicable.

takinginto account
market value of role.

company cars.

Other benefits may be provided, including but
notlimited to club subscriptions.

Inthe event of recruitment or relocation,
additional benefits may be provided as considered
appropriate by the Committee.

determined based onthe cost
tothe Company and as suchno
maximum levelis set.

To provide amarket
competitive package
toattractandretain
executives.

(iii) Pension

Contributions are made to the Group's defined
contribution pension arrangement, or equivalent
cashallowances are paid.

The defined benefit plan was closed to future
accrual with effect from 30 June 2016. The Group
continues to honour legacy arrangements.

Current executive Directors
—maximum Company
contribution, or cash equivalent,
of 21% of salary; but with 2022
ratessetat 15.5%and 13.5%
of salary for the CEO and CFO
respectively; the contribution
rates for executive Directors
willreduce to alignwith the
workforce rate (10% of salary)
on 1 January 2023.

Not applicable.

The rate for new hires willbe
aligned with the rate available
to the majority of employees
inthe relevantjurisdiction.
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Executive Director Policy Table continued

Purpose and Link to
Strategy, Long-term
Interestsand

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
(iv) Annual Toincentivise the Performance measures, their respective The maximum bonus Performanceis
Bonus Plan executives to achieve weightings and targets are normally set eachyear  opportunity inrespect measured againsta
clearly defined by the Committee to ensure continued alignment  of afinancial yearis 150% range of key financial,
stretchingannual with the Group strategy. of basic salary. operational/strategic,
targets (financial and sustainability and
non-financial) which Payouts are determined by the Committee after ~ 25% of the bonus pays out individual performance
are aligned withthe the year-end taking into account performance for threshold performance. metrics.
Group's strategy. againsttargets. The Committee retains the
discretion to review out-turns to ensure they are No less than 60% of the
Adeferralelement appropriate inthe context of overall performance bonus willbe based on
inshares provides a and how it was delivered. financial measures.
retention elementand
aligns executives with 50% of any bonus award is normally deferred into
shareholderinterests.  shares for a period of, normally, three years.
Deferred awards may include the right to receive
(in cash or shares) the value of the dividends that
would have accrued during the vesting period.
Malus and clawback provisions are in place.
The Committee may adjust and amend awards
inaccordance with therules.
(v) Toincentivise the Annualawards are normally subjectto a The maximum PSP award Performance measures
Performance executivestoachieve performance period of noless thanthree years. opportunity inrespect forthe PSP are selected
Share Plan clearly defined Subject to performance, awards willthennormally ~ of afinancial yearis 250% by the Committee tobe

stretchinglong-term
targets whichare
aligned with the Group's
long-term strategic and
sustainability ambition.

be subject to aholding period of two years.

Performance measures, their weightings and
targets are normally reviewed each year by the
Committee to ensure continued alignment with
the Group'slong-term strategy.

Vesting levels are determined by the Committee
after the end of the performance period taking
into account performance against targets.

The Committee retains the discretion to review
formulaic outcomes to ensure they are
appropriate in the context of overall performance
and how it was delivered. Any adjustment to the
formulaic outcome will be communicated to
investors at the end of the performance period.

Awards may include the right to receive (in cash
or shares) the value of the dividends that would
have accrued during the performance period
and any holding period.

Malus and clawback provisions are in place.

The Committee may adjust and amend awards
inaccordance withtherules.

of basic salary.

Upto 25% of the award pays out

for threshold performance.

aligned withthe Group's
long-term strategic
priority of delivering
sustainable returns to
shareholders.

Priorto each grant, the
Committee will select
performance measures
andtargets. Measures
may be financial,
non-financial,
share-price based,
strategic, and
sustainability-focused
oronany other basis
thatthe Committee
considers appropriate.

PSP awards for 2022

willbe subjectto the

following performance

measuresincluding

their percentage

weighting:

» Earningspershare
(28%);

* Returnoncapital
employed (28%);

+  Relative TSR (29%);
and

+  Sustainability (15%).
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Executive Director Policy Table continued

Purpose and Link to
Strategy, Long-term

Interestsand
Component Sustainability Operation Opportunity Performance Metrics
Share Toaligntheinterestsof  The Group Chief Executive Officer is required Not applicable Not applicable
ownership executive Directors to build a shareholding equivalent to 300% of
requirements withthose of basic salary, and other executive Directors a
shareholders and shareholding equivalent to 200% of basic salary.
incentivise long-term Executives willnormally also be subject to
performance. apost-cessation shareholding requirement.
The share ownership requirement will apply
for the first year post-departure and 50% of
the requirement will apply for the second year
postdeparture.
Recovery Recovery provisions (clawback and malus) may apply where stated in the table above. The provisions may be enforced in the event of:
provisions « Amaterial misstatement of the Group's consolidated audited financial statements;

Where an award was determined by reference to an assessment of a performance condition which was based on an error, or
inaccurate or misleading information;

Fraud or other material financial irregularity affecting the Group;

The occurrence of anevent that causes oris likely to cause reputational damage to the Group;

Serious misconduct by a participant;

Corporate failure; or

Other circumstances which the Committee inits discretion considers to be similar in their nature or effect as the above.

Recovery provisions may be enforced in respect of the cash bonus for three years following payment, in respect of deferred shares
forthree years fromgrantandinrespect of PSP awards for five years from grant.

The Committee reserves the right to make any remuneration payments and payments for loss of office, notwithstanding that they are notinline with
the Policy set out above, where the terms of the payment were agreed: (i) before the Policy set out above, or (i) at a time when a previous Policy, approved
by shareholders, was in place provided the payment is in line with the terms of that policy, or (i) at a time when the relevant individual was not a Director

of the Company and the payment was not in consideration for the individual becoming a Director of the Company. For these purposes, payments include
the Committee satisfying awards of variable remuneration. This means making payment in line with the terms that were agreed at the time the award

was granted.

The Committee will also retain flexibility ina number of areas regarding the operation and administration of variable pay plans, including (but not limited to):
change of control, variation of share capital, demerger, special dividend, winding up or similar events. The Committee retains the discretion within the Policy
toamendtargets and/or set different measures and weightings if events happen that cause it to determine that the original targets or conditions are no
longer appropriate and the amendment is required so that the targets or conditions achieve their original purpose. Revised targets/measures will be, in the
opinion of the Committee, noless difficult to satisfy than the original conditions.

The Committee may make minor amendments to the Remuneration Policy without obtaining shareholder approval for regulatory, exchange control, tax or
administrative purposes or to take account of a change in legislation. The Committee may accelerate the vesting and/or the release of awards if an executive
Director moves jurisdictions following grant and there would be greater tax or regulatory burdens on the award in the new jurisdiction.

Value and Composition of Remuneration Packages

The Committee believesitisimportant for executive Directors and the senior management that a significant portion of the package is performance related
and a significant portionis deliveredin shares to align their interests with shareholders. The potential value and composition of the executive Directors'
remuneration packages at below threshold, target and maximum scenarios under the proposed Policy are set outin the charts below.

Value and Composition of Package

CEO

Fixed [ €1.346m Fixed 100%

Terget [ <2.913m Target 46% 24%

e [ <o e [IEEED

Max+growtr [ I <7ssom  Mox growtn [IEERE 58%

€m €Im

€2m €3m €4m €5m €6m €7m €8m 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

[ Fixed [ Short-term Incentive [l Long-term Incentive [ Fixed [ Short-term Incentive [l Long-term Incentive
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Value and Composition of Package continued
CFO

Fire [N <0.833m Fixed
Torger | <.716m Taget
Maximum _ €3.318m Maximum 25% 43%
Max +growth [N <o 035m Max+ growth [IIIEEEA) 53%

€m €Im €2m €3m €4m 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100%

[ Fixed [ Short-term Incentive [l Long-term Incentive [ Fixed [ Short-term Incentive [l Long-term Incentive

Indeveloping the scenarios the following assumptions have been made:

« Salary: Salaryat 1 January 2022.

«  Benefits: Estimate based on benefits receivedin 2021.

» Pension: Cashinlieurate or contributionrate applied to salary.

+  Below Threshold: No pay-outs under any incentive plan.

« Target: Up to 50% of the maximum potential under the annual bonus plan and 25% of the maximum PSP awards to be made in 2022 are earned.
» Maximum: The maximum potential under the incentive plans for 2022 is earned.

+ Maximum plus share price growth of 50%: The maximum potential under the incentive plans for 2022 is earned, plus share price growth of 50%.
= Other:No share price (unless otherwise stated), dividends or discount rate assumptions have beenincluded.

Executive Directors’ Service Contracts and Loss of Office Payment Policy
Details of the service contracts of the executive Directors are as follows. Contracts are available for inspection at the Company's office:

Effective Date of Contract Notice Period Termination Payments
A. Smurfit 9 March 2007 12 months notice Annual salary, the highest annual bonus for the
(amended 1 September 2015) most recent three years, the regular pension

contributionin respect of the annual salary and the
cash value of any benefits.

K.Bowles 1 April 2016 12 months notice Annual salary, the regular pension contributionin
respect of the annual salary and the cash value of
any benefits.

Policy going forward n/a 12 months notice Forany new executive Director, any paymentinlieu
of notice would solely include salary, pension and
other benefits.

The Committee reserves the right to make any other payments (including appropriate legal fees) in connection with an executive Director's cessation of
office oremployment where the payments are made in good faith in discharge of an existing legal obligation (or by way of damages for breach of such an
obligation) or by way of settlement of any claim arising in connection with the cessation of that executive Director's office or employment.

Non-executive Directors and the Chair

Terms and Conditions for Non-executive Directors

AllNon-executive Directors have letters of appointment for a period of three years which are renewable but generally for no more thanthree termsin
aggregate. Incompliance with the UK Corporate Governance Code, all Directors will retire at each AGM and offer themselves for re-election. A copy of the
letter of appointmentis available for inspection at the Company's registered office during normal business hours and at the AGM. Non-executive Directors
are not eligible to participate in the annual bonus plan or the long-termincentive plans and their service as a Non-executive Director is not pensionable.
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Non-executive Director Policy Table

Approachto Fees Operation Other ltems

Fees for the Chair and Non-executive Directors The Chair receives an aggregate fee. Non-executive Directors are reimbursed
are setat anappropriate level to reflect the time The Remuneration Policy for Non-executive Directors is fortravel and reasonable personal
commitment, responsibility and duties of the to pay: (i) a basic annual fee: and (i) fees for additional board ~ €XPenses (including any related tax
position and the contribution thatis expected responsibilities (including the Senior Independent Director liability on such expenses).

from Non-executive Directors. and the Chair and membership of a committee). Additional fees or benefits may be
Theremuneration of the Non-executive Directors  aqditional fees may also be paid where the time provided at the discretion of the Board.

is determined by the Board within the limits set

commitmentina particular year was significantly
outinthe Articles of Association.

more than anticipated.

The Board retains discretion to remunerate the
Non-executive Directorsin shares rather than cash
where appropriate.

If a new Chair or Non-executive Director is appointed, the remuneration arrangements willnormally be in line with those detailed in the table above.

Consideration of Remuneration Arrangements Throughout the Group

As the Groupis multinational, remuneration packages in each geographical location must be fair and competitive for that location and at a most senior
level, on aninternational basis. Our objectives are to a) ensure that SKG can attract and retain talented employees of the calibre necessary for it to compete
inallits markets, b) motivate employees at every level of the organisation to achieve the Group's objectives, both short andlong-term, in order to create
sustainable value and c) align remuneration packages with the Group's values of supporting a performance culture.

The employees are rewarded in line with their individual and business performance. In settingremuneration levels, SKG takes into consideration the
employees' performance appraisal, external benchmark data for their role in companies of similar size and scope in their geographical area while also
ensuring reasonable internal equity within the Group.

Consideration of Shareholder Views

The Company is committed to ongoing shareholder dialogue when considering changes to the Remuneration Policy. As set out inthe letter from the
Committee Chair, the Committee intends to consult with the Group's largest shareholders on certain aspects of the Remuneration Policy, namely the
competitiveness of our pay arrangements particularly the incentives for our most senior executives.
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Total Executive Directors’ Remunerationin 2021
The following table shows a single figure of total remuneration for each executive Director for the years 2021 and 2020.

Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information

Total Annual Bonus LTIP?
Basic Deferred PSP Share Total Total Total

Salary Pension Benefits? Cash Shares Shares  Appreciation* LTIP Fixed Variable Total
2021 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000 €'000
A.Smurfit 1,112 228 29 832 832 1,708 1,496 3,204 1,369 4,868 6,237
K.Bowles 678* 115 38 507 507 767 671 1,438 831 2,452 3,283
2020
A.Smurfit 1112 228 29 689 689 2,108 408 2,516 1,369 3,894 5,263
K.Bowles 646 110 41 400 400 920 178 1,098 797 1,898 2,695

During the year, Ken Bowles received a salary increase to €700,000 per annum, effective as of 1 July 2021. This figure has therefore been calculated on a pro-rata basis.
2 Benefitsinclude the use of acompany car, club subscriptions or cash equivalent.
3 For2021, thisrepresents conditional share awards granted under the Group's 2018 Performance Share Planin 2019 that vested in February 2022 at the grant price in 2019. The awards
vested at 62.02% of the maximum as a result of the achievement of the relevant performance targets in the three-year period ended 31 December 2021. The vested shares (post-tax)

are subject to atwo-year post holding period and willbe releasedin 2024.
4 Share price appreciation element —the additional value generated through share price growth over the grant pricein 2019 and 2018. For 2019 grants, the share price usedis € 46.26
compared to the grant price of €24.66. For the 2018 grants, the share price used was €39.77 compared to the grant price of €33.32 per share.

Pensions

Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles previously participatedin a Group contributory defined benefit pension plan based on an accrual rate of 1/60th of pensionable
salary for each year of pensionable service, designed to provide two thirds of salary at retirement for full service. The defined benefit plan which Tony Smurfit
and Ken Bowles are members of closed to future accrual with effect from 30 June 2016 and was replaced by a defined contribution plan. All pension benefits
are determined solely inrelation to basic salary.

For 2021, the non-pensionable cash allowance for Tony Smurfit represented 20.5% of salary and for Ken Bowles represented 17% of salary. As set outinthe
2020 Remuneration Committee Report, the Committee committed to aligning the pension contribution rate to the wider workforce rate by means of a
phased reduction. These phased reductions were announcedin 2021 and effective 1 January 2022, the CEO and CFO's non-pensionable cash allowance
reducedto 15.5% and 13.5% of salary, respectively. From January 2023, the non-pensionable cash allowance for Tony Smurfit and Ken Bowles will be aligned
tothe workforce rate (whichis currently 10% of salary).

Annual Bonus

Executive Directors participate in an annual bonus scheme based on the achievement of clearly defined stretching annual financial targets, together with
targets for Health and Safety and personal/strategic goals for each of the executive Directors.In 2021, a new set of targets was added relating to the Group's

'People’strategy.

2021 Annual Bonus

The key target areas as well as their weightings and the specific targets for the 2021 annual bonus plan are set out in the table below:

Resultant Payout
Performance Metrics (weighting) Threshold Target Maximum (% of max.)
EBIT (35%) 34.8%(99%)
€647m | €865m | €1,082m
FCF (35%) 35% (100%)
€41m | €201m | €360m

Health & Safety (10%)

The Group TRIR was 0.59, 100% payout for less than 0.60.

10% (100%)

People &ESG (10%)

Strong progress against People & ESG goals. Further details set out overleaf for
the Executive Directors.

10% (100%)

Personal/Strategic Goals (10%)

Strong progress against personal/strategic goals. Further details set out overleaf,
individually for the CEO and CFO.

10% (100%)
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People and ESG Outcome for Executive Directors (10% weighting)

Focusarea Objectives

Assessment

Resultant Payout

Develop next generation of leaders,
increase employee engagement,
promote and champion Inclusion,
Diversity and Equality programmes.

People

« Carried out successful strategic talent review for top talent.
« 13 percentage pointincrease in globalemployee
engagement rate, positioning SKG ahead of industry peers.
« Detailed workforce engagement schedule developed
and completed with frequent direct and indirect
engagement opportunities.
» Creation of Inclusion, Diversity and Equality Council
and evolved the EveryOne programmein 2021.

100%

Drive Group to be a fully sustainable
circular business, target recognition
for ESG activities.

Sustainability

« Strongprogress against Sustainability objectives including
approval of sustainability related capital expenditure,
publication of Green Finance Framework and improvement
across key medium-term KPls.

» Achieved strongscores with key ratings agencies such
as MSCland second party opinion on SKG Green Finance
framework by ISS ESG leading to successful €1 billion
greenbondissuance in September 2021.

« Delivery of Better Planet Packaging event which hosted
2,700 attendeesin March 2021.

» Developedandevolved Better Plant 2050 Strategy with
enhancedtargets across allkey sustainability metrics
including emissions, waste, water intake and quality, chain
of custody, inclusion, diversity and equality, community &
socialresponsibility and health & safety.

100%

Ensure a safe and trusting
environment that encourages any
reporting of wrong-doing; create
a Community Investment Plan

for support.

Ethics & Community

« Presented quarterly reporting of key data and
whistleblowing activity.

« Launched Open Community Brochure for 2021.

« Commitment to donate €24 million over a five-year period
to 2025 to support social, environmental and community
initiatives.

100%

Total: 10% (100%)

Personal/Strategic Goals (10% weighing)

The following table sets out the executive Directors' achievements against their personal/strategic objectives for 2021:

Resultant Payout

Executive Objectives Assessment (%)
A. Smurfit Strategy for Growth « Newambitiousinvestment and strategic plans developed,  100%
Development of strategic plans presented and approved by the Board.
for the Group. «  Successful€1 billion greenbondissuance at arecord
coupon for the Group.
Digital enablement «  Multi-functional Digital Strategy for the Group developed, 100%
Oversee completion of Digital Strategy approved and commenced.
forthe Group. + Implementation on course to deliver significant efficiencies.
Total: 10% (100%)
K. Bowles Capital structure & stakeholder + Achievedinvestment grade rating from Moody's, 100%
engagement Fitchand Standard & Poor'sin 2021.
« Leadthe Group'sjourney towards «  Successful€1 billion greenbondissuance at arecord
investment grade credit rating. coupon for the Group.
« Effective management of «  SKG TSR significantly ahead of peer group.
relationships with key stakeholders.
Digital enablement « Multi-functional Digital Strategy for the Group developed, 100%

Oversee completion of Digital Strategy
forthe Group.

approved and commenced.
« Implementation on course to deliver significant efficiencies.

Total: 10% (100%)
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Following the consideration of performance against the targets, andin the context of the wider performance of the Group, the Committee did not consider

it necessary to apply discretion to the outturns and approved the following annual bonuses for 2021:

2021
Bonus Annual Cash Deferred Total
(% Payable Bonus Shares Bonus
Executive Directors Maximum) (% Salary) €000 €'000 €000
A. Smurfit 99.8% 149.7% 832 832 1,664
K.Bowles 99.8% 149.7% 507 507 1,014

Inline with the Remuneration Policy, half of the bonuses shown above were paidin cash and half are deferred into Company shares which vest after three
years subject to the continuity of employment of the executive orin certain circumstances based on normal good leaver provisions.

Performance Share Plan
Awards Vesting in Respect of Performance to 31 December 2021

In 2019, Tony Smurfitand Ken Bowles were granted awards under the 2018 PSP. These awards were based on the following performance criteria: EPS
(pre-exceptional); Return on Capital employed; and Total Shareholder Return against a bespoke peer group. Performance was measured on a straight-line

basis between threshold and maximum.

Threshold Maximum
Performance Metrics (weightings) (25% Vesting) (100% Vesting) Achievement Level of Vesting
EPS (pre-exceptional items —cumulative over three years) (33%) 770c 940c 818c 15.41%
ROCE (three-year average) (33%) 15.3% 18.7% 16% 13.28%
Relative TSR vs. a select peer group (33%) Median  Upper quartile 100" percentile 33.33%
Overall vesting 62.02%

The peer group used for the TSR measure comprised the following companies: Billerud Korsnas, Cascades, DS Smith, Empresas CMPC, Graphic Packaging,
International Paper, Klabin, Mayr-Melnhof, Metsa Board, Mondi, Packaging Corporation of America, Stora Enso, UPM-Kymmene and WestRock. SKG finished
infirst place interms of TSR outcome against the peer group for the performance period and was therefore in the upper quartile in terms of the achievement

forthe 2019 award.

Inline with our normalapproach for EPS and ROCE, we adjust for items which would affect comparability such as acquisitions and disposals, the impact of

IFRS 16, Leases and the equity raise.

Following consideration of performance against the targets, and in the context of the wider performance of the Group, the Committee did not consider
it necessary to apply discretion to the out-turns and approved the level of vesting of the 2019 PSP awards. PSP Awards although vested, are subject to an

additional holding period such that they are released following the fifth anniversary of the grant date.
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Share Awards Granted During the Year

Duringthe year, executive Directors were granted Deferred Share Awards inrespect of the 2020 annual bonus. They were also granted PSP Awards that may
vest based onthe achievement of performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December 2023. PSP Awards are subject to an additional
holding period such that they are released following the fifth anniversary of the grant date. Details of the performance conditions attached to these awards
are set out on page 85 of the 2020 Annual Report.

Details of the executive Directors' awards are set out below. Further detail on the executive Directors' outstanding shares are set out on page 107.

Face Value % Vestingat

Type of Interest €000  Basis on Which Award Made Threshold Performance Period
Deferred Bonus?*
A.Smurfit Deferred shares 689 Deferred bonus n/a n/a
K.Bowles Deferred shares 400 Deferred bonus n/a n/a
Performance Shares?
A.Smurfit Performance shares 2,780 250% of salary 25% 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
K.Bowles Performance shares 1,344 205% of salary 25% 01/01/2021-31/12/2023

1 Share price of deferred shares grantedin March 2021 was €40.24. Awards will vest based on continued employment to February 2024 (subject to leaver provisions within the plan rules).

2 Twogrants of performance shares were made in 2021; the firstin March, with a second tranche granted in May to reflect the increased PSP opportunity approved at the AGM as part of
the 2021 Remuneration Policy. The share price of performance shares grantedin March 2021 was €40.76; the share price of performance shares grantedin May 2021 was €43.93. These
awards are subject to the following performance conditions and weightings: EPS (pre-exceptional, 28%); ROCE (28%); relative TSR (29%) against a bespoke peer group; CO, emissions
reduction (5%); water discharge reduction (5%); and waste to landfill reduction (5%). Details of the underlying targets are set outinthe Annual Report 2020.

Annual Percentage Change in Remuneration of Directors and Employees
Details of the percentage change in the salary, annual bonus and benefits from 2020 to 2021 for the Directors of the Company, along with that applicable
toanaverage FTE employee of Smurfit Kappa, is set out below:

Change 2020-2021 Change 2019-2020

Basic Salary Total Bonus Benefits Basic Salary Total Bonus Benefits
Executive Directors
Group Chief Executive Officer —A. Smurfit 0% 21% 0% 0% 16% (6%)
Group Financial Officer—K. Bowles! 5% 27% (7%) 3.50% 20% 14%
Non-executive Directors?
I.Finan 0% n/a n/a 26% n/a n/a
A.Anderson 0% n/a n/a 2% n/a n/a
F. Beurskens 0% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
C. Fairweather 0% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
K. Hietala® 671% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
J.Lawrence 0% n/a n/a 0% n/a n/a
L. Melgar 0% n/a n/a n/a n/a n/a
J.Moloney 0% n/a n/a 11% n/a n/a
J.BuhlRasmussen 0% n/a n/a 40% n/a n/a
G.Restrepo 0% n/a n/a 40% n/a n/a
Average employee of Smurfit Kappa Group (FTE) 2% 4% n/a* 2% 16% n/a*

During the year, Ken Bowles received a salary increase to €700,000 per annum, effective as of 1 July 2021. This figure has therefore been calculated on a pro-rata basis.
Page 108 provides the underlying single figure of remuneration for Non-executive Directors used to calculate the figures above.

Kaisa Hietalajoined the Board in October 2020.

Due todataavailability, itis not possible to calculate the percentage change in benefits for allemployees for the purpose of this table.

¥ NN e

Chief Executive Officer Pay Ratio
Although this legislation does not apply to SKG, the Committee has voluntarily published the ratio. The following table sets out the Group CEO pay ratio
against Irish employees within the Group, which is considered the most relevant reference point as the Group's headquarters areinlreland.

Year Population 25 percentile 50" percentile 75t percentile
2021 Irish employees 152 116 83
2020 Irishemployees 132 97 72
2019 Irishemployees 92 68 50

Total remuneration for eachindividual in the above data has been calculated on the same basis as the Group CEO's annual total remuneration for the same
periodin the single figure table. For part-time employees, their relevant pay and benefit components have been adjusted to the equivalent full-time figure
fortherelevant business.

The pay ratio reflects how remuneration arrangements differ as responsibility increases for more senior roles within the organisation; with a significant
proportion of the CEQ's remuneration derived from at-risk, performance based pay linked to the Group's overall performance and also to Smurfit Kappa's
share price performance through the equity based incentives. The Committee is comfortable that the pay ratio reflects the pay progression policies at
Smurfit Kappa and acknowledges that there will be volatility in the reported pay ratio year-on-year, driven by the performance-based pay outcomes.
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Relative Importance of Spend on Pay
The following tables set out the change in profit, dividends and total employee costs for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 against a five-year comparative.

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
€m €m €m €m €m €m
Profit before income tax and exceptionalitems 944 779 872 938 601 657
Dividends paid to shareholders 302 260 238 213 191 166
Totalemployee costs! 2,292 2,218 2,195 2,139 2,070 1968
Directors Remuneration 11 9 7 6 5 42

1 Totalemployee costs for continuing operations, includes wages and salaries, socialinsurance costs, share-based payment expense, pension costs and redundancy costs for all
employees. The average full time equivalent number of employees and part-time employees in continuing operations was 47,753 (2020: 46,375).

2 KenBowles, whowas appointed Group Chief Financial Officer on 1 April 2016, was appointed a Director on 8 December 2016.

Percentage Change of Spend on Pay 2021 vs 2020
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*  Profitbefore income tax and exceptional items.

Total Shareholder Return Performance

The performance graph below shows the Group TSR performance from 31 December 2011 to 31 December 2021 against the performance of the FTSE 100
and FTSE 250 over the same period. Both the FTSE 100 and FTSE 250 have been chosen, as during the relevant period these are the two broad equity
marketindices of which the Group has beenamember.
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Group Chief Executive Officer Remuneration
The table below summarises the single figure of total remuneration for the Group Chief Executive Officer for the past ten years as wellas how the actual
awards under the annual bonus and LTIP compare to the maximum opportunity.

Single Figure of Annual Bonus
Total Award Against LTIP Award
Remuneration Maximum  Against Maximum
€'000 Opportunity* Opportunity
Group Chief Executive Officer
2021 A. Smurfit 6,237 99.8% 62.02%*
2020 A.Smurfit 5,263 82.6% 78.35%*
2019 A.Smurfit 3,670 71% 100%*
2018 A. Smurfit 3,372 97.3% 51.6%°
2017 A. Smurfit 2,477 41% 45%°
2016 A.Smurfit 2,407 35% 45%°
2015 A. Smurfit (appointed 1 September) 1,180 42% 67%°
2015 G.McGann (retired 31 August) 3,837 42% 67%°
2014 G.McGann 7,203 55% 75%°
2013 G.McGann 5278 54% 93%?°
2012 G.McGann 3,169 60% 30%*

1 ThePerformance Share award grantedin 2019 vested in February 2022 based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December
2021. Awards willbe released after atwo year holding period.

2 ThePerformance Share award grantedin 2018 vested in February 2021 based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December
2020. Awards are being released in three equal tranches.

3 The Matchingand Conditional Matching Awards grantedin 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2011 vested in February 2020, 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015 and 2014 respectively
based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year periods ending on 31 December 2019, 2018, 2017, 2016, 2015, 2014 and 2013.

4. Theawards under the 2007 Share Incentive Plan ('SIP’) vested 30% in February 2013 with the TSR condition being at the median

*  Theannualbonus award was paid 50%in cash and 50% in Deferred Share Awards.

The information below forms an integral part of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements as described in the Basis of
Preparation on page 134.

Pension Entitlements — Defined Benefit

Increase/  Transfer Value of

(Decrease)in Increase/ 2021
Accrued Pension (Decrease)in Total Accrued
DuringYear  Accrued Pension Pension®
€000 €000 €'000

Executive Directors
A. Smurfit - - 282
K.Bowles - - 80

1 Accrued pension benefitis that which would be paid annually on normal retirement date. The defined benefit plan was closed to future accrual with effect from 30 June 2016.

Additional Information
Payments to Former Directors
There were no payments made to former Directors inthe year.

Payments for Loss of Office
There were no payments for loss of office made inthe year.

Executive Directors’ Interests in Share Capital at 31 December 2021
The table below summarises the personal shareholdings of each executive Director. The figures include beneficially owned shares and unvested share
awards which are not subject to further performance criteria (other than continued employment) on a net of tax basis.

Unvested Awards

Beneficially Beneficially Not Subject to Total
Ownedat Ownedat Performance  Shareholdingas Shareholding
31 December 31 December Criteria at 31 December Shareholding Guideline Shareholding
Name 2020 2021 (Net of Tax) 2021 (% of Salary) (% of Salary) Guideline Met?
A.Smurfit 1,258,490 1,333,120 32,718 1,365,838 5,433% 300% Yes
K.Bowles 47,374 63,546 18,286 81,832 534% 200% Yes

The changesinthe executive Directors'interests (beneficially owned shares) between 31 December 2021 and 16 March 2022 were as follows: Tony Smurfit
and Ken Bowles increased their holdings by 50,133 and 14,877 shares respectively in February 2022, following the vesting of the Deferred share awards and
the vesting of the Performance Share Plan.

External Appointments

The Company recognises that, during their employment with the Company, Executive Directors may be invited to become Non-executive Directors of other
companies and that such duties can broaden their experience and knowledge. Executive Directors may, with the written consent of the Company, accept
such appointments outside the Company, and the policy is that any fees may be retained by the Director. The Executive Directors do not hold any paid
appointments at present.
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Deferred Share Awards were granted to eligible employeesin 2021 in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020. These awards are not subject

to performance conditions.

31December Granted (Lapsed)

31December

Market Price on

2020 in Year 2021 Shares vested 2021 Award Date Deferral Period
Directors
A.Smurfit
11,362 (11,362)* = 30.09 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
30,861 30,8612 26.13 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
17,460 17,460 3391 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
17,114 17,114 40.24 01/01/2021—-31/12/2023
K.Bowles
6,198 (6,198)* - 30.09 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
16,833 16,8332 26.13 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
9,798 9,798 3391 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
9,940 9,940 40.24 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
Secretary
G. Carson-Callan
1,033 (1,033)* = 30.09 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
3,347 3,347% 26.13 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
1,969 1,969 3391 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
2,746 2,746 40.24 01/01/2021-31/12/2023

1 Thedeferredshares vested and were distributed in February 2021. The market price at date of distribution was€39.77.

2 Thedeferredshares vestedin February 2022 and were distributed. The market price at the date of distribution was €46.26.

The market price of the Company's shares at 31 December 2021 was €48.44 and the range during 2021 was €38.34to €50.14.

Performance Share Plan Awards

PSP Awards were granted to eligible employeesin 2021. Awards may vest based on the achievement of the relevant performance targets for the three-year
period ending on 31 December 2023. Details of the status of the original awards is included below.

31December Granted (Lapsed)

31December

Market Price on

2020 in Year 2021* Shares Vested 2021 Award Date Performance Period**

Directors
A. Smurfit 74,651 (16,162) (58,489)* = 33.32 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
101,472 - - 101,4722 24.66 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
93,719 - - 93,719 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
- 61,391 - 61,391 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
- 6,329° - 6,329 4393 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
K.Bowles 32,575 (7,053) (25,522)* - 33.32 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
45,555 = = 45,5552 24.66 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
43,547 - - 43,547 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
- 28,954 = 28,954 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023
- 3,731 - 3,731 4393 01/01/2021-31/12/2023

Secretary
G. Carson-Callan 2,161 (468) (1,693)* = 33.32 01/01/2018-31/12/2020
6,813 - - 6,8132 24.66 01/01/2019-31/12/2021
7,865 = = 7,865 26.70 01/01/2020-31/12/2022
- 9,495 - 9,495 40.76 01/01/2021-31/12/2023

1 Basedonthe achievement of relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December 2020, the conditional share awards including dividend equivalents vested at
78.35%in February 2021. The market price at the time of vesting was €39.77. The vested shares (post-tax) from the 2018 award for the executive Directors are subject to holding periods
and are to bereleased inthree equal tranches: one was releasedin 2021; and the subsequent shares willbe releasedin 2022 and 2023. The dividend equivalents that vested amounted to

4,779,2,084 and 136 shares for A. Smurfit, K. Bowles and G. Carson-Callan respectively.

2 Basedontheachievement of relevant performance targets for the three-year period ending on 31 December 2021, the conditional share awards including dividend equivalents vested
at 62.02%in February 2022. The market price at the time of distribution was €46.26. The Directors vested shares (post-tax) from the 2019 award for the executive Directors are subject

toatwo year holding period and are to be released March 2024.

3 Twogrants of performance shares were made in 2021; the firstin March 2021, with a second tranche granted in May 2021 to reflect the increased PSP opportunity approved at the AGM

as part of the 2021 Remuneration Policy.
*  Awards are eligible to accrue dividend equivalents during the performance period.

**  Awards are subject to aholding period. Awards grantedin 2019, 2020 and 2021 are released to executive Directors onthe fifth anniversary of the date of grant.
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Directors’ Remuneration

2021 2020
€000 €000
Executive Directors
Basic salary 1,790 1,758
Annual cash bonus 1,339 1,089
Annual bonus deferred shares 1,339 1,089
Pension 343 338
Benefits 67 70
Total LTIP 4,642 3,614
Executive Directors' remuneration 9,520 7958
Average number of executive Directors 2 2
Non-executive Directors
Fees 1,380 1,302
Non-executive Directors' remuneration 1,380 1,302
Average number of Non-executive Directors 10 10
Directors’ Remuneration 10,900 9,260
Individual Remuneration for the Financial Year Ended 31 December 2021
Total Total
2021 2020
€000 €000
Non-executive Directors*
|.Finan 350 350
A.Anderson 20 90
F.Beurskens! 150 150
C. Fairweather 130 130
K. Hietala? 20 12
J.Lawrence 90 90
L. Melgar 90 90
J.Moloney 130 130
J.BuhlRasmussen 130 130
G.Restrepo 130 130
1,380 1,302

Non-executive Director remuneration is entirely fixed
1 Frits Beurskens'feesinclude additional fees of €60,000 (2020:€60,000) for services as a Director of a Group subsidiary and advisory services
2 KaisaHietalajoined the Boardin October 2020.

Share-based Payment

The executive Directors receive Deferred Share Awards and Performance Share Awards, details of which are outlined on page 107 of this report. The share-based
payment expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement for the executive Directorsin the year totalled €5 million (2020: €3 million).
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Non-executive Directors’ Interests in Share Capital at 31 December 2021
Theinterests of the Non-executive Directors and Secretary in the shares of the Company as at 31 December 2021 which are beneficial unless otherwise
indicated are shown below. The Directors and Secretary have no beneficial interests in any of the Group's subsidiary or associated undertakings.

31December 31 December
Ordinary Shares 2021 2020
Directors
|.Finan 19,709 19,709
A.Anderson* 6,911 5,874
F.Beurskens 5,300 5,300
C. Fairweather 3,000 3,000
K. Hietala 1,471 1,471
J.Lawrence 170,000 335,000
L. Melgar - -
J.Moloney 10,206 10,206
J.BuhlRasmussen 6,146 6,146
G. Restrepo - -
Secretary
G. Carson-Callan 1,016 441

*  FromOctober 2021, Anne Anderson has anindirectinterestin 1,000 SKG shares, held by a connected person. These shares were acquired historically in 2019 and 2020.

The changesinthe Secretary'sinterest between 31 December 2021 and 10 March 2022 was as follows:
» Gillian Carson-Callanincreased her holding by 1,601 sharesin February 2022 following the vesting of the share plans.

There were no changes to the Non-executive Director interests during this time.
End of information in the Remuneration Report that forms an integral part of the audited Consolidated Financial Statements.

The Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by John Moloney and currently comprises four Non-executive Directors. Irial Finan retired from the Committee in
October 2021. The Directors' biographical details on pages 78 to 81 demonstrate that the members of the Committee bring to it a wide range of experience
inthe area of senior executive remuneration in comparable companies.

The Committee receives advice fromindependent remuneration consultants, as appropriate, to supplement their own knowledge and to keep the
Committee updated on current trends and practices. During the year, Ellason LLP replaced Deloitte LLP as advisers to the Committee. Ellason were
appointed by the Committee following a competitive tender process. In 2021, the Committee received independent advice inrelation to the external
governance landscape and on the approach to executive remuneration in the Group going forward. The Committee considers that the advice provided by
both Deloitte and Ellason, neither of whom have any other affiliation with the Group, was objective and independent. The total fees paid to Deloitte LLP
inrelation to Remuneration Committee work during 2021 were £37,600 (excluding VAT). The total fees paid to Ellason LLP in relation to Remuneration
Committee work during 2021 were £59,740 (excluding VAT). Deloitte and Ellason are signatories to the Remuneration Consultants’ Group code of conduct
inrelation to executive remuneration consultingin the UK.

Therole and responsibilities of the Committee are set outinits Terms of Reference which were updated and approvedin December 2021 and are available
onthe Group's website: smurfitkappa.com. As detailed on page 86, the Board conducts an annual evaluation of its own performance and that of its
Committees, Committee Chairs and individual Directors except in years when an external evaluationis carried out. In accordance with the UK Corporate
Governance Code, aninternal evaluation was conductedin 2021. The conclusion fromthe 2021 process was that the performances of the Remuneration
Committee and of the Chair of the Committee were satisfactory.

The Committee met six times during the year. Details of Committee members and meetings attended are providedin the table on page 92. The Group
Chief Executive Officer normally attend the meetings and the Group VP Human Resources attends when appropriate (neither are involved in discussions
concerning their own remuneration).

Statement on Shareholder Voting
The Company is committed to ongoing dialogue with our shareholders regarding executive remuneration. We engaged extensively with our stakeholders
during the Policy review in 2020.

The following table shows the voting outcomes at the 30 April 2021 AGM for the 2020 Directors' Remuneration Report, the Directors' Remuneration Policy
andtheincrease inthe maximum award opportunity in the rules of the 2018 Performance Share Plan.

Votes Forand

Item Discretionary % Votes Cast Votes Against % Votes Cast Total Votes Cast Vote Withheld
Directors' Remuneration Report 150,927,438 96.2% 6,020,064 2.8% 156,947,502 315,598
Directors'Remuneration Policy 146,576,022 94.0% 9,420,688 6.0% 155,996,710 1,266,390

Increase the maximum award opportunity in the
rules of the 2018 Performance Share Plan 153,662,853 97.7% 3,597,815 2.3% 157,260,668 2,432
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“Dear Shareholders, | am pleased to present the Nomination Committee
report covering the work the Committee performed during
the 2021 financial year.”

Gonzalo Restrepo
Chair of Nomination Committee, 16 March 2022

Committee Members

G. Restrepo (Chair)
A.Anderson
F.Beurskens
I.Finan
J.Lawrence

The Role of the Nomination Committee

Lead the process for appointments to the Board and make
recommendations to the Board;

Evaluate the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity,
including geographical, gender, age and ethnic diversity, onthe
Board andits Committees to ensure they operate effectively;
Prepare descriptions of the role and requirements for new
appointees; and

Give full consideration to succession planning for the Board and
senior management.

Theroles andresponsibilities of the Committee are set out inits Terms of

Reference which are available on the Group's website: smurfitkappa.com.
The Terms of Reference were reviewed and updated in December 2021.
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Membership of the Committee

The Committeeis currently comprised of five Non-executive Directors.
The Committee met three times during the year under review. Details of
Committee members and meetings attended are provided inthe table
above. The Group Chief Executive Officer normally attends meetings of the
Committee and the Group VP of Human Resources attends as appropriate.

Main Activities During the Year

The Committee has fully complied with the principles of the Code, which
includes up to date guidance for Nomination Committees of companies

listed on Euronext Dublin and the LSE throughout the accounting period.

The primary role of the Committee is to monitor and maintain an appropriate
balance of skills, experience, independence and diversity on the Board while
regularly reviewingits structure, size and composition. Itis also responsible
forensuring thereis a formal, rigorous and transparent process for the
appointment of new Directors to the Board.

Where necessary, the Committee uses the services of external advisorsin
order to assistin the search for new appointments to the Board. Advisors are
provided with a brief which takes into consideration the skills, experience and
diversity required at the time to give balance to the Board. When suitable
candidates have beenidentified, some Committee members willmeet with
them and if a candidate is agreed upon, the Committee willthen recommend
the candidate to the Board. Allappointments to the Board are approved by
the Board as awhole. Allnewly appointed Directors are subject to election

by shareholders at the AGM following their appointment andin compliance
with the Code, all Directors are required to retire at each AGM and offer
themselves for re-election. There were no new appointments to the Board
during 2021.

Succession planningis afundamental aspect of the Committee's work
both for Directors and senior management. A detailed succession planning
process is in place which has been developed and has evolvedinrecent
years. The Committee and the Board regularly review succession plans

for Directors and senior management of the Group and are assisted by
comprehensive updates from the Group VP of Human Resources.

Refreshing the Board and its Committees

During the year, the Committee evaluated the composition of the Board
with respect to the balance of skills, knowledge, experience and diversity,
including geographical, gender, age and ethnic diversity.

Board and Committee Evaluation

The Committee also lead oversight of the Internal Board evaluation process
to assess the performance of individual Directors and the effectiveness of
the Board andits Committees. Inline with the Code, an external evaluation
ofthe Board andits Committeesis conducted every three years, the next
of which will take place during 2022. Details of the outcome of the Internal
Boardevaluation completedin 2021 are included in the Corporate
Governance Statement on page 86.

In addition to the oversight of the Internal Board Evaluation, the Committee
conducted an evaluation of its performance in 2021, the outcome of

which was that the Committee was considered to be operating effectively
and efficiently.

Chair Succession Planning

Duringthe year, the Board (led by the Senior Independent Director and this
Committee) carried out an extensive process relating to the succession of
the Group Chair. Full details of this process and outcome are also outlined
inthe Corporate Governance Statement on pages 84 to 85.

Irial Finan joined the Board in February 2012 and was appointed Chair in May
2019. He wasindependent at the time of appointment, as recommended
by the Code. Irial's appointment as Chair followed a comprehensive chair
succession process completed by the Boardin 2018. He was appointed as
Chair designate in October 2018 and became Chair at the conclusion of the

Governance
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AGMinMay 2019. Including his time as a Non-executive Director, he had
completed nine years onthe Boardin 2021.

The Chairis responsible for the leadership of the Board and the efficient and
effective working of the Board. He sets and manages the Board agenda so
that the agenda (at appropriate times) addresses allmatters reserved to
the Board and ensures that adequate time is available for discussion on
strategy andthe strategicissues facing the Group. He ensures that the
Directors receive accurate, timely and clear information, and that the
Directors are updated periodically on the views or concerns of the major
investors. He also ensures that a culture of openness and debate is fostered
to facilitate constructive Board relations and the effective contribution

of the Non-executive Directors to the Board.

Succession Review

During 2021, the Board completed a detailed review to consider the tenure
of the Chair and Chair succession, which was led by Gonzalo Restrepo, the
Senior Independent Director and Chair of the Nomination Committee. The
Company engaged with shareholders to seek their views and support as part
of the process in which approximately 50% of the shareholder base were
consultedin addition to institutional proxy advisers.

Inthe detail below, the Board has provided a transparent disclosure of their
considerations and their recommendationsin relation to the tenure of the
Chair (including the recommendation to shareholders that the re-election
of Irial at the AGMin April 2022 is in the best interests of the Company and
of shareholders).

Considerations

The Board in completing their Chair succession review, was cognisant of
Provision 19 of the Code which states that 'the Chair should not remain

in post beyond nine years from the date of their first appointment to the
Board'. However, the Board also notes the flexibility within the Code to
extend the Chair tenure for alimited time to facilitate effective succession
planning and the development of a diverse board, particularly inthose cases
where the Chair was an existing non-executive Director on appointment.
The Code states that a 'clear explanation should be provided' where this is
the case. As noted while Irial's tenure on the Board exceeded nine years in
2021, he has only beenin the critical position of Chair since May 2019.

A clear explanation has been provided below outlining the rationale for
extendingthe tenure of the Chair and this has also been detailed in the
Corporate Governance Statement on pages 84 to 85.

Inthe year of his appointment, an external evaluation of the Board was
conducted. Over the last two years there have beeninternal evaluations
conducted by the Senior Independent Director including an evaluation of
the Chair. The performance of Irial has been exceptional and the Board are
very satisfied with his support, leadership and independence as Chair.

The executive Directors of the Group, the Group CEO and the Group CFO,

were appointed to their positionsin 2015 and 2016 respectively. As aresult,
the Board believe that thereis no governance concernarisingin relation to

concurrency of theroles.

The Board noted in their consideration the exceptional performance of
the Groupin recent years which has seen a significantincrease in market
capitalisation. Throughout his tenure to date, the Chair has supported the
Executive management teamin their delivery of many key achievements
and milestones for the Group, which have included the completion

of a successful share placingin November 2020 raising gross proceeds
of €660 million to allow for accelerated capital investment; the issuance
of €1 billion of Green Bonds at record low coupons for the Groupin
September 2021; and a number of successful acquisitions in Europe and
the Americas. As aresult, the Board believe that in this time of growth
and transformation for the Group that continuity in the position of
Chairisimportant not only for the Group but also for shareholders and
other stakeholders.
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The Board has had significant refreshment inrecent years with over 50%

of Non-executive Directors on the Boardin their position for less than

five years. The Board believes that the leadership, governance and direction
fromthe Chairis essential to the effective integration of new members

and are very satisfied that Irial is providing the necessary support to

the Directors.

Since his appointment, the Chair has been pro-active in his engagement
with stakeholders including shareholders, proxy bodies and the Group's
workforce. Most recently, during 2021 Irial met virtually and engaged with
many shareholders and proxy body representatives. Shareholder support for
his reappointment has been very strong at every AGM since appointment,
including the 2021 AGM.

The Board want to ensure an orderly succession and transition of the Chair.
The Board willensure that a process to identify a suitable candidate willbe
completed so that the successorisinplace in sufficient time for the end of
the proposed extension as outlinedin the conclusion.

Conclusion

Following consideration of the Code, the rationale identified and the views
of shareholders, the Board concluded that it was in the best interests of
the Group and of all stakeholders that the tenure of Irial be extended by
aperiod of up to three years. In their decision to define a time period for the
extension, the Board believe that this provides clarity and certainty for all
stakeholders of the Group.

The Board concluded that given the importance of the role, it would not be
inthe interests of the Company or stakeholders to have a change in Chair
so soon after appointment, particularly given the exceptional leadership,
governance and direction fromthe Chair and the level of Board refreshment
inrecent years. The Board believe that as the Group continuesin this time
of growth and transformation that continuity in the position of Chair is
important to the effective operation of the Board and continued success
of the Group. The Board also note that Irial's re-appointment will be subject
to shareholder approval at the 2022 AGM and subsequent future AGMs

as applicable. Inadvance of subsequent AGMs, the Board is committed to
providing transparent disclosure onthe status of the Chair succession
processinthe Annual Report.

Recommendation for 2022 AGM

As noted, the Board has carefully considered the tenure of the Chair
andis recommending to shareholders that the re-election of Irial at the
forthcoming AGMinin April 2022 is in the best interests of the Company
andits shareholders.

Board Balance and Effectiveness

Asisthe case each year, the Committee reviewed the size and performance
ofthe Board during 2021. Key elements of ensuring the Board continues

to operate at a high standardis independent oversight and a diverse
background of skills, which allows Non-executive Directors to scrutinise
and, when necessary, challenge management proposals and strategy. The
Committee continues to review that each of the Non-executive Directors,
excluding the Chair, remainimpartial and independent in order to meet the
challenges of theirroles.

Throughout the year, over half of the Board comprised independent
Non-executive Directors. Gonzalois the Senior Independent Director of
the Company. The Senior Independent Director provides a sounding board
for the Chair and serves as anintermediary for the other Directors and
shareholders when necessary.

The Board has had due regard to various matters which might affect,
orappear to affect, theindependence of certain of the Directors.
The Board considers that other than Frits Beurskens, each of the
Non-executive Directorsisindependent. In determining the
independence of the Non-executives, the Committee scrutinised
any issues relating to actual or perceived conflicts of interest.
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Boardroom and Senior Management Diversity

As aglobal business, inclusion, diversity and equality are integral to how
we do business. The Board and Committee recognise the importance
ofthese values at Board level, senior management level and throughout
the organisation.

Interms of gender diversity the Group is committed toincreasing the
representation of females within senior management roles. As part of our
Better Planet 2050 Targets, the Group announced a target of 25% of
management positions to be held by women by 2024. At Board level, female
representationis currently at 33%inline with the target of the FTSE Women
Leaders Review, with our Group Executive Committee at 31%. You can

read more about diversity at Smurfit Kappa in our People section on pages
68t0 69.

The Committee notes the new FTSE Women Leaders targets published
inFebruary 2022 and remains committed to ensuring that gender diversity
isafocus onits Board and senior management agendas.

The Board and Committee gives due regard to all aspects of diversity
including ethnic and social diversity. The Board includes Directors from eight
different nationalities. The Board and the Committee are mindful of the
recommendation of the Parker Review to have at least one Board member
from an ethnic minority background by 2021 and the Board currently meets
this recommendation.

Notwithstanding our policies, any search for Board candidates and any
subsequent appointments are made purely on merit regardless of
gender, ethnicity, religion, age or disability. We look to ensure we have
the appropriate balance of skills, diversity of knowledge and thinking,
professional and geographic backgrounds and experience on our Board
and recruit accordingly.

We are committed to appointing the best people and ensuring that all
employees have an equal chance of developing their careers withinthe
Group. The Group has made further progressin addressing diversity in the
Group's workforce throughits Global Inclusion, Diversity & Equality
Programme, EveryOne which was launchedin 2018. During 2021 the Group
has beenworking on enhancing and evolving the EveryOne programme, with
the creation of five new diverse communities to drive ambition in this area.
The communities are: Disability; Family & Age, Gender; LGBTQ+ & Allies
and Origin; and Race &Ethnicity. This evolution is moving from awareness
to action as we continue to create a globally admired company with diverse
talent who feel respected and a sense of belonging. Further information on
EveryOneis onpages 68 to 69.

Gonzalo Restrepo
Chair of Nomination Committee
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“As Chair, | am pleased to present the 2021 report of the
Sustainability Committee and outline the Committee’s continued
development, their objectives and their activities.”

Jorgen Buhl Rasmussen
Chair of Sustainability Committee, 16 March 2022

Committee Members

J. BuhlRasmussen (Chair)
A.Anderson

K. Hietala

L. Melgar

The Role of the Sustainability Committee

The Committee has responsibility for the:

» Overall strategic guidance of the Smurfit Kappa sustainability strategy
whichis based on three key strategic sustainability and corporate
responsibility pillars, Planet; People and Impactful Business;

Reviewing and approving the annual Sustainable Development Report
and the Sustainability section of the Annual Report;

Reviewing the TCFD (Task Force for Climate-related Financial
Disclosures) compliance reporting of climate-related financial
information and the climate risks and opportunities of the Group; and

« Engagement with the workforce on behalf of the Board as required
by the Code.

Therole andresponsibilities of the Committee are set outinits Terms of
Reference which are available on the Group's website: smurfitkappa.com.
The Terms of Reference were reviewed and updated in December 2021.

The number of meetings held during the
period the Director was amember of the

Attendance Record Committee and was eligible to attend*

J.BuhlRasmussen (Chair)
A.Anderson

K.Hietala

L. Melgar

*  Thetotal peopleicons represent the number of meetings held during the period the
Director was amember of the Committee and was eligible to attend. Al Committee

member's attended allmeetings during the year.

The Group Chair, Group Chief Executive Officer, Group Chief Financial Officer, Group VP
Human Resources and the newly appointed Group Chief Sustainability Officer attend
when appropriate.

Length of Tenure Appointment Date”

J.BuhlRasmussen (Chair) 2019

A. Anderson 2019
K. Hietala 2021
L. Melgar 2020

*  Tenureis from the establishment of the Committee in December 2019.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 113




SUSTAINABILITY COMMITTEE REPORT CONTINUED

Strategic Sustainability Priorities

As aresponsible company, operating globally, Smurfit Kappa has a product
thatis naturally sustainable and a process thatis increasingly sustainable,
driven by a culture with strong values of loyalty, integrity and respect.
Smurfit Kappa understands the challenges facing both our business and the
planetandis committed to doingits partinresolving these critical issues.
Therefore, our ambition is to deliver sustainable growth to the benefit of all
our stakeholders based on our three pillars: Planet, People and Impactful
Business. Within these pillars our People, our Communities and Climate
Change, Forest, Water and Waste are the main strategic environmental
and corporate social responsibility priorities.

2021 in Review

The Committeeinits second fullyear had a very active and productive year
with the Group completing many projects across its sustainability agenda,
which have been outlined below and throughout this Annual Report.

During 2021, the Group appointed a new Group Chief Sustainability Officer,
arole which will focus on delivering the sustainability strategy for the Group,
maintaining our strong governance framework, but also to embrace new
strategic opportunities from a capital markets perspective, and, across

all stakeholders.

In January 2021, the Group announced ambitious new sustainability targets
as part of Better Planet 2050 which focus on further reductions in our
environmental footprint, increased support for the commmunities in which
we operate and further enhancement to the lives of our employees. These
targets build upon the Group's well established sustainability record, on
which we have been reporting since 2007. The Group reporting onthe
delivery against the Better Planet 2050 targets during 2021 will be included
inthe Sustainable Development Report (‘'SDR') for 2021. Details of the
outcome of CO, emissions reductions, chain of custody certification and
Health and Safety are included in the non financial KPIs sectionin this report
onpages 32to 33.

In April 2021, the Group released its 14" annual Sustainable Development
Report ('SDR') and the next report for 2021 will be published in April 2022.

Further validation of the Group's strong sustainability credentials was
evidenced by the successful green bond transaction completedin
September 2021, supported by arobust Green Finance Framework and
second party opinion. The Group issued €1 billion in green bonds which were
over-subscribed multiple times and secured SKG the lowest ever coupon
foracorporate at SKG's credit rating with a very strong participation of
'green'investorsincluding 'dark green'investors.

InDecember 2021, the Group hadits emissions targets approved as being
science based andin line with meeting the Paris agreement and well below
2°C. This approval by SBTiwas a fitting end to another year of continued
delivery, third party assurance and bestin class certification.

As the business evolved during 2021, the Group has delivered new innovative
products to the marketplace that demonstrably lower our customers'
carbon footprint and together with the inherent sustainable nature of our
product, ourincreasingly sustainable operating footprint, position Smurfit
Kappa as anintegral part of delivering on our customers' sustainability goals.
The Group focuses on providing fit-for-purpose packaging solutions that
arerenewable, recyclable and biodegradable. The Better Planet Packaging
initiative also provides a key platform for differentiationin a competitive
market. Details of some of the innovations and solutions provided to
customersareincluded on pages 8 to 11.

The Committee conducted an evaluation of its performance in 2021, the
outcome of which was that the Committee was considered to be operating
effectively and efficiently.
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Strategic Guidance

As the Committee of the Board is responsible for overall strategic guidance
of the Smurfit Kappa sustainability strategy, the Committee has particular
regard to the alignment of the Group's sustainability strategy with the overall
Group strategy and global best practice.

During 2021, significant work was undertakenin relation to the climate risks
and opportunities of the Group, whichincluded engagement with experts
and completion of an extensive climate scenario analysis project for the
Group. The Committee reviewed and evaluated the outcomes of the work
completed and the proposed disclosures relating to climate change. An
enhanced disclosure consistent with the recommendations of TCFD s
outlined onpages 54 to 61 of thisreport. In addition, following consideration
by the Board, climate change which had beenincluded as an emergingrisk of
the Group for anumber of years has been elevated to along-term principal
risk of the Group as outlined on page 38.

Workforce Engagement

Inline with the requirements of the Code, the Committee is also responsible
for engaging with the workforce on behalf of the Board. During 2021, we
further evolved our workforce engagement with the introduction of direct
engagement. These opportunities for us to directly engage during 2021
were possible despite the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic although they
were primarily virtualin nature. Some of the topics considered during the
engagement sessionsincluded Health, Safety & Wellbeing, MyVoice,
Female Engagement, Management of COVID-19, Workplace Satisfaction
and Career Development. In addition to direct engagement, indirect
engagement continuedin 2021 including the Speak Up programme,

an Employee Engagement Survey, collated Health and Safety data, and
Training and Development programmes for employees. For further details
on employee engagement, see pages 46 to 47.

Looking Ahead

This Committee will continue to provide direction and overall strategic
guidance as the Group continues its sustainability journeyin 2022. There are
many projectsin the areas of Planet, People and Impactful Business which
willbe deliveredin 2022 and beyond.

The Committeeis encouraged by the progress the Group has made so far
and we look forward to reporting on our continued progress to all of our
stakeholdersinthe years ahead.

Jorgen BuhlRasmussen
Chair of the Sustainability Committee
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DIRECTORS' REPORT

Report of the Directors
The Directors submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements for
the financial year ended 31 December 2021.

Principal Activity and Business Review

The Groupis anintegrated paper and paperboard manufacturer and
converter whose operations are divided into Europe and the Americas.
Geographically, the major economic environments in which the Group
conductsits business are Europe (principally the Eurozone, Sweden and
the United Kingdom) and the Americas (principally Argentina, Brazil,
Colombia, Mexico and the United States).

The Chair's Statement, Group Chief Executive Officer's Statement, Strategy
Statement, Finance Review (including financial risk management policies),
Stakeholder Engagement, Sustainability Report and People Report on
pages 18to 29 and pages 39 to 75. report on the performance of the Group
during the year and on future developments.

Results for the Year
Theresults for the year are set outin the Consolidated Income Statement
onpage 126.

Financial Key Performance Indicators are set out on pages 30 to 32.
The Consolidated Financial Statements for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 are set outin detailon pages 126 to 189.

Dividends

InMay 2021, afinal dividend of 87.4 cent per share was paid to holders of
ordinary shares, andin October 2021, aninterim dividend of 29.3 cent per
share was paid to holders of ordinary shares. The Board is recommending
afinal dividend of 96.1 cent per share for 2021. Subject to shareholders'
approvalat the AGM on 29 April 2022, it is proposed to pay the final dividend
on 6May 2022 to allholders of ordinary shares on the share register at the
close of business on 8 April 2022.

Research and Development

The Company's subsidiaries are engaged in ongoing research and
development aimed at providing innovative paper-based packaging
solutions and improving products, processes and expanding product
ranges. Expenditure onresearch and developmentin the year amounted
to €7 million (2020: €8 million).

Accounting Records

The Directors are responsible for ensuring that adequate accounting
records, as outlined in Section 281-286 of the Companies Act, are kept

by the Company. The Directors are also responsible for the preparation of
the Annual Report. The Directors have appointed professionally qualified
accounting personnel with appropriate expertise and have provided
adequate resources to the finance functionin order to ensure that those
requirements are met. The accounting records of the Company are
maintained at the Group's principal executive offices, located at Beech Hill,
Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2.

Substantial Holdings

Directors
The current members of the Board of Directors are named on pages 78 to 81
together with a short biographical note on each Director.

Any Director co-optedto the Board by the Directorsis subject to election
by the shareholders at the first AGM after their appointment. Pursuant to
the Articles of Association of the Company, all Directors are subject to
re-election atintervals of no more than three years. However, in compliance
with the Code, all Directors will retire at the 2022 AGM and put themselves
forward for re-election.

To enable shareholders to make aninformed decision on re-election of each
Director, reference should be made to pages 78 to 81 which contains a
biographical note on each Director offering themselves for re-election and
to the Notice of the AGM which explains why the Board believes the relevant
Directors should be re-elected. The Directors intend to confirm at the AGM
that the performance of each individual seeking re-election continues to be
effective and demonstrates commitment to therole.

Shareholders are referred to the information containedin the Corporate
Governance Statement on pages 82 to 87 concerning the operation of the
Board and the composition and functions of the Committees of the Board.

Directors’ and Secretary’s Interests

Details of the Directors'and Group Secretary's interests in the share capital
are set outinthe Remuneration Report on pages 106, 107 and 109 and are
incorporated into this Directors' Report.

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

Under Irish company law (Section 327 of the Companies Act), the Directors
are required to give a description of the principal risks and uncertainties
which the Group faces. These principalrisks and uncertainties are set out
onpages 36 to 38, and form part of this report as required by Section 327
of the Companies Act.

Corporate Governance

Under Section 1373 of the Companies Act, the Directors'Reportis required
toinclude a Corporate Governance Statement. The Directors' Corporate
Governance Statement s set out on pages 82 to 87 and forms part of this
report. The Audit Committee Report, the Remuneration Report and the
Nomination Report are set out on pages 88 to 112.

Subsidiary and Associated Undertakings

Alist of the Group's principal subsidiaries and associates as at
31 December 2021 is set outin Note 33 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Audit Committee
The Group has established an Audit Committee. The responsibilities
ofthe Audit Committee are outlined on page 88.

31 December 2021 10 March 2022

% of Issued % of Issued

Ordinary Share Number of Ordinary Share

Number of Shares Capital Shares Capital

BlackRock, Inc 14,583,732 5.63% 18,235,675 7.01%
Norges Bank 12,141,164 4.69% 12,141,164 4.67%

The table above shows all notified shareholdings of 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital of the Company as at 31 December 2021 and

10March 2022.
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Non-financial Information

Pursuant to the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017 together
with the Commission Delegated Regulation supplementing Article 8 of the Taxonomy Regulation, (the ‘Non-Financial Regulations'), the Group is required to
report certain non-financial information to provide an understanding of its development, performance, position and the impact of its activities. We have set
outthelocation below of the information required by the Non-Financial Regulations in this Annual Report. Each referenced section of the Annual Reportis

deemedto form part of this Directors' Report:

Requirement Relevant Policies Section(s) in Annual Report Pages
Environmental Matters Environmental Policy, Sustainable Sourcing Policy, Sustainable Sustainability 48t063
Forestry and Fibre Sourcing Policy
Social Matters Social Citizenship Policy Sustainability, People 48to 75
Employee Matters Code of Conduct, Health and Safety Policy, Social Citizenship Policy Sustainability, People 48to 75
Human Rights Code of Conduct, Social Citizenship Policy Sustainability 48t063
Anti-corruption and Bribery Code of Conduct Sustainability 48t063
Business Model Our Business Model 26to 27
Principal Risks Risk Report 34t0 38
Non-financial KPIs Key Performance Indicators 32t033
EU Taxonomy eligibility Sustainability 48t063

Inaddition to the information required by the Non-Financial Regulations, the Group publishes a comprehensive, assured Sustainable Development Report
which details our sustainability strategy, corporate social responsibilities and commitments to social matters. The 2021 Sustainable Development Report

willbe published on our website in April 2022.

Purchase of Own Shares

Special resolutions will be proposed at the AGM to renew the authority of the
Company, or any of its subsidiaries, to purchase up to 10% of the Company's
ordinary sharesinissue at the date of the AGM andinrelationto the
maximum and minimum prices at which treasury shares (effectively shares
purchased by the Company and not cancelled) may be re-issued off-market
by the Company. If granted, the authority will expire on the earlier of the date
of the AGMin 2023 or 28 July 2023.

Asimilar authority was granted at the AGMin 2021, which is due to expire
onthe earlier of the date of the AGMin 2022 or 29 July 2022. Information
onthe acquisition and disposal of own sharesis set outin Note 23 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

Change of Control

Onachange of control following a bid, the lenders under the RCF would have
the optionto cancel the commitments under the facility and/or to declare all
outstandingamountsimmediately due and payable, and under the Senior
Notes Indentures the Groupis obliged to offer to repurchase the notes at
101% of the principalamount due.

Capital Structure

Details of the structure of the Company's capital are set outin Note 23 to
the Consolidated Financial Statements and are deemed to form part of this
Directors'Report. Details of the Group's long-termincentive plans are set
outinthe Remuneration Report and Note 26 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements and are incorporatedinto this Directors' Report.

Directors’ Compliance Statement

The Directors acknowledge that they are responsible for securing
compliance by the Company of its relevant obligations as set outinthe
Companies Act (the 'Relevant Obligations’).

The Directors further confirm that there is a Compliance Policy Statementin
place setting out the Company's policies which, in the Directors' opinion, are
appropriate to ensure compliance with the Company's Relevant Obligations.
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The Directors also confirm that appropriate arrangements and structures
areinplace which, in the Directors' opinion, are designed to secure material
compliance with the Company's Relevant Obligations. For the financial year
ended 31 December 2021, the Directors, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, have conducted a review of the arrangements and structures
inplace. Indischarging their responsibilities under Section 225 of the
Companies Act, the Directors relied on the advice of persons who the
Directors believe have the requisite knowledge and experience to advise
the Company on compliance withiits Relevant Obligations.

Financial Instruments

Inthe normal course of business, the Group has exposure to a variety

of financial risks, including foreign currency risk, interest rate risk, liquidity
risk, refinancingrisk and credit risk. The Group and Company financial
risk objectives and policies are set out in Note 29 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Disclosure of Information to the External Auditor

Each of the Directorsindividually confirm that:

» Insofarastheyareaware, thereis norelevant auditinformation of which
the Company's External Auditor is unaware; and

+ Theyhavetakenallthe steps that they ought to have taken as Directors
in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information
andto establish that the Company's External Auditor is aware of
suchinformation.

External Auditor

KPMG, Chartered Accountants, were first appointed statutory auditors on

4 May 2018 and have been reappointed annually since that date and pursuant
to section 383(2) will continue in office.

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
16 March 2022
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STATEMENT OF DIRECTORS' RESPONSIBILITIES

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report and the
Group and Company Financial Statements, in accordance with applicable
law and regulations.

Company lawrequires the Directors to prepare Group and Company
Financial Statements for each financial year. The Directors are required to
prepare the Group Financial Statements in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European Union and
applicable law including Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. The Directors have
electedto prepare the Company Financial Statements in accordance with
IFRS as adopted by the European Union as applied in accordance with the
provisions of Companies Act 2014.

Under company law, the Directors must not approve the Group and
Company Financial Statements unless they are satisfied that they give atrue
and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and
Company and of the Group's profit or loss for that year. In preparing each of
the Group and Company Financial Statements, the Directors are required to:
» Selectsuitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

» Makejudgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

« Statewhetherapplicable IFRS (as adopted by the European Union) have
been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explainedin the financial statements; and

« Prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unlessitis
inappropriate to presume that the Group and its Parent Company will
continueinbusiness.

The Directors are also required by the Transparency (Directive 2004/109/
EC) Regulations 2007 and the Central Bank (Investment Market Conduct)
Rules 2019 to include amanagement report containing a fair review of the
business and a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group.

The Directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records
which disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the assets, liabilities,
financial position and profit or loss of the Company and which enable them
to ensure that the Financial Statements of the Company comply with the
provisions of the Companies Act 2014. The Directors are also responsible for
taking allreasonable steps to ensure such records are kept by its subsidiaries
which enable them to ensure that the Financial Statements of the Group
comply with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014 including Article 4 of
the IAS Regulation. They are responsible for suchinternal controls as they
determine necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have
general responsibilities for safeguarding the assets of the Company and the
Group, and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors are also responsible for preparing a Directors' Report that
complies with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the
corporate and financialinformationincluded onthe Group's and Company's
website. Legislation in the Republic of Ireland concerning the preparation
and dissemination of financial statements may differ fromlegislationin
otherjurisdictions.

Responsibility Statement as Required by the Transparency

Directive and UK Corporate Governance Code

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed on pages 78

to 81 of this Annual Report, confirmthat, to the best of each person's

knowledge and belief:

«  The Group Financial Statements, prepared in accordance with IFRS (as
adopted by the European Union) and the Company Financial Statements
preparedin accordance with IFRS (as adopted by the European Union)
as appliedinaccordance with the provisions of Companies Act 2014,
give atrue and fair view of the assets, liabilities, and financial position of
the Group and Company at 31 December 2021 and of the profit or loss
of the Group for the year then ended;

«  TheDirectors'Report containedin the Annual Report includes a fair
review of the development and performance of the business and the
position of the Group and Company, together with a description of the
principal risk and uncertainties that they face; and

»  The Annual Report and Financial Statements, taken as a whole, provides
the information necessary to assess the Group's performance, business
modeland strategy and s fair, balanced and understandable and provides
the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's
position and performance, business model and strategy.

On behalf of the Board

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
16 March 2022
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The PM9 machine in Verzuolo was converted
into a state-of-the-art 600,000 tonne recycled
containerboard machine in 2019. It is highly
complementary with our existing operations, is
strategically located close to the port of Savona
and is expected to deliver significant benefits for
both the Group and our customer base.

Investment

€360
million

I ¥
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'DYNAMICAL

Acquisition of a State-of-the-art
Containerboard Mill in Northern Italy

We completed the acquisition of Verzuolo for a purchase
price of €360 million in October 2021.
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Smurfit Kappa Group CEO, Tony Smurfit, said:
"We are pleased to complete this acquisition
ahead of schedule. Verzuolo brings a highly
experienced and skilled team providing additional
security of supply for SKG's customers. As we
continue to invest in our corrugated facilities,
Verzuolo strengthens the Group's integrated
model and supports our sustainability ambitions."
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMURFIT KAPPA GROUP PLC

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements

Opinion

We have audited the Financial Statements of Smurfit Kappa Group plc (‘the Company') and its consolidated undertakings (together 'the Group') for the year
ended 31 December 2021 contained withinthe reporting package 635400CPLP8H5ITDV T56-2021-12-31-en.zip which comprise the Consolidated Income
Statement, Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated and Company Balance Sheets, Consolidated and Company Statements of
Changesin Equity, Consolidated and Company Statements of Cash Flows, and the related notes, including the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
setoutin Note 2. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in their preparationis Irish Law, including the Commission Delegated Regulation
2018/815 regarding the single electronic reporting format (‘ESEF') and International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') as adopted by the European Union
and, as regards the Company Financial Statements, as applied in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014.

In our opinion:

« TheFinancial Statements give a true and fair view of the assets, liabilities and financial position of the Group and Company as at 31 December 2021 and
ofthe Group's profit for the year then ended;

« The Group Financial Statements have been properly preparedin accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union;

+  The Company Financial Statements have been properly preparedin accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union, as applied in accordance
withthe provisions of the Companies Act 2014; and

«  The Group and Company Financial Statements have been properly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2014 and, as
regards the Group Financial Statements, Article 4 of the IAS Regulation.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our auditin accordance with International Standards on Auditing (Ireland) ('ISAs (Ireland)’) and applicable law. Our responsibilities under those
standards are further describedinthe Auditor's Responsibilities section of our report. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained s a sufficient and
appropriate basis for our opinion. Our audit opinionis consistent with our report to the Audit Committee.

We were appointed as auditor by the shareholders on 4 May 2018. The period of total uninterrupted engagement is the four years ended 31 December 2021.
We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and we remained independent of the Group in accordance with, ethical requirements applicable in Ireland,

including the Ethical Standard issued by the Irish Auditing and Accounting Supervisory Authority (IAASA") as applied to public interest entities. No non-audit

services prohibited by that standard were provided.

Conclusions Relating to Going Concern
Inauditing the Financial Statements, we have concluded that the Directors' use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the Financial
Statementsis appropriate.

We evaluated the Directors' assessment of the Group's and Company's ability to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting. In our evaluation
ofthe Directors' conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the Group's and Company's business model and analysed how those risks might affect
the Group's and Company's financial resources or ability to continue operations over the going concern period. We incorporated additional downside
sensitivities to management's underlying cash flow models. There were norisks identified that we considered were likely to have a material adverse effect
onthe Group's and Company's available financial resources over this period.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may
cast significant doubt onthe Group's or the Company's ability to continue as a going concern for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the
Financial Statements are authorised forissue.

Inrelationto the Group's and the Company's reporting on how they have applied the UK Corporate Governance Code and the Irish Corporate Governance
Annex, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to the Directors’ statement in the Financial Statements about whether the Directors

considered it appropriate to adopt the going concern basis of accounting.

Our responsibilities and the responsibilities of the Directors with respect to going concern are described in the relevant sections of this report.
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Key Audit Matters: Our Assessment of Risks of Material Misstatement

Governance

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professionaljudgement, were of most significance in the audit of the Financial Statements and include the
most significant assessed risks of material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) identified by us, including those which had the greatest effect on:
the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the engagement team. These matters were addressed inthe
context of our audit of the Financial Statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Inarriving at our audit opinion above, the key audit matters, in decreasing order of audit significance, and which were unchanged from 2020, were as follows:

Goodwill Impairment Assessment €2,511 million (2020 - €2,344 million)

Refer to Note 2 (accounting policy) and Note 13 (financial disclosures)

The Key Audit Matter

How the Matter Was Addressed in our Audit

The Group has significant goodwill arising from acquisitions amounting
to€2,511 millionat 31 December 2021.

Goodwillis required to be tested at least annually for impairment irrespective

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process followed
by management in calculating the recoverable amount of each CGU.

of whether there are indicators of impairment. The Group has performedan -
impairment assessment as of 31 December 2021. The goodwillis allocated .

to 16 groups of cash-generating units ((CGUs') - three of which individual
account for between 10% and 20% of the total carryingamount.

The recoverable amount of goodwillis arrived at by forecasting and
discounting future cash flows to determine value-in-use for each CGU.

We focus on this area due to the significance of the balance compared to
total assets of the Group and the inherent judgement and assumptions
involved in forecasting future cash flows, including revenue growth, cost
synergies, paper pricing, discount rates and terminal values.

ly

We assessed the Group's valuation models and calculations by:

Checking the mathematical accuracy of the model;

Assessing the methodology applied within the modelin the context
oftherequirements of the relevant accounting standard;

Assessing and challenging the appropriateness of the discount rates
applied and the future operating cash flow assumptions in determining
the value-in-use of each CGU using our valuation specialist and by
comparing the assumptions, where possible, to externally derived data
as wellas our own assumptions;

Assessing and challenging the reasonableness of the long-term
economic growth rate applied for each CGU by comparing the Group's
assumptions, where possible, to externally derived data as wellas our
own assumptions; and

Comparingthe Group's market capitalisation to the carrying value of the
Group's netassets.

We assessed the disclosures inthe Financial Statements relating to the
impairment testing methodology, sensitivity analysis and other matters.

We found that management's judgements were appropriate and supported
by reasonable assumptions. We found the disclosures to be adequate.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT CONTINUED
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMURFIT KAPPA GROUP PLC

Key Audit Matters: Our Assessment of Risks of Material Misstatement continued
Defined Benefit Pension Liability — Valuation of €630 million (2020 - €853 million)

Refer to Note 2 (accounting policy) and Note 25 (financial disclosures)

The Key Audit Matter

How the Matter Was Addressed in our Audit

The Group operates a number of defined benefit pension schemes.

Accounting for such schemes gives rise to an element of judgement and
volatility arising from movements in actuarial assumptions and the selection
of same across the Group.

We focus on this area due to the level of estimation uncertainty involved and
the sensitivity of the pension liabilities to changes in assumptions applied,
in particular the discount rate.

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process for the
accounting for defined benefit pension schemes and tested the design
andimplementation of the relevant controls.

We inquired as to any changes or proposed changes to pension
arrangements to assess any impact on the accounting treatment applied.

We inspected Board minutes to identify any items arising that may impact
onthe pensionarrangementsin place.

We performed substantive testing on the key data underlying the actuarial
assessment and the maintenance of each scheme's membership data.

We challenged, with the support of our actuarial specialist, the assumptions
applied to this data to determine the Group's gross obligation, being the
discountrates, inflation rate and mortality/life expectancies. This included

a comparison of these assumptions against externally derived data. We also
considered the adequacy of the Group's disclosures inrespect of the
sensitivity of the net deficit to these assumptions.

We found the assumptions usedin, and the resulting estimate of, the
valuation of the defined benefit pension liability within the Group to be
reasonable and the related disclosures to be adequate.

Company Key Audit Matter

Investment in Subsidiaries - Carrying Value €2,915 million (2020 - €2,872 million)

Refer toNote 2 (accounting policy) and Note 14 (financial disclosures)

The Key Audit Matter

How the Matter Was Addressed in our Audit

Theinvestmentin subsidiary undertakings is carried in the Balance Sheet

of the Company at cost lessimpairment. Thereis ariskinrespect of the
carrying value of these investments if future cash flows and performance of
these subsidiaries is not sufficient to support the Company's investments.

We focus on this area due to the significance of the balance to the Company
Balance Sheet and the inherent uncertainty involved in forecasting and
discounting future cash flows.

We obtained and documented our understanding of the process
surroundingimpairment considerations and tested the design and
implementation of the relevant controls therein.

We considered management's assessment of impairment indicators.
We compared the carrying value of investments inthe Company's Balance
Sheet tothe net assets of the subsidiary Financial Statements and to the

market capitalisation of the Company.

We considered the audit work performed over the impairment testing
of goodwillas outlined in the Group Key Audit Matter above.

We found management's assessment of the carrying value of the
investment in subsidiary undertakings to be appropriate.
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Our Application of Materiality and an Overview of the Scope of our Audit

Materiality

The materiality for the Group Financial Statements as a whole was set at €36 million (2020: €31 million). This has been calculated based on the Group EBITDA
of €1,702 million (2020: €1,510 million) of which it represents approximately 2.1% (2020: 2.1%). In determining that EBITDA was the most appropriate
benchmark, we considered the prevalence of EBITDA as a measure of performance for the Group and the wider industry within analyst reports, industry
commentaries andinvestor communications. We considered the determined materiality in the context of other commonly used benchmarks including
pre-exceptional profit before tax, revenue and net assets and determined materiality of €36 million to be reasonable.

We report to the Audit Committee all corrected and uncorrected misstatements we identified through our audit in excess of €1 million (2020: €1 million),
in addition to other audit misstatements below that threshold that we believe warranted reporting on qualitative grounds.

Materiality for the Company Financial Statements as a whole was set at €29 million (2020: €21 million) determined with reference to abenchmark of the
Company's total assets of which it represents 0.9% (2020: 1%).

Scoping

The scope of our audit was influenced by materiality, tailored to reflect the Group's structure, activities and financially significant operations. The Group
is structured across two operating segments, Europe and the Americas. The operations of the Group are significantly disaggregated, split across alarge
number of operating plants in 36 countries. Reporting components are considered by individual operating plants, a combination of plants oron a
geographicalbasis.

We used materiality in our scoping procedures to identify those reporting units for which we deemed that a complete financial audit was required, due to size,
potential risks identified and to ensure appropriate coverage. We also subjected certain reporting units to specified risk-focused audit procedures. Such
reporting units were notindividually financially significant enough to require a full scope audit for Group purposes but did present specific individual risks to be
addressed. The reporting units identified amounted to 91% (2020: 88%) of the Group's EBITDA, 77% (2020: 78%) of the Group's revenue, and 77% (2020:
83%) of the Group's total assets.

The approach to the audit scoping is consistent with that applied in previous years with some components subject to rotational scoping to introduce alevel
of unpredictability.

Involvement with Component Teams

In establishing our overall audit approach to the Group audit, we determined the type of work to be undertaken across the Group's components. The Group
audit teaminteracted regularly with the local KPMG component audit teams during each stage of the audit, as set out below. The Group audit teaminstructed
component auditors as to the significant areas to be addressed, including the relevant risks detailed above, and the information to be reported to the Group
audit team and was responsible for the overall scope and direction of the audit process.

The Group audit team approved the materiality for components, which ranged from €1.7 million to €7.8 million (2020: €1.6 million to €7.6 million), having
regard to the mix of size and risk profile of the components across the Group. The work on all components was performed by component auditors and the
audit of the Company was performed by the Group team. For the residual components, we performed analysis at an aggregated Group level to re-examine
our assessment that there were no significant risks of material misstatement within these components.

We maintained continuous and open dialogue with the component audit teams in addition to holding formal meetings to ensure that we were fully aware
of their progress and results of their procedures. Due to the restrictions on travel across many jurisdictions, enacted as a response to the continuing
global pandemic, these communications and meetings were held virtually using video and telephone conference meetings. At these meetings, a review of
workpapers was undertaken by the Group audit team using technology and share-screen functionality, we used materiality to assist us in determining the
scope of these reviews, and the findings reported to the Group audit team by the component auditor were discussed in detail. Audit closing meetings with
Group andlocal management were primarily carried out virtually with some meetings taking place in person where restrictions allowed.

Other Information
The Directors are responsible for the preparation of the other information presented in the Annual Report together with the Financial Statements. The other
information comprises the information included in the Directors' report and the Overview, Strategic Report and Governance sections of the Annual Report.

The Financial Statements and our auditor's report thereon do not comprise part of the other information. Our opinion onthe Financial Statements does
not cover the other information and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance
conclusionthereon.

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our Financial Statements audit work, the information therein
is materially misstated or inconsistent with the Financial Statements or our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work we have not identified material
misstatements inthe other information.

Based solely on our work on the other information undertaken during the course of the audit, we report that, inthose parts of the Directors' report specified
for our consideration:

«  Wehave notidentified material misstatements in the Directors' report;

« Inouropinion, the information givenin the Directors' report is consistent with the Financial Statements; and

« Inouropinion, the Directors'report has been prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 2014.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 123



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT CONTINUED
TO THE MEMBERS OF SMURFIT KAPPA GROUP PLC

Disclosures of Principal Risks and Longer-term Viability
Based on the knowledge we acquired during our Financial Statements audit, we have nothing material to add or draw attention to in relation to:

The Principal Risks disclosures describing these risks and explaining how they are being managed and mitigated;

The Directors' confirmation within the Risk Report on page 34 that they have carried out a robust assessment of the principal risks facing the Group,
including those that would threatenits business model, future performance, solvency and liquidity; and

The Directors’explanationin the Risk Report of how they have assessed the prospects of the Group, over what period they have done so and why they
considered that period to be appropriate, and their statement as to whether they have a reasonable expectation that the Group will be able to continue in
operation and meetits liabilities as they fall due over the period of their assessment, including any related disclosures drawing attention to any necessary
qualifications or assumptions.

Other Corporate Governance Disclosures
We are required to address the following items and report to you in the following circumstances:

Fair, balanced and understandable: if we have identified material inconsistencies between the knowledge we acquired during our Financial Statements
audit and the Directors' statement that they consider that the Annual Report and Financial Statements taken as a whole is fair, balanced and
understandable and provides the information necessary for shareholders to assess the Group's position and performance, business model and strategy.
Report of the Audit Committee: if the section of the Annual Report describing the work of the Audit Committee does not appropriately address matters
communicated by us to the Audit Committee.

Statement of compliance with UK Corporate Governance Code: if the Directors' statement does not properly disclose a departure from provisions of the
UK Corporate Governance Code specified by the Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin and the UK Listing Authority for our review.

Ifthe Directors' statement relating to Going Concern required under the Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin and the UK Listing Authority set out on page 35
is materially inconsistent with our audit knowledge.

We have nothingto reportinthese respects.

Inaddition as required by the Companies Act 2014, we report, in relation to information givenin the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 82 to 87 that:

Based on the work undertaken for our audit, in our opinion, the description of the main features of internal control and risk management systemsin
relation to the financial reporting process, and information relating to voting rights and other matters required by the European Communities (Takeover
Bids (Directive 2004/EC) Regulations 2006) and specified for our consideration, is consistent with the Financial Statements and has been preparedin
accordance with the Act;

Based on our knowledge and understanding of the Group andits environment obtained in the course of our audit, we have not identified any material
misstatements in that information; and

The Corporate Governance Statement contains the information required by the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information
by certainlarge undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017.

We also report that, based on work undertaken for our audit, the information required by the Actis contained in the Corporate Governance Statement.

Our Opinions on Other Matters Prescribed by the Companies Act 2014 are Unmodified
We have obtained all the information and explanations which we consider necessary for the purpose of our audit.

Inour opinion, the accounting records of the Company were sufficient to permit the Financial Statements to be readily and properly audited and the
Financial Statements are in agreement with the accounting records.

We Have Nothing to Report on Other Matters on Which we are Required to Report by Exception
The Companies Act 2014 requires us to report to youif, in our opinion:

The disclosures of Directors'remuneration and transactions required by Sections 305 to 312 of the Act are not made;

The Company has not provided the information required by Section 1110N in relation to its Remuneration Report for the financial year

31 December 2020;

The Company has not provided the information required by section 5(2) to (7) of the European Union (Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity
Information by certainlarge undertakings and groups) Regulations 2017 for the year ended 31 December 2020 as required by the European Union
(Disclosure of Non-Financial and Diversity Information by certain large undertakings and groups) (amendment) Regulations 2018.

We have nothingtoreportinthis regard.

The Listing Rules of Euronext Dublin and the UK Listing Authority require us to review:

The Directors' Statement, set out on pages 34 to 35, inrelation to going concern and longer-term viability;

The part of the Corporate Governance Statement on pages 82 to 87 relating to the Company's compliance with the provisions of the UK Corporate
Governance Code and the Irish Corporate Governance Annex specified for our review; and

Certain elements of disclosures in the report to shareholders by the Remuneration Committee.

We have nothing to reportin this regard.
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Respective Responsibilities and Restrictions on Use

Directors’ Responsibilities

As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 117, the Directors are responsible for: the preparation of the Financial Statements including being
satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of Financial Statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing,

as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the Group or the
Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s Responsibilities

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Financial Statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error, and toissue our opinion in an auditor's report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an

audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (Ireland) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud, other
irregularities or error and are considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken onthe basis of the Financial Statements. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud or other irregularities is higher
thanfor one resulting from error, as they may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control and may
involve any area of law and regulation and not just those directly affecting the Financial Statements.

Afuller description of our responsibilities is provided on IAASA's website at http://www.iaasa.ie/Publications/Auditing-standards/International-Standards-
on-Auditing-for-use-in-Ire/Description-of-the-auditor-s-responsibilities-for.

The Purpose of Our Audit Work and to whom we Owe Our Responsibilities

Ourreportis made solely to the Company's members, as a body, in accordance with Section 391 of the Companies Act 2014. Our audit work has been
undertaken so that we might state to the Company's members those matters we are required to state to themin an auditor's report and for no other
purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and the Company's members,
as abody, for our audit work, for our report, or for the opinions we have formed.

Roger Gillespie

forand onbehalf of

KPMG

Chartered Accountants, Statutory Audit Firm
1 Stokes Place

St. Stephen’'s Green

Dublin 2

Ireland

16 March 2022
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020
Pre- Pre-
exceptional Exceptional Total  exceptional Exceptional Total

Note €m €m €m €m €m €m
Revenue 4 10,107 - 10,107 8,530 - 8,530
Costof sales 5 (7,015) - (7,015) (5,656) - (5,656)
Gross profit 3,092 - 3,092 2,874 - 2,874
Distribution costs 5 (823) = (823) (725) - (725)
Administrative expenses 5 (1,196) - (1,196) (1,227) - (1,227)
Other operating expenses 5 - = = - (31) (31)
Operating profit 1,073 - 1,073 922 (31) 891
Finance costs 7 (148) (31) (179) (179) - (179)
Financeincome 7 17 - 17 35 - 35
Share of associates' profit (after tax) 2 - 2 1 - 1
Profit before income tax 944 (31) 913 779 (31) 748
Income tax expense 8 (234) (201)
Profit for the financial year 679 547
Attributable to:
Owners of the parent 679 545
Non-controllinginterests - 2
Profit for the financial year 679 547
Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share—cent 9 263.9 2279
Diluted earnings per share —cent 9 261.1 2257
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020
Note €m €m
Profit for the financial year 679 547
Other comprehensive income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Foreign currency translation adjustments:
Arisinginthe financial year 14 (165)
Recycled to Consolidated Income Statement 1 1
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges:
Movement out of reserve (3) 1
Fair value gain on cash flow hedges - 6
Related tax 8 - (1)
Changesin fair value of cost of hedging:
Movement out of reserve (1) (1)
New fair value adjustmentsinto reserve - 1
11 (158)
Items which will not be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
Defined benefit pension plans:
Actuarial gain/(loss) 25 177 (9)
Related tax 8 (32) 7
145 (2)
Total other comprehensive income/(expense) 156 (160)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 835 387
Attributable to:
Owners ofthe parent 835 388
Non-controllinginterests - (1)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year 835 387
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020
Note €m €m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Property, plantand equipment 11 4,265 3,839
Right-of-use assets 12 346 311
Goodwillandintangible assets 13 2,722 2,552
Otherinvestments 14 11 11
Investmentinassociates 15 13 12
Biological assets 16 103 107
Otherreceivables 19 26 28
Derivative financialinstruments 29 2 -
Deferredincome tax assets 17 149 172
7,637 7,032
Current assets
Inventories 18 1,046 773
Biological assets 16 10 11
Trade and other receivables 19 2,137 1,535
Derivative financialinstruments 29 8 38
Restricted cash 22 14 10
Cash and cash equivalents 22 855 891
4,070 3,258
Total assets 11,707 10,290
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent
Equity share capital 23 - -
Share premium 23 2,646 2,646
Otherreserves 23 260 207
Retained earnings 1,473 917
Total equity attributable to owners of the parent 4,379 3,770
Non-controllinginterests 33 13 13
Total equity 4,392 3,783
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 24 3,589 3122
Employee benefits 25 630 853
Derivative financialinstruments 29 7 17
Deferredincome taxliabilities 17 175 191
Non-currentincome tax liabilities 17 14
Provisions for liabilities 27 35 50
Capitalgrants 24 21
Other payables 28 11 9
4,488 4,277
Current liabilities
Borrowings 24 165 154
Trade and other payables 28 2,563 1,835
Currentincome tax liabilities 27 7
Derivative financialinstruments 29 14 13
Provisions for liabilities 27 58 221
2,827 2,230
Total liabilities 7,315 6,507
Total equity and liabilities 11,707 10,290

A. Smurfit K.Bowles

Director
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2021 2020
Note €m €m
ASSETS
Non-current assets
Financial assets 14 2,915 2,872
2,915 2,872
Current assets
Amounts receivable from Group companies 19 233 256
Cashand cash equivalents - 1
233 257
Total assets 3,148 3,129
EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to owners of the parent
Equity share capital 23 - -
Share premium 23 2,646 2,646
Share-based paymentreserve 216 173
Retained earnings 283 300
Total equity 3,145 3,119
LIABILITIES
Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 28 = 5
Amounts payable to Group companies 28 3 5
Total liabilities 3 10
Total equity and liabilities 3,148 3,129

A. Smurfit K.Bowles
Director Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Attributable to Owners of the Parent

Equity Non-

Share Share Other Retained controlling Total

Capital Premium Reserves” Earnings Total Interests Equity

€m €m €m €m €m €m €m

At 1 January 2021 - 2,646 207 917 3,770 13 3,783
Profit for the financial year - - - 679 679 = 679

Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - 15 - 15 - 15
Defined benefit pension plans - - - 145 145 - 145
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges - - (3) - (3) - (3)
Changes in fair value of cost of hedging - - (1) - (1) = (1)
Total comprehensive income for the financial year - - 11 824 835 - 835
Hyperinflation adjustment = = = 34 34 = 34
Dividends paid - - - (302) (302) = (302)
Share-based payment = = 64 = 64 = 64
Net shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust = = (22) - (22) - (22)
At 31 December 2021 - 2,646 260 1,473 4,379 13 4,392
At 1 January 2020 - 1,986 351 615 2,952 41 2,993
Profit for the financial year - - - 545 545 2 547
Other comprehensive income

Foreign currency translation adjustments - - (161) - (161) (3) (164)
Defined benefit pension plans - - - (2) (2) - (2)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of cash flow hedges - - 6 - 6 - 6
Total comprehensive (expense)/income for the financial year - - (155) 543 388 (1) 387
Sharesissued - 660 - (12) 648 - 648
Purchase of non-controllinginterests - - (8) 12 4 (27) (23)
Hyperinflation adjustment - - - 19 19 - 19
Dividends paid — — - (260) (260) - (260)
Share-based payment - - 35 - 35 - 35
Net shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust - - (16) - (16) - (16)
At 31 December 2020 - 2,646 207 917 3,770 13 3,783

Ananalysis of Other Reserves s providedin Note 23

130 Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021



Overview

Strategic Report

Governance

Financial Statements

COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

Supplementary Information

Share-
Equity based
Share Share Payment Retained Total
Capital Premium Reserve Earnings Equity
€m €m €m €m €m
At 1January 2021 - 2,646 173 300 3,119
Profit for the financial year - - = 285 285
Dividends paid - - - (302) (302)
Share-based payment - - 43 - 43
At 31 December 2021 - 2,646 216 283 3,145
At 1 January 2020 - 1,986 154 202 2,342
Profit for the financial year - - - 370 370
Dividends paid - - - (260) (260)
Sharesissued - 660 - (12) 648
Share-based payment - - 19 - 19
At 31 December 2020 - 2,646 173 300 3,119
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

2021 2020
Note €m €m

Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 913 748
Adjustment for:
Net finance costs 7 162 144
Depreciation charge 11,12 513 514
Amortisation ofintangible assets 13 40 43
Amortisation of capital grants (3) (2)
Share-based payment expense 26 69 35
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (8) (2)
Profit on purchase/disposal of businesses = (4)
Share of associates' profit (after tax) (2) (1)
Net movementinworking capital 20 (114) 95
Changeinbiological assets 16 7 (6)
ltalian Competition Authority fine (124) -
Change inemployee benefits and other provisions (81) (7)
Other (primarily hyperinflation adjustments) 5 6
Cash generated from operations 1,377 1,563
Interest paid (152) (122)
Income taxes paid:
Irish corporation tax (net of tax refunds) paid (21) (14)
Overseas corporation tax (net of tax refunds) paid (218) (180)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 986 1,247
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Interestreceived 3 3
Business disposals 33 -
Additions to property, plant and equipment and biological assets (594) (493)
Additions tointangible assets 13 (21) (21)
Receipt of capital grants 5 5
(Increase)/decrease inrestricted cash (4) 4
Disposal of property, plant and equipment 16 5
Dividends received from associates 1 1
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of acquired cash) (413) (2)
Deferred consideration paid (35) -
Net cash outflow from investing activities (1,009) (498)
Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds fromissue of new ordinary shares (net) - 648
Proceeds frombondissuance 999 -
Purchase of own shares (net) (22) (16)
Purchase of non-controllinginterests - (23)
Decreasein otherinterest-bearing borrowings (107) (329)
Repayment of lease liabilities (88) (91)
Repayment of borrowings (491) -
Derivative terminationreceipts 9 9
Deferred debtissue costs paid (12) (2)
Dividends paid to shareholders (302) (260)
Net cash outflow from financing activities (14) (64)
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (37) 685
Reconciliation of opening to closing cash and cash equivalents
Cashand cash equivalents at 1 January 21 876 172
Currency translation adjustment 21 (12) 19
(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 21 (37) 685
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 21,22 827 876
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2021 2020
Note €m €m
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax 32 285 370
Adjustment for:
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables 28 (5) 5
Decrease inamounts payable to Group Companies 28 (2) (5)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 278 370
Cash flows frominvesting activities
Investment in subsidiaries - (753)
Net cash outflow from investing activities - (753)
Cash flows from financing activities
Decrease/(increase) inamounts receivable from Group Companies 19 23 (4)
Proceeds fromissue of new ordinary shares (net) = 648
Dividends paid to shareholders (302) (260)
Net cash (outflow)/inflow from financing activities (279) 384
Movement in cash and cash equivalents (1) 1
Reconciliation of opening to closing cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 1 -
Movement in cash and cash equivalents (1)
- 1

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021

133



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

1. General Information

Smurfit Kappa Group plc ('SKG plc' or ‘the Company') and its subsidiaries (together 'SKG' or 'the Group') primarily manufacture, distribute and sell
containerboard, corrugated containers and other paper-based packaging products. The Company is a public limited company with a premium listing on
the London Stock Exchange and a secondary listing on Euronext Dublin. It isincorporated and domiciled in Ireland. The address of its registered office is
Beech Hill, Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2, Ireland.

The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 2021 were authorised for issue in accordance with
aresolution of the Directors on 16 March 2022.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
The Group has consistently applied the following significant accounting policies to all periods presented, unless otherwise stated.

Statement of Compliance

The Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards ('IFRS') issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board ('IASB') as adopted by the European Union (‘'EU'), those parts of the Companies Act 2014 applicable to companies
reportingunder IFRS and Article 4 of the IAS Regulation. The Company Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with IFRS adopted by the EU
as appliedin accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 2014. IFRS adopted by the EU differ in certain respects from IFRS issued by the IASB.
References to IFRS hereafter refer to IFRS adopted by the EU.

Basis of Preparation

The Consolidated Financial Statements are presented in euro rounded to the nearest million. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention
except for the following which are recognised at fair value: certain financial assets and liabilities including derivative financial instruments; biological assets;
share-based payments at grant date; pension plan assets; and contingent consideration. The financial statements of subsidiaries whose functional currency
is the currency of ahyperinflationary economy are stated in terms of the measuring unit currency at the end of the reporting period. This is the case for the
Group's subsidiaries in Argentina.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of accountingjudgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement and areas where assumptions and estimates
are significant are discussed in the Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions note.

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the information in the Remuneration Report that is described as being anintegral part of the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Impact of COVID-19

The Group has again considered the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic with respect to alljudgements and estimates it makes in the application of its
accounting policies. This included assessing the recoverability of trade receivables and inventory. The Group's customers primarily operate in the FMCG
sector, which has proved resilient during the COVID-19 pandemic to date. There has been no significant deterioration in the aging of trade receivables

or extension of debtor days in the period. As a result of these reviews, there was no material change in the trade receivables or inventory provisions. The
Group also assessed non-financial assets for indicators of impairment. No impairments were identified. The Group tested goodwill forimpairment at

31 December 2021. The impact of COVID-19 was considered when preparing cash flow forecasts for each cash generating unit (‘(CGU'). The testing did not
resultinanimpairment.

Going Concern
The Groupis a highly integrated manufacturer of paper-based packaging solutions with leading market positions, quality assets and broad geographic reach.
The financial position of the Group, its cash generation, capital resources and liquidity continue to provide a stable financing platform.

The Directors have assessed the principal risks and uncertainties outlined in the Risk Report, which include the deterioration of the current economic
climate due to the COVID-19 pandemic. There has been no significant disruption to our business to date as a result of the pandemic. The Group tookinto
consideration the potentialimpact of the pandemic and the effect that it could have on the Group's financial position and results of operations. The Group
continues to have significant headroomin relation toits financial covenants.

The Group's diversified funding base andlong-dated maturity profile of 5.8 years at 31 December 2021 provide a stable funding outlook. At 31 December
2021, the Group had a strong liquidity position of approximately €2.52 billion comprising cash balances of €869 million (including €14 million of restricted
cash), undrawn available commmitted facilities of €1,343 million under its sustainability linked Revolving Credit Facility (RCF') and €312 million under its
sustainability linked securitisation facilities. At 31 December 2021, the strength of the Group's balance sheet, a net debt to EBITDA ratio of 1.7x

(31 December 2020: 1.6x) and its BBB-/BBB-/Baa3 credit rating, continues to secure long-term strategic flexibility.

Having assessed the principalrisks facing the Group, together with the Group's forecasts and significant financial headroom, the Directors believe that the
Groupis well placed to manage these risks successfully and have areasonable expectation that the Company, and the Group as a whole, have adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future. For this reason, they continue to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations Effective During 2021
The Group has applied the following standards, interpretations and amendments with effect from 1 January 2021:
« Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions —amendments to IFRS 16; and

« Interest Rate Benchmark Reform—Phase 2 —amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16.

The amendments listed above did not result in material changes to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

New and Amended Standards and Interpretations Issued but not yet Effective or Early Adopted

Anumber of new standards and interpretations have beenissued but are not yet effective for the Group. These standards are either not expected to have
amaterial effect onthe Consolidated Financial Statements or they are not currently relevant for the Group.

Basis of Consolidation
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the annual Financial Statements of the Company and all of its subsidiaries and associates, drawn up to
31 December.

Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Group. They are consolidated from the date on which controlis obtained by the Group. They are deconsolidated
from the date on which controlis lost by the Group. Control exists when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns fromits involvement with
the entity and has the ability to affect those returns throughits power over the entity. Where necessary, the accounting policies of subsidiaries have been
modified to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group. Intragroup transactions, intragroup balances and any unrealised gains and losses
arising fromintragroup transactions are eliminated in preparing the Consolidated Financial Statements, except to the extent that such aloss provides
evidence of impairment. The Company's investments in subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment.

Non-controllinginterests represent the portion of a subsidiary’s equity which is not attributable to the Group. They are presented separately in the
Consolidated Financial Statements. Changes in ownership of a subsidiary which do not resultin a change of control are treated as equity transactions.

Associates

Associates are entities in which the Group has significant influence arising fromits power to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the
investee. Associates are recognised using the equity method from the date on which significant influence is obtained until the date on which suchinfluence
islost. Under the equity method investments in associates are recognised at cost and subsequently adjusted to reflect the post-acquisition movementsin
the Group's share of the associates' net assets. The Group profit or loss includes its share of the associates' profit or loss after tax and the Group's other
comprehensive income includes its share of the associates' other comprehensive income. The Group's investment in associates includes goodwillidentified
onacgquisition, net of any accumulatedimpairment losses. Losses in associates are not recognised once the Group's carrying value reaches zero, except
tothe extent that the Group has incurred further obligations in respect of the associate. Unrealised gains arising from transactions with associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group's interestin the entity. Unrealised losses are similarly eliminated to the extent that they do not provide evidence of
impairment. Where necessary, the accounting policies of associates are modified to ensure consistency with Group accounting policies.

Revenue

The Group's revenue is primarily derived from the sale of containerboard, corrugated containers and other paper-based packaging products. Allrevenue
relates to revenue from contracts with customers. Contracts with customers include a single performance obligation to sell these products and do not
generally contain multiple performance obligations. Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration receivable for goods sold to third party customers
inthe ordinary course of business. It excludes sales based taxes and is net of allowances for volume based rebates and early settlement discounts.

The transaction price is the contracted price with the customer adjusted for volume based rebates and early settlement discounts. Goods are often sold
with retrospective volume rebates based on aggregate sales over a certain period of time and early settlement discounts. Revenue from these sales is
recognised based on the price specified inthe contract, net of the estimated rebates and discounts. Accumulated experience is used to estimate and
provide for the rebates and discounts, using the most likely amount method, and revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probable that

a significant reversal will not occur. No element of financing is deemed present as the sales are made with credit terms consistent with market practice and
areinline with normal credit termsin the entities' country of operation.

Revenueis recognised when control of the goods has transferred to the customer, being when the goods are delivered to the customer and thereisno
unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer's acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when the goods have been shipped to the specific
location, the risks of obsolescence andloss have been transferred to the customer and the customer has accepted the goods in accordance with the sales
contract. For the Group, revenue is recognised at the point in time when delivery to the customer has taken place.

Areceivableis recognised when the goods are delivered as this is the pointin time that the consideration is unconditional because only the passage of time
is required before the paymentis due.

Foreign Currency

Functional and Presentation Currency

[temsincludedin the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic environment in which
the entity operates ('the functional currency'). The Consolidated Financial Statements of the Group are presented in euro which is the presentation currency
ofthe Group and the functional currency of the Company.

Transactions and Balances
Transactions inforeign currencies are translated into the functional currency of the entity at the exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction.

Monetary assets andliabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated into functional currencies at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the reporting
date. Non-monetary assets and liabilities carried at cost are not subsequently retranslated. Non-monetary assets carried at fair value are subsequently
remeasured at the exchange rate at the date of valuation. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognised in profit or loss with the
exception of differences on foreign currency borrowings that qualify as a hedge of the Group's net investment in foreign operations. The portion of exchange
gains or losses on foreign currency borrowings used to provide a hedge against a netinvestmentin a foreign operation and that is determined to be an
effective hedgeis recognised in other comprehensive income. The ineffective portionis recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021 135



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Foreign Currency continued

Group Companies

The assets andliabilities of entities that do not have the euro as their functional currency, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on acquisition,
are translated to euro at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. Theirincome, expenses and cash flows are translated to euro at average
exchangerates during the year. However, if a Group entity's functional currency is the currency of a hyperinflationary economy, that entity’s financial
statements are first restated in accordance with IAS 29, Financial Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies (see Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies).
UnderIAS 29, income, costs and balance sheet amounts are translated at the exchange rates ruling at the reporting date. All resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, foreign exchange differences arising on translation of net investments including those arising on long-termintragroup loans deemed

to be quasi-equity in nature are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a quasi-equity loan ceases to be designated as part of the Group's net
investment, accumulated currency differences are reclassified to profit or loss only when there is a change in the Group's proportional interest. On disposal
of aforeign operation, accumulated currency translation differences are reclassified to profit or loss as part of the overall gain or loss on disposal.

Reporting in Hyperinflationary Economies

Whenthe economy of a country in which we operate is deemed hyperinflationary and the functional currency of a Group entity is the currency of that
hyperinflationary economy, the financial statements of such Group entities are adjusted so that they are stated in terms of the measuring unit current at the
end of the reporting period. This involves restatement of income and expenses to reflect changes in the general price index from the start of the reporting
period and restatement of non-monetary items in the balance sheet, such as property, plant and equipment and inventories, to reflect current purchasing
power as at the period end using a general price index from the date when they were first recognised. The gain or loss on the net monetary position for the
yearisincludedin finance costs orincome. Comparative amounts are not restated. The restated income, expenses and balance sheets are translated to
euro at the closing rate at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on translation to euro are recognised in other comprehensive income.

Business Combinations

The Group accounts for business combinations using the acquisition method when the acquired set of activities and assets meets the definition of a
business and controlis transferred to the Group. Under the acquisition method, the assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities of an acquired business are
initially recognised at their fair value at the date of acquisition; which is the date on which controlis transferred to the Group. The cost of abusiness
combinationis measured as the aggregate of the fair values at the date of exchange of any assets transferred, liabilities assumed and equity instruments
issued inexchange for control. In abusiness combination achieved in stages, the costincludes the acquisition date fair value of any pre-existing equity
interestinthe subsidiary. When settlement of all or part of a business combination is deferred, the fair value of the deferred component is determined by
discounting the amounts payable to their present value at the date of exchange. The discount componentis unwound as aninterest expensein the
Consolidated Income Statement over the life of the obligation. Where a business combination agreement provides for an adjustment to the cost of the
combination whichis contingent on future events, the contingent consideration is measured at fair value. Any subsequent remeasurement of the contingent
amountis recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement ifitis identified as a financial liability.

Whenthe initial accounting for a business combinationis determined provisionally, any adjustments to the provisional values allocated to the identifiable
assets andliabilities are made within twelve months of the acquisition date. Non-controllinginterests are measured either, at their proportionate share of
the acquiree'sidentifiable net assets or, at fair value as at the acquisition date, on a case by case basis. Acquisition related costs are expensed as incurred.

Where a put optionis held by a non-controllinginterestin a subsidiary whereby that party can require the Group to acquire the non-controlling interest's
shareholdingin the subsidiary at a future date and the non-controllinginterest does not retain present access to the results of the subsidiary, the Group
applies the anticipated acquisition method of accounting to the arrangement. The Group recognises a contingent consideration liability at fair value, being
the Group's estimate of the amount required to settle that liability, which is included in the consideration transferred. Any subsequent remeasurements
required due to changes in the fair value of the put liability are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement. Where the Group has a call option over the
shares held by a non-controllinginterestin a subsidiary, whereby the Group can require the non-controlling interest to sellits shareholding in the subsidiary
atafuture date, the optionis classified as a derivative and is recognised as a financial instrument oninception, with fair value movements recognisedin the
Consolidated Income Statement.

Goodwill

Goodwillis the excess of the cost of an acquisition over the Group's share of the fair value of the identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired. When the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired exceeds the cost of the acquisition, the values are reassessed and any
remaining gain is recognised immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement. Goodwillis allocated to the groups of CGUs that are expected to benefit
from the synergies of the combination. This is the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes. After initial recognition,
goodwillis measured at cost less any accumulated impairment losses.

Intangible Assets

These include software development costs as well as marketing and customer related intangible assets generally arising from business combinations.
They areinitially recognised at cost which, for those arising in a business combination, is their fair value at the date of acquisition. Subsequently, intangible
assets are carried at costless any accumulated amortisation andimpairment. Costis amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives
which vary from two to twenty years. Carrying values are reviewed for indicators of impairment at each reporting date and are subject to impairment testing
when events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying values may not be recoverable. Further information is provided in the Goodwill and
Intangible Assets note.

136 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021



Overview Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Property, Plant and Equipment

Items of property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment charges. Cost includes expenditure that is directly
attributable to the acquisition of the assets. Software that is integral to the functionality of the related equipment is capitalised as part of that equipment.
Subsequent costs areincludedinthe asset's carryingamount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only whenitis probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carryingamount of any retired
componentis derecognised. Other repair and maintenance expenditure that does not meet the asset recognition criteria is expensed in the Consolidated
Income Statement as incurred. Assets are depreciated from the time they are available for use, however land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other
assetsis calculated to write off the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment, on a straight-line basis at the following annual rates:

« Buildings: 2-5%

« Plantand equipment: 3-33%

The estimated residual value and the usefullives of assets are reviewed at each reporting date. Climate change does not have a significantimpact onthe
assessment of useful lives across the Group, however itis considered on an asset-by-asset basis. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing
the proceeds with the carryingamount. These are included in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Capitalisation of costsinrespect of constructing an asset commences whenitis probable that future economic benefits associated with the asset will

flow to the Group and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the construction of the asset.
Constructioninprogressis not depreciated and is assessed forimpairment when there is anindicator ofimpairment. When these assets are available
foruse, they are transferred out of constructionin progress to the applicable heading under property, plant and equipment.

Impairment

Goodwill

Goodwillis subject toimpairment testing on an annual basis at a consistent time each year and at any time animpairment indicator is considered to exist.
Impairment is determined by comparing the carryingamount to the recoverable amount of the groups of CGUs to which the goodwill relates. The recoverable
amount is the greater of; fair value less costs to sell, and value-in-use. When the recoverable amount of the groups of CGUs is less than the carryingamount,
animpairmentlossis recognised.

Where goodwill forms part of a group of CGUs and part of the operation within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of
isincludedinthe carryingamount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on disposal of the operation. Goodwill disposed of in this circumstance
is measured on the basis of the relative values of the operation disposed of and the portion of the group of CGUs retained.

Inthe year in which a business combination occurs, and the goodwill arising affects the goodwill allocation to CGUs, the groups of CGUs are tested for
impairment prior to the end of that year. Impairment losses on goodwill are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement and are not reversed
following recognition.

Impairment of Non-financial Assets

Long-termtangible andintangible assets that are subject to depreciation oramortisation are tested forimpairment whenever events or changes in circumstances,
including those relating to climate change, indicate that the carryingamount may not be recoverable. Animpairment loss is recognised in the Consolidated
Income Statement for the amount by which the asset's carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset's
fair value less costs to selland value-in-use. When assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable
cash flows. Non-financial assets that have suffered impairment losses are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. The
impairmentlossis only reversedto the extent that the asset's carrying amount does not exceed that which would have been determined had no impairment
beenrecognised.

Impairment of Financial Assets
Fortrade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by IFRS 9. The Group's impairment policy is explainedin the Trade and Other
Receivables note.

Biological Assets

The Group holds standing timber which is classified as a biological asset and is stated at fair value less estimated costs to sell. Changesin value are
recognisedinthe Consolidated Income Statement. The fair value of standing timber is calculated using weighted average prices for similar transactions
with third parties. At the time of harvest, wood s recognised at fair value less estimated costs to sell and transferred to inventory. Further information is
provided in the Biological Assets note.

Inventories

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of inventories is determined on afirst-in, first-out basis and includes
expenditure incurred in acquiring the inventories and bringing them to their present location and condition. Raw materials are valued on the basis of
purchase cost onafirst-in, first-out basis. For finished goods and work-in-progress, costincludes direct materials, direct labour and attributable overheads
based on normal operating capacity and excludes borrowing costs. The cost of wood s its fair value less estimated costs to sell at the date of harvest,
determinedin accordance with the policy for biological assets. Any change in value at the date of harvest is recognised in the Consolidated Income
Statement. Net realisable value is the estimated proceeds of sale less costs to completion and any costs to be incurredin selling and distribution.

Full provisionis made for alldamaged, deteriorated, obsolete and unusable materials.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Financial Instruments

Tradereceivables and debtinstruments issued are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial instruments are recognised when the
Group becomes a party toits contractual provisions. A financial asset (unless itis a trade receivable without a significant financing component) or financial
liability is initially recognised at fair value plus, for anitem not at fair value through profit or loss ('FVPL), transaction costs that are directly attributable toits
acquisition orissue.

Oninitial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, or fair value through other comprehensive income ('FVOCI'), or FVPL.
The classificationis based on the business model for managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash flows. Reclassification of financial
assetsis required only whenthe business model for managing those assets changes. Financial assets are derecognised when the Group's contractual rights
to the cashflows from the financial assets expire, are extinguished or transferred to a third party.

Financial liabilities are classified as measured at amortised cost or FVPL. Financial liabilities are derecognised when the Group's obligations specifiedin the
contracts expire, are discharged or cancelled. The Group also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the modified
liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognised at fair value. On derecognition of a financial
liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the consideration paid, (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities
assumed)is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cashand cash equivalents comprise; cash balances held to meet short-term cash commitments, and; investments which are readily convertible to a known
amount of cash and are subject to aninsignificant risk of changes in value. Where investments are categorised as cash equivalents, the related balances
have a maturity of three months or less from the date of acquisition. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form anintegral part of the Group's
cashmanagement are included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purpose of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. Cash and cash
equivalents are stated at amortised cost.

Restricted Cash
Restricted cash comprises cash held by the Group but whichis ring-fenced or used as security for specific financing arrangements, and to which the Group
does not have unfettered access. Restricted cash is stated at amortised cost.

Equity Instruments

Equity instruments are measured at fair value with fair value gains andlosses recognised in other comprehensive income. Dividend income is recognised
inprofitorloss. There is no reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Any gains and losses
will be reclassified within equity from the FVOClreserve to retained earnings.

Debt Instruments
Listed and unlisted debtinstruments are measured at fair value with fair value gains andlosses recognised in profit or loss. Interest and dividend income
isrecognised in profit orloss.

Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost. Any difference
between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the
effective interest method. Fixed rate borrowings, which have been hedged to floating rates are measured at amortised cost adjusted for changes in value
attributable to the hedged risk arising from changes in underlying market interest rates. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has
anunconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least one year after the reporting date.

Securitised Assets

The Group has enteredinto a series of securitisation transactions involving certain of its trade receivables and the establishment of certain special purpose
entities to effect these transactions. These special purpose entities are consolidated as they are considered to be controlled by the Group. The related
securitised assets continue to be recognisedin the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Trade and Other Receivables

Trade and other receivables (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) are recognised nitially at fair value and subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, lessloss allowance. Trade receivables without a significant financing component are initially
measured at the transaction price.

Trade and Other Payables
Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Group uses derivative financial instruments to manage certain foreign currency, interest rate and commaodity price exposures. All derivatives are
recognised at fair value. The treatment of changes in fair value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, the nature of
the item being hedged and the effectiveness of the hedge. The Group designates certain derivatives as follows:

» Hedges of aparticular risk associated with a recognised floating rate asset or liability or a highly probable forecast transaction (cash flow hedges);

« Hedges of changesin the fair value of arecognised asset or liability (fair value hedges); and

« Hedges of netinvestmentsin foreign operations (netinvestment hedges).
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities continued

Atinception the Group documents the relationship between the hedging instrument and hedged items, its risk management objectives and the strategy
for undertaking the transaction. The Group also documents its assessment of whether the derivative is highly effective in offsetting changes infair value
or cash flows of hedged items, both atinception and in future periods.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in the Financial Instruments note. Movements on the cash flow
hedgingreserve and cost of hedging reserve in shareholders' equity are shownin the Capitaland Reserves note. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is
classified as a non-current asset or liability when its remaining maturity is more than one year; it is classified as a current asset or liability when its remaining
maturity is less than one year. Non-hedging derivative assets and liabilities are classified as current or non-current based on expected realisation or
settlement dates.

Cash Flow Hedges
Changes inthe fair value of derivative hedging instruments designated as cash flow hedges are recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent
that the hedge is effective. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portionis recognised immediately in profit or loss.

When designating a foreign exchange derivative contract as a cash flow hedge, the currency basis spreadis excluded and accounted for separately as a cost
of hedging, being recognisedin a cost of hedging reserve within equity.

Amounts accumulated in other comprehensive income are reclassified to the Consolidated Income Statement in the same periods that the hedged items

affect profit orloss as follows:

«  Thereclassified gain orloss relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognisedin the Consolidated
Income Statement within finance income or costs respectively.

+  Whenthe hedgeditemis a non-financial asset, the amount recognised in other comprehensive income is transferred to the carryingamount of the
asset whenitisrecognised. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in profit or loss as the hedged item affects profit or loss.

Ifthe hedginginstrument nolonger meets the criteria for hedge accounting, expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, then hedge accounting is
discontinued prospectively. The cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in other comprehensive income remains there until the forecast transaction
occurs, unless the hedged transactionis no longer expected to occur, in which case the cumulative gain or loss that was previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is transferred to the Consolidated Income Statement.

Fair Value Hedges

Where derivative hedging instruments are designated as fair value hedges, any gain or loss arising from the remeasurement of the hedging instrument to fair
value isreportedinthe Consolidated Income Statement together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the
hedgedrisk. When the hedging instrument no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carryingamount of the hedged itemis
amortised to the Consolidated Income Statement over the period to maturity.

Net Investment Hedges

Hedges of netinvestments in foreign operations are accounted for in a similar manner to cash flow hedges. Any gain or loss on the hedging instrument
relating to the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portionis recognised
immediately in the Consolidated Income Statement within finance income or costs respectively. Gains and losses accumulatedin other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss when the foreign operationis sold.

Derivatives not Designated as Hedges
Changes inthe fair value of derivatives which are not designated for hedge accounting are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Group reports using the fair value hierarchy in relation toits assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value except for those which are exempt

as defined under IFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement. The fair value hierarchy categorises into three levels the inputs to valuation techniques used to measure

fair value, which are described as follows:

« Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets foridentical assets or liabilities;

« Level2:inputs, otherthan quoted prices included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability either directly (as prices) or indirectly
(derived from prices); and

« Level 3:inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

Provisions

Aprovisionis recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, anditis probable that an outflow of
resources willbe required to settle the obligation and the amount can be reliably estimated. If the effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting
the expected future cash flows at a pre-taxrate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks
specific to the obligation. Theincrease inthe provision due to the passage of time is recognised as a finance expense.

A contingentliability is not recognised but is disclosed where the existence of an obligation will only be confirmed by future events or where it is not probable

that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation or where the amount of the obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability.
Contingent assets are not recognised but are disclosed where aninflow of economic benefitsis probable.
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Finance Costs and Income

Finance costs comprise interest expense on borrowings (including amortisation of deferred debt issue costs), certain foreign currency translation losses
related to financing, unwinding of the discount on provisions, borrowing extinguishment costs, fair value loss onfinancial assets, fair value loss on put options
arisingin business combinations, netinterest cost on net pension liability, net monetary loss arising in hyperinflationary economies, the interest element of
lease payments andlosses on derivative instruments that are not designated as hedging instruments and are recognised in profit or loss. Borrowing costs are
recognised in profit orloss using the effective interest method. Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or construction of a qualifying
asset are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. All other borrowing costs are recognised as an expense in the Consolidated Income Statement.

Finance income comprises interestincome on funds invested, certain foreign currency translation gains related to financing, fair value gain onfinancial
assets, fair value gain on put options arising in business combinations, net monetary gain arising in hyperinflationary economies, gains on derivative
instruments that are not designated as hedginginstruments and are recognised in profit or loss and dividend income. Interestincome is recognised as
itaccrues using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised on the date that the Group's right to receive payment is established.

Income Taxes

Theincome tax expense recognised in each financial year comprises current and deferred tax andis recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement,
except to the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the related taxis similarly
recognised in other comprehensive income or in equity.

Current Income Tax
Current tax consists mainly of the expected tax payable or recoverable on the taxable income for the year using the applicable tax rates during the year
and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of previous years.

Deferred Income Tax

Deferredincome taxis provided using the liability method, on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets andliabilities in the Consolidated
Financial Statements and their tax bases. If the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business
combination that at the time of the transaction does not affect accounting nor taxable profit or loss, it is not recognised. Deferred tax s provided on temporary
differences arising oninvestments in subsidiaries and associates, except where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group
anditis probable that the temporary difference willnot reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax liabilities are not recognisedif they arise fromthe initial
recognition of goodwill.

The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carryingamount of assets and liabilities, using
taxrates enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not subject to discounting.

Adeferredtaxassetis recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.
Deferredtaxassets are reducedto the extent thatitis no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised.

Leases

Atinception of a contract, the Group assesses whether a contractis, or contains, alease. A contractis, or contains, alease, if the contract conveys aright to
controlthe use of anidentified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the
lease commencement date whichis the date at which the assetis made available for use by the Group.

The right-of-use assetis initially measured at cost, and subsequently at cost less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses and adjusted for
certain remeasurements of the lease liability. The cost of right-of-use assetsincludes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
restoration costs andlease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received. The right-of-use asset is depreciated
ona straight-line basis over the shorter of its estimated usefullife and the lease term. Where the lease contains a purchase option the asset is written of f
over the useful life of the asset whenitis reasonably certain that the purchase option will be exercised. Right-of-use assets are subject toimpairment testing.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments to be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments
less any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on anindex or a rate known at the commencement date, payments for a purchase
option, payments for an optional renewal period and termination option payments if the Group is reasonably certain to exercise those options. The lease
termis the non-cancellable period of the lease adjusted for any renewal options which are reasonably certain to be exercised or termination options which
are reasonably certain not to be exercised. Management applies judgement in determining whether it is reasonably certain that arenewal or termination
option will be exercised. The variable lease payments that do not depend on anindex or arate are recognised as an expense in the periodin which the event
or condition that triggers the payment occurs. The Group has elected to avail of the practical expedient not to separate lease components from any
associated non-lease components. Lease liabilities are included in borrowings.

Thelease payments are discounted using the lessee's incremental borrowing rate as the interest rate implicitin the lease is generally not readily determinable.
Incremental borrowing rates are determined using a build-up approach that uses externally benchmarked information adjusted to take consideration of
the lessee's risk profile and the specific lease characteristics. These characteristics include the type of leased asset, the term of the lease and the currency
ofthelease.

After the commencement date, the leaseliability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasuredif there is a modification,
achangeinfuture lease payments arising froma change inanindex or rate, or if the Group changes its assessment of whether itis reasonably certain to
exercise an option within the contract.

The Group has elected to apply the recognition exemptions for short-term and low-value leases and recognises the lease payments associated with these

leases as an expense in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the lease term. Short-term leases are leases with alease term of 12 months or less.
Low-value assets comprise certainitems of IT equipment and small items of office furniture.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued
Retirement Benefit Obligations
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans throughout its operations in accordance with local conditions and practice.

For defined contribution pension plans, once contributions have been paid, the Group has no further payment obligations. Contributions are recognised
as an employee benefit expense as service is received from employees in the Consolidated Income Statement. Prepaid contributions are recognised as an
asset only tothe extent that a cash refund or areduction in future payments is available.

The defined benefit pension plans are funded by payments to separately administered funds or in certain countries, in accordance with local practices,
schemeliabilities are unfunded and recognised as liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The costs andliabilities of defined benefit pension plans are calculated using the projected unit credit method. Actuarial calculations are prepared by
independent, professionally qualified actuaries at each reporting date. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows usinginterest rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in which the benefits will be paid,
and that have terms approximating to the terms of the related obligation.

Defined benefit costs are categorised as: (1) service cost; (2) netinterest expense orincome; and (3) remeasurement. Service cost includes current and past
service cost (which can be negative or positive) as well as gains and losses on settlements; it is included in operating profit. Past service costis recognised

at the earlier of the date when the plan amendment or curtailment occurs and the date that the Group recognises related restructuring costs. A gain or loss
on settlementis recognised whenthe settlement occurs. Netinterest, included within finance costs, is calculated by applying the discount rate to the net
defined benefitasset or liability at the beginning of the year. Remeasurement is comprised of the return on plan assets (excluding net interest) and actuarial
gains andlosses; it is recognised in other comprehensive income in the periodin which it arises andis not subsequently reclassified to the Consolidated
Income Statement.

The net surplus or deficit arising on the Group's defined benefit pension plans, together with the liabilities associated with the unfunded plans, are shown
either within non-current assets or liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The defined benefit pension asset or liability comprises the total for each
plan of the present value of the defined benefit obligation less the fair value of plan assets. Fair value of plan assets is based on market price information and
inthe case of published securities, itis the published bid price. Any pension asset is limited to the present value of economic benefits available in the form of
refunds from the plans or reductions in future contributions. The deferred taximpact of pension plan surpluses and deficits is disclosed separately within
deferredincome tax assets orliabilities, as appropriate.

Share-based Payments

The Group grants equity settled share-based payments to certain employees as part of their remuneration. The fair value of grants is determined at the
date of grant andis expensedin the Consolidated Income Statement over the vesting period with a corresponding increase in equity. Fair value incorporates
the effect of market-based conditions. Non-market-based vesting conditions are only taken into account when assessing the number of awards expected
to vest such that the cumulative expense recognised equates to the number of grants that actually vest. The periodic expense/credit recognisedin the
Consolidated Income Statement is calculated as the difference between the cumulative expense as estimated at the start and end of the period.

The cumulative expenseis reversed when an employee in receipt of share awards terminates service prior to completion of the vesting period or when
anon-market-based performance conditionis not expected to be met. No reversal of the cumulative charge is made where awards do not vest due to
amarket-based vesting condition.

Where the Group receives a tax deduction for share-based payments, deferred tax s provided on the basis of the difference between the market price of
the underlying equity at the date of the financial statements and the exercise price of the share award. As aresult, the deferred taximpact will not directly
correlate with the expense reported.

Proceeds received from the exercise of awards, net of any directly attributable transaction costs, are credited to the share capital and share
premium accounts.

Exceptional Items

The Group has adopted anincome statement format which seeks to highlight significant items within the Group results for the year. The Group believes

this formatis useful as it highlights one-offitems, where significant, such as reorganisation and restructuring costs, profit or loss on disposal of operations,
profit or loss on disposal of assets, impairment of assets, legislative and regulatory fines, defined benefit costs, foreign exchange gains or losses on currency
devaluations, profit or loss on early extinguishment of debt and fair value gains or losses on put options arising in business combinations. Judgementis used
by the Groupin assessing the particular items, which by virtue of their nature and size, are disclosed as exceptional items.

Emissions Rights and Obligations

As aresult of the European Union Emission Trading Scheme the Group receives free emission rights in certain countries. Rights are received annually and the
Groupis required to surrender rights equal toits actual emissions. A provisionis only recognised when actual emissions exceed the emission rights granted.
Any additional rights purchased are recognised at cost and they are not subsequently remeasured. Where excess certificates are sold to third parties, the
Group recognises the consideration receivable within cost of sales in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies continued

Government Grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value when there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and the Group will comply with any
related conditions. Grants that compensate the Group for expenses are offset against the related expense in the Consolidated Income Statementin the
same accounting periods. Grants related to the cost of an asset are recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement over the useful life of the asset within
administrative expenses.

Share Capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shownin equity as a deduction,
netof tax.

Own Shares
Ordinary shares acquired by the Company or purchased on behalf of the Company are deducted from equity. No gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss
onthe purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company's ordinary shares.

Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised as aliability in the periodin which they are declared by the Company. In the case of interim dividends, these
are considered to be declared when they are paid. Inthe case of final dividends, these are declared when approved by the shareholders at the Annual
General Meeting.

3. Significant Accounting Judgements, Estimates and Assumptions

Preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues,
expenses, assets andliabilities. These judgements, estimates and assumptions are subject to continuing re-evaluation and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable. Actual outcomes may differ significantly from
those estimates. No additional significant accountingjudgements, estimates and assumptions were identified for the Group as a result of the elevation by
the Board of the potentialimpact of climate change in the long-termto a principal risk for the Group. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant are set out below.

Significant Accounting Judgements

Consolidation of Structured Entities

The Groupis a party to anarrangement involving securitisation of certain of its trade receivables. The arrangement required the establishment of certain
special purpose entities ('SPEs') which are not owned by the Group. However, the SPEs are consolidated as management considers them to be controlled
by the Group. The securitised receivables and the borrowings of the SPEs are recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.

The Group has established a trust which facilitates the operation of the Group's long-termincentive plans. While the Group does not hold any of the equity
ofthe trust, the Directors believe that the Group controls its activities and therefore the financial statements of the trust are included in the Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Impairment of Goodwill

Judgementisrequiredin determining whether goodwillisimpaired or not. The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairment.
The recoverable amounts of groups of CGUs have been determined based on value-in-use calculations. The principal assumptions used to determine
value-in-use relate to future cash flows and the time value of money. Further information is provided in the Goodwill and Intangible Assets note.

Income Taxes

Provisions for taxes require judgementininterpreting tax legislation, current case law or practice. It may be unclear how tax law or practice applies to a
particular transaction or set of circumstances. In some instances this may not be known until a tax authority or a court makes a decision in an examination,
audit or appeal. The Group considers such uncertain tax positions together or separately depending on which approach better predicts how the
uncertainties canbe resolved. Where the Group concludes itis not probable that a tax authority will fully accept its assessment of an uncertain tax position,
it reflects the effect of the uncertainty as the most likely amount or the expected value. In addition, the Group recognises deferred tax assets, mainly
relating to unused tax losses, whenitis probable that the assets will be recovered through future profitability and planning. The assessment of recoverability
involves judgement.

Exceptional ltems

Judgementis requiredin determining which items by virtue of their nature and size are considered exceptional and separately disclosed in the Consolidated
Income Statement. The Group has outlined significant items which it believes are exceptional, due to both their nature and size, within the accounting policy
for exceptionalitemsin the Summary of Significant Accounting Policies note.

Significant Accounting Estimates and Assumptions

Measurement of Defined Benefit Obligations

The cost of defined benefit pension plans and the present value of pension obligations are determined using actuarial valuations. These valuations involve
making various assumptions that may differ significantly from actual developments in the future. The assumptions include determination of appropriate
discountrates, future salary increases, inflation, mortality rates and future pensionincreases. Due to the complex nature of the valuations the Group
employs aninternational network of professional actuaries to perform these valuations. The critical assumptions and estimates applied alongwith a
sensitivity analysis are provided in the Employee Benefits note.
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4. Segment and Revenue Information

The Group hasidentified operating segments based on the manner in which reports are reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker (CODM'). The
CODMis determined to be the executive management team responsible for assessing performance, allocating resources and making strategic decisions.
The Group has identified two operating segments: 1) Europe and 2) the Americas.

The Europe and the Americas segments are each highly integrated. Theyinclude a system of mills and plants that primarily produce a full line of
containerboard that is converted into corrugated containers within each segment. In addition, the Europe segment also produces other types of paper,
such as solidboard, sack kraft paper and graphic paper; and other paper-based packaging, such as solidboard packaging and folding cartons; and bag-in-box
packaging. The Americas segment, whichincludes a number of Latin American countries and the United States, also comprises forestry; other types of
paper, such as boxboard, sack paper and graphic paper; and paper-based packaging, such as folding cartons and paper sacks. Inter-segment revenue is not
material. No operating segments have been aggregated for disclosure purposes.

Segmentresults, assets andliabilities include items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on areasonable basis. Segment
capital expenditure is the total cost incurred during the year to acquire segment assets that are expected to be used for more than one year. Additionally,
there are central costs which represent corporate governance costs, including executive costs, and costs of the Group's legal, company secretarial, pension
administration, tax, treasury and controlling functions and other administrative costs.

Segment profitis measured based on EBITDA". Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, right-of-use assets, biological assets,
goodwilland intangible assets, inventories, trade and other receivables, deferredincome tax assets and cash and cash equivalents. Group centre assets are
comprised primarily of property, plant and equipment, other investments, derivative financial assets, deferredincome tax assets, cash and cash equivalents
andrestricted cash. Segmentliabilities are principally comprised of borrowings, operating liabilities, deferred income tax liabilities and employee benefits.
Group centre liabilities are comprised of items such as borrowings, employee benefits, derivative financialinstruments, deferred income tax liabilities and
certain provisions.

Segment capital expenditure comprises additions to property, plant and equipment (Note 11), right-of-use assets (Note 12) goodwillandintangible assets
(Note 13) andbiological assets (Note 16) and including additions resulting from acquisitions through business combinations (Note 31).

Inter-segment transfers or transactions are entered into under normal commercial terms and conditions that would also be available to unrelated third
parties. Inter-segment transactions are not material.

*

EBITDA as definedin the Supplementary Information section onpage 192.
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The The
Europe Americas Total Europe Americas Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

Revenue andresults €m €m €m €m €m €m
Revenue 7,847 2,260 10,107 6,645 1,885 8,530
EBITDA 1,302 441 1,743 1,180 372 1,552
Segment exceptional items - - - (19) (12) (31)
EBITDA after exceptionalitems 1,302 441 1,743 1,161 360 1,521
Unallocated centre costs (41) (42)
Share-based payment expense (69) (37)
Depreciation and depletion (net)’ (520) (508)
Amortisation (40) (43)
Finance costs (179) (179)
Financeincome 17 35
Share of associates' profit (after tax) 2 1
Profit before income tax 913 748
Income tax expense (234) (201)
Profit for the financial year 679 547
Assets
Segment assets 8,521 2,349 10,870 7,470 1913 9,383
Investmentin associates 1 12 13 1 11 12
Group centre assets 824 895
Total assets 11,707 10,290
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 3,186 714 3,900 2,928 568 3,496
Group centre liabilities 3,415 3,011
Totalliabilities 7,315 6,507
Other segmental disclosures
Segment capital expenditure:
Segment expenditure 864 265 1,129 438 146 584
Group centre expenditure - 1
Total expenditure 1,129 585
Depreciationand depletion (net):
Segment depreciation and depletion (net) 406 113 519 401 106 507
Group centre depreciation and depletion (net) 1 1
Total depreciation and depletion (net) 520 508
Amortisation:
Segment amortisation 24 16 40 24 19 43
Group centre amortisation - -
Total amortisation 40 43

Depreciationand depletionis net of fair value adjustments arising on biological assets.
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4. Segment and Revenue Information continued

Information about Geographical Areas

The Group has a presencein 36 countries worldwide. The following is a geographical analysis presented in accordance with IFRS 8, which requires disclosure
of information about country of domicile (Ireland) and countries with material revenue and non-current assets.

Non-current  Non-current

Revenue Revenue Assets Assets

2021 2020 2021 2020

€m €m €m €m

Ireland 109 111 40 51
Germany 1,403 1,207 489 533
France 1,094 969 538 513
Mexico 992 850 369 263
The Netherlands 924 760 617 549
United Kingdom 901 743 427 384
Other Europe”—eurozone 2,147 1,796 1,100 859
Other Europe’ —non-eurozone 1,233 1,029 646 629
Other Americas’ 1,304 1,065 712 696
10,107 8,530 4,938 4,477

Noindividual country represents greater than 8% of revenue.

Revenueis derived almost entirely from the sale of goods and is disclosed based on the location of production. No one customer represents greater than
10% of Group revenues. Non-current assets include marketing and customer related intangible assets, software, investment in associates, biological assets,
right-of-use assets and property, plant and equipment and are disclosed based on their location.

While the Group does not allocate goodwill by geographic area, if it were to ascribe goodwill to Ireland we estimate the amount would be less than 3%
(2020: less than 3%) of the total goodwill of the Group of €2,511 million (2020: €2,344 million).

Disaggregation of Revenue
The Group derives revenue from the following major product lines. The economic factors which affect the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of
revenue and cash flows from the sub categories of both paper and packaging products are similar.

2021 2020
Paper Packaging Total Paper Packaging Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m
Revenue by product:
Europe 1,328 6,519 7,847 1,005 5,640 6,645
The Americas 213 2,047 2,260 207 1,678 1,885
1,541 8,566 10,107 1,212 7,318 8,530

Packaging revenue is derived mainly from the sale of corrugated products. The remainder of packaging revenue is comprised of bag-in-box and other
paper-based packaging products.

5. Cost and Income Analysis

2021 2020
€m €m
Expenses by function:
Cost of sales 7,015 5,656
Distribution costs 823 725
Administrative expenses 1,196 1,227
Other operating expenses - 31
9,034 7,639
Exceptional itemsincluded in operating profit:
Reorganisation and restructuring costs - 35
Recognitionreward - 11
Past service cost— UK - (15)
- 31

There were no exceptionalitems within operating profitin 2021.
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5. Cost and Income Analysis continued

Exceptionalitems charged within operating profitin 2020 amounted to €31 million of which €35 million related to reorganisation and restructuring costs
inboth Europe and the Americas and €11 millionrelated to a Group-wide COVID-19 employee recognition reward, partly offset by a€15 million gainonthe
UK pension scheme as aresult of future pensionincreases being linked to CPIH instead of RPI.

2021 2020
€m €m

Expenses by nature:
Raw materials and consumables 3,653 2,697
Employee benefit expense excluding redundancy 2,294 2,177
Energy 657 420
Maintenance andrepairs 452 419
Transportation and storage costs 829 726
Depreciation, amortisation and depletion 560 551
Reorganisation and restructuring costs 2 38
Net remeasurement of loss allowance ontrade receivables (4) 25
Other expenses 591 586
Total 9,034 7,639

Included within the expenses by nature above are research and development expenses of €7 million (2020: €8 million). Research and development expenses
are included within administrative expensesin the Consolidated Income Statement.

Directors'remunerationis shown inthe Remuneration Report and in Note 30.

Auditors’ Remuneration

Other KPMG Other KPMG

KPMG Network KPMG Network
Ireland Firms Total Ireland Firms Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020
€m €m €m €m €m €m
Audit of entity financial statements 2.8 6.5 9.3 2.5 58 8.3
Otherassurance services - 0.1 0.1 - 0.3 0.3
Othernon-audit services 0.1 0.2 0.3 - 0.1 0.1
2.9 6.8 9.7 2.5 6.2 8.7

The audit fee for the Parent Company was €50,000 which is payable to KPMG, the Statutory Auditor (2020:€50,000).

6. Employee Benefit Expense

2021 2020
Number Number

Average number of persons employed by the Group by geographical area (full time equivalents):
Europe 30,405 29,969
The Americas 17,348 16,406

47,753 46,375

2021 2020
Note €m €m

The employee benefit expense comprises:
Wages and salaries 1,784 1,707
Socialinsurance costs 346 335
Share-based payment expense 69 37
Defined benefit pension expense 25 29 36
Defined contribution pension plan expense 25 66 66
Reorganisation and restructuring costs” 2 3
Chargedto operating profit— pre-exceptional 2,296 2,184
Exceptional—reorganisation and restructuring - 35
Exceptional —past service cost UK 25 = (15)
Exceptional —recognition reward - 11
Finance costs 25 7 12
Actuarial (gain)/loss on pension schemes recognised in other comprehensive income 25 (177) 9
Total employee benefit expense 2,126 2,236

These non-exceptional expenses arise in respect of individually immaterial restructurings across the Group
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2021 2020
Note €m €m
Finance costs:
Interest payable on bankloans and overdrafts 25 29
Interest payable onleases 10 10
Interest payable on other borrowings 86 89
Exceptional finance costs associated with debt restructuring 31 -
Foreign currency translationloss on debt 15 36
Fair value loss on derivatives not designated as hedges 2 1
Fair value loss on financial assets/liabilities - 2
Netinterest cost on net pension liability 25 7 12
Non monetaryloss—hyperinflation 3 -
Total finance costs 179 179
Finance income:
Otherinterest receivable (3) (3)
Foreign currency translation gain on debt (12) (29)
Fair value gain on derivatives not designated as hedges - (1
Fair value gain on financial assets/liabilities (2) (1)
Net monetary gain—hyperinflation - (1)
Total financeincome (17) (35)
Net finance costs 162 144
Exceptional finance costs of €31 millionin 2021 represented a redemption premium of €28 million together with the related accelerated write-off of
unamortised debt issue costs of €3 million due to the early redemption of bonds.
There were no exceptional finance items in 2020.
8. Income Tax Expense
Income tax expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
2021 2020
€m €m
Currenttax:
Europe 189 127
The Americas 76 49
265 176
Deferred tax (31) 25
Income tax expense 234 201
Current taxis analysed as follows:
Ireland 28 21
Foreign 237 155
265 176

Theincome tax expense for the financial year 2021 is €33 million higher than in the comparable period in 2020. This mainly arises from higher profitability and

other timingitems in Europe and the Americas.

The movement in deferred tax from an expense of €25 millionin 2020 to a credit of €31 millionin 2021 includes the effects of the reversal of timing
differences on which deferred tax has been previously recorded, the recognition of tax benefits on losses and other investment tax credits partly offset

by the negative impact ofincreases in tax rates ina number of countries.

In 2021, thereis alower tax credit of €4 million on exceptionalitems compared to a €9 million tax creditin the prior year.
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8. Income Tax Expense continued
Reconciliation of the Effective Tax Rate
The following table reconciles the applicable Republic of Ireland statutory tax rate to the effective tax rate (current and deferred) of the Group:

2021 2020
€m €m
Profit before income tax 913 748
Profit before income tax multiplied by the standard rate of tax of 12.5% (2020: 12.5%) 114 93
Effects of:
Income subject to different rates of tax 130 87
Otheritems (4) 22
Adjustment to prior period tax (1) (1)
Effect of previously unrecognised losses (5) -
234 201
Income Tax Recognised Within Equity
2021 2020
€m €m
Recognised inthe Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income:
Arising on defined benefit pension plans 32 (7)
Arising on derivative cash flow hedges = 1
Total recognisedin the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 32 (6)
Arising on hyperinflation 2 3
Total recognised within equity 34 (3)

Factors That May Affect the Future Tax Expense and Other Disclosure Requirements

Unremitted Earnings in Subsidiaries and Associates

The Group has not made provision for deferred taxin relation to temporary differences applicable to investments in subsidiaries on the basis that the Group
can control both the timing of and which temporary timing differences will reverse. The Group is not obliged to remit earnings from subsidiaries. It is probable
that the Group would only remit earnings which can benefit from the availability of a participation tax exemption or sufficient tax credits (actual or deemed)
to ensure there is no additional tax due. The aggregate amount of this temporary difference is approximately €2,179 million (2020:€1,553 million). Due to the
absence of controlinthe context of associates (significant influence by definition) deferred tax liabilities are recognised where necessary inrespect of the
Group'sinvestmentinthese entities.

The totaltax expense infuture periods will be affected by changes to the corporation tax rates in force andlegislative changes that may broaden the tax base
orintroduce other minimum taxes in the countries in which the Group operates. The tax expense may also be impacted by changes in the geographical mix

of earnings.

The current tax expense may also be impacted, inter alia, by changes in the excess of tax depreciation (capital allowances) over accounting depreciation,
the use of tax credits and the crystallisation of unrecognised deferred tax assets.

There are noincome tax consequences for the Company in respect of dividends which were proposed prior to the issuance of the Consolidated Financial
Statements for which a liability has not been recognised.
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Basic
Basic EPSis calculated by dividing the profit attributable to owners of the parent by the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue during the year
less ownshares.

2021 2020
Profit attributable to owners of the parent (€ million) 679 545
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue (million) 257 239
Basic EPS (cent) 263.9 2279

Diluted

Diluted EPSis calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary
shares. These comprise deferred and performance sharesissued under the Group's long-termincentive plans. Details of these plans are set out in Note 26.
Where the conditions governing exercisability and vesting of these shares have been satisfied as at the end of the reporting period, they are includedin the

computation of diluted earnings per ordinary share.

2021 2020
Profit attributable to owners of the parent (€ million) 679 545
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue (million) 257 239
Potential dilutive ordinary shares assumed (million) 3 2
Diluted weighted average ordinary shares (million) 260 241
Diluted EPS (cent) 261.1 225.7
Pre-exceptional

2021 2020
Profit attributable to owners of the parent (€ million) 679 545
Exceptionalitems included in profit before income tax (€ million) 31 31
Income tax on exceptional items (€ million) (4) 9)
Pre-exceptional profit attributable to owners of the parent (€ million) 706 567
Weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue (million) 257 239
Pre-exceptional basic EPS (cent) 274.5 236.9
Diluted weighted average ordinary shares (million) 260 241
Pre-exceptional diluted EPS (cent) 271.6 234.6
10. Dividends
The following dividends were declared and paid by the Group:

2021 2020

€m €m

Final: paid 87.4 cent per ordinary share on 7 May 2021 (2020: no final dividend was paid in 2020) 226 -
Interim: paid 29.3 cent per ordinary share on 22 October 2021 (2020: paid 80.9 cent per ordinary share on 11 September 2020
andafurther 27.9 cent on 11 December 2020) 76 260

302 260

The Boardis recommending a final dividend of 96.1 cent per share (approximately €250 million). Itis proposed to pay this dividend on 6 May 2022 to all ordinary
shareholders on the share register at the close of business on 8 April 2022, subject to the approval of the shareholders at the Annual General Meeting.
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11. Property, Plant and Equipment

Landand Plantand

Buildings  Equipment Total
€m €m €m

Financial year ended 31 December 2020
Opening net book amount 1,106 2,814 3,920
Reclassifications 73 (68) 5
Additions 1 465 466
Acquisitions 2 1 3
Depreciation charge (56) (373) (429)
Retirements and disposals (1) (2) (3)
Hyperinflation adjustment 2 6 8
Foreign currency translation adjustment (37) (94) (131)
At 31 December 2020 1,090 2,749 3,839
At 31 December 2020
Cost ordeemed cost 1,874 6,942 8,816
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (784) (4,193) (4,977)
Netbookamount 1,090 2,749 3,839
Financial year ended 31 December 2021
Openingnet book amount 1,090 2,749 3,839
Reclassifications 63 (64) (1)
Additions 1 570 571
Acquisitions 73 186 259
Depreciation charge (56) (369) (425)
Retirements and disposals (9) (17) (26)
Hyperinflation adjustment 4 10 14
Foreign currency translation adjustment 9 25 34
At 31 December 2021 1,175 3,090 4,265
At 31 December 2021
Cost ordeemed cost 2,089 7,667 9,756
Accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (914) (4,577) (5,491)
Net book amount 1,175 3,090 4,265

Land and Buildings
Includedinland and buildings is an amount for land of €387 million (2020: €377 million).

Construction in Progress
Includedinland and buildings and plant and equipment are amounts of €72 million (2020: €29 million) and €350 million (2020: €232 million) respectively,
for constructionin progress.

Assets Pledged as Security
Assets with a carrying value of €12 million (2020: €9 million) are pledged as security for loans held by the Group.

Capital Commitments
The following capital commitmentsinrelation to property, plant and equipment were authorised by the Directors, but have not been provided forin the
Consolidated Financial Statements:

2021 2020

€m €m

Contracted for 498 168
Not contracted for 649 235
1,147 403
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11. Property, Plant and Equipment continued
Impairments

Impairment tests for items of property, plant and equipment are performed on a cash-generating unit basis whenimpairment triggers arise. The recoverable
amounts of property, plant and equipment are based on the higher of fair value less costs to selland value-in-use. Value-in-use calculations are based on
cash flow projections and discount rates for items of property, plant and equipment. The Group considered the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic when
assessing property, plant and equipment for indicators of impairment. No impairment triggers were identified. Impairment charges are recognised within

cost of salesinthe Consolidated Income Statement. In 2021, the Group's impairment charge was nil (2020: nil).

Capitalised Borrowing Costs

In 2021, the Group capitalised borrowing costs of €2 million (2020: €1 million) on qualifying assets. Borrowing costs were capitalised at an average rate of

3.0% (2020:2.9%).

12. Right-of-use Assets/Lease Obligations
Amounts Recognised in the Consolidated Balance Sheet

2021 2020
€m €m
Right-of-use assets:
Landandbuildings 235 218
Vehicles 65 64
Plantand equipment 46 29
346 311
The Group presents lease liabilities in borrowings in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The amountsincluded within borrowings are as follows:
2021 2020
€m €m
Leaseliabilities:
Current 91 83
Non-current 289 263
380 346
Additions to right-of-use assets during 2021 were €98 million (2020: €79 million), of which €6 million (2020: nil) related to acquired right-of-use assets.
Amounts Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement
The Consolidated Income Statement includes the following amounts relating to leases:
2021 2020
€m €m
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets:
Land and buildings 46 45
Vehicles 31 31
Plantand equipment 11 9
88 85
2021 2020
€m €m
Interest expense on lease liabilities 10 10
Expensesrelating to short-termleases 14 11
Expensesrelating toleases of low-value assets 7 5
Expensesrelating to variable lease payments notincluded in the lease liabilities 7 9
Lease commitments for short-term leases are similar to the portfolio of short-term leases for which the costs were expensed to the Consolidated
Income Statement.
Amounts Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
2021 2020
€m €m
Total cash outflow for leases 126 126

Leasing Activities

The Group enters into leases for arange of assets, principally relating to property. These property leases, which consist of office buildings, warehouses and
manufacturing facilities, have varying terms, renewal rights, including periodic rent reviews linked with indices. The Group also leases vehicles which include

motor vehicles for management and sales functions and trucks for distribution.
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12. Right-of-use Assets/Lease Obligations continued

Leasing Activities continued

The effect of excluding future cash outflows arising from variable lease payments, termination options, residual value guarantees, andleases not yet
commenced from lease liabilities was not material for the Group. Income from subleasing and gains/losses on sale and leaseback transactions were not
material for the Group. The terms and conditions of these leases do notimpose significant financial restrictions on the Group.

Extension and Termination Options

Extensionandtermination options are included in a number of property, equipment and vehicle leases throughout the Group. They are used to maximise
operational flexibility in terms of managing the assets usedin the Group's operations. In determining the lease term, management considers all facts and
circumstances that create an economic incentive to exercise an extension option, or not exercise a termination option. Extension options (or periods after
termination options) are only included in the lease termif the lease is reasonably certain to be extended (or not terminated).

In determining whether or not a renewal or termination option will be taken, the following factors are normally the most relevant:

« Ifthereare significant penalties to terminate (or not to extend), the Group s typically reasonably certain to extend (or not terminate).

« Ifleaseholdimprovements are expected to have a significant remaining value, when the option becomes exercisable, the Group is typically
reasonably certain to extend (or not to terminate).

« Strategicimportance of the asset to the Group.

+ Climaterelated considerations.

« Pastpractice.

« Costsandbusiness disruption to replace the asset.

Thelease termisreassessedifan optionis actually exercised (or not exercised) and this decision has not already been reflected in the lease termas part
of a previous determination. The assessment of reasonable certainty is revised only if a significant change in circumstances occurs, which affects this
assessment, and this is within the control of the lessee.

Impairments

Impairment tests for right-of-use assets are performed on a cash-generating unit basis when impairment triggers arise. The recoverable amounts of
right-of-use assets are based on the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value-in-use. Value-in-use calculations are based on cash flow projections and
discount rates for right-of-use assets. The Group considered the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic and climate related considerations when assessing
right-of-use assets for indicators of impairment. No impairment triggers were identified. In 2021, the Group's impairment charge was nil (2020: nil).

13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Intangible Assets

Marketing Customer Software
Goodwill Related Related Assets Total
€m €m €m €m €m

Financial year ended 31 December 2020
Openingnet book amount 2,383 6 167 60 2,616
Additions - - - 21 21
Acquisitions 7 - - - 7
Amortisation charge - (2) (26) (15) (43)
Reclassifications - - - 6 6
Hyperinflation adjustment 9 - - - 9
Foreign currency translation adjustment (55) - (5) (4) (64)
At 31 December 2020 2,344 4 136 68 2,552
At 31 December 2020
Cost ordeemed cost 2,566 16 288 226 3,096
Accumulated amortisation and impairment losses (222) (12) (152) (158) (544)
Net book amount 2,344 4 136 68 2,552
Financial year ended 31 December 2021
Openingnet book amount 2,344 4 136 68 2,552
Additions - - - 21 21
Acquisitions 152 8 11 - 171
Amortisation charge = (2) (23) (15) (40)
Disposals (14) - - - (14)
Hyperinflation adjustment 13 = = = 13
Foreign currency translation adjustment 16 - 2 1 19
At 31 December 2021 2,511 10 126 75 2,722
At 31 December 2021
Costordeemed cost 2,734 26 308 241 3,309
Accumulated amortisation andimpairment losses (223) (16) (182) (166) (587)
Net book amount 2,511 10 126 75 2,722

The useful lives of intangible assets other than goodwill are finite and range from two to twenty years. Amortisationis recognised as an expense within cost
of sales and administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.
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13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets continued

Marketing relatedintangible assets relate mainly to trade names and non-compete agreements which arise from business combinations and are amortised
over their estimated usefullives of two to tenyears. Customer related intangible assets relate mainly to acquisitions and to customer relationships which
arise frombusiness combinations. They are amortised over their estimated useful lives of four to twenty years with a weighted average useful life of 12 years.
Software assets relate to computer software, other than software for items of machinery that cannot operate without it; such software isregarded as an
integral part of the related hardware and is classified as property, plant and equipment. Computer software assets have estimated usefullives of three to
eight years for amortisation purposes.

In 2021, goodwill of €119 million arose on the acquisition of Verzuolo, a containerboard millin Northern Italy. This amount will be revised following the
completion of afair value exercise on the identifiable net assets in 2022. Goodwill of €24 million and intangible assets of €12 million arose on the acquisition
of Cartonbox, a folding carton company in Mexico. Goodwill of €9 million and intangible assets of €7 million arose on the acquisition of Cartones del Pacifico,
apaper-based packaging company in Peru.

In 2020, goodwill of €5 million arose on the acquisition of a former associate in Colombia (Note 15) and €2 million arose on the 2019 acquisition of plants
in Bulgaria.

Impairment Testing of Intangible Assets
The Group assesses whether there is anindication that anintangible asset may be impaired. In 2021, such an assessment did not give rise to animpairment
charge (2020: nil).

Impairment Testing of Goodwill

Goodwill arising as part of a business combinationis allocated to groups of cash-generating units ((CGUs') for the purpose of impairment testing based on
the Group's existing business segments or, where appropriate, by recognition of anew CGU. The CGU groups represent the lowest level at which goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and are not larger than the operating segments determined in accordance with IFRS 8, Operating Segments.
Atotal of 16 groups (2020: 15) of CGUs have beenidentified and these are analysed between the two operating segments as follows:

2021 2020
Number Number
Eurozone 5 5
Eastern Europe 1 1
Scandinavia 1 1
United Kingdom 1 1
Bag-in-box 1 1
Europe 9 9
The Americas 7 6
16 15

Asummary of the allocation of the carrying value of goodwill by operating segmentis as follows:
2021 2020
€m €m
Europe 2,170 2,055
The Americas 341 289
2,511 2,344

Noimpairment arose in 2021 inany CGU as the recoverable amount of the groups of CGUs, based on value-in-use and estimated using the methodology
outlined below, exceeded the carryingamount.

Impairment Testing Methodology and Results

The recoverable amount of each CGUis based on a value-in-use calculation. The cash flow forecasts for the purposes of these calculations are based on a
nine-year plan approved by senior management. The impact of COVID-19 was considered when preparing cash flow forecasts for each CGU. The potential
impact of climate change, whichiis a principal risk in the long-term for the Group, was also considered when preparing cash flow forecasts for each CGU, with
none of the CGUs determined to be at risk of being significantly impactedin the forecast period. As aresult, no adjustments were applied to the assumptions
to specifically incorporate the effect of climate-related risks. Cash flow forecasts use growth factors consistent with historical growth rates as adjusted for
the cyclical nature of the business and are validated by reference to external data where available. The terminal value is estimated by applying an appropriate
earnings multiple to the average cash flows for years one to nine. The Group believes a nine-year forecast is appropriate to use for the impairment test, due
tothe cyclical nature of the business in which the Group operates and the long-termlives of its assets.

Forecasts are derived from a combination of internal and external factors based on historical experience and take into account the cyclicality of cash flows
typically associated with these groups of CGUs. The cash flows, including terminal value estimations, are discounted using appropriate pre-tax discount rates.
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13. Goodwill and Intangible Assets continued

Impairment Testing Methodology and Results continued

Key assumptionsinclude management's estimates of future profitability, replacement capital expenditure requirements, trade working capital investment
needs and discount rates. Key assumptions in determining terminal value include earnings multiples.

Ofthe goodwillallocated to each of the 16 groups of CGUs, three units individually account for between 10% and 20% of the total carrying amount of
€2,511 million and are summarised in the table below. All other units account individually for less than 10% of the total carryingamount and are not regarded
asindividually significant. The additional disclosures required under IAS 36, Impairment of Assets in relation to significant goodwillamounts arisingin each of
the three groups of CGUs are as follows:

Europe Europe Europe
France Benelux Germany, Austria and Switzerland
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Carrying amount of goodwill (€ million) 307 307 408 408 427 427
Basis of recoverable amount Value-in-use Value-in-use  Value-in-use Value-in-use  Value=-in-use Value-in-use
Discount rate applied (pre-tax) 9.6% 9.2% 9.3% 9.4% 9.9% 9.6%
Earnings multiple used for terminal value 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.1 7.1
Excess of value-in-use (€ million) 562 368 192 267 736 357

The key assumptions used for these three CGUs are consistent with those addressed above. The values applied to each of the key assumptions are derived
from a combination of internal and external factors based on historical experience and take into account the cyclicality of cash flows typically associated with
these groups of CGUs.

The recoverable amount of the Argentina and Chile CGU is estimated to exceed the carrying value of the CGU by €2 million (2020: €2 million). The goodwill
relating to our operations in Argentina and Chile represents 1% of the Group's total goodwill. We will continue to monitor the CGU throughout 2022. For the
other CGUs, any reasonably possible movementinthe assumptions usedin the impairment test would not resultin animpairment.

14. Financial Assets
Other Investments - Group
2021 2020
€m €m
Listed" and unlisted debtinstruments —FVPL 11 11
At 31 December 11 11

Listed onarecognised stock exchange
Listed and Unlisted Debt Instruments
The Group designates listed and unlisted debtinstruments as FVPL as they do not qualify for measurement at either amortised cost or FVOCl based onthe
business model.
In 2021, fair value gains of nil (2020: €1 million gain) on debt instruments were recognised in finance income.

Information about the Group's fair value measurement of its investments is included in Note 29.

Investment in Subsidiaries - Company

2021 2020

€m €m

At 1 January 2,872 2,100
Investmentin the year 43 772
At 31 December 2,915 2,872

InNovember 2020, the Company raised gross proceeds of €660 million following the pricing of the non-pre-emptive placing of new ordinary shares.
The Company made a capital contribution to subsidiary undertakings of €669 million, primarily financed by the proceeds from the placing. In addition the
Company made a furtherinvestmentin Smurfit Kappa Investments Limited for new shares of €103 million.

The carrying value of the financial asset held by the Company was considered in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic and no impairment trigger was
identified based on the performance and market capitalisation of the Group.
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15. Investment in Associates

2021 2020

€m €m

At 1 January 12 16
Share of profit for the year 2 1
Dividends received from associates (1) (1
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (2)
Fair value uplift on associate investment = 4
Associate becoming a subsidiary - (6)
At 31December 13 12

On 1 April 2020, the Group acquired 50.2% of Occidental de Empaques S.A. (Odempa'), a paper sack plantin Colombia. This increased the Group's interest
in Odempa from 49.8% to 100%, and resulted in the previously held associate becoming a subsidiary. In accordance with IFRS, the Group's previously held
49.8% associate interest was remeasured fromits carrying value of €2 million to a fair value of €6 million resulting in a fair value gain of €4 million. This gain,
together with the recycling of €1 million of currency translation losses from the currency translation reserve, resulted in a net gain of €3 millionin the
Consolidated Income Statement. The fair value of €6 million formed part of the acquisition accounting for the consolidation of Odempa on 1 April 2020.

16. Biological Assets
2021 2020
€m €m

At 1 January 118 117

Increases due to new plantations 9 9

Harvested timber transferred to inventories (10) (11)
Change infair value less estimated costs to sell 3 17

Foreign currency translation adjustment (7) (14)
At 31 December 113 118

Current 10 11

Non-current 103 107

At 31 December 113 118

Approximate harvest by volume (tonnes ‘000) 640 834

At 31 December 2021, the Group's biological assets consist of 68,000 (2020: 67,000) hectares of forest plantations which are held for the production of
paper and packaging products or sale to third parties. In Colombia, the plantations provide the Group's mills with a significant proportion of their total wood
fibre needs.

Measurement of Fair Values

Fair Value Hierarchy

The Group's biological assets are measured at fair value and have been categorised within level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. There were no transfers between
any levels during the year.

Valuation Techniques
The Group's biological assets comprise two species of forest plantations, pine and eucalyptus which are categorised as young or adult plantations for the
purpose of determining the measurement of fair value.

The age threshold for young pine plantations is 96 months and for young eucalyptus plantations is 48 months. As young plantations are not available to sell
or harvest, the cost approachis used to measure their fair value. The cost approachis based on the annually published index by the Colombian government
which details the cost of establishing and maintaining a hectare for each species across various age brackets. The number of hectares plantedis recorded
inthe Group's Forestry Information System. The value of young plantations at 31 December 2021 was €11 million (2020: €11 million).

The fair value of adult plantations is calculated using third party market prices in active markets adjusted for estimated costs to sell with eucalyptus based
onthe 12-month moving average of third party purchases and pine based on third party selling prices. Volumes are determined using an internally
developed statistical model which contains data from the last 25 years. The statistical model applies growing equations using historical yields to provide
an approximation of the yield of a particular plantation area at a pointin time, based on a number of factors including the particular species of the tree,
age and location of the plantation. The parameters used in the model are subject to continual refinement based on periodic measurements of a sample
of growing trees and actual yields. Pine trees are further classified by use, as either pulpwood or timber wood based upon historical experience. This
classification determines the market price used in the fair value measurement of the pine plantations. In 2020, the proportion of pine trees classified as
timber woodincreased following a reassessment of the volumes used for timber wood purposes based on historical data. This resultedin a fair value gain
of €9 million. There has been no change inthe proportion of pine trees classified as timber woodin 2021.
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16. Biological Assets continued
Risk Management Strategy
The Groupis exposed to anumber of risks related toits plantations:

Regulatory and Environmental Risks

The Groupis subject to laws and regulations in various countries in which it operates. The Group has established environmental policies and procedures
aimed at ensuring compliance with local environmental and other laws. Management performs regular reviews to identify environmental risks and to ensure
that the systemsin place are adequate to manage those risks.

Supply and Demand Risk

The Group is exposed to risks arising from market fluctuations in the price and sales volume of similar wood. Where possible the Group manages this risk
by aligningits harvest volume to demand for its manufactured products. Management performs regular industry trend analysis to ensure that the Group's
pricing structureisin line with the market and to ensure that projected harvest volumes are consistent with the expected demand.

Climate and Other Risks

The Group's forests are exposed to the risk of damage from climatic changes, diseases, fires and other natural forces. Changes in global climate conditions
couldintensify one or more of these events. Periods of drought and associated high temperatures may increase the risk of forest fires and insect outbreaks.
In addition to their effects on forest yields, extreme weather events may also increase the cost of operations. The Group has extensive processes in place
aimed at monitoring and mitigating these risks through proactive management and early detection, including regular forest health inspections and industry
pestanddisease surveys.

17. Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilities

Deferredtaxassets andliabilities are offset where there is alegally enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and where they relate to
income taxes levied by the same tax authority on either a taxable entity or different taxable entities where their intentionis to settle the balances on anet
basis. Thisis set out below:

2021 2020

€m €m

Deferredtaxassets 394 391
Deferred tax assets/liabilities available for offset (245) (219)
149 172

Deferredtaxliabilities 420 410
Deferred tax assets/liabilities available for offset (245) (219)
175 191

Deferredtax assets have been recognisedinrespect of deductible temporary differences to the extent thatitis probable that taxable profit willbe available
against which the deductible temporary difference can be utilised.

Deferredtaxassets have been recognisedinrespect of tax losses available for carry forward when the Group considers itis probable that future taxable
profit willbe available against which the unused tax losses can be utilised. Where the Group considers that the recovery of such losses is not probable

no assetis recognised.

The movementin net deferred tax balances during the year was as follows:

2021 2020

Note €m €m

At 1 January (19) 10

Movement recognised inthe Consolidated Income Statement 8 31 (25)

Movement recognisedinthe Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (38) 6

Acquisitions and disposals (5) (2)
Transfer between current and deferred tax 2

Hyperinflation adjustment —recognised in equity 8 (2) (3)

Foreign currency translation adjustment 5 (5)

At 31December (26) (19)
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The movementsin deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of balances within the same jurisdiction,

were as follows:

Retirement
Benefit Derivative
Obligations Tax Losses Fair Values Other Total
€m €m €m €m €m
Deferred tax assets
At 1 January 2020 111 98 4 167 380
Recognisedinthe Consolidated Income Statement (10) (11) - 41 20
Recognised inthe Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income 7 - (1) - 6
Foreign currency translation adjustment (2) (4) (2) 7) (15)
At 31 December 2020 106 83 1 201 391
Reclassifications - - - 2 2
Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement (11) (12) - 58 35
Recognised inthe Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive
Income (38) = = = (38)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 1 1 - 2 4
At 31 December 2021 58 72 1 263 394
Intangible Biological
Accelerated Tax Assets AssetsFair
Depreciation Fair Values Values Other Total
€m €m €m €m €m
Deferred taxliabilities
At 1 January 2020 304 9 3 54 370
Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement 31 - - 14 45
Acquisitions and disposals - - - 2 2
Hyperinflation 1 - - 2 3
Foreign currency translation adjustment - - (12) (10)
At 31 December 2020 338 9 3 60 410
Reclassifications (18) 18 - - -
Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement (15) - 1 18 4
Acquisitions and disposals 2 3 - - 5
Hyperinflation 1 - - 1 2
Foreign currency translation adjustment (1) - - - (1)
At 31 December 2021 307 30 4 79 420
Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following (tax effects):
2021 2020
€m €m
Taxlosses 14 19

No deferred tax assetis recognisedin respect of the above assets on the grounds that there is insufficient evidence that the assets will be recoverable.

Inthe event that sufficient profits are generated in the relevant jurisdictions in the future these assets may be recovered.

No deferred tax assets have been recognisedin respect of gross tax losses amounting to €57 million (2020: €85 million) that can be carried forward against
future taxableincome. The expiry dates in respect of these losses are as follows:

TaxLosses

2021

Expiry dates dix
1 January 2022 to 31 December 2022 2
1 January 2023 to 31 December 2023 1
Greaterthan 4 years 2
Indefinite 52
57
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18. Inventories

2021 2020
€m €m
Raw materials 301 178
Workin progress a7 33
Finished goods 471 347
Consumables and spare parts 227 215
1,046 773
19. Trade and Other Receivables
Group Group Company Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€m €m €m €m
Amounts falling due within one financial year:
Trade receivables 1,830 1,387 - —
Less:loss allowance (44) (53) = -
Tradereceivables—net 1,786 1,334 - -
Amounts receivable from associates 2 3 - -
Otherreceivables 248 118 - -
Prepayments 101 80 = -
Amounts due from Group companies - - 233 256
2,137 1,535 233 256
Amounts falling due after more than one financial year:
Otherreceivables 26 28 - -
2,163 1,563 233 256

The carryingamount of trade and other receivables equate to their fair values due to their short-term maturities.

The Group has securitised €765 million (2020: €610 million) of its trade receivables. The securitised receivables have not been derecognised as the
Group remains exposed to certainrelated credit risk. As a result, both the underlying trade receivables and the associated borrowings are shownin the
Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Amounts due from Group companies are unsecured and repayable on demand. There were no past due orimpaired receivables from Group companies
at 31 December 2021 (2020: nil) and any expected credit loss is not material.

Impairment Losses
The movementinthe allowance forimpairmentin respect of trade receivables was as follows;

2021 2020

€m €m

At 1 January 53 32
Net remeasurement of loss allowance (4) 25
Trade receivables written off as uncollectable (5) (3)
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (1)
At 31 December 44 53

Trade debtors arise from a wide and varied customer base spread throughout the Group's operations and as such there is no significant concentration of
creditrisk. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers over certain thresholds and all customers are subject to continued monitoring at operating
company level. Credit limits are reviewed on a regular basis. Many of the Group's customers have been transacting with the Group over an extended period
and theincidence of bad debts has been low.

The Group applies the simplified approach to providing for expected credit losses prescribed by IFRS 9, which permits the use of the lifetime expected loss
provisionfor all trade receivables. To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as, current relationship with the customer, industry in which the customer operates, geographical location of customers, historical information on
payment patterns, terms of payment and the days past due.
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19. Trade and Other Receivables continued

Impairment Losses continued

The expectedloss rates are based on the historical payment profiles of sales and the corresponding historical creditlosses experienced. The historical loss
rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic factors if there is evidence to suggest that these factors affect the
ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The global financial uncertainty surrounding the COVID-19 pandemic has now lessened as many countries
begin to emerge from the pandemic and government restrictions are being lifted across the many jurisdictions in which the Group's customers operate.
The Group's customers primarily operate in the FMCG sector, which has proved resilient during the pandemic and to date. There has been no significant
deteriorationin the aging of trade receivables or extension of debtor days in the year. This has resulted in a decrease in the expected credit loss rate, and
consequently the impairment loss allowance, compared to the prior year. The adjustment to the loss rate was determined having regard to various factors,
including but not limited to, GDP and the Group's experience of bad debts during previous economic downturns. Reflecting past experience and the
reduced economic risk to the Group relating to the COVID-19 pandemic, the credit loss allowance recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement

asat 31 December 2021 is a credit of €4 million (2020: €25 million charge). The total provision forimpairmentloss at 31 December 2021 represents 2.4%
(2020: 3.8%) of gross trade receivables.

Onthatbasis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2021 was determined as follows for trade receivables:

2021 2020
More Than More Than
1to90Days 90Days Past 1to90Days 90 Days Past
Current PastDue Due Total Current PastDue Due Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m
Gross carryingamount 1,586 222 22 1,830 1,196 165 26 1,387
Lossallowance 6 16 22 a4 8 19 26 53

Impairmentlossesinrespect of trade receivables are included in administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement. Trade receivables written
offas uncollectable are generally eliminated from trade receivables and the loss allowance when there is no expectation of recovering additional cash.
Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group
and a pattern of failure to make contractual payments.

Trade receivables with a contractual amount of €5 million (2020: €3 million) written off during the period are still subject to enforcement activity.

20. Net Movement in Working Capital

2021 2020

€m €m

Changeininventories (246) 14
Changeintrade and other receivables (492) 22
Changeintrade and other payables 624 59
Net movement in working capital (114) 95

21. Movements of Liabilities Within Cash Flows Arising from Financing Activities and Net Debt Reconciliation
Liabilities from Financing Activities Adjustments
Derivatives  Changesin Derivatives
Long & Heldto Liabilities Heldto
Medium- Hedge Arisingfrom Hedge Cashand
Short-term term Lease Long-term Financing Long-term Cash Restricted

Borrowings Borrowings Liabilities Borrowings Activities Borrowings Equivalents Cash Net Debt

€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 January 2020 (90) (3,202) (377) (3) (3,672) 3 172 14 (3,483)
Cashflows 34 298 91 (9) 414 9 685 (4) 1,104
Acquired (1) - - - (1) - - - (1)

Currency translation adjustment 11 41 14 1 67 (1) 19 - 85
Other non-cash movements (10) 4 (74) 6 (74) (6) - - (80)
At 31 December 2020 (56) (2,859) (346) (5) (3,266) 5 876 10 (2,375)
Cashflows’ 25 (405) 88 9) (301) 9 (37) 4 (325)
Acquired (13) (8) (5) - (26) - - = (26)

Disposed 3 - - - 3 - - - 3
Currency translation adjustment 3 (29) (12) 10 (28) (10) (12) - (50)
Other non-cash movements (7) - (105) (1) (113) 1 - - (112)
At 31 December 2021 (45) (3,301) (380) (5) (3,731) 5 827 14 (2,885)

In 2021, €9 million of cash flows pertaining to the redemption of debt was classified as an operating cash flow within interest paid.
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22. Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash and Cash Equivalents

2021 2020

€m €m

Cashand current accounts 100 67
Short-term deposits 755 824
Cash and cash equivalents 855 891
Cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
Cash and cash equivalents 855 891
Bank overdrafts and demandloans used for cash management purposes (28) (15)
Cash and cash equivalents in the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 827 876
Restricted cash 14 10

At 31 December 2021, cash of €6 million (2020: €3 million) was held in restricted securitisation bank accounts which were not available for transfer to other
Group subsidiaries or for use outside the Group. A further €8 million (2020: €7 million) of restricted cash was held in other Group subsidiaries and by a trust
which facilitates the operation of the Group's long-termincentive plans.

23. Capital and Reserves
Share Capital
The authorised share capital of the Company comprises ordinary shares and various classes of convertible shares.

Restriction on Transfer of Shares

The Directors, at their absolute discretion and without assigning any reason therefore, may decline to register any transfer of a share whichis not fully paid or
any transfer to or by a minor or person of unsound mind but this shall not apply to a transfer of such a share resulting from a sale of the share through a stock
exchange onwhich the shareis listed.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Directors may also refuse to register any instrument of transfer (whether or not itisin respect of a fully paid share) unless
itis:a)lodged at the Registered Office or at such other place as the Directors may appoint; b) accompanied by the certificate for the shares to whichit relates
and such other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the right of the transferor to make the transfer; c) in respect of only one class of
shares; and d) infavour of not more than four transferees.

Allconvertible shares (classes B, C, D convertible shares) are subject to restrictions as to their transferability. Generally they are not transferable either
atall or without consent of the Directors, save by transmission onthe death of a holder.

Ordinary Shares

Subject to the Articles of Association of SKG plc, the holders of ordinary shares are entitled to share in any dividends in proportion to the number of shares
held by them and are entitled to one vote for every share held by them at a general meeting. On a return of capital (whether on repayment of capital,
liquidation or otherwise) the assets and/or capitallegally available to be distributed shall firstly be distributed amongst the holders of ordinary shares,

in proportion to the number of ordinary shares held by them, of the nominal value of their ordinary shares, secondly (to the extent available) distributed
amongst the holders of convertible shares, in proportion to the number of convertible shares held by them, of the nominal value of their convertible
shares and the balance (if any) shall be distributed amongst the holders of ordinary shares in proportion to the number of ordinary shares held by them.

Convertible Shares

The holders of convertible shares have no right to participate in the profits of SKG plc and are not entitled to receive notice of, attend or vote at general
meetings or to vote on any members' resolution (save for any resolution with regard to the rights of convertible shares). Onreturn of capital (whether on
repayment of capital, liquidation or otherwise) the assets and/or capitallegally available to be distributed shall, subject first to the rights of the holders of
ordinary shares be distributed amongst the holders of convertible shares, in proportion to the number of convertible shares held by them, of the nominal
value of their convertible shares. At 31 December 2020, all exercisable convertible shares had lapsed and are no longer convertible into ordinary shares.

Restriction of Rights

Ifthe Directors determine that a Specified Event as definedin the Articles of Association of SKG plc has occurredinrelationto any share or shares, the
Directors may serve a notice to such effect on the holder or holders thereof. Upon the expiry of fourteen days from the service of any such notice, for solong
as such notice shallremainin force no holder or holders of the share or shares specified in such notice shall, in relation to such specified shares, be entitled to
attend, speak or vote either personally, by representative or by proxy at any general meeting of the Company or at any separate general meeting of the class
of shares concerned or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to any such meeting.

The Directors shall, where the shares specified in such notice represent not less than 0.25 per cent of the class of shares concerned, be entitled: to withhold
payment of any dividend or other amount payable (including sharesissuable inlieu of dividend) in respect of the shares specifiedin such notice; and/or to
refuse to register any transfer of the shares specified in such notice or any renunciation of any allotment of new shares or debentures made in respect
thereof unless such transfer or renunciation is shown to the satisfaction of the Directors to be a bona fide transfer or renunciation to another beneficial
owner unconnected with the holder or holders or any person appearing to have an interestin respect of which a notice has been served.
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Supplementary Information

2021 2020
€m €m
Authorised
Ordinary shares
9,910,931,085 Ordinary shares of €0.001 each 10 10
Convertible shares of €0.001 each
2,356,472 Class A1 - -
2,356,471 Class A2 - -
2,355,972 Class A3 - -
30,000,000 Class B = -
30,000,000 Class C - -
75,000,000 Class D = -
10 10
Called Up, Issued and Fully Paid Share Capital of the Company
Numbers of Shares of €0.001 Each
Convertible Shares Total
ClassB ClassC ClassD Total Ordinary Shares Shares €m
At 1 January 2020 2,089,514 2,089,514 835,500 5,014,528 237,888,327 242,902,855 -
Class D shares converted to ordinary shares - - (49,014) (49,014) 49,014 - -
Issue of Deferred Annual Bonus Plan Matching Shares - - - 630,591 630,591 -
Issue of new shares - - - 19,411,765 19,411,765 -
At 31 December 2020 2,089,514 2,089,514 786,486 4,965,514 257,979,697 262,945,211 -
At 1 January 2021 2,089,514 2,089,514 786,486 4,965,514 257,979,697 262,945,211 -
Issue of Performance Share Plan shares - - - 1,054,062 1,054,062 -
At 31 December 2021 2,089,514 2,089,514 786,486 4,965,514 259,033,759 263,999,273 -

At 31 December 2021, ordinary shares represented 98.1% and convertible shares represented 1.9% of issued share capital (2020: 98.1% and 1.9% respectively).
The called up, issued and fully paid share capital of the Company at 31 December 2021 was €263,999 (2020:€262,945).

The exercisable period of Class D convertible shares ended on 31 December 2020, any shares not converted into ordinary shares at that date have lapsed.

The Company completed the placing of 19,411,765 shares in November 2020. The placing shares represented 8.1% of the Company's issued ordinary share
capitalimmediately prior to the placing and raised gross proceeds of €660 million. Transaction costs of €12 millionin relation to the placing were deducted

fromretained earnings.

Share Premium

Share premium of €2,646 million (2020: €2,646 million) relates to the share premium arising on share issues.

Other Reserves

Otherreservesincludedin the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity are comprised of the following:

Foreign Share-
Reverse Cash Flow Costof Currency based
Acquisition Hedging Hedging Translation Payment Own FVOCI
Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Shares Reserve Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1 January 2021 575 4 2 (556) 241 (49) (10) 207
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - - 15 - - - 15
Effective portion of changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges - (3) - - - - - (3)
Changesin fair value of cost of hedging - - (1) - - - - (1)
Total other comprehensive (expense)/income - (3) (1) 15 - - - 11
Share-based payment - - - - 64 - - 64
Net shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust - - - - = (22) = (22)
Shares distributed by SKG Employee Trust - - - - (12) 12 - -
At 31 December 2021 575 1 1 (541) 293 (59) (10) 260
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23. Capital and Reserves continued
Other Reserves continued

Foreign
Reverse CashFlow Costof Currency  Share-based
Acquisition Hedging Hedging Translation Payment Own FVOCI
Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Reserve Shares Reserve Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m €m €m

At 1 January 2020 575 (2) 2 (387) 215 (42) (10) 351
Other comprehensive income
Foreign currency translation adjustments - - - (161) - - - (161)
Effective portion of changes in fair value of
cash flow hedges - 6 - - - - - 6
Total other comprehensive income/(expense) - 6 - (161) - - - (155)
Purchase of non-controlling interest - - - (8) - - - (8)
Share-based payment - - - - 35 - - 35
Net shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust - - - - - (16) - (16)
Shares distributed by SKG Employee Trust - - - - 9) 9 - -
At 31 December 2020 575 4 2 (556) 241 (49) (10) 207

Reverse Acquisition Reserve
This reserve arose on the creation of a new parent of the Group prior to listing.

Cash Flow Hedging Reserve
This reserve comprises the effective portion of the cumulative net change in the fair value of cash flow hedging instruments (net of tax) related to hedged
transactions that have not yet occurred.

Cost of Hedging Reserve

The cost of hedging reserve reflects the gain or loss on the portion excluded from the designated hedging instrument that relates to the currency basis
spread on foreign exchange contracts. Itis initially recognised in other comprehensive income and accounted for similarly to gains or losses in the cash flow
hedgingreserve.

Foreign Currency Translation Reserve
This reserve comprises all foreign currency translation adjustments arising from the translation of the Group's net investment in foreign operations as well
as from the translation of liabilities that hedge those net assets.

Share-based Payment Reserve
This reserve represents the amounts credited to equity in relation to the share-based payment expense recognisedin the Consolidated Income Statement,
net of deferred shares distributed by the SKG Employee Trust to participants of the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan.

Own Shares
This represents ordinary shares acquired by the SKG Employee Trust under the terms of the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan and the Deferred Bonus Plan.

Numbers of Shares
of €0.001 Each
2021 2020
At 1 January 1,734,281 1,592,024
Shares acquired by SKG Employee Trust 534,005 494,288
Shares distributed by SKG Employee Trust (293,810) (352,031)
At 31 December 1,974,476 1,734,281

Asat 31 December 2021, the nominal value of own shares held was €1,974 (2020: €1,734).1n 2021, own shares were purchased at an average price of
€40.24 (2020:€33.91) per share. The number of own shares held represents 0.7% (2020: 0.7%) of the total called up share capital of the Company.
Each of these have the same nominal value as the ordinary shares.

FVOCIReserve

Equity instruments are measured at fair value with fair value gains and losses recognised in other comprehensive income. These changes are accumulated
within the FVOClreserve within equity. The Group transfers amounts from this reserve to retained earnings when the relevant equity securities

are derecognised.
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24.Borrowings
Analysis of Total Borrowings

2021 2020
€m €m
Revolving credit facility —interest at relevantinterbank rate (interest rate floor of 0%) + 0.65%*2 2 89
US$292.3 million 7.5% senior debentures due 2025 (including accrued interest) 260 240
Bankloans and overdrafts 101 83
€100 million receivables securitisation variable funding notes due 2026 (including accrued interest)** 4 4
€230 millionreceivables securitisation variable funding notes due 2026*° 11 11
€500 million 2.375% senior notes due 2024 (including accrued interest)® - 501
€250 million 2.75% senior notes due 2025 (including accrued interest)® 251 251
€1,000 million 2.875% senior notes due 2026 (including accrued interest)® 1,007 1,005
€750 million 1.5% senior notes due 2027 (including accrued interest)® 747 746
€500 million 0.5% senior green notes due 2029 (including accrued interest)® 495 -
€500 million 1.0% senior green notes due 2033 (including accrued interest)® 496 -
Leases 380 346
Total borrowings 3,754 3,276
Analysed as follows:
Current 165 154
Non-current 3,589 3,122
3,754 3,276

1 Thesustainability linked Revolving Credit Facility ((RCF') has a maturity of January 2026. At 31 December 2021, the following amounts were drawn under this facility:
(a) Revolverloans —€7 million.

(b) Drawn under ancillary facilities and facilities supported by letters of credit —nil.

(c) Other operationalfacilities including letters of credit —nil

Following the upgrade to Baa3 and BBB- by Moody's and Standard & Poor's respectively in February 2021, the margin on the RCF reduced from 0.817% to 0.65%.
At 31 December 2021, the amount drawn under this facility was €5 million

At 31 December 2021, the amount drawn under this facility was €13 million.

Securedloans and long-term obligations.

Unsecuredloans andlong-term obligations.

o LA N

Included within the carrying value of borrowings are deferred debtissue costs of €33 million (2020: €32 million), all of which will be recognised in finance costs
inthe Consolidated Income Statement using the effective interest rate method over the remaining life of the borrowings.

Committed facilities (excluding short-term sundry bank loans and overdrafts) amounted to €5,006 million (2020: €4,584 million) of which €3,351 million
(2020:€2,922 million) was utilised at 31 December 2021. The weighted average period until maturity of undrawn committed facilities is 4.2 years (2020: 4.3 years).

Maturity of Undrawn Committed Facilities

2021 2020

€m €m

Within 1 year - -
Between 1and 2 years - 195
More than 2 years 1,655 1,467
1,655 1,662

The Group's primary sources of liquidity are cash flows from operations and borrowings under the RCF. The Group's primary uses of cash are for funding
day to day operations, capital expenditure, debt service, dividends and other investment activity including acquisitions.

The Group's borrowing agreements contain certain covenants that restrict the Group's flexibility in certain areas such as incurrence of additional
indebtedness and the incurrence of liens. The Group's borrowing agreements also contain financial covenants, the primary ones being a maximum net
borrowings to EBITDA of 3.75 times and a minimum EBITDA to netinterest of 3.00 times. The Group is in full compliance with the requirements of its
covenantagreements throughout each of the periods presented. At 31 December 2021, as defined in the relevant facility agreement, net borrowings
to EBITDAwas 1.7 times (2020: 1.7 times) and EBITDA to netinterest was 15.3 times (2020: 12.6 times).

InDecember 2020, the Group aligned its sustainability ambitions and targets into its financing by embedding its sustainability targets via Key Performance
Indicators (‘'KPIs') intoits RCF. The RCF incorporates five KPIs spanning the Group's sustainability objectives regarding climate change, forests, water, waste
and people, with the level of KPlachievement linked to the pricing on the facility.

In April 2021, the Group amended and extended its €200 million 2022 trade receivables securitisation programme, which utilises the Group's receivables
in Austria, Belgium, Italy and the Netherlands. The programme was extended to January 2026 at a reduced facility size of €100 million and with a margin
reductionfrom 1.375%to 1.1%. Receivables generated by certain of the Group's operating companies in Austria, Belgium, Italy and the Netherlands are
sold to a special purpose Group subsidiary to support the funding. A conduit of Codperatieve Rabobank U.A.(trading as Rabobank) provides €77 million
ofthe funding and a conduit of Landesbank Hessen-Thuringen Girozentrale (trading as Helaba Bank) provides €23 million of the funding.
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24. Borrowings continued

Maturity of Undrawn Committed Facilities continued

InNovember 2021, the Group amended and extended its €230 million 2023 trade receivables securitisation programme, which utilises the Group's
receivablesin France, Germany and the UK. The programme was extended to November 2026, with the facility size remaining at €230 million and with
amarginreductionfrom 1.2%to 1.1%. Receivables generated by certain of the Group's operating companies in the UK, Germany and France are sold
to a special purpose entity to support funding provided by Lloyds Bank plc.

As part of the amendment process for each of these programmes, the Group further aligned its sustainability ambitions and targets into its financing by
embeddingits sustainability targets via KPls into the amended and extended trade receivables programme. These programmes now incorporate five KPIs
spanning the Group's sustainability objectives regarding climate change, forests, water, waste and people, with the level of KPl achievement linked to the
pricing onthe programme. The amendments to these programmes were not considered to be substantial modifications.

The sale of the securitised receivables under the Group's securitisation programmes is not intended to, and does not, meet the requirements for
derecognition under IFRS 9, with the result that the sold receivables continue to be shown on the face of the Consolidated Balance Sheet and the notes
issued which fund the purchase of these receivables continue to be shown as liabilities.

The gross amount of receivables collateralising the €100 million 2026 trade receivables securitisation programme at 31 December 2021 was €335 million
(2020: €270 million). The gross amount of receivables collateralising the €230 million 2026 trade receivables securitisation programme at 31 December 2021
was €430 million (2020: €340 million). As the Group retains a subordinated interest in the securitised receivables, the Group remains exposed to the credit
risk of the underlying securitised receivables. Further details are set outin Note 29. In accordance with the contractual terms, the counterparty has recourse
to the securitised debtors only. Given the short-term nature of the securitised debtors and the variable floating notes, the carrying amount of the securitised
debtors and the associated liabilities reported on the Consolidated Balance Sheet is estimated to approximate to fair value. At 31 December 2021, cash of
€6 million (2020: €3 million) was held in securitisation bank accounts which was not available for transfer to other Group subsidiaries or outside entities.

The following table sets out the average interest rates at 31 December 2021 and 2020 for the Group's drawings under the RCF.

2021 2020

Interest Interest

Currency Rate Rate

RCF EUR n/a 0.82%
RCF Us$ 0.75% 1.05%

Borrowings under the RCF are available to fund the Group's working capital requirements, capital expenditure and other general requirements.

Following the launch of the Group's Green Finance Framework in September 2021, the Group issued a €1 billion dual tranche inaugural green bond
comprising €500 million 0.5% notes maturing 2029 and €500 million 1.0% notes maturing 2033.

The net proceeds from these bonds will be used to finance and/or refinance a portfolio of eligible assets and expenditures (“Eligible Green Projects") inaccordance
with the Group's Green Finance Framework. This framework, which received anindependent second party opinion from ISS ESG, is aligned with the Green
Bond and Green Loan Principles.

Under the Group's Green Finance Framework, Eligible Green Projects include circular economy adapted products, production technologies and processes
and/or certified eco-efficient products, such as: (i) reclamation of used fibres; (i) recycling of used fibres; (i) paper milling; and (iv) packaging conversion.
Inaddition, Eligible Green Projects include the environmentally sustainable management of living natural resources and land use, such as the procurement
of responsibly-sourced raw materials or ingredients (like wood, pulp, paper and recovered paper) and the utilisation of forests and raw materials certifiedin
accordance with (i) Forest Stewardship Council (FSC') standards; (i) Sustainable Forestry Initiative ('SFI'); and (i) Programme for the Endorsement of Forest
Certification ('PEFC').

Additionally, in September 2021, the Group redeemed €500 million 2.375% senior notes due 2024.
Certain other maturity, interest rate repricing and key terms relating to the Group's borrowings have been set out in Note 29.

25. Employee Benefits

The Group operates both defined benefit and defined contribution pension plans throughout its operations in accordance with local requirements and
practices. These plans have broadly similar regulatory frameworks. The major plans are of the defined benefit type and are funded by payments to separately
administered funds. In these defined benefit plans, the level of benefits available to members depends onlength of service and their average salary over their
period of employment or their salary in the final years leading up to retirement or leaving. While the majority of the defined benefit plans are funded, in certain
countries, suchas Germany, Austria and France, plan liabilities are for the most part unfunded and recognised as liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
Inthese countries, afull actuarial valuation of the unfunded liabilities is undertaken by independent actuaries on an annual basis. Responsibility for governance
ofthe plans, including investment decisions and contribution schedules, lies with the company and the boards of trustees.

The most significant defined benefit plans are in the United Kingdom, the Netherlands, Ireland and Germany. They represent respectively 34%, 31%,
12% and 12% of the obligation thereby totalling more than 89% of the obligation.

164 Smurfit Kappa Annual Report 2021



Overview Strategic Report Governance Financial Statements Supplementary Information

25. Employee Benefits continued
The most recent valuation of the significant funded plans are as follows:

Ireland 1January 2019

Netherlands 31 December 2021

United Kingdom 31 March 2020

Inaccordance with statutory and minimum funding requirements, additional annual contributions are required to be made to the schemes in place in Ireland, the
United Kingdom and the Netherlands. The funding requirements are agreed between the company, the trustees and the relevant regulator. The contributions
inrespect of these schemes are included in the expected contributions for the year ending 31 December 2022 outlined on page 168.

The expense for defined contribution pension plans for the year ended 31 December 2021 was €66 million (2020: €66 million).

The followingis a summary of the Group's employee benefit obligations and their related funding status:

2021 2020

€m €m

Presentvalue of funded or partially funded obligations (2,384) (2,529)
Fair value of plan assets 2,276 2,224
Deficitin funded or partially funded plans (108) (305)
Presentvalue of wholly unfunded obligations (520) (546)
Amounts notrecognised as assets due to asset ceiling (2) (2)
Net pension liability (630) (853)

In determining the defined benefit costs and obligations, all valuations are performed by independent actuaries using the projected unit credit method.

Financial Assumptions
The main actuarial assumptions used to calculate liabilities under IAS 19, Employee Benefits at 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020 are as follows:

Eurozone Rest of Europe The Americas
2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
% % % % % %
Rate of increasein salaries 0.25-3.05 0.25-2.50 2.50-4.50 2.50-4.50 0.99-5.50 0.69-5.50
Rate of increase to pensions in payment Nil-2.00 Nil-=1.50 Nil-2.52 Nil-2.49 Nil-4.59 Nil-3.37
Discount rate for plan liabilities 1.15 0.60 1.15-4.00 0.60-4.20 2.22-11.50 1.91-9.25
Inflation 2.00 1.35 2.00-2.60 1.50-2.50 0.49-4.59 0.19-4.00

Mortality Assumptions

Inassessing the Group's post retirement liabilities, the mortality assumptions chosen for the principal plans above are based on the country's population
mortality experience, large pension scheme mortality experience and the plan's own mortality experience. The mortality assumption adoptedin the
United Kingdom for 2021 allows for the most recent projection model factors. The effectis a minor decrease in life expectancy compared to 2020. Inthe
Netherlands, the mortality improvement factors were aligned with those set by the pension fundin 2021 following the mortality table update in 2020.
Inlreland, the assumptions used were unchanged from the 2019 actuarial valuation. In Germany, the mortality table, which was updatedin 2018, is that
laid down by statutory authorities. Note that in all cases described here, the mortality tables used allow for future improvements in life expectancy.

The current life expectancies underlying the valuation of the plan liabilities for the significant plans are as follows:

Ireland United Kingdom Germany Netherlands

2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
Longevity at age 65 for current pensioners (years)
Male 21.9 21.8 20.3 20.3 20.5 20.4 20.7 20.6
Female 24.3 24.2 22.7 22.7 24.0 23.8 23.4 23.3
Longevity at age 65 for current member aged 45 (years)
Male 24.2 24.1 21.2 21.4 23.3 231 22.8 22.7
Female 26.3 26.2 23.9 239 26.2 26.1 25.3 25.2

The mortality assumptions for other plans are based on relevant standard mortality tables in each country.

Sensitivity Analysis

The following table illustrates the key sensitivities to the amounts included in the Consolidated Balance Sheet which would arise from adjusting certain key
actuarial assumptions. The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to changes in actuarial assumptions has been calculated using the projected unit
credit method, whichis the same method used to calculate the pension liability in the Consolidated Balance Sheet. The methods and assumptions used

in preparing the sensitivity analysis have not changed compared to the prior year. In each case all the other assumptions remain unchanged:
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25. Employee Benefits continued
Sensitivity Analysis continued

Increase/(Decrease)
inPension Liabilities
2021 2020
Changein Assumption €m €m
Increase discount rate by 0.25% (117) (128)
Decrease discount rate by 0.25% 124 137
Increase inflationrate by 0.25% 45 47
Decrease inflation rate by 0.25% (44) (45)
Increase in life expectancy by one year 120 136
The sensitivity information shown above has been determined by performing calculations of the liabilities using different assumptions.
Analysis of Plan Assets and Liabilities
Plan assets are comprised as follows:
2021 2020
Quoted Unquoted Total Quoted Unguoted Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m
Equities 794 - 794 703 - 703
Corporate bonds 423 - 423 457 - 457
Governmentbonds 488 = 488 514 - 514
Property 105 4 109 57 4 61
Cash 166 = 166 41 41
Insurance contracts - 37 37 127 38 165
Liability driveninvestment 116 = 116 119 - 119
Other 121 22 143 149 15 164
2,213 63 2,276 2,167 57 2,224

Includedinplanassets at 31 December 2021 under Property is an amount of €3.7 million (2020: €3.5 million) relating to the Gosport plant in the United Kingdom.

Thisis the only self-investmentinthe Group by the defined benefit plans.

The remeasurement gain on plan assets for the year ended 31 December 2021 was €110 million (2020: €170 million).

Ananalysis of the assets held by the plans s as follows:

Rest of The

Eurozone Europe Americas Total
31December 2021 €m €m €m €m
Equities 463 318 13 794
Corporate bonds 201 190 32 423
Government bonds 324 159 5 488
Property 65 43 1 109
Cash (9) 169 6 166
Insurance contracts 33 4 - 37
Liability driveninvestment 79 29 8 116
Other 69 71 3 143
Fairvalue of plan assets 1,225 983 68 2,276
Present value of plan liabilities (1,757) (1,052) (95) (2,904)
Amounts not recognised as assets due to asset ceiling = (2) = ()
Net pension liability (532) (71) (27) (630)

Restof The

Eurozone Europe Americas Total
31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m
Equities 426 250 27 703
Corporate bonds 203 223 31 457
Government bonds 276 233 5 514
Property 36 24 1 61
Cash 24 16 1 41
Insurance contracts 161 4 - 165
Liability driveninvestment 59 60 - 119
Other 94 70 - 164
Fair value of plan assets 1,279 880 65 2,224
Present value of plan liabilities (1,906) (1,068) (101) (3,075)
Amounts not recognised as assets due to asset ceiling - (2) - (2)
Net pension liability (627) (190) (36) (853)
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25. Employee Benefits continued
Analysis of the Amount Charged in the Consolidated Income Statement
The following tables set out the components of the defined benefit cost:

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

2021 2020
€m €m
Current service cost 33 29
Administrative expenses 4 5
Past service cost—exceptional UK - (15)
Past service cost—other (4) 3
Gain on settlement (3) (2)
Actuarial (gain)/loss arising on other long-term employee benefits (1) 1
Charged to operating profit 29 21
Netinterest cost on net pension liability 7 12
36 33
*  Future pensionincrease are nowlinked to CPIHinstead of RPlin the UK which resulted in an exceptionalincome in past service cost for the Group of €15 millionin 2020
The defined benefit cost for 2021 includes a defined benefit cost of €4 million (2020: €7 million) which relates to other long-term employee benefits.
The expense recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement is charged to the following line items:
2021 2020
€m €m
Costof sales 12 20
Distribution costs and administrative expenses 17 16
Other operating expenses = (15)
Finance costs 7 12
36 33
Analysis of Actuarial Gains/(Losses) Recognised in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
2021 2020
€m €m
Return onplan assets (excludinginterestincome) 110 170
Actuarial gain due to experience adjustments 6 34
Actuarial gain/(loss) due to changes in financial assumptions 54 (224)
Actuarial gain due to changes in demographic assumptions 7 11
177 9)
Movement in Present Value of Defined Benefit Obligation
2021 2020
€m €m
At 1 January (3,075) (3,007)
Current service cost (33) (29)
Contributions by plan participants (5) (5
Interest cost (29) (42)
Actuarial gains and losses 68 (180)
Disposals - 1
Benefits paid by plans 109 104
Past service cost 4 12
Acquisitions (4) -
Decrease arising on settlement 135 8
Foreign currency translation adjustment (74) 63
At 31 December (2,904) (3,075)
Movement in Fair Value of Plan Assets
2021 2020
€m €m
At 1 January 2,224 2,109
Interestincome on planassets 22 30
Returnonplan assets (excludinginterestincome) 110 170
Administrative expenses (4) (5)
Contributions by employer 93 75
Contributions by plan participants 5 5
Disposals = (1)
Benefits paid by plans (109) (104)
Decrease arising on settlements (132) (6)
Foreign currency translation adjustment 67 (49)
At 31 December 2,276 2,224
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25. Employee Benefits continued
Movement in Asset Ceiling

2021 2020
€m €m

At 1 January (2) 1
Variations of the effect of the asset ceiling limit - (1)
At 31 December (2) (2)
Employee Benefit Plan Risks
The employee benefit plans expose the Group to a number of risks, the most significant of which are:
Asset Volatility The planliabilities are calculated using a discount rate set with reference to corporate bondyields. If assets underperform

this yield, this will create a deficit. The plans hold a significant proportion of equities which, though expected to outperform
corporate bondsinthe long-term, create volatility and risk in the short-term. The allocation to equities is monitored to ensure
it remains appropriate given the plans' long-term objectives.

ChangesinBond Yields Adecreasein corporate bond yields willincrease the value placed on the plans'liabilities, although this will be partially of fset
by anincrease in the value of the plans' bond holdings.

Inflation Risk The plans' benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation will lead to higher liabilities (although, in most cases,
caps onthe level of inflationary increases are in place to protect against extreme inflation). The majority of the assets are
either unaffected by or only loosely correlated with inflation, meaning that anincrease in inflation will also increase the deficit.

Life Expectancy The majority of the plans' obligations are to provide benefits based on the life of the member, soincreases in life expectancy
willresultinanincreasein theliabilities.

Inthe case of the funded plans, the Group ensures that the investment positions are managed with an asset-liability matching (ALM’) framework that has
been developed to achieve long-terminvestments that are in line with the obligations under the pension schemes. Within this framework, the Group's ALM
objective is to match assets to the pension obligations by investing in long-term fixed interest securities with maturities that match the benefit payments as
they falldue andin the appropriate currency.

Maturity Analysis
The expected maturity analysisis set outin the table below:
United

Kingdom Netherlands Germany Ireland Other

Projected Projected Projected Projected Projected
Expected benefit payments: €m €m €m €m €m
Financial year 2022 a7 13 18 10 16
Financial year 2023 48 19 18 10 17
Financial years 2024 —-2026 151 61 54 32 61
Financial years 2027 —-2031 272 123 80 62 116

The weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation at 31 December 2021 is 16.90 years (2020: 17.36 years).

Most of the plans are closed to new entrants and therefore, under the projected unit credit method, the current service cost is expected to increase (all other
elements remaining equal) as the members approach retirement and to decrease as members retire or leave service. With plansinIreland and the UK being
frozenfor future service, this risk no longer applies for these countries.

The expected employee and employer contributions for the year ending 31 December 2022 for the funded schemes are €6 million and €68 million
respectively. The expected employer contributions for unfunded schemes for the year ending 31 December 2022 are €25 million and the expected benefit
payments made directly by the employer in respect of funded plans for the year ending 31 December 2022 are €1 million.

26. Share-based Payment
Share-based Payment Expense Recognised in the Consolidated Income Statement

2021 2020

€m €m

Charge arising from the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan & Deferred Bonus Plan 21 16
Charge arising from the Performance Share Plan 43 19
64 35

Social charges relating to equity settled share-based paymentsin 2021 are €5 million (2020: €2 million).
The Group grants equity settled share-based payments to employees as part of their remuneration. The accounting for share-based payment expense falls
under IFRS 2, Share-based Payment. Under IFRS 2, when share awards are subject to vesting conditions, the related expense is recognised in profit or loss

over the vesting period.

In 2021, awards were made under the two active plans; the Deferred Bonus Plan ('DBP') and the Performance Share Plan ('PSP'). No awards were granted
under the legacy plans; the Deferred Annual Bonus Plan (‘DABP') and the 2007 Share Incentive Plan (‘2007 SIP').
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26. Share-based Payment continued

Deferred Bonus Plan

InMay 2018, the SKG plc Annual General Meeting approved the adoption of the DBP which replaced the deferred element of the existinglong-termincentive
plan, the DABP.

Participants may be granted an award up to 150% of salary (other than a recruitment award). The actual bonus earnedin any financial year is based onthe
achievement of clearly defined stretching annual financial targets for some of the Group's Key Performance Indicators (‘KPIs'). For 2021, these were Earnings
before Interest and Tax ('EBIT'), Free Cash Flow ('FCF'), together with targets for Health and Safety, People and ESG and personal/strategic targets for the
executive Directors.

The structure of the planis that 50% of any annualbonus earned for a financial year will be deferred into SKG plc shares ('Deferred Shares') to be grantedin
the form of a Deferred Share Award. The Deferred Shares will vest (i.e. become unconditional) after a three-year holding period based on a service condition
of continuity of employment or in certain circumstances, based on normal good leaver provisions.

Deferred Share Awards were granted in 2021 to eligible employees in respect of the financial year ended 31 December 2020. The fair value of the Deferred
Share Awards granted in 2021 was €40.24 (2020: €33.91) which was the market value of the deferred shares granted. At 31 December 2021, there were
1,940,041 outstanding shares (2020: 1,423,365 shares). During 2021, 528,447 shares were granted under the DBP scheme (2020: 492,464 shares).

The total DBP charge for the year comprises a charge pertaining to the Deferred Share Awards granted inrespect of 2018, 2019, 2020 and to be granted
inrespect of 2021.

Performance Share Plan
InMay 2018, the SKG plc Annual General Meeting approved the adoption of the PSP, which replaced the existing long-termincentive plan, the matching
element of the DABP.

Participants may be granted an award up to 250% of salary (other than a recruitment award). Awards may vest after a three-year performance period to the
extent to which the performance conditions have been met. Awards may also be subject to an additional holding period following vesting (of up to two years).
Atthe end of the relevant holding period, the PSP awards will be released (i.e. become unconditional) to the participant.

The performance targets assigned to the PSP awards are set by the Remuneration Committee on the granting of awards at the start of each three-year
cycle and are set outinthe Remuneration Report.

The actual number of shares that will vest under the PSP is dependent on the performance conditions of the Group's EPS, ROCE, Total Shareholder

Return ('TSR') (relative to a peer group) and for the 2021 PSP scheme, Sustainability targets measured over the same three-year performance period.

PSP performance conditions will be reviewed at the end of the three-year performance period and the PSP shares awarded will vest depending upon the
extent to which these performance conditions have been satisfied.

The fair values assigned to the EPS, ROCE and Sustainability components of the PSP are equivalent to the share price on the date of award.

The Monte Carlo simulation approach was used to calculate the fair value of the TSR component of the PSP award at the respective grant dates. The expected
volatility rate applied was based upon both the historical and implied share price volatility levels of the Group. For the 2021 award, a rate of 19.13% was used
(2020 award: 38.6%). The risk free interest rate used for the 2021 award was (0.468%) (2020 award: (0.305%)).

The total PSP charge for the year comprises a charge pertaining to the awards granted in 2019, 2020 and 2021.

Asummary of the PSP schemes is presented below:

Number of Shares
Fair Value of
EPS,ROCE and
Period to Earliest Sustainability Fair Value of TSR Net Outstanding At
Release Date Components Component Initial Award* 31 December 20212
Grantedin 2019 3years €24.66 €12.78 1,883,477 1,898,623
Grantedin 2020 3years €26.70 €14.85 1,706,648 1,713,110
Grantedin2021 3years €40.79° €16.11 1,113,325 1,125,412

1 Numbersrepresent theinitial awards granted to employees. The Remuneration Committee has determined that dividend equivalents willaccrue on awards under the PSP schemes
Subject to satisfaction of the applicable performance criteria, such dividend equivalents willbe released to participants in the form of additional shares on vesting.

2 Numbersinclude dividend equivalent shares accrued less share forfeitures to date.

3 Twogrants of performance shares were made to the executive Directorsin 2021; the firstin March, with a second tranche grantedin May to reflect the increased PSP opportunity
approved at the AGM as part of the 2021 Remuneration Policy. The share price of performance shares granted in March 2021 was €40.76; the share price of performance shares granted
inMay 2021 was €43.93.

The PSP awards which were grantedin 2019 vestedin February 2022 and were distributed to the relevant employees. The market price at the date of vesting
was €46.26. Details of the performance targets and results for the three-year period to 31 December 2021 are set out in the Remuneration Report.
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26. Share-based Payment continued

Deferred Annual Bonus Plan

InMay 2011, the SKG plc Annual General Meeting approved the adoption of the 2011 DABP, which replaced the existing long-termincentive plan, the
2007 SIP.

In 2018, the Group introduced the PSP which replaced the Matching Share Award and the DBP which replaced the deferred element of the DABP.

The Deferred Share Awards which were granted in 2018 inrespect of the financial year ended 31 December 2017, vested in February 2021 and were
distributed to relevant employees. A total of 293,007 shares vested with a market price at the date of vesting of €39.77.

2007 Share Incentive Plan
This scheme has expired. At 31 December 2020, all exercisable convertible shares hadlapsed and are no longer convertible into ordinary shares.

Asummary of the activity under the 2007 SIP, as amended, for the period from 1 January 2020 to 31 December 2021 is presented below:

2021 2020
Weighted Weighted
Number of Average Number of Average
Convertible Exercise Price Convertible Exercise Price
Shares (€per Share) Shares (€per Share)
Outstanding at the beginning of the year - - 63,698 6.33
Lapsed duringthe year - - (14,684) 593
Exercisedinthe year - - (49,014) 6.44

Outstanding at the end of the year - = - _

Exercisable at the end of the year - = - _

There were no share conversions in 2021. The weighted average market price on the dates the convertible shares were exercised in the financial year ended
31 December 2020 was €30.42.

27. Provisions for Liabilities

2021 2020
€m €m
Current 58 221
Non-current 35 50
93 271
Deferred and
Contingent
Consideration Restructuring Environmental Legal Other Total
€m €m €m €m €m €m
At 1January 2021 47 27 5 154 38 271
Made - 5 - 1 14 20
Released - (3) (1) (1) (2) (7)
Utilised (35) (19) (1) (128) (7) (190)
Fair value adjustment 2) - - - - (2)
Currency - - - - 1 1
At 31 December 2021 10 10 3 26 a4 93

Deferred and Contingent Consideration

Deferred and contingent consideration represents the deferred and contingent element of acquisition consideration payable. The balance at
31 December 2021 relates to the acquisition of the following:

» AvalaAdaand Fabrika Hartije Beograd, Serbia (2019) —deferred consideration of €10 million payable in 2022.

The amount utilised of €35 million mainly relates to the payment of the deferred contingent consideration for the remaining 25% of the Serbian business
atacost of €33 million. The fair value adjustment amount of €2 million relates to the fair value gain on the valuation of the Serbian put option during 2021
(Note 29).

Restructuring
These provisions relate toirrevocable commitments in respect of restructuring programmes throughout the Group.

Environmental

Provisions for environmental costs mainly relate to the reinstatement of landfill sites and other remediation and improvement costs incurred in compliance
with eitherlocal or national environmental regulations together with constructive obligations stemming from established practice. The timing of settlement
of these provisions is not certain particularly where provisions are based on past practice and there is no legal obligation.
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27. Provisions for Liabilities continued
Legal

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

Legalrepresents provisions for certain legal claims brought against the Group by various parties. In August 2019, the Italian Competition Authority ('ICA)
notified anumber of paper-packaging producers, of which Smurfit Kappa Italia S.p.A. ('SKI') was one, that an investigation had found the companies to have
engagedin anti-competitive practices, in relation to which the ICA levied a fine of €124 million on SKI. We were notified in May 2021 that our appeal against
the ICA decision was unsuccessful. The fine was paid in July 2021. We have filed a further appeal to the Council of State in Italy which is still pending. Legal

provisions are uncertain as to timing and amount as they are the subject of ongoing cases.

Other

Other comprises a number of provisions including: liabilities arising from dilapidations amounting to €7 million (2020: €6 million); employee compensation
in certain countries in which we operate amounting to €15 million (2020: €16 million); and numerous other items which are not individually material and are

not readily grouped together.

28. Trade and Other Payables

Group Group Company Company
2021 2020 2021 2020
€m €m €m €m
Amounts falling due within one financial year:
Trade payables 1,419 978 - -
Payrolltaxes 43 44 - -
Value added tax 106 74 - -
Socialinsurance 47 49 - -
Accruals 741 561 - 5
Capital payables 155 93 - -
Other payables 52 36 = -
Amounts payable to Group companies - - 5
2,563 1,835 10
Amounts falling due after more than one financial year:
Other payables 11 9 - -
2,574 1,844 3 10
The fair values of trade and other payables are not materially different from their carryingamounts.
Amounts owed to Group companies are unsecured, interest free and are repayable on demand.
29. Financial Instruments
Financial Instruments by Category
The accounting policies for financialinstruments have been applied to the line items below:
Assetsat Fair
Assetsat Value Through Derivatives
Amortised Cost ProfitorLoss UsedforHedging Total
31December 2021 €m €m €m €m
Assets per Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Listed and unlisted debtinstruments = 11 = 11
Derivative financialinstruments - 8 2 10
Trade and other receivables” 2,006 - - 2,006
Cashand cash equivalents 855 = = 855
Restricted cash 14 - - 14
2,875 19 2 2,896

*  Excludes statutory taxes and prepayments

The financial assets of the Company of €233 million consist of assets at amortised cost.
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29. Financial Instruments continued
Financial Instruments by Category continued

Liabilities at Fair

Value Through Derivatives Other Financial
ProfitorLoss UsedforHedging Liabilities Total
31December 2021 €m €m €m €m
Liabilities per Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Borrowings - - 3,754 3,754
Derivative financialinstruments 13 8 - 21
Trade and other payables” = = 2,082 2,082
Deferred consideration - - 10 10
13 8 5,846 5,867
*  Excludes statutory taxes and employee benefits.
The financialliabilities of the Company of €3 million consist of other financial liabilities.
Assets at Fair Derivatives
Assets at Value Through Usedfor
Amortised Cost Profitor Loss Hedging Total
31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m
Assets per Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Listed and unlisted debtinstruments - 11 - 11
Derivative financialinstruments - 19 19 38
Trade and other receivables” 1,465 - - 1,465
Cash and cash equivalents 891 - - 891
Restricted cash 10 - - 10
2,366 30 19 2,415
*  Excludes statutory taxes and prepayments
The financial assets of the Company of €257 million consist of assets at amortised cost.
Liabilities at Fair
Value Through Derivatives Other Financial
ProfitorLoss  Usedfor Hedging Liabilities Total
31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m
Liabilities per Consolidated Balance Sheet:
Borrowings - - 3,276 3,276
Derivative financialinstruments 9 21 - 30
Trade and other payables’ - - 1,408 1,408
Deferred contingent consideration 35 - - 35
Deferred consideration - - 12 12
44 21 4,696 4,761

*  Excludes statutory taxes and employee benefits.

The financial liabilities of the Company of €10 million consist of other financial liabilities.

Exposure to credit, interest rate, liquidity, energy and currency risks arise in the normal course of the Group's business. Derivatives are generally used to

economically hedge exposure to fluctuations in these risks.

Key Financial Risks and Financial Risk Management Resulting from the Use of Financial Instruments and Related Sensitivity Analysis

Financial and Credit Risk Management

The operating parameters and policies of the Group's treasury management function are established under formal Board authority. The Treasury Policy

covers the areas of funding, counterparty risk, foreign exchange, controls and derivatives. Risk arising on counterparty default is controlled within a

framework of dealing with high quality institutions and, by policy, limiting the amount of credit exposure to any one bank or institution. The Group uses

financialinstruments, including fixed and variable rate debt to finance operations, for capital spending programs and for general corporate purposes.

Additionally, financialinstruments, including derivative instruments are used to hedge exposure to interest rate, commodity and foreign currency risks.
Where all relevant criteria are met, hedge accountingis applied to remove the accounting mismatch between the hedginginstrument and the hedgeditem.
The Group does not use financial instruments for trading purposes. The Group mitigates the risk that counterparties to derivatives will fail to perform by
contracting with major financial institutions having high credit ratings and considers the likelihood of counterparty failure to be low. Trade debtors arise
from awide and varied customer base. Thereis no significant concentration of credit risk amongst any of the Group's most significant financial assets.

The Group also holds no collateralinrespect of its principal credit exposures.
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29. Financial Instruments continued

Key Financial Risks and Financial Risk Management Resulting from the Use of Financial Instruments and Related Sensitivity Analysis
continued

The successfulmanagement of the Group's currency and interest rate exposure depends on a variety of factors, some of which are outside its control.
The Groupis exposed to the impact of interest rate changes and foreign currency fluctuations due toits investing and funding activities and its operations
inforeign currencies. The Group manages interest rate exposure to achieve what management considers to be an appropriate balance of fixed and variable
rate funding. To achieve this objective the Group enters into interest rate swaps, options and forward rate agreements. Interest rate swap agreements are
primarily used to change the interest payable onits underlying borrowings from variable to fixed rate. Tables detailing the impact of any such swaps on the
Group's financialinstruments have been set out elsewhere in this note.

The Group managesits balance sheet having regard to the currency exposures arising fromits assets being denominated in a wide range of currencies.
To this end, where foreign currency assets are funded by local borrowing, such borrowingis generally sourced in the currency of the related assets.

The Group also hedges currency exposure through the use of currency swaps, options and forward contracts. Tables detailing the impact of these
derivatives onthe currency profile of the Group's financial instruments have been set out elsewhere in this note.

Further details on certain specific financial risks encountered have been set out below.

Interest Rate Risk

The Group is exposed to changes ininterest rates, primarily changes in Euribor. The revolving credit facility (RCF') is variable rate debt, as are the Group's
securitisation facilities. Interest rate changes therefore generally do not affect the market value of such debt but do impact the amount of the Group's
interest payments and, therefore, its future earnings and cash flows, assuming other factors are held constant. At 31 December 2021, the Group had fixed
anaverage of 97% (2020: 94%) of its interest cost on borrowings over the following 12 months. Holding all other variables constant, ifinterest rates for these
borrowings increased by one percent, the Group's interest expense would increase, and income before taxes would decrease, by approximately €2 million
over the following twelve months. Interestincome on the Group's cash balances would increase by approximately €9 million assuming a one percentincrease
ininterest rates earned on such balances over the following twelve months.

The Group has entered into one or more interest rate protection agreements (principally interest rate swaps and cross currency interest rate swaps), which
establish afixedinterest rate with respect to certain of its borrowings. Tables detailing the fixed and floating variable rate debt together with the impact of
the relatedinterest rate and cross currency swaps have been set out elsewhere in this note.

Currency Sensitivity

The Group operates in the following principal currency areas (other than euro): Swedish Krona, Sterling, Latin America (comprising mainly Mexican Peso,
Colombian Peso and Brazilian Real), US Dollar and Eastern Europe (comprising mainly the Polish Zloty, the Czech Koruna, the Russian Rouble and the

Serbian Dinar). At the end of 2021, approximately 99% (2020: 99%) of its non-euro denominated net assets consisted of the Swedish Krona 19% (2020: 25%),
Sterling 17% (2020: 12%), Latin American currencies 40% (2020: 39%), US Dollar 7% (2020: 6%) and Eastern European currencies 16% (2020: 17%). The
Group believes that a strengthening of the euro exchange rate by 1% against all other foreign currencies from the 31 December 2021 rate would reduce
shareholders' equity by approximately €25 million (2020: €22 million).

Commodity Price Risk

Containerboard

The Group is exposed to commodity price risks through its dependence on recovered paper, the principal raw material used in the manufacture of recycled
containerboard. The price of recovered paper is dependent on both demand and supply conditions. Demand conditions include the production of
recycled containerboard in Europe and the demand for recovered paper for the production of recycled containerboard outside of Europe, principally in
Asia. Supply conditions include the rate of recovery of recovered paper, itself dependant on historic pricing related to the cost of recovery, and some slight
seasonalvariations.

Justover 1.05 metric tonnes of recovered paper are required to manufacture 1.0 metric tonne of recycled containerboard. Consequently, anincreasein
the price of recovered paper of, for example, €20 per tonne would increase the cost of production of recycled containerboard by approximately €21 per tonne.
Historically, increases inthe cost of recovered paper, if sustained, have led to arise in the price of recycled containerboard, with alag of one to two months.

The price of recovered paper can fluctuate significantly within a given year, affecting the operating results of the Group's paper processing facilities.
The Group seeks to manage this risk operationally rather than by enteringinto financial risk management derivatives. Accordingly, at each of
31 December 2021 and 2020, there were no derivatives held to mitigate such risks.

In addition, developing policy changes inthe EU with regard to renewable energy sources have created an additional demand for wood, the principal raw
material used in the manufacture of kraftliner. This has the effect of potentially increasing the price of wood and consequently the cost of the Group's
raw materials. At each of 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group held no derivatives to mitigate such risks.

Energy

The cost of producing the Group's products is also sensitive to the price of energy. The Group's main energy exposure is to the cost of gas and electricity.
These energy costs have experienced unprecedented price volatility in 2021, with a corresponding effect on Group production costs. Natural gas prices,
relevant to the Group, started the year at €20.30 per megawatt-hour, decreased to €17.43 in March 2021 and increased to €110.41 per megawatt-hourin
December 2021, giving an average price of €48.10 for 2021 (2020: average price of €9.33). The Group has entered into alimited level of energy derivative
contracts to economically hedge a portion of its energy costs in Sweden. The Group has also fixed a certain level of its energy costs through contractual
arrangements directly withits energy suppliers.

Carbon prices were also hit by the COVID-19 pandemic but increased significantly at the end of 2020 and this increase continued into 2021, with prices
rising significantly again towards the end of 2021.
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29. Financial Instruments continued

Key Financial Risks and Financial Risk Management Resulting from the Use of Financial Instruments and Related Sensitivity Analysis
continued

The Group's overall energy costs increased by approximately 56% when compared to 2020 mainly due to higher energy market prices and increased usage
due to the acquisition of the Verzuolo mill.

Tables detailing the Group's energy derivatives have been set out elsewhere in this note.

Liquidity Risk
The Groupis exposed to liquidity risk which arises primarily from the maturing of short-term and long-term debt obligations and derivative transactions.
The Group's policy is to ensure that sufficient resources are available either from cash balances, cash flows or undrawn committed bank facilities, to ensure
all obligations can be met as they fall due. To achieve this objective, the Group:
» Maintains cash balances and liquid investments with highly rated counterparties;
« Limitsthe maturity of cash balances; and
«  Borrowsthe bulk of its debt needs under committed banklines or other term financing and by policy maintains a minimum level of undrawn
committed facilities.

The Group has enteredinto a series of borrowing arrangements in order to facilitate its liquidity needs in this regard and the key terms of those arrangements
are described within Note 24 and within certain tables set out below. At eachyear-end, the Group's rolling liquidity reserve (which comprises cash and undrawn
committed facilities and which represents the amount of available cash headroomin the Group's funding structure) was as follows:

2021 2020

€m €m

Cashand cash equivalents 855 891
Committed undrawn facilities 1,655 1,662
Liquidity reserve 2,510 2,553
Borrowings due within one year — contractual undiscounted cash flows (237) (261)
Net position 2,273 2,292

Management monitors rolling cash flow forecasts on an ongoing basis to determine the adequacy of the liquidity position of the Group. This process
alsoincorporates alonger termliquidity review to ensure refinancing risks are adequately catered for as part of the Group's strategic planning. The Group
continues to benefit fromits existing financing package and debt profile. In addition, the Group's operating activities are cash generative and expect to
be so overthe foreseeable future; the Group has committed undrawn facilities of €1,655 million at 31 December 2021; and the Group has cash and cash
equivalents of €855 million at 31 December 2021.

The maturity dates of the Group's main borrowing facilities as set outin Note 24, together with the liquidity analysis as set outin this note, more fully
describes the Group's longer term financing risks.

Capital Risk Management
The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concernin order to provide returns for shareholders
and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the overall cost of capital.

Inmanagingits capital structure, the primary focus of the Group is the ratio of net debt as a multiple of EBITDA (earnings before exceptional items,
share-based payment expense, share of associates' profit (after tax), net finance costs, income tax expense, depreciation and depletion (net) and intangible
asset amortisation). Maximum levels for this ratio are set under Board approved policy. At 31 December 2021, the net debt to EBITDA ratio of the Group was
1.7 times (net debt of €2,885 million) which compares to 1.6 times (net debt of €2,375 million) at the end of 2020. This gives the Group continuing headroom
compared to the actual covenant levelat 31 December 2021 of 3.75 times.

Onthe basis of pre-exceptional operating profit, the Group's return on capital employed was 16.0% compared to 14.6% in 2020. The return on capital
employed comprises pre-exceptional operating profit plus share of associates' profit (after tax) as a percentage of average capital employed (where average
capitalemployedis the average of total equity and net debt at the current and prior year-end). Capital employed at 31 December 2021 was €7,277 million,
(2020: €6,158 million). The post-exceptional return on capital employed was 16.0%in 2021 (2020: 14.1%).

The capital employed of the Company at 31 December 2021 was €2,915 million (2020: €2,872 million).

Credit Risk

Creditrisk arises from credit exposure to trade debtors, cash and cash equivalents including deposits with banks and financial institutions, derivative financial
instruments andinvestments. The Group has no sovereign exposures and no material debtors with Government agencies. The maximum exposure to credit
riskis represented by the carryingamount of each asset.

Trade debtors arise from a wide and varied customer base spread throughout the Group's operations and as such there is no significant concentration of
creditrisk. Credit evaluations are performed on all customers over certain thresholds and all customers are subject to continued monitoring at operating
company level. Further information on the Group approach to providing for expected credit losses is set outin Note 19.

Risk of counterparty default arising on cash and cash equivalents and derivative financialinstruments is controlled within a framework of dealing with high
quality institutions and, by policy, limiting the amount of credit exposure to any one bank or institution. Of the Group's total cash and cash equivalents
(including restricted cash) at 31 December 2021 of €869 million, 43% was with financial institutions in the A rating category of Standard & Poor's or Moody's
and 49% was with financial institutions inthe AA/Aa or higher rating category.
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Key Financial Risks and Financial Risk Management Resulting from the Use of Financial Instruments and Related Sensitivity Analysis

continued

The remaining 8% was largely represented by cash held with banks in Latin America which fell outside the A or higher ratings categories. At 31 December
2021, derivative transactions were with counterparties with ratings ranging from BB- to AA- with Standard & Poor's or Bal to Aa2 with Moody's.

At eachreporting date, there were no significant concentrations of credit risk which individually represented more than 10% of the Group's financial assets.
Ageographical analysis of the Group's segment assets has been provided in Note 4.

Market Risk - Listed and Unlisted Debt Instruments

The Group's listed and unlisted debt instruments principally comprise investments held relating to unfunded pension liabilities. These investments are being
carried at their estimated fair value and the Group's maximum exposure to risks associated with these investments is represented by their carryingamounts.

Further details onlisted and unlisted debt instruments are set out in Note 14.

Derivative Positions

Derivative financialinstruments recognised as assets and liabilities in the Consolidated Balance Sheet both as part of cash flow hedges and other economic
hedges which do not meet the criteria for hedge accounting under IFRS 9, have been set out below:

2021 2020
€m €m
Non-current derivative assets
Cash flow hedges:

Cross currency swaps -
Total non-current derivative assets -
Current derivative assets
Cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency forwards - 3

Cross currency swaps - 16
Not designated as hedges:

Foreign currency forwards 1 1

Cross currency swaps 2 15

Energy hedging contracts 5 3
Total current derivative assets 8 38
Total derivative assets 10 38
Non-current derivative liabilities
Cash flow hedges:

Cross currency swaps (7) (17)
Total non-current derivative liabilities (7) (17)
Current derivative liabilities
Cash flow hedges:

Foreign currency forwards (1) -

Cross currency swaps - (4)
Not designated as hedges:

Foreign currency forwards - 1)

Cross currency swaps (6) (4)

Energy hedging contracts (7) (4)
Total current derivative liabilities (14) (13)
Total derivative liabilities (21) (30)
Net (liability)/asset on derivative financial instruments (11) 8
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Fair Value Hierarchy

Level1 Level 2 Level3 Total
Fair value measurement at 31 December 2021 €m €m €m €m
Otherinvestments:
Listed 2 - - 2
Unlisted - 9 - 9
Derivative financial instruments:
Assets at fair value through profit or loss = 8 = 8
Derivatives used for hedging - 2 - 2
Derivative financial instruments:
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - (13) - (13)
Derivatives used for hedging - (8) - (8)
2 (2) - -
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
Fair value measurementat 31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m
Otherinvestments:
Listed 2 - - 2
Unlisted - 9 - 9
Derivative financialinstruments:
Assets at fair value through profit orloss - 19 - 19
Derivatives used for hedging - 19 - 19
Derivative financial instruments:
Liabilities at fair value through profit or loss - 9) - 9)
Derivatives used for hedging - (21) - (21)
Deferred contingent consideration - - (35) (35)
2 17 (35) (16)

The fair value of listed investments is determined by reference to their bid price at the reporting date. Unlisted investments are valued using recognised
valuation technigues for the underlying security including discounted cash flows and similar unlisted equity valuation models.

The fair value of the derivative financial instruments set out above has been measured in accordance with level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. Allare plain
derivative instruments, valued with reference to observable foreign exchange rates, interest rates or broker prices.

Financial Instruments in Level 3
The following table presents the changes inlevel 3 instruments for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 31 December 2020:

Deferred

Contingent

Consideration

€m

Balance at 1 January 2020 (33)
Lossincludedinfinance costs—net changein fair value (2)
Balance at 31 December 2020 (35)
Balance at 1 January 2021 (35)
Gainincludedin finance income —net change in fair value 2
Paid during the year 33
Balance at 31 December 2021 =

In 2019, as part of its acquisition in Serbia, the Group putin place put and call options over the remaining 25% non-controlling interestin the acquired
business. The Group recognised deferred contingent considerationin respect of the put option under the anticipated-acquisition method of accounting;
with the call option being classified as a derivative. The valuation modelfor the deferred contingent consideration was measured in accordance with level 3
of the fair value hierarchy and was based on the present value of the expected payment discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate. The unobservable
inputin determining the fair value was the underlying profitability of the business unit to which the consideration relates.

Duringthe year, the Group exercised its call option to purchase the remaining 25% of the Serbian business at a cost of €33 million.

There were no reclassifications or transfers between the levels of the fair value hierarchy during the period.
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29. Financial Instruments continued

Cash Flow Hedging

As more fully set outinthis note, the Group principally utilises interest rate swaps to swap its variable rate debtinto fixed rates. The Group has also designated
anumber of cross currency swaps which swap fixed US dollar debt into fixed euro debt as cash flow hedges where permitted. These swaps are designated
as cash flow hedges and are set so as to closely match the critical terms of the underlying debt being hedged.

Hedge ineffectiveness is determined at the inception of the hedge relationship and through periodic prospective hedge effectiveness assessments to
ensure that an economic relationship exists between the hedged item and the hedging instrument. The Group determines the existence of an economic
relationship between the hedginginstrument and hedged item based on the reference interest rates, tenors, repricing dates and maturities and notional
amounts. The Group does not hedge 100% of its loans, therefore the hedged item is identified as a proportion of the outstanding loans up to the notional
amount of the swaps. As the Group enters into hedge relationships where the critical terms of the hedging instrument materially match the terms of the
hedgeditem, a qualitative assessment of effectiveness is performed. If changes in circumstances affect the terms of the hedged item such that the critical
terms nolonger match exactly with the critical terms of the hedging instrument, the Group uses the hypothetical derivative method to assess effectiveness.

Hedge ineffectiveness for interest rate swaps and cross currency swaps may occur due to:

«  Theeffect of the counterparty's and the Group's own credit risk on the fair value of the swaps whichis not reflected in the change in the fair value of the
hedged cash flows attributable to the change in the hedged risk;

+ Changesinthe contractual terms or timing of the payments on the hedged item; or

« Thefairvalue of the hedginginstrument on the hedge relationship designation date (if not zero).

There was no material ineffectiveness in hedgedrisk inrelation to these hedgesin 2021 and 2020. Amounts accounted for in the cash flow hedging reserve
inrespect of these swaps during the current and preceding periods have been set out in the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income. These fair
value gains and losses are expected to impact on profit and loss over the period from 2022 to 2023, in line with the underlying debt being hedged.

The Group has also enteredinto a limited number of bunker fuel swaps to hedge against variability in the cost of bunker fuelincluded in certain of its shipping
contracts. Hedge effectivenessis assessed using the same principles as those used for designated interest rate and cross currency swaps. In hedges of
bunker fuel costs, ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the forecast transaction changes from what was originally estimated or if there are changesinthe
credit risk of the Group or the counterparty. These hedges have been highly effective in achieving offsetting cash flows with no ineffectiveness recorded.
These fair value gains and losses are expected to impact on profit and loss over the period from 2022 to 2024.

Inaddition, certain subsidiaries use foreign currency forward contracts to hedge forecast foreign currency sales and purchases. Such forward contracts
are designated as cash flow hedges and are set so as to closely match the critical terms of the underlying cash flows. Hedge effectivenessis assessed using
the same principles as those used for designated interest rate, cross currency and bunker fuel swaps. Inhedges of foreign currency sales and purchases,
ineffectiveness may arise if the timing of the forecast transaction changes from what was originally estimated or if there are changes in the credit risk of the
Group or the counterparty. These hedges have been highly effective in achieving offsetting cash flows with no ineffectiveness recorded. These fair value
gains and losses are expected to impact on profit and loss during 2022.

The Group's hedging reserves disclosed in Note 23 relate to the following hedging instruments:

Costof Interest Cross Foreign Total

Hedging Rate Currency Currency Hedge

Reserve Swaps Swaps Forwards Reserves

€m €m €m €m €m

At 1 January 2021 2 - 1 3 6
Change infair value of hedginginstrument recognisedin OCI - - 1 (1) -
Reclassified from OCl to profit or loss —includedin finance costs (1) - = = (1)
Reclassified from OCl to profit or loss —included inrevenue - - - (3) (3)
At 31 December 2021 1 - 2 (1) 2
Costof Interest Cross Foreign Total

Hedging Rate Currency Currency Hedge

Reserve Swaps Swaps Forwards Reserves

€m €m €m €m €m

At 1 January 2020 2 (2) (2) 2

Costs of hedging deferred and recognised in OCI 1 - - - 1
Change infair value of hedging instrument recognised in OCI - - 3 3 6
Reclassified from OCl to profit or loss —included in finance costs (1) 2 1 - 2
Reclassified from OCl to profit or loss —included in revenue - - - (2) (2)
Movementin deferred tax - - (1) - (1
At 31 December 2020 2 - 1 3 6
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Derivatives not Designated as Hedges

The Group utilises a combination of foreign currency forward contracts and cross currency swaps in order to economically hedge on balance sheet debtor,
creditor and borrowing exposures which are denominatedin currencies other than the euro. Formal hedge accounting as permitted by IFRS 9 is not applied
to these derivative instruments because a natural offset is effectively already achieved through fair valuing the derivatives through the profit or loss as
required by IFRS 9, while also retranslating the related balance sheet foreign currency denominated monetary assets or liabilities at appropriate closing rates
ateachbalance sheet date, as required by IAS 21, The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates.

The Group has also enteredinto certain energy hedging contracts to mitigate the associated price risks which occur as a result of the Group's normal
operations. These have not been designated as hedges in accordance with IFRS 9 and are recognised at fair value through the profit or loss as required
by that standard.

The principal terms of the Group's material derivative contracts have been set out further below.

Interest Rate Risk Management

The Group adopts a policy of maintaining between 55% and 90% of its interest rate risk exposure at fixed rates over the next twelve months. This is achieved
by enteringinto fixed rate instruments. In addition, at 31 December 2020, the Group had interest rate swaps as hedges of the variability in cash flows
attributable to movementsininterestrates, as outlined below. The Group had nointerest rate swap agreements outstanding at 31 December 2021.

The proceeds of the Group's November 2020 equity issuance were initially allocated to repaying variable rate debt under the RCF and securitisation programmmes,
which reduced the level of variable rate debt comprised inthe Group's gross debt balance. These funds will be fully utilised in the coming years (along with
ongoing cashflows) to fund investment. Consequently, the Groupis temporarily over its maximum fixed rate levels at 31 December 2021 and 31 December
2020. The Group expects to returnto alevel of fixed rate debt within policy parameters over the medium-term.

Outstandinginterest rate swap agreements at 31 December 2020 are summarised as follows:

Notional

Principal Termination % Variable
Currency (million) Dates % Fixed Payable Receivable
EUR 100 2021 1.314-1.508 Euribor

The effects of the designatedinterest rate swaps on the Group's financial position and performance are as follows:

2021 2020

€m €m

Carryingamount —liability n/a -
Notional amount n/a 100
Lineiteminbalance sheet—hedginginstrument n/a Derivative financialinstruments
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedgeditem n/a Borrowings
Maturity dates n/a January 2021
Hedge ratio n/a 11
Changeinfair value of outstanding hedging instrument recognisedin OCI n/a -
Changeinfair value of hedgeditem used to determine hedge effectiveness n/a -
Weighted average hedgedrate n/a 1.4%

Global reform, discontinuation and replacement of certain benchmark interest rates such as the London Interbank Offered Rate ('LIBOR') is underway.
The publication of GBP, EUR, CHF and JPY LIBOR settings, and the 1-week and 2-month USD LIBOR settings, ceased immediately following publication
on 31 December 2021 and they were replaced with alternative Risk Free Rates ('RFR’). The remaining USD LIBOR settings will cease immediately following
publication on 30 June 2023.

The Group's borrowings are substantially fixed rate and the Group has no hedge accounting relationships that reference LIBOR. The Group's floating rate
RCF references, amongst others, USD LIBOR. Euro denominated borrowings under the RCF are indexed to the Euro Interbank Offered Rate (EURIBOR')
whichis expected to continue for now since its reform from the previous quote-based methodology to a new hybrid methodology.

At 31 December 2021, the Group has one loan drawn under the RCF of USD$8 million. The Group's contracts which reference those benchmarkinterest
rates subject to reform and replacement adequately provide for an alternative calculation of interestin the event that they are unavailable. It is intended
that the Secured Overnight Financing Rate ('SOFR’) will be the replacement for USD LIBOR for USD borrowings under the RCF, with SOFR plus a credit
adjustment spread expected to be economically equivalent to the existing USD LIBOR rates. The Group is well placed to manage the discontinuation,
reform or replacement of these important benchmark rates and the impact on the Group and its ability to manage its interest rate risk is immaterial.
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Foreign Exchange Risk Management

Supplementary Information

The Group managesits balance sheet having regard to the currency exposures arising fromits assets being denominated in a wide range of currencies.
Tothis end, where foreign currency assets are funded by local borrowing, such borrowingis generally sourced in the currency of the related assets.
Additionally, the Group has a number of long-term foreign currency intra-group loans for which settlement is neither planned nor likely to happenin the
foreseeable future, and as a consequence of which are deemed quasi-equity in nature and therefore part of the Group's netinvestment inits foreign
operations. The Group also hedges a portion of its currency exposure through the use of currency swaps and forward contracts. At 31 December 2021
the Group had entered into €347 million (2020: €208 million) currency equivalent of forward contracts and there were no option contracts outstanding
inrespect ofits day to day trading. At 31 December 2021 the Group had also entered into further short-term currency swaps of €893 million equivalent

(2020:€916 million) as part of its short-term liquidity management.

The Groupis exposed to transactional foreign exchange currency risk to the extent that there is a mismatch between the currencies in which sales,
purchases, receivables and borrowings are denominated and the respective functional currencies of the Group companies. The Group's risk management
policy allows the hedging of estimated foreign currency exposure in respect of highly probable forecast sales, primarily in Sweden, and purchases. As such,
certain subsidiaries enter into foreign currency forward contracts to hedge highly probable forecast foreign currency sales and purchases for which hedge
accountingunder IFRS 9is applied. As aconsequence, therefore, the Group does not have any material transactional exposures.

The effects of these designated foreign currency forwards onthe Group's financial position and performance are as follows:

2021 2020
€m €m

Foreign currency forwards - sales:
Carryingamount—asset = 3
Carrying amount —liability (1) -
Notionalamount 107 95
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedginginstrument Derivative financial instruments Derivative financialinstruments
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedgeditem Trade and other receivables Trade and other receivables
Maturity dates January 2022 -December 2022 January 2021 —December 2021
Hedge ratio 1:1 11
Change infair value of outstanding hedging instrument recognised in OCI (1) 3
Changeinfair value of hedgeditem used to determine hedge effectiveness 1 (3)
Weighted average EUR:SEK forward contract rate 10.30 10.41
Weighted average GBP:SEK forward contract rate 12.03 11.44

The Group uses a portion of its foreign currency borrowings to hedge the netinvestmentin certain of its foreign entities. The carryingamount of borrowings
which are designated as netinvestment hedges at the year-end amounted to €43 million (2020: €40 million). The gains or losses on the effective portions

of such borrowings are recognised in other comprehensive income. Ineffective portions of the gains and losses on such borrowings are recognisedin the
income statement. There has been noineffectiveness recognisedin relation to these hedges in the current or prior financial year.

The Group also entersinto longer term cross currency swap arrangements in respect of its US dollar debt, which are set out in more detailin the tables below.
In addition, the Group enteredinto a number of cross currency swaps in respect of the funding of its acquisition in Brazil, which are set out in more detailin the

table below.

Outstanding currency swap agreements at 31 December 2021 are summarised as follows:

Currency

Received Maturity Interest Rate Interest Rate
Currency Swapped (million) (million) Date Paid Received
Us$ 154 EUR 144 2023 5.30% 7.50%
EUR25 BRL 153 2024 CDI +2.15% Euribor +2.05%
EUR13 BRL 76 2024 CDI+2.17% Euribor +2.05%
EURS5 BRL 28 2024 CDI +1.84% Euribor +2.05%
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Foreign Exchange Risk Management continued

Outstanding currency swap agreements at 31 December 2020 are summarised as follows:

Currency

Received Maturity Interest Rate Interest Rate
Currency Swapped (million) (million) Date Paid Received
EUR 38 BRL 150 2021 129.22% CDI Euribor +2.50%
EURS BRL 25 2021 CDI+1.27% Euribor +1.80%
EURS BRL 27 2021 CDI+1.65% Euribor +1.80%
EUR6 BRL 39 2021 CDI+1.49% Euribor +1.80%
US$ 56 EUR50 2021 Euribor +0.79% US$ Libor +0.90%
US$ 154 EUR 144 2023 5.30% 7.50%

The effects of the cross currency swaps designated as cash flow hedges on the Group's financial position and performance are as follows:

2021 2020
€m €m
Hedge of USS debt:
Carryingamount —liability (7) (21)
Notionalamount—EUR 144 194
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedginginstrument Derivative financial instruments Derivative financialinstruments
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedgeditem Borrowings Borrowings
Maturity dates November 2023 January 2021 &November 2023
Hedge ratio 1:1 11
Changein fair value of outstanding hedging instrument recognised in OCI - 3
Changeinfair value of hedged item used to determine hedge effectiveness - (3)
Weighted average EUR:USD hedgedrate 1.07 1.08
Hedge - Brazil acquisition funding:
Carryingamount—asset 2 16
Notionalamount—BRL 257 241
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedginginstrument Derivative financial instruments Derivative financialinstruments
Lineitemin balance sheet—hedgeditem Borrowings Borrowings
Maturity dates June 2024 June, July & September 2021
Hedge ratio 1:1 11
Change infair value of outstanding hedging instrument recognised in OCI 1 -
Changeinfair value of hedgeditem used to determine hedge effectiveness (1) -
Weighted average EUR:BRL hedgedrate 5.99 4.50

Energy Risk Management

The Group had the following energy hedging contracts outstanding at the end of 31 December 2021 and 2020. Gains and losses recorded in respect of

these contracts have been set out elsewhere in this note.

2021 2020
Notional Maturity Notional Maturity
Q12022 Q12021
Energy contracts €7 million -Q42024 €6 million -Q42024
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Inrespect ofincome earning financial assets and interest bearing financial liabilities, the following tables indicate their average effective interest rates at the

reporting date and the periods in which they reprice:

Average
Effective 6 Months 6-12 1-2 2-5 More Than

Interest orless Months Years Years 5Years Total
31December 2021 Rate €m €m €m €m €m €m
Fixed rateinstruments
Liabilities:
2025 debentures 7.56% - - - 260 - 260
2025 notes 2.97% - - - 251 - 251
2026 notes 3.05% - - - 1,007 - 1,007
2027 notes 1.66% - - - - 747 747
2029 greennotes 0.64% = = = = 495 495
2033 greennotes 1.10% - - - 496 496
Bank loans/overdrafts 3.84% - 1 1 5 - 7
Total - 1 1 1,523 1,738 3,263
Leases 2.84% 11 8 28 122 211 380
Total fixed rate liabilities 11 9 29 1,645 1,949 3,643
Floating rateinstruments
Assets:
Cashand cashequivalents (0.36)% 855 - - - - 855
Restricted cash 0.01% 14 - - - - 14
Total floating rate assets 869 = = = = 869
Liabilities:
Revolving credit facility” 66.05% 2 - - - - 2
2026 €100 million receivables securitisation 6.36% 4 - - - - 4
2026 €230 million receivables securitisation 3.80% 11 - - - - 11
Bankloans/overdrafts 8.10% 94 - - - - 94
Total floating rate liabilities 111 - - - - 111
Total net position 747 9) (29) (1,645) (1,949) (2,885)

At the end of the financial year, the carrying amount of the revolving credit facility was €7 million compared to €95 million at 31 December 2020. If the drawn amount had been unchanged
year-on-year, the average effective interest rate would be 2.21% (2020: 2.43%) due to the relative impact of deferred debtissue costs recognised in finance costs in the Consolidated
Income Statement, using the effective interest method over the remaining life of the programme.

Smurfit Kappa AnnualReport 2021

181



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
FOR THE FINANCIAL YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2021

29. Financial Instruments continued
Effective Interest Rates and Repricing Analysis continued

Average
Effective 6 Months 6-12 1-2 2-5 More Than

Interest orlLess Months Years Years 5Years Total
31 December 2020 Rate €m €m €m €m €m £€m
Fixed rateinstruments
Liabilities:
2025 debentures 7.56% - - - 240 - 240
2024 notes 2.64% - - - 501 - 501
2025 notes 2.98% - - - 251 - 251
2026 notes 3.05% - - - - 1,005 1,005
2027 notes 1.67% - - - - 746 746
Bank loans/overdrafts 3.75% 2 2 2 6 - 12
Effect of interest rate swaps 100 - - - - 100
Total 102 2 2 998 1,751 2,855
Leases 3.07% 9 7 26 117 187 346
Total fixed rate liabilities 111 9 28 1,115 1,938 3,201
Floating rate instruments
Assets:
Cashand cash equivalents (0.44)% 891 - - - - 891
Restricted cash 0.00% 10 - - - - 10
Total floating rate assets 901 - - - - 901
Liabilities:
Revolving credit facility 2.43% 89 - - - - 89
2022 receivables securitisation 17.60% 4 - - - - 4
2023 receivables securitisation 8.08% 11 - - - - 11
Bank loans/overdrafts 6.96% 71 — - - - 71
Effect of interest rate swaps 1.91% (100) - - - - (100)
Total floating rate liabilities 75 - - - - 75
Total net position 715 (9) (28) (1,115) (1,938) (2,375)
Liquidity Analysis

The following table sets out the maturity or liquidity analysis of the Group's financial liabilities and net settled derivative financial liabilities into the relevant
maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the
contractual undiscounted cash flows:

Weighted

Average

Period

Until NoFixed Less Than 1-2 2-5 More Than
Maturity Term 1Year Years Years 5Years Total
31December 2021 (Years) €m €m €m €m €m €m
Liabilities:

Trade and other payables - 2,082 - - - 2,082
Revolving credit facility 4.1 - - - 7 - 7
2026 €100 million receivables securitisation 4.1 - - - 5 - 5
2026 €230 million receivables securitisation 4.9 - - - 13 - 13
Bank loans/overdrafts 1.1 28 29 33 10 1 101
2025 debentures 3.9 - 19 19 297 - 335
2025 notes 3.1 - 7 7 260 - 274
2026 notes 4.0 - 29 29 1,072 - 1,130
2027 notes 5.7 = 11 11 34 761 817
2029 greennotes 7.7 - 3 3 7 507 520
2033 greennotes 11.7 = 5 5 15 535 560
28 2,185 107 1,720 1,804 5,844
Leases 4.9 - 98 76 135 128 437
28 2,283 183 1,855 1,932 6,281
Derivative liabilities - 6 1 - - 7
Deferred consideration - 10 - - - 10
Total liabilities 28 2,299 184 1,855 1,932 6,298
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Liquidity Analysis continued
Weighted
Average
Period
Until No Fixed Less Than 1-2 2-5 More Than
Maturity Term 1Year Years Years 5Years Total
31 December 2020 (Years) €m €m €m €m €m €m
Liabilities:
Trade and other payables - 1,408 - - - 1,408
Revolving credit facility 51 - 1 1 3 95 100
2022 receivables securitisation 1.1 - - 5 - - 5
2023 receivables securitisation 2.5 - - - 13 - 13
Bankloans/overdrafts 1.3 15 41 11 19 2 88
2025 debentures 49 - 18 18 292 328
2024 notes 31 - 12 12 518 - 542
2025 notes 4.1 - 7 7 267 - 281
2026 notes 5.0 - 29 29 86 1,014 1,158
2027 notes 6.7 - 11 11 34 773 829
15 1,527 94 1,232 1,884 4,752
Leases 4.6 - 90 66 121 116 393
15 1,617 160 1,353 2,000 5,145
Derivative liabilities - 1 - - - 1
Deferred consideration - 1 11 - - 12
Deferred contingent consideration - 35 - - - 35
Total liabilities 15 1,654 171 1,353 2,000 5193
The financial liabilities of the Company of €3 million (2020: €10 million) are repayable on demand.
The following table sets out the liquidity analysis with regard to derivatives which do not net settle in the normal course of business (primarily foreign
exchange contracts and currency swaps). The table shows the estimated timing of gross contractual cash flows exchanged on an undiscounted basis:
Less Than 1-2 2-5 More Than
1Year Years Years 5Years Total
31December 2021 €m €m €m €m €m
Liabilities:
Cross currency swaps (911) (156) (33) - (1,100)
Foreign currency forwards (341) (6) = = (347)
Total outflow (1,252) (162) (33) o (1,447)
Assets:
Cross currency swaps 904 144 43 = 1,091
Foreign currency forwards 341 6 - - 347
Total inflow 1,245 150 43 - 1,438
Less Than 1-2 2-5 More Than
1Year Years Years 5 Years Total
31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m €m
Liabilities:
Cross currency swaps (1,002) (8) (152) - (1,162)
Foreign currency forwards (204) (1) - - (205)
Total outflow (1,206) (9) (152) - (1,367)
Assets:
Cross currency swaps 1,025 9 132 - 1,166
Foreign currency forwards 207 1 - - 208
Total inflow 1,232 10 132 - 1,374
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29. Financial Instruments continued

Currency Analysis

Thetable below sets out the Group's financial assets and liabilities according to their principal currencies. Currency risk related to financial assets
and liabilities denominated in currencies other thanthe Group's presentation currency (euro) represents both transactional and translation risk.
Asat 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Company had no material financial assets or liabilities denominated in foreign currencies.

Euro Sterling Latin America” US Dollar Other Total
31December 2021 €m €m €m €m €m €m
Trade and other receivables 1,106 171 253 247 229 2,006
Listed and unlisted debt instruments 11 - - - - 11
Cashand cash equivalents 673 51 35 73 23 855
Restricted cash 12 - 1 1 - 14
Totalassets 1,802 222 289 321 252 2,886
Trade and other payables 1,360 131 165 234 192 2,082
Revolving credit facility (5) - - 7 - 2
2026 €100 million receivables securitisation 4 - - - - 4
2026 €230 million receivables securitisation 11 - - - - 11
Bank loans/overdrafts 24 - 56 19 2 101
2025 debentures - - - 260 - 260
2025 notes 251 - - - - 251
2026 notes 1,007 - - - - 1,007
2027 notes 747 - - - - 747
2029 greennotes 495 - - - - 495
2033 greennotes 496 = = = = 496

4,390 131 221 520 194 5,456
Leases 169 52 13 132 14 380
Deferred consideration 10 - - - - 10
Total liabilities 4,569 183 234 652 208 5,846
Impact of foreign exchange contracts (305) 170 79 86 (21) 9
Total (liabilities)/assets (2,462) (131) (24) (417) 65 (2,969)

Latin Americaincludes currencies such as the Mexican Peso, Colombian Peso and Brazilian Real. These have been grouped together principally owing to their size and impact on the
currency analysis tables within this note.

Euro Sterling Latin America” US Dollar Other Total

31 December 2020 €m €m €m €m €m €m
Trade and other receivables 815 129 208 163 150 1,465
Listed and unlisted debtinstruments 11 - - - - 11
Cashand cash equivalents 721 76 15 57 22 891
Restricted cash 8 - 1 - 1 10
Total assets 1,555 205 224 220 173 2,377
Trade and other payables 888 93 145 139 143 1,408
Revolving credit facility 44 - - 45 - 89
2022 receivables securitisation 4 - - - - 4
2023 receivables securitisation 11 - - - — 11
Bank loans/overdrafts 12 - 56 13 2 83
2025 debentures - - - 240 — 240
2024 notes 501 - - - - 501
2025 notes 251 - - — — 251
2026 notes 1,005 - - - - 1,005
2027 notes 746 - - - - 746
3,462 93 201 437 145 4,338

Leases 153 48 10 127 8 346
Deferred consideration 12 - - - - 12
Deferred contingent consideration 35 - - - - 35
Total liabilities 3,662 141 211 564 153 4,731
Impact of foreign exchange contracts (14) 199 32 (6) (218) (7)
Total (liabilities)/assets (2,093) (135) (19) (338) 238 (2,347)

Latin Americaincludes currencies such as the Mexican Peso, Colombian Peso and Brazilian Real. These have been grouped together principally owing to their size and impact on the
currency analysis tables within this note.
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2021 2020

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair

Value Value Value Value

€m €m €m €m

Trade and other receivables! 2,006 2,006 1,465 1,465
Listed and unlisted debtinstruments? 11 11 11 11
Cashand cash equivalents® 855 855 891 891
Derivative assets” 10 10 38 38
Restricted cash® 14 14 10 10
2,896 2,896 2,415 2,415

Trade and other payables! 2,082 2,082 1,408 1,408
Revolving credit facility® 2 2 89 89
2026 €100 million receivables securitisation® 4 4 4 4
2026 €230 million receivables securitisation® 11 11 11 11
Bank overdrafts?® 101 101 83 83
2025 debentures® 260 318 240 298
2024 notes® - - 501 535
2025 notes® 251 270 251 274
2026 notes® 1,007 1,103 1,005 1,118
2027 notes® 747 786 746 786
2029 greennotes® 495 489 - -
2033 greennotes® 496 490 - -
5,456 5,656 4,338 4,606

Derivative liabilities” 21 21 30 30
Deferred consideration’ 10 10 12 12
Deferred contingent consideration® - - 35 35
5,487 5,687 4,415 4,683
Total net position (2,591) (2,791) (2,000) (2,268)

The fair value of trade and other receivables and payables is estimated as the present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

2 Thefairvalue of listed financial assets is determined by reference to their bid price at the reporting date. Unlisted financial assets are valued using recognised valuation techniques for the
underlying security including discounted cash flows and similar unlisted equity valuation models.
3 Thecarryingamountreportedinthe Consolidated Balance Sheet s estimated to approximate to fair value because of the short-term maturity of these instruments and, in the case of

the receivables securitisation, the variable nature of the facility and repricing dates.

4 Thefairvalue of forward foreign currency, energy and commodity contracts is based on their listed market price if available. If alisted market price is not available, then fair value is
estimated by discounting the difference between the contractual forward price and the current forward price for the residual maturity of the contract using a risk-free interest rate (based
on government bonds). The fair value of interest rate swaps is based on discounting estimated future cash flows based on the terms and maturity of each contract and using market
interest rates for a similarinstrument at the measurement date

5 Thefairvalue (level 2) of the revolving credit facility is based onthe present value of its estimated future cash flows discounted at an appropriate market discount rate at the balance sheet
date.

6 Thefairvalue (level 2)is based on broker prices at the balance sheet date

7 Thefairvalue of deferred considerationis based onthe present value of the expected payment, discounted using an appropriate market discount rate at the balance sheet date.

8 Thefairvalue of deferred contingent consideration was based on the present value of the expected payment, discounted using a risk-adjusted discount rate.

The fair value of the Company's financial assets and financial liabilities approximates to their carrying values.

30. Related Party Transactions

The principal related party relationships requiring disclosure under IAS 24, Related Party Disclosures pertain to the existence of subsidiaries and associates
and transactions with these entities entered into by the Group and the identification and compensation of key management personnelas addressedin
greater detail below.

Transactions with Subsidiaries
The Consolidated Financial Statements include the Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries and associates as documentedinthe

accounting policies on page 135. Alisting of the principal subsidiaries is provided on page 188.

Sales to and purchases from, together with outstanding payables and receivables to and from, subsidiaries are eliminatedin the preparation of the
consolidated financial information in accordance with IFRS 10, Consolidated Financial Statements.
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30. Related Party Transactions continued
Transactions with Associates
The Group conducts certain transactions with associates in the normal course of business which are summarised as follows:

Sales and Purchase of Goods and Services

2021 2020

€m €m

Sale of goods 3 7
Receiving of services (2) (2)

These transactions are undertaken and settled at normal trading terms. No guarantees are given or received by either party.

Thereceivables fromrelated parties of €2 million (2020: €3 million) arise mainly from sales transactions and are due two months after the date of sale.
Thereceivables are unsecuredin nature and do not bear interest.

The payables to related parties are nilin the current year (2020: nil).
No provisionhas been made in 2021 or 2020 relating to balances with related parties.

Transactions with Other Related Parties
There were no transactions with other related parties during 2021 or 2020.

Transactions with Key Management Personnel

Forthe purposes of the disclosure requirements of IAS 24, the term 'key management personnel’ (i.e. those persons having authority and responsibility
for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Company) comprises the Board of Directors and Secretary who manage the business and affairs
ofthe Company.

2021 2020

€m €m

Short-term employee benefits 5 5
Share-based payment expense 5 3
10 8

Information on the Parent Company

The parent Company is aninvestment holding company and as aresult, holds investments in the Group subsidiaries as financial assets. The parent Company
also hasreceivables and payables with its subsidiaries entered into in the normal course of business. These balances are repayable on demand. Details of
related party transactions and balances in the financial year ended 31 December 2021 between the Parent Company and its subsidiaries are providedin
Note 14, Note 19 and Note 28 to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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31. Business Combinations

The acquisitions completed by the Group during the year, together with percentages acquired and completion dates were as follows:
« Cartones del Pacifico, (100%, 1 June 2021) a paper-based packaging company in Peru;

«  Cartonbox, (100%, 5 July 2021), a folding carton company in Mexico; and

« Verzuolo, (100%, 8 October 2021), a containerboard millin Northern Italy.

The acquisitionsinthe Americas add to our geographic diversity and enhance our customer offeringin these high growth regions. The Verzuolo millacquisition
inltaly increases the containerboard available in our integrated system ensuring we continue to meet our customers' needs and capture future growth.

The table below reflects the provisional fair values of the identifiable net assets acquired in respect of the acquisitions completed during the year. The initial
assignment of fair values to identifiable net assets acquired has been performed on a provisional basis in respect of the Verzuolo acquisition given the timing
of closure of the transaction. Any amendments to fair values will be made within the twelve month period from the date of acquisition, as permitted by

IFRS 3, Business Combinations and disclosed in the 2022 Annual Report.

Verzuolo Other Total
€m €m €m
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 231 28 259
Right-of-use assets 1 5 6
Intangible assets = 19 19
Deferredincome tax asset 2 - 2
Current assets
Inventories 14 8 22
Trade and other receivables 3 14 17
Cash and cash equivalents - 1 1
Non-current liabilities
Employee benefits (4) - (4)
Deferredincome tax liabilities = (7) (7)
Borrowings = (11) (11)
Current liabilities
Borrowings = (15) (15)
Trade and other payables (9) (18) (27)
Net assets acquired 238 24 262
Goodwill 119 33 152
Consideration 357 57 414
Settledby:
Cash 357 57 414

The principal factors contributing to the recognition of goodwill are the realisation of cost savings and other synergies with existing entities inthe Group

which do not qualify for separate recognition as intangible assets.

None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for tax purposes.

Net cash outflow arising on acquisition €m
Cash consideration 414
Less cash &cash equivalents acquired (1)
Total 413

The gross contractual value of trade and other receivables as at the respective dates of acquisition amounted to €17 million. The fair value of these
receivablesis estimated at €17 million (all of which is expected to be recoverable).

Acquisition-related costs of €1 million were incurred and are included within administrative expenses in the Consolidated Income Statement.

The Group's acquisitions in 2021 have contributed €73 million to revenue and a €7 millionloss after tax. The proformarevenue and profit after tax of the
Group for the year ended 31 December 2021 would have been €10,358 million and €674 million respectively, had the acquisitions taken place at the start
ofthe reporting period.

There have been no acquisitions completed subsequent to the balance sheet date which would be individually material to the Group, thereby requiring
disclosure under either IFRS 3 or IAS 10, Events after the Balance Sheet Date.

32. Profit Dealt with in the Parent Company

Inaccordance with Section 304 of the Companies Act 2014, the Company is availing of the exemption from presenting its individual Income Statement to
the Annual General Meeting and from filing it with the Registrar of Companies. A profit after tax of €285 million (2020: a profit after tax of €370 million) has
beendealt within the Income Statement of the Company.
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33. Principal Subsidiaries

Each of Smurfit Kappa Group plc, Smurfit Kappa Investments Limited, Smurfit Kappa Holdings Limited and Smurfit Kappa Acquisitions Unlimited Company
with anaddress at Beech Hill, Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2, is a holding company with no operations of its own. Smurfit Kappa Acquisitions Unlimited
Company is a Public Unlimited Company. Alisting of the principal subsidiaries is set out as follows:

Country of Holding
Subsidiaries® Principal Activities Incorporation? %
Carton de Colombia, S.A. Manufacture and sale of paperboard, paper sacks, writingpaper ~ Colombia 99.7
Calle 15No. 18-109 Puerto Isaacs, and packaging products
Yumbo—Valle del Cauca,
Colombia
Smurfit Cartony Papel de México S.A.de C.V. Manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging products Mexico 100
Miguelde Cervantes Saavedra, 301, Torre B Piso 8.
Colonia Ampliacion Granada, Alc. Miguel Hidalgo
Ciudad de Mexico, c.p. 11520, Mexico
Smurfit Kappa Nettingsdorf AG & Co KG Manufacture and sale of containerboard and holding company for = Austria 100
Nettingsdorfer Stralke 40, Austrian operations which manufacture corrugated board
4053 Haid bei Ansfelden, Austria
Smurfit International B.V. Principal international holding company Netherlands 100
Warandelaan 2, 4904 PC Oosterhout,
The Netherlands
Smurfit Kappade Argentina, S.A. Manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging products Argentina 100
Av. Cordoba 838, 9 Floor, of. 18,
Ciudad de Buenos Aires, Argentina
Smurfit Kappa Deutschland GmbH Holding company for German operations whose principal Germany 100
Tilsiter Strafse 162, activities are the manufacture and sale of paperboard, solidboard
22047 Hamburg, Germany and packaging products
Smurfit Kappa Europe B.V. International holding company Netherlands 100
Evertvan den Beekstraat 1-106, 1118 CL Schiphol,
The Netherlands
Smurfit Kappa Italia, S.p.A. Manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging products Italy 100
Via Vicenzo Monti 12
20123 Milano (MI), Italy
Smurfit Kappa Holdings US Inc. Holding company for North America and certain Mexican United States 100
913 N. Market Street operations whose principal activities are the manufacture and
Suite 200, sale of paperboard and packaging products
Wilmington, DE 19801 USA
Smurfit KappaIreland Limited Manufacture and sale of packaging products Ireland 100
Beech Hill, Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2, Ireland
Smurfit Kappa Kraftliner Pited AB Manufacture and sale of containerboard and holding company for Sweden 100
SE—941 86, Pitea, Sweden operations in Sweden and Norway which manufacture and sell

packaging products

Smurfit Kappa Nederland B.V. Holding company for Dutch operations which manufacture Netherlands 100
Warandelaan 2, 4904 PC Oosterhout, paperboard and packaging products
The Netherlands
Smurfit KappaNervion, S.A. Manufacture and sale of sack paper and holding company for Spain 100
B Arriandis/n, 48215 lurreta, Spanish and Portuguese operations whose principal activities are
Vizcaya, Spain the manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging products
Smurfit Kappa Packaging UK Limited Holding company for operations in the United Kingdom whose England 100
Cunard Building, Pier Head, Liverpool, LS3 1SF, principal activities are the manufacture and sale of paperboard
United Kingdom and packaging products
Smurfit Kappa do Brasil Industriade Embalagens S.A  Holding company for operations in Brazil whose principal activities  Brazil 100
Rua Castilho, 392, Cj.162, Brooklin, are the manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging
CEP 04568-010, Sao Paulo, Brazil products
Smurfit Kappa Participations SAS Holding company for French operations whose activitiesarethe ~ France 100
5 Avenue du Général de Gaulle, manufacture and sale of paperboard and packaging products
94160 Saint Mandé, France
Smurfit Kappa Treasury Unlimited Company Finance company Ireland 100

BeechHill, Clonskeagh, Dublin 4, D04 N2R2, Ireland

1 Afulllist of subsidiaries and associates will be annexed to the Annual Return of the Company to be filed with the Irish Registrar of Companies
2 Thecompanies operate principally in their countries of incorporation.
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33. Principal Subsidiaries continued

Section 357 Guarantees

Pursuant to the provisions of Section 357, Companies Act 2014, Smurfit Kappa Group plc has irrevocably guaranteed all commitments entered into by
certain of its Irish subsidiaries (including amounts shown as liabilities in the statutory financial statements of such subsidiaries) for the financial year ended
31 December 2021 and as a result such subsidiaries have been exempted from the filing provisions of Section 347, Companies Act 2014. These Irish
subsidiaries are as follows —Belgray Holdings Unlimited Company, Brenchley Limited, Claystoke Designated Activity Company, Damous Limited, DLRS
(Holdings) Limited, Smurfit Kappa Security Concepts Limited, Gorda Limited, lona Print Limited, iVenus Limited, Jefferson Smurfit & Sons Limited,
Margrave Investments Limited, Smurfit International Designated Activity Company, Smurfit Investments (Ireland) Limited, Smurfit Kappa Holdings Limited,
Smurfit Kappa Investments Limited, Smurfit Kappa Ireland Limited, Smurfit Kappa Irish Paper Sacks Limited, Smurfit Kappa Leasing Unlimited Company,
Smurfit Kappa Packaging Limited, Smurfit Kappa Services Limited, Smurfit Kappa Treasury Funding Designated Activity Company, Smurfit Kappa Treasury
Receivables Designated Activity Company, Smurfit Natural Resources Limited, Smurfit Securities Limited.

Article 403 Guarantees

Smurfit Kappa Group plc has, in accordance with Article 403, Book 2 of the Dutch Civil Code, guaranteed the debts of its following Dutch subsidiaries
—Adavale (Netherlands) B.V., Smurfit International B.V., Smurfit Holdings B.V., Smurfit Investments B.V., Packaging Investments Netherlands (PIN) B.V.,
Packaging Investments Holdings (PIH) B.V., Smurfit Kappa Europe B.V., Smurfit Kappa Nederland B.V., Smurfit Kappa Corrugated Benelux B.V., Smurfit Kappa
TWINCORRB.V., Smurfit Kappa MNL Golfkarton B.V., Smurfit Kappa Van Dam Golfkarton B.V., Smurfit Kappa Vandra B.V., Smurfit Kappa Orko-Pak B.V.,
Smurfit Kappa ELCORRB.V., Smurfit Kappa Trobox Kartonnages B.V., Smurfit Kappa Zedek B.V., Smurfit Kappa North East Europe Head Office B.V., Smurfit
Kappa Recycling B.V., Smurfit Kappa Development Centre B.V., Smurfit Kappa Paper Services B.V., Smurfit Kappa Roermond Papier B.V., Kappa Holding
(Nederland) B.V., Smurfit Kappa RapidCorr Eindhoven B.V., Smurfit Kappa Group IS Nederland B.V., Smurfit Kappa Finance B.V., Smurfit Kappa Hexacomb B.V.,
Smurfit Kappa Parenco B.V., Parenco Energy B.V., Reparco Nederland B.V.

Non-controlling Interests

2021 2020

€m €m

At 1January 13 41
Share of profit for the financial year - 2
Purchase of non-controllinginterest = (27)
Foreign currency translation adjustment - (3)
At 31 December 13 13
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Expanding our Footprint into Peru
| B TS T

Acquisition of Cartones del Pacifico

We have completed the acquisition of Cartones del Pacifico, f === :
aleading paper-based packaging company in Peru. 7 =

The acquisition represents animportant Juan G. Castaneda said: “We are very pleased
milestone as it expands our footprint in the to welcome the 368 employees of Cartones A -:,’h Lr
Americas from 12 to 13 countries, and builds on del Pacifico to the Smurfit Kappa family. There [ h
the Group's leadership position as the largest pan-  is a strong cultural fit between our businesses " =
regional supplier in Latin America. As part of the and we are excited about the potential for
transaction Emusa Group has acquired Smurfit Cartones del Pacifico within the Smurfit Kappa

Kappa's flexible packaging business in El Salvador. integrated system.”

Commenting on the acquisition, Smurfit Kappa The acquisition of Cartones del Pacifico,

Group CEO, Tony Smurfit, said: “The acquisition aleading corrugated packaging business located

of Cartones del Pacifico further expands our in Paramonga, in the vicinity of Lima, will open

strategic reach and underscores our growing opportunities for us to enhance our business

regional capability in Latin America. Witha through the Group's best-in-class operating

population of over 30 million, we are delighted to systems, procurement arrangements, and design Expanding to
expand our footprint into Peru to help drive future ~ and innovation capability to help customers,

growth. We welcome the Cartones del Pacifico mainly in the fast growing agricultural and 1 3
employees to our team of talented people, and industrial sectors. Furthermore, the Group's

look forward to their expertise contributing to enlarged global footprint willimprove its packaging countriesin
the success of Smurfit Kappa Group.” offering to multinationals operating throughout the Americas

the Latin American region.
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES

The Group uses certain financial measures as set out below in order to evaluate the Group's financial performance. These Alternative Performance
Measures (APMs') are not defined under IFRS and are presented because we believe that they, and similar measures, provide both SKG management
and users of the Consolidated Financial Statements with useful additional financial information when evaluating the Group's operating and financial
performance.

These measures may not be comparable to other similarly titled measures used by other companies, and are not measurements under IFRS or other
generally accepted accounting principles, and they should not be considered inisolation or as substitutes for the information contained in our Consolidated
Financial Statements.

Please note where referenced 'CIS refers to Consolidated Income Statement, 'CBS' refers to Consolidated Balance Sheet and 'CSCF' refers to Consolidated
Statement of Cash Flows.

The principal APMs used by the Group, together with reconciliations where the non-IFRS measures are not readily identifiable from the Consolidated
Financial Statements, are as follows:

A.EBITDA

Definition

EBITDAs earnings before exceptionalitems, share-based payment expense, share of associates' profit (after tax), net finance costs, income tax expense,
depreciation and depletion (net) andintangible assets amortisation. Itis an appropriate and useful measure used to compare recurring financial performance
between periods. A reconciliation of profit to EBITDA s included below:

Reconciliation of Profit to EBITDA

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Profit for the financial year CIS 679 547
Income tax expense (after exceptional items) CIS 234 201
Exceptionalitems charged in operating profit CIS - 21
Net finance costs (after exceptional items) Note 7 162 144
Share of associates' profit (after tax) CIS (2) (1)
Share-based payment expense Note 4 69 37
Depreciation, depletion (net) and amortisation Note 4 560 551
EBITDA 1,702 1,510
B. EBITDA Margin
Definition
EBITDA marginis a measure of profitability by taking our EBITDA divided by revenue.
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
EBITDA A 1,702 1,510
Revenue CIS 10,107 8,530
EBITDA margin 16.8% 17.7%

C. Operating Profit Before Exceptional ltems

Definition

Operating profit before exceptional items represents operating profit as reportedin the Consolidated Income Statement before exceptionalitems.
Exceptionalitems are excluded in order to assess the underlying financial performance of our operations.

2021 2020

Reference €m €m

Operating profit CIS 1,073 891
Exceptionalitems CIS = 31
Operating profit before exceptionalitems CIS 1,073 922

D. Pre-exceptional Basic Earnings per Share

Definition

Pre-exceptional basic EPS serves as an effective indicator of our profitability as it excludes exceptional one-offitems and, in conjunction with other metrics
suchas ROCE, isameasure of our financial strength. Pre-exceptional basic EPS is calculated by dividing profit attributable to owners of the parent, adjusted
for exceptionalitems included in profit before income tax and income tax on exceptional items, by the weighted average number of ordinary shares inissue.
The calculation of pre-exceptional basic EPS is showninNote 9.
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E. Underlying EBITDA and Revenue

Definition

Underlying EBITDA and revenue are arrived at by excluding the incremental EBITDA and revenue contributions from current and prior year acquisitions
and disposals and the impact of currency translation, hyperinflation and any non-recurring items.

The Group uses underlying EBITDA and underlying revenue as additional performance indicators to assess performance on alike-for-like basis each year.

The The
Europe Americas Total Europe Americas Total
2021 2021 2021 2020 2020 2020

EBITDA
Currency 1% (2%) - - (9%) (2%)
Acquisitions/disposals (1%) 1% - - - -
Underlying EBITDA change 10% 20% 13% (11%) 12% (7%)
Reported EBITDA change 10% 19% 13% (11%) 3% (9%)
Revenue
Currency - (3%) - (1%) (10%) (3%)
Hyperinflation - 1% = - - -
Acquisitions/disposals 1% 1% - - - -
Underlying revenue change 17% 21% 18% (4%) 2% (3%)
Reported revenue change 18% 20% 18% (5%) (8%) (6%)
F.Net Debt
Definition

Net debt comprises borrowings net of cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash. We believe that this measure highlights the overallmovement resulting
from our operating and financial performance.

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Borrowings Note 24 3,754 3,276
Less:
Restricted cash CBS (14) (10)
Cashand cash equivalents CBS (855) (891)
Net debt 2,885 2,375
G. Net Debt to EBITDA
Definition
Leverage (ratio of net debt to EBITDA) is animportant measure of our overall financial position.
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Net Debt F 2,885 2,375
EBITDA A 1,702 1,510
Net debt to EBITDA (times) 1.7 16
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H. Return on Capital Employed (‘ROCE’)
Definition

ROCE measures profit from capital employed. Itis calculated as operating profit before exceptional items plus share of associates' profit (after tax) divided
by the average capital employed (where average capital employedis the average of total equity and net debt at the current and prior year-end).

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Operating profit before exceptional items C 1,073 922
Share of associates' profit (after tax) CIS 2 1
Operating profit before exceptionalitems plus share of associates' profit (after tax) 1,075 923
Total equity —current year-end CBS 4,392 3,783
Net debt—current year-end F 2,885 2,375
Capitalemployed —current year-end 7,277 6,158
Total equity —prior year-end CBS 3,783 2,993
Net debt—prior year-end F 2,375 3,483
Capital employed —prior year-end 6,158 6,476
Average capitalemployed 6,718 6,317
Return on capital employed 16.0% 14.6%
I. Working Capital
Definition
Working capital represents total inventories, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Inventories CBS 1,046 773
Trade and other receivables (current and non-current) CBS 2,163 1,563
Trade and other payables CBS (2,563) (1,835)
Working capital 646 501
J. Working Capital as a Percentage of Sales
Definition
Working capital as a percentage of sales represents working capital as defined above shown as a percentage of annualised quarterly revenue.
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Working capital I 646 501
Annualised quarterly revenue 11,281 8,875
Working capital as a percentage of sales 5.7% 5.6%
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K. Summary Cash Flow

Definition

The summary cash flowis prepared on a different basis to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows and as such the reconciling items between EBITDA
and (increase)/decrease in net debt may differ from amounts presentedin the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows. The summary cash flow details
movementsinnet debt. The Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows details movements in cash and cash equivalents.

Reconciliation of the Summary Cash Flow to the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
EBITDA A 1,702 1,510
Exceptionalitems K.1 - (18)
Cashinterest expense K.2 (109) (118)
Working capital change K.3 (114) 94
Capital expenditure K.4 (693) (575)
Changein capital creditors K.4 (14) (18)
Tax paid CSCF (239) (194)
Change in employee benefits and other provisions K.6 (81) (20)
Other K.7 3 14
Free cash flow L 455 675
[talian Competition Authority fine CSCF (124) -
Shareissues (net) CSCF - 648
Purchase of own shares (net) CSCF (22) (16)
Sale of businesses and investments K.8 37 -
Purchase of businesses, investments and NClI K.9 (449) (25)
Dividends CSCF (302) (260)
Derivative terminationreceipts CSCF 9 9
Premium on early repayment of bonds K.2 (28) -
Net cash (outflow)/inflow (424) 1,031
Acquired net debt K.10 (25) (1)
Disposed net cash K11 (1) -
Deferred debtissue costs amortised K.12 (10) (7)
Currency translation adjustment Note 21 (50) 85
(Increase)/decrease in net debt (510) 1,108
K.1Exceptional ltems
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Reorganisation and restructuring costs—paid - (7)
Recognition reward —paid Note 5 - (11)
Per summary cash flow - (18)
K.2 Cash Interest Expense
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Interest paid CSCF (152) (122)
Interest received CSCF 3 3
Move in accrued interest K.12 3 1
Initial cost of bonds repaid Note 21 9 -
Premium on early repayment of bonds K 28 -
Per summary cash flow (109) (118)
K.3 Working Capital Change
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Net movement in working capital CSCF (114) 95
Other - (1
Per summary cash flow (114) 94
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ALTERNATIVE PERFORMANCE MEASURES CONTINUED

K. Summary Cash Flow continued
K.4 Capital Expenditure

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Additions to property, plant and equipment and biological assets CSCF (594) (493)
Additions tointangible assets CSCF (21) (21)
Additions to right-of-use assets Note 12 (92) (79)
Changein capital creditors K 14 18
Per summary cash flow (693) (575)
K.5 Capital Expenditure as a Percentage of Depreciation
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Capital expenditure K.4 693 575
Depreciation, depletion (net) and amortisation A 560 551
Capital expenditure as a percentage of depreciation 124% 104%
K.6 Change in Employee Benefits and Other Provisions
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Change in employee benefits and other provisions CSCF (81) (7)
Reorganisation and restructuring costs —unpaid K.6.1 - (28)
Past service cost—UK K.6.2 - 15
Per summary cash flow (81) (20)

K.6.1 Reorganisation and Restructuring Costs

The change inthe provision relating to exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs is not included in the summary cash flow as it is not within
EBITDA. Exceptional reorganisation and restructuring costs which were paid in 2020 are shown as a separate line item within 'Exceptional items'in the
summary cash flow.

K.6.2 Past Service Cost-UK

The change inemployee benefits relating to the exceptional past service cost on the UK pension schemeis not includedin the summary cash flow asitis not
within EBITDA.

K.7 Other
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Other withinthe summary cash flow comprises the following:
Amortisation of capital grants CSCF (3) (2)
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment CSCF (8) (2)
Profit on purchase/disposal of businesses CSCF - (4)
Other (primarily hyperinflation adjustments) CSCF 5 6
Receipt of capital grants CSCF 5 5
Disposal of property, plant and equipment CSCF 16 5
Dividends received from associates CSCF 1 1
Lease terminations/modifications L (13) 5
Per summary cash flow 3 14
K.8 Sale of Businesses and Investments
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Disposal of subsidiaries (net of disposed cash) CSCF 33 -
Disposed cash and cash equivalents K.11 4 -
Per summary cash flow 37 _
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K. Summary Cash Flow continued

Strategic Report

K.9 Purchase of Businesses, Investments and NCI

Governance

Financial Statements

Supplementary Information

2021 2020
Reference €m £€m
Purchase of subsidiaries (net of acquired cash) CSCF (413) (2)
Purchase of non-controllinginterests CSCF - (23)
Deferred consideration paid CSCF (35) -
Acquired cash and cash equivalents K.10 (1) -
Per summary cash flow (449) (25)
K.10 Acquired Net Debt
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Acquired debt Note 21 (26) (1)
Acquired cash and cash equivalents K.9 1 -
Per summary cash flow (25) (1)
K.11 Disposed Net Cash
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Disposed debt Note 21 3 -
Disposed cash and cash equivalents K.8 (4) -
Per summary cash flow (1) -
K.12 Reconciliation of Other Non-cash Movements to Note 21
2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Deferred debtissue costs amortised K (10) (7)
Additions to right-of-use assets K4 (92) (79)
Lease terminations/modifications L (13) 5
Move in accrued interest K.2 3 1
Other non-cash movements Note 21 (112) (80)

L. Free Cash Flow (‘FCF’)
Definition

FCFis the result of the cashinflows and outflows from our operating activities, and is before those arising from acquisition and disposal of businesses.

We use FCF to assess and understand the total operating performance of the business and to identify underlying trends.

Reconciliation of Free Cash Flow to Cash Generated from Operations

2021 2020
Reference €m €m
Free cash flow K 455 675
Reconcilingitems:
Cashinterest expense K.2 109 118
Capital expenditure (net of change in capital creditors) K.4 707 593
Tax payments CSCF 239 194
Disposal of property, plant and equipment CSCF (16) (5)
Lease terminations/modifications K7 13 (5)
Receipt of capital grants CSCF (5) (5)
Dividends received from associates CSCF (1) (1)
[talian Competition Authority fine CSCF (124) -
Non-cash financing activities - (1)
Cash generated from operations CSCF 1,377 1,563
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SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION

Ordinary Shareholdings
On 31 December 2021, the ordinary shares of the Company inissue were held as follows:

Number of Number of
Number of Shares Shareholders % of Total Shares Held % of Total
1-1,000 238 76.53 88,259 0.03
1,001-5,000 63 20.26 143,134 0.06
5,001-10,000 6 1.93 42,415 0.02
10,001-100,000 3 0.96 61,830 0.02
100,001-500,000 - - - -
Over 500,000 1 0.32 258,698,121 99.87
Total 311 100 259,033,759 100
Stock Exchange Listings
The Company's shares are listed on the following exchanges:
Exchange Type City Symbol
LSE Premium London SKG
Euronext Dublin Secondary Dublin SK3

Financial Calendar
AGM 29 April 2022
Interimresults announcement 27 July 2022

Website
TheInvestors section onthe Group's website, smurfitkappa.com, provides the full text of the financial results and copies of presentations to analysts
andinvestors. Press releases are also made available in this section of the website immediately after release to the stock exchanges.

Registrars
Enquiries concerning shareholdings should be directed to the Company's Registrars:

Link Registrars Limited,
P.O.Box 1110,

Maynooth,

Co.Kildare

Tel:+353(0)1 553 0050
Fax:+353(0)1 2240700
enquiries@linkgroup.ie
www.signalshares.com

Certificated/Electronic Shareholding

Shares inthe Company may be held directly on the register of members of the Company (i.e. in the form of a physical share certificate/certificated form)

or electronically through a nominee of Euroclear Bank. A migration of electronic settlement of the Company's shares from CREST to the settlement system
operated by Euroclear Bank occurred on 15 March 2021. Those who hold shares electronically hold their interests in the shares as '‘Belgian law rights' through
the Euroclear Bank system oras CREST depository interests (‘'CDIs') throughthe CREST System.

Proxy Voting

The process for appointing a proxy willdepend on the manner in which you hold your ordinary shares in the Company. Further details will be contained in the
notes to the Notice of Annual General Meeting. Persons who hold their interests in ordinary shares as Belgian law rights through the Euroclear systemor as
CDls should consult with their stockbroker or other intermediary for information on the processes and timelines for submitting proxy votes for the Annual
General Meeting through the respective systems.
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